
BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS OF BRADFORD COUNTY, FLORIDA 
 

August 6, 2024 
9:30 AM 

Governor Charley E. Johns Conference Center 
1610 N Temple Ave 

Starke, FL 32091 
 

AGENDA  
 

1. Chair to call meeting to order. 
 

2. Public Hearing – Zoning 
 

A. Consider Approval of S240502A (Timber Ranch FL., LLC) – Land Use Change 
for Bradford County parcel Number 01145-0-00500. Land Use Classification 
Change from Agricultural to Commercial. 
(Please call for Public Comments prior to motion and vote.) 

B. Consider Approval of Z24-04 (Timber Ranch FL., LLC) – Zoning Change for 
Bradford County Parcel Number 01145-0-00500. Zoning Change from 
Agricultural (A-2) to Commercial Intensive (CI) 
(Please call for Public Comments prior to motion and vote.) 

C. Consider Approval of S240502B (Timber Ranch FL., LLC) – Land Use Change 
for a portion of Bradford County parcel Number 01145-0-00500 and a portion of 
Bradford County Parcel Number 01151-0-00000. Land Use Classification Change 
from Agricultural to Commercial. 
(Please call for Public Comments prior to motion and vote.) 

D. Consider Approval of Z24-05 (Timber Ranch FL., LLC) – Zoning Change for a 
portion of Bradford County Parcel Number 01145-0-00500 and a portion of 
Bradford County Parcel Number 01151-0-00000. Zoning Change from 
Agricultural (A-2) to Commercial Intensive (CI) 
(Please call for Public Comments prior to motion and vote.) 
 

3. Public Comments 
 

 Three (3) minutes per speaker; 
 Comments will not be accepted after the meeting begins; 
 State your name and address into the record before addressing the board; 
 Address your questions to the board, not county staff; 
 Refrain from demands for an immediate board response; and 
 No boisterous behavior, personal, impertinent, or slanderous remarks. 

 
4. Approval of Consent Agenda 

 
A. Meeting Minutes from 6-20-2024 
B. Meeting Minutes from 7-2-2024 

ACTION 

ACTION 



C. Consider Approval of Change Order No. 2 for SHIP Rehab File # 2019-7-S in the 
amount of $10,637.50 for drywall and paint in the living room, hallway, and three 
bedrooms 
 

D. Consider Approving a Deviation from SHIP LHAP on SHIP Rehab File #  
2019-7-S 

E. Consider Approval of a SHIP Rehabilitation Loan in an Amount Not to Exceed 
$35,000 for SHIP File # 2020-6-S 

F. A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS OF 
BRADFORD COUNTY, FLORIDA AUTHORIZING EXECUTION OF AN 
AMENDMENT TO THE TRAFFIC SIGNAL MAINTENANCE AND 
COMPENSATION AGREEMENT WITH THE STATE OF FLORIDA, 
DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION; PROVIDING FOR THE 
DESIGNATION OF A SIGNATORY FOR SAID AGREEMENT; AND 
PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

G. Consider approval of the proposed AvMed Renewal Rates for 2024-2025 
H. Approval of RFQ 2024-001 for Continuing Contracts for Engineering and/or 

Survey and Mapping Services 
 

5. A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS OF 
BRADFORD COUNTY, FLORIDA, RELATING TO THE ANNUAL PROVISION 
AND FUNDING OF FIRE PROTECTION SERVICES AND FACILITIES WITHIN 
THE COUNTY; PROVIDING FOR ESTBLISHMENT OF THE BRADFORD 
COUNTY FIRE PROTECTION MUNICIPAL SERVICE BENEFIT UNIT AND THE 
IMPOSITION OF FIRE PROTECTION ASSESSMENTS THEREIN; ESTIMATING 
THE TOTAL AMOUNT TO BE FUNDED THROUGH THE FIRE PROTECTION 
ASSESSMENTS FOR FISCAL YEAR 2024-25; ESTABLISHING THE METHOD OF 
ASSESSING REAL PROPERTY SPECIALLY BENEFITED BY THE COUNTY'S 
PROVISION OF FIRE PROTECTION SERVICES AND FACILITIES; 
DESIGNATING THE COUNTY MANAGER OR DESIGNEE THEREOF AS 
ASSESSMENT COORDINATOR; DIRECTING THE ASSESSMENT 
COORDINATOR TO PREPARE A PRELIMINARY FIRE PROTECTION 
ASSESSMENT ROLL; ESTABLISHING A PUBLIC HEARING TO CONSIDER 
IMPOSITION OF THE FIRE PROTECTION ASSESSMENTS FOR FISCAL YEAR 
2024-25; DIRECTING THE PROVISION OF NOTICE IN CONNECTION 
THEREWITH; AND PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 
 

6. A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS 
OF BRADFORD COUNTY, FLORIDA OPPOSING THE PRO-
ABORTION AMENDMENT TO FLORIDA CONSTITUTION. 
 

7. Contract Agreement with Roadway Management Technologies for Hardware/ 
Software to Proactively Provide the Level of Roadway Deterioration Throughout the 
County. ($50,000) 
 

ACTION 

ACTION 

ACTION 

ACTION 



8. Permission to extend lease and purchase equipment – Jason Dodds, Public Works 
Director 
 

A. Extend an expired lease on 644 john deere loader (serial number 
1DW644KZTKF696199) for 2 years at a cost of $20,625.92 per year, with a 
buyout option of $133,929.56 at the end of the 2-year lease agreement.  

B. Return expired lease equipment - 644 john deere loader (serial number 
1DW644KZCKF696234). 

C. Purchase a 2022 john deere 244l compact wheel loader for a cost of $93,700. 
 
 

9. Interlocal Agreement Between Alachua County Board of County Commissioners  
and Bradford County Board of County Commissioners and Columbia County Board of 
County Commissioners and Dixie County Board of County Commissioners and Gilchrist 
County Board of County Commissioners and Union County Board of County 
Commissioners Regarding Local Workforce Development Area 26 
 

10. Consider funding $8,000 of an estimated $10,000 for aquatic plant shredding for the 
overgrowth in Lake Sampson where water flows from the lake into the Sampson River 
Canal. BSWCD has approved to fund $2,000 toward the cost. 
 

11. Opioid Abatement Funding Allocation – Use of Unspent Funds ($87,271.84) 
 

12. Clerk Reports – Denny Thompson, Clerk to the Board and Clerk of the Circuit Court 
 

13. Sheriff Reports – Gordon Smith, Sheriff 
 

14. County Manager Reports – County Manager, Scott Kornegay 
 

A. Community Resource Paramedicine Program Update 
 

15. County Attorney Reports – Rob Bradley 
 

16. Commissioner’s Comments 
 

17. Chair’s Comments 
 

 
NOTICE: 
Pursuant to Section 286.0105, Florida Statutes, notice is hereby provided that, if a person decides 
to appeal any decision made by the Board of County Commissioners of Bradford County, 
Florida with respect to any matter considered at this meeting or hearing, he or she will need a 
record of the proceedings, and that, for such purpose, he or she may need to ensure that a 
verbatim record of the proceedings is made, which record includes the testimony and evidence 
upon which the appeal is to be based. 
 

Information 

Discussion 

ACTION 

ACTION 













































Page 1 of 1 
 

BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS OF BRADFORD COUNTY, FLORIDA 
 
 

AGENDA ITEM INFORMATION SHEET 
 
 
 
DATE:   August 6th, 2024 
 
AGENDA ITEM: Consider approval of Z 24-04 (Timber Ranch FL., LLC) – Zoning Change 

for Bradford County Parcel Number 01145-0-00500. See attached Legal 
Description : (Parcel 1) 

 
DEPARTMENT: Zoning 
 
PURPOSE/DESCRIPTION:  
 
Timber Ranch FL., LLC seeks approval to amend the Official Zoning Atlas of Bradford County, 
Florida, relating to the Rezoning of Ten (10) acres, more or less, pursuant to an application, Z 24-04, 
by the property owner of said acreage, providing for Changing the Zoning District from  
AGRICULTURAL (A-2) TO COMMERCIAL INTENSIVE (CI). 
 
 
ASSOCIATED COST/ REVENUE GENERATED: $ 1700.00    
 
BUDGET LINE (G/L #):  N/A 
 
  

TO BE COMPLETED BY THE COUNTY MANAGER’S OFFICE 
 
RECOMMENDED ACTION: 
 
Call for public comments. Make a motion to change the current Zoning District from Residential 
Single Family/Mobile Home-1 (RSF/MH-1) to Commercial Intensive (CI). 
 
RECOMMENDED MOTION: 
 
Based on the NCFRPC’s recommendation, make a motion to approve Z 24-04. 



































Page 1 of 1 
 

BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS OF BRADFORD COUNTY, FLORIDA 
 
 

AGENDA ITEM INFORMATION SHEET 
 
 
 
DATE:   August 6th, 2024 
 
AGENDA ITEM: Consider approval of Z 24-05 (Timber Ranch FL., LLC) – Zoning Change 

for p/o Bradford County Parcel Number 01145-0-00500 and p/o Bradford 
County Parcel Number 01151-0-00000. See attached Legal Description : 
(Parcel 5) 

 
DEPARTMENT: Zoning 
 
PURPOSE/DESCRIPTION:  
 
Timber Ranch FL., LLC seeks approval to amend the Official Zoning Atlas of Bradford County, 
Florida, relating to the Rezoning of Ten (10) acres, more or less, pursuant to an application, Z 24-05, 
by the property owner of said acreage, providing for Changing the Zoning District from  
AGRICULTURAL (A-2) TO COMMERCIAL INTENSIVE (CI). 
 
 
ASSOCIATED COST/ REVENUE GENERATED: $ 0.00    
 
BUDGET LINE (G/L #):  N/A 
 
  

TO BE COMPLETED BY THE COUNTY MANAGER’S OFFICE 
 
RECOMMENDED ACTION: 
 
Call for public comments. Make a motion to change the current Zoning District from Residential 
Single Family/Mobile Home-1 (RSF/MH-1) to Commercial Intensive (CI). 
 
RECOMMENDED MOTION: 
 
Based on the NCFRPC’s recommendation, make a motion to approve Z 24-05. 



















Page 1 of 1 
 

BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS OF BRADFORD COUNTY, FLORIDA 
 
 

AGENDA ITEM INFORMATION SHEET (AIIS) 
 
 
DATE OF MEETING:  August 6, 2024 
    
AGENDA ITEM_        Meeting minutes from 06-20-2024.  
 
 
DEPARTMENT:   Clerk’s Office  
 
 
 



BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS OF BRADFORD COUNTY, FLORIDA 
June 20, 2024 

6:30 P.M.  
Bradford County Courthouse 

945 North Temple Avenue 
Starke, Florida 32091 

 
MEETING MINUTES 

 
BOARD MEMBERS PRESENT:   Commissioner District 1 – Chair Carolyn Spooner  

Commissioner District 4 – Vice-Chair Danny Riddick 
Commissioner District 2 – Kenny Thompson   
Commissioner District 3 – Joseph C. Dougherty 
Commissioner District 5 – Diane Andrews 

 
PRESS PRESENT: Bradford County Telegraph 
 
STAFF MEMBERS IN ATTENDANCE: County Manager Scott Kornegay; Executive Assistant Amanda 
Brown; County Attorney Richard Komando; Chief Deputy Clerk Rachel Rhoden; Zoning Director Randy 
Andrews; Chief Dylan Rodgers; Tax Collector Teresa Phillips; and Sheriff Gordon Smith.  
 

1. CALL TO ORDER: Chair Spooner called the meeting to order at 6:30 P.M.  
 

2. PUBLIC HEARING – ENACTMENT OF ORDINANCES - ZONING DIRECTOR RANDY 
ANDREWS  

 
Chair Spooner announced that items 2 (A)-(D) will be postponed.  
 

A. AN ORDINANCE OF BRADFORD COUNTY, FLORIDA, AMENDING THE FUTURE LAND 
USE PLAN MAP OF THE BRADFORD COUNTY COMPREHENSIVE PLAN,  AS AMENDED; 
RELATING TO AN AMENDMENT OF 50 OR LESS ACRES OF LAND, PURSUANT TO AN 
APPLICATION, S240502A, BY THE PROPERTY OWNER OF SAID ACREAGE; PROVIDING 
FOR CHANGING THE LAND USE CLASSIFICATION FROM AGRICULTURE-2 (LESS 
THAN OR EQUAL TO DWELLING 1 UNIT PER 5 ACRES, EXCEPT AS PROVIDED FOR IN 
POLICY I.2.2) TO COMMERCIAL OF CERTAIN LANDS WITHIN THE 
UNINCORPORATED AREA OF BRADFORD COUNTY, FLORIDA. 

B. AN ORDINANCE AMENDING THE OFFICIAL ZONING ATLAS OF THE BRADFORD 
COUNTY LAND DEVELOPMENT REGULATIONS, AS AMENDED; RELATING TO THE 
REZONING OF TEN OR MORE CONTIGUOUS ACRES OF LAND, PURSUANT TO AN 
APPLICATION, Z 24-04, BY THE PROPERTY OWNER OF SAID ACREAGE; PROVIDING 
FOR CHANGING THE ZONING DISTRICT FROM AGRICULTURAL-2 (A-2) TO 
COMMERCIAL, INTENSIVE (CI) WITHIN THE UNINCORPORATED AREA OF 
BRADFORD COUNTY, FLORIDA. 

C. AN ORDINANCE AMENDING THE FUTURE LAND USE PLAN MAP OF THE BRADFORD 
COUNTY COMPREHENSIVE PLAN, AS AMENDED; RELATING TO AN AMENDMENT OF 
50 OR LESS ACRES OF LAND, PURSUANT TO AN APPLICATION, S240502B, BY THE 
PROPERTY OWNER OF SAID ACREAGE; PROVIDING FOR CHANGING THE LAND USE 
CLASSIFICATION FROM AGRICULTURE-2 (LESS THAN OR EQUAL TO DWELLING 1 
UNIT PER 5 ACRES, EXCEPT AS PROVIDED FOR IN POLICY I.2.2) TO COMMERCIAL 
OF CERTAIN LANDS WITHIN THE UNINCORPORATED AREA OF BRADFORD COUNTY, 
FLORIDA. 



June 20, 2024 
BoCC Meeting Minutes  
 

Page 2 of 6 
 
 
 

D. AN ORDINANCE OF BRADFORD COUNTY, FLORIDA, AMENDING THE OFFICIAL 
ZONING ATLAS OF THE BRADFORD COUNTY LAND DEVELOPMENT REGULATIONS, 
AS AMENDED; RELATING TO THE REZONING OF TEN OR MORE CONTIGUOUS 
ACRES OF LAND, PURSUANT TO AN APPLICATION, Z 24-05, BY THE PROPERTY 
OWNER OF SAID ACREAGE; PROVIDING FOR CHANGING THE ZONING DISTRICT 
FROM AGRICULTURAL-2 (A-2) AND INDUSTRIAL (I) TO COMMERCIAL, INTENSIVE 
(CI) OF CERTAIN LANDS WITHIN THE UNINCORPORATED AREA OF BRADFORD 
COUNTY, FLORIDA. 

 
3. PUBLIC COMMENTS  

• Carol Mosley 
• Robert Rodgers 
• Vyunda Strong  
• Dean Traylor  

 
4. PRESENTATION OF LIFE SAVING AWARDS – AMERICAN POLICE HALL OF FAME AND 

MUSEUM – SHERIFF GORDON SMITH.  
 
Chair Spooner introduced Sheriff Smith who recognized the following sheriff deputies for the American Police 
Hall of Fame and Museum Life Saving Award.  
 

• Deputy Wyatt Konkel 
• Detective James Hall  
• Deputy Trinton Lovell  

 
On December 7, 2023, deputies Konkel, Hall, and Lovell responded to a residence in reference to an 
unresponsive 66-year-old male who was not breathing and did not have a pulse. The deputies rotated 
performing CPR until a pulse was obtained. 

 
5. APPROVAL OF CONSENT AGENDA ITEMS: 

A. MEETING MINUTES FROM 04-18-2024. 
B. MEETING MINUTES FROM 05-16-2024. 
C. APPROVAL OF CONTRACT WITH ANDERSON COLUMBIA FOR THE 

RESURFACING OF CR 223, FROM SR 16 TO US 301. (FDOT SCOP-FUNDED 
PROJECT $4,468,194.14). 

D. ACCEPTANCE OF EMS STATE MATCHING GRANT AWARD FOR $107,914.35. 
(STATE FUNDED: $97,122.92; COUNTY MATCH: $10,791.44). 

E. APPROVAL OF THE EDWARD BYRNE MEMORIAL JUSTICE ASSISTANCE 
GRANT (JAG) PROGRAM FOR $48,339. CERTIFICATE OF PARTICIPATION FOR 
FISCAL YEAR 2023; 51% LETTER FROM BOCC; AND LOBBYING, DEBARMENT, 
AND DRUG FREE WORKPLACE CERTIFICATION. 

F. FL WORKFORCE GRANT PURCHASE OF AUTOMATED CPR DEVICES (GRANT 
FUNDED $78,000, NO COUNTY MATCH). 
 

 



June 20, 2024 
BoCC Meeting Minutes  
 

Page 3 of 6 
 
 
 

It was MOVED by Vice Chair Riddick and SECONDED by Commissioner Thompson to approve the 
consent agenda.  
 
Motion Carries 5-0 
 

6. AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE ALACHUA BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS AND 
THE BRADFORD COUNTY BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS REGARDING 
REIMBURSEMENT OF DISALLOWED COSTS FOR CSNCF FY 2017-18, 2018-19, AND 2019-
20 ($113,465.83) – COUNTY ATTORNEY RICH KOMANDO.  

 
Chair Spooner recognized Mr. Komando who advised that the purpose of the agreement is establish the terms 
by which Bradford County will reimburse Alachua County in the amount of $113,465.83 for disallowable 
expenses through grants awarded by Department of Economic Opportunity (DEO) to CareerSource North 
Central Florida (CSNCF).  
 
Discussion: none 
 
It was MOVED by Commissioner Andrews and SECONDED by Vice Chair Riddick to approve the 
agreement. 
 
Motion Carries 5-0 
 

7. QUOTES FOR REPLACEMENT OF STARKE RADIO TOWER’S TOP LIGHT TO MEET 
FEDERAL AVIATION ADMINISTRATION (FAA) REGULATIONS – MATT ZIEGLER 
WITH INSPIRED TECHNOLOGY (INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY CONSULTANT FOR 
THE COUNTY).  

• LUMENSERVE - $23,845 
• MOBILE COMMUNICATIONS AMERICA (MCA) - $17,650 
• MCDONALD TOWER SERVICE, INC. - $12,000 

 
Chair Spooner recognized Mr. Ziegler who reported that the Starke radio tower’s top light is currently not 
compliant with the FAA’s 7/8-inch rule that requires two top lights on top of a structure with any obstruction. In 
the case of the Starke radio tower (located on county public works grounds) the obstruction that exists is an 
antenna. Mr. Ziegler recommended that the board consider the quote with Lumenserve to provide the solution 
for compliance of FAA regulations, which also includes reporting outages to FAA within 30 minutes of the 
outage occurring. He advised that if there are any issues with the lights during the term of the agreement, 
Lumenserve will repair or replace the equipment at no additional cost.  
 
 
It was MOVED by Commissioner Dougherty and SECONDED by Vice Chair Riddick to approve the 
quote with Lumenserve.  
 
 
 
 



June 20, 2024 
BoCC Meeting Minutes  
 

Page 4 of 6 
 
 
 

Discussion: 
• In response to why the quote amounts vary, Mr. Ziegler advised that the other two vendors (MCA and 

McDonald Tower Service, Inc.) only quoted a one-time installation cost with only one lamp and no 
monitoring service.  

• Lumenserve monthly maintenance cost during the 5-year term is $184.00. After the 5-year term, if the 
county decides to not continue the maintenance service, a $1.00 transfer fee be required, and the county 
will be responsible to maintain and monitor the tower lights.  

 
Motion Carries 5-0 
 

8. BRADFORD SOIL AND WATER CONSERVATION DISTRICT PRESENTATION 
REGARDING AQUATIC PLANT REMOVAL AT THE LAKE SAMPSON EFFLUENTS INTO 
THE SAMPSON RIVER CANAL. 

 
Chair Spooner recognized Paul Still who presented a PowerPoint presentation highlighting the following:  

• Drainage area for surface water flows under CR 225 in Sampson City 
• Concerns with aquatic plants in Lake Sampson at the Sampson Canal 
• Table of water flow through 3-pipes box culvert.  

 
Mr. Still asked the board to consider funding the removal of aquatic plants at Lake Sampson effluents into the 
Sampson River canal to help the flow of water. He estimated the cost to be between $50,000 and $60,000. 
 
Discussion:  

• Elevation of water in Lake Crosby and Lake Sampson. 
• Past efforts through Florida Fish and Wildlife Conservation (FWC) to remove invasive plants. 
• Unsuccessful past efforts to apply for RIVER grant funding through Suwannee River Water 

Management District (SRWMD). 
 
Chair Spooner asked staff to explore funding resources for plant removal in compliance with SRWMD 
regulations.  
 

9. CLERK REPORTS – DENNY THOMPSON - none 
 

10. SHERIFF REPORTS – GORDON SMITH – none  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



June 20, 2024 
BoCC Meeting Minutes  
 

Page 5 of 6 
 
 
 

11. COUNTY MANAGER REPORTS – SCOTT KORNEGAY  
A. FIRE ASSESSMENT FAQ (FREQUENTLY ASKED QUESTIONS) 

 
Mr. Kornegay reported that the board and the general public have access to a FAQ document regarding the fire 
assessment, and that it would eventually be placed on the county website. 
 

B. NEW BRADFORD COUNTY WEBSITE 
 
Mr. Kornegay introduced Nathan Thornton who shared images of the new county website which is at 95% 
completion.  
 
Discussion: 

• Comments in favor of adding a public feedback form, details on county grants, opioid abatement, fire 
statistics, and monthly updates for each county department on the website. 

 
 IMPACT FEES  

 
Mr. Kornegay advised that although the impact fee study is being worked on gradually, Stantec, the consultant, 
is devoting all of its attention to the fire assessment study.  
 
Discussion: 

• Suggestion to investigate alternative funding options, such as impact fee adoption, prior to determining 
the appropriate amount for a fire assessment. 

• Comments expressing the need to discuss the fire assessment study with the property appraiser. 
• Per Mr. Kornegay, impact fees can only be used for capital improvement infrastructure, it cannot be 

used for operational day-to-day expenses.  
 

 FIRE ASSESSMENT  
 
In order to provide the public a chance to voice their opinions on the fire assessment, Chair Spooner announced 
that the board will host two public hearings.  
 
Discussion: 

• Comments in favor of soliciting public input on the fire assessment before taking action.  
 

12. COUNTY ATTORNEY REPORTS – RICHARD KOMANDO  
• Reminded the board to file their financial disclosure forms before July 1.  

 
13. COMMISSIONER’S COMMENTS 

 
14. CHAIR’S COMMENTS  

• Thanked law enforcement officers and correctional committee for involvement in a memorial 
celebration on May 23rd at North Side Baptist Church. 

• Memorial Day celebration and ribbon cutting held on May 31st at the new Veterans’ Park.  



June 20, 2024 
BoCC Meeting Minutes  
 

Page 6 of 6 
 
 
 

• Requested that Mr. Kornegay explore the implementation of cool stations in the county during the 
hot summer months.  

• Thanked the board for approving the Juneteenth celebration.  
• Star Spangled Splash event to be held on July 3-4 at the fairgrounds.  
• Through July, free school lunches will be available to students at the Bradford High School 

Watson Center and Church of God by Faith.  
• On June 21st, RJE will receive a science bus from Gainesville.  
• Reminder that the board will host two public hearings on the fire assessment – one on July 2nd and 

one on September 5th. 
• Thanked Commissioner Andrews and the board for coordinating employee recognition day on 

June 6th. 
 
Tax Collector Teresa Phillips announced from the audience that the Fire Assessment FAQ needs to be corrected 
about lien information.  
 
ADJOURN: There being no further business, the meeting adjourned at 7:45 p.m.  
 
 
 
        BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS 
        BRADFORD COUNTY, FLORIDA 
 
               
        CAROLYN SPOONER, CHAIR 
 
ATTEST: 
 
        
DENNY THOMPSON, CLERK TO THE BOARD 
       
 
MINUTES PREPARED BY:          
     RACHEL RHODEN, CHIEF DEPUTY CLERK 
 
 
 
Minutes approved by the BOCC during a scheduled meeting on:       



Page 1 of 1 
 

BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS OF BRADFORD COUNTY, FLORIDA 
 
 

AGENDA ITEM INFORMATION SHEET (AIIS) 
 
 
DATE OF MEETING:  August 6, 2024 
    
AGENDA ITEM_        Meeting minutes from 07-02-2024.  
 
 
DEPARTMENT:   Clerk’s Office  
 
 
 



BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS OF BRADFORD COUNTY, FLORIDA 
July 2, 2024 
9:30 A.M.  

Bradford County Courthouse 
945 North Temple Avenue 

Starke, Florida 32091 
 

MEETING MINUTES 
 
BOARD MEMBERS PRESENT:   Commissioner District 1 – Chair Carolyn Spooner  

Commissioner District 4 – Vice-Chair Danny Riddick 
Commissioner District 3 – Joseph C. Dougherty (excused himself 
from the meeting at 10:15 a.m.) 
Commissioner District 5 – Diane Andrews 

 
BOARD MEMBERS NOT PRESENT: Commissioner District 2 – Kenny Thompson  
 
PRESS PRESENT: none 
 
STAFF MEMBERS IN ATTENDANCE: County Manager Scott Kornegay; Executive Assistant Amanda 
Brown; County Attorney Rob Bradley; Clerk of Court Denny Thompson; Chief Deputy Clerk Rachel Rhoden; 
Finance Director Dana LaFollette; Fire Rescue Chief Ben Carter; Division Chief Dylan Rodgers; Public Works 
Director Jason Dodds; Tax Collector Teresa Phillips; Sheriff Gordon Smith; and Col. Brad Smith.  
 

1. CALL TO ORDER: Chair Spooner called the meeting to order at 9:30 A.M.  
 

2. PUBLIC HEARING – FIRST READING OF ORDINANCE  
A. AN ORDINANCE (Ordinance No. 2024-07) OF BRADFORD COUNTY, FLORIDA 

RELATING TO THE PROVISION AND FUNDING OF FIRE RESCUE  SERVICES, 
AND FACILITIES; AUTHORIZING THE IMPOSITION AND COLLECTION OF NON-
AD VALOREM SPECIAL ASSESSMENTS AGAINST REAL PROPERTY SPECIALLY 
BENEFITTED BY THE PROVISION OF SUCH SERVICES AND FACILITIES 
ESTABLISHED BY THE COUNTY HEREUNDER; PROVIDING CERTAIN 
DEFINITIONS; ESTABLISHING THE PROCEDURES FOR IMPOSING, COLLECTING 
AND ADMINISTERING FIRE RESCUE ASSESSMENTS; PROVIDING THAT FIRE 
RESCUE ASSESSMENTS CONSTITUTE A LIEN ON ASSESSED PROPERTY EQUAL 
IN RANK AND DIGNITY WITH THE LIENS OF ALL STATE, COUNTY, DISTRICT, 
OR MUNICIPAL TAXES AND ASSESSMENTS AND SUPERIOR IN DIGNITY TO ALL 
OTHER PRIOR LIENS, MORTGAGES, TITLES, AND CLAIMS; PROVIDING FOR 
SEVERABILITY AND PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 
Chair Spooner opened the public hearing for comments. 
 
Public Comments: 

• Carol Mosley  
• Paul Still  
• Kate Ellison 

 
 
 
 



July 2, 2024 
BoCC Meeting Minutes  
 

Page 2 of 7 
 
 
 

Discussion: 
• The City of Lawtey approved its first reading of the fire assessment ordinance. According to County 

Manager Scott Kornegay, the City of Hampton is willing to participate in the fire assessment. There will 
be no involvement from the City of Starke in the fire assessment, and the Town of Brooker may not 
participate either. Chief Carter advised that because the Town of Brooker may not participate, it appears 
that the expense of staffing a station in Brooker might be eliminated from the budget submitted for the 
fire assessment.  

• Excluding the City of Starke from the original fire assessment study, the new residential fee schedule is 
as follows. The fees will need to be recalculated if the Town of Brooker does not participate.  
Fire Assessment Funding Percentage  Annual Cost 
100% $334.00 ($309 in original fire study – increase of $25) 
75% $251.00  
50% $167.00 ($155 in original fire study – increase of $12) 
25% $84.00 ($78 in original – increase of $6) 

• The consultant for the fire assessment used parcel data from the property appraisers software to 
complete the fire assessment study.  

• A special assessment is determined and calculated by the benefit received, not by the value of the 
property.  

• County Attorney Rob Bradley informed the board that they could move forward with adopting the first 
reading of the ordinance and that they would still have choices on whether to impose a fire assessment 
and at what amount.  

• Remarks on finding a balance between what the county can afford to support basic service needs for 
county departments.  

• Franchise fee.  
 

After public comments and discussion, the public hearing was closed. County Attorney Rob Bradley advised 
that the board make a motion to approve the ordinance by first reading and direct him to read the title of the 
ordinance into the record.  
 
It was MOVED by Commissioner Dougherty and SECONDED by Vice Chair Riddick to approve the 
ordinance, to have further discussion, and look at different funding rates. (County Attorney Rob Bradley 
read the title of the ordinance into the record after the motion was made)  
 
Motion Carries 4-0 
 
Chair Spooner went out of order of the agenda to address agenda item 6.  
 

6. COMMUNITY PARAMEDICINE PROGRAM UPDATE.  
 
Chair Spooner recognized Dylan Rodgers who shared a PowerPoint presentation on the Paramedicine Program, 
highlighting the following:  

• Financial updates  
• 5 Month Plan  
• Program Statistics  



July 2, 2024 
BoCC Meeting Minutes  
 

Page 3 of 7 
 
 
 

• Unique MIH Visits  
• Opioid Abatement Measures  
• Naloxone Kits 

 
Discussion: 

• 7 patients listed in the PowerPoint presentation are opioid users.  
• In response to connecting with inmates at the jail, Chief Rodgers advised that staff met with Col. Smith 

and Major McKinely to work on establishing a program for incarcerated patients.  
• Narcan kits are at all HUB’s in Bradford County.  
• Approximately $150,000, not including salary dollars, has been spent on the paramedicine program.   
• Example given of a patient enrolled in the paramedicine program resulting in a reduction of emergency 

response to the patient. 
• Suggestion made to consider offering support to the families of addicted family members. 
• Funds from the opioid abatement settlement are not grant funds.  
• Unspent opioid settlement funds can be rolled over into the next fiscal-year.  

 
 FIRE RESCUE STATISTICS  

 
After discussion of the paramedicine program, Chief Carter presented a PowerPoint presentation on fire rescue 
statistics for the month of June highlighting the following: 

• 648 fire responses and 590 EMS responses - fire and EMS numbers overlap when responding to critical 
calls. Fire responses are larger because there are days when there are no available ambulance units.  

• 477 actual EMS 9-1-1 calls 
• 113 interfacility transfers out of HCA Florida Starke Emergency  
• Intubated 6 patients  
• 2 cardiac arrest patients 
• 3 structure fires 
• 5 vehicle fires 
• 15 brush fires 
• Evaluated 36 patients from motor vehicle crashes 

 
Discussion: 

• Positive comments were made about fire rescue operations.  
• Fire Rescue will place monthly statistics on their website.  
• In response to resource management, Chief Carter shared the following: 

 Bradford County Fire Rescue (BCFR) frequently responds to emergencies with Starke Fire 
Rescue and that if both departments are not needed, one will cancel.  

 BCFR has two daily supervisors; one for the EMS division and one for the fire division – both 
divisions manage resources throughout the day.  

• Chief Carter provided the following details in response to a question from the audience about BCFR 
staffing:  
 BCFR has 16 personnel scheduled every day throughout the county.  
 At a minimum, 6 firefighters and 1 supervisor are scheduled every day.  



July 2, 2024 
BoCC Meeting Minutes  
 

Page 4 of 7 
 
 
 

 BCFR has the following stations staffed: Lawtey (Station 50), Theressa (Station 20), Speedville 
(Station 10), Starke Headquarters (Station 60), and Sampson City (Station 90). 

 The stations at Sampson City (Station 90), Starke Headquarters (Station 60), Lawtey (Station 
50), and Theressa (Station 20) all have 24-hour EMS transport units.  

 The stations at Lawtey (Station 50), Theressa (Station 20), and Sampson City (Station 90) are 
each equipped with a fire apparatus.  

 The fire apparatus in Theressa (Station 20) is used by Speedville (Station 10) during the day 
since there are no living quarters. Once living quarters are constructed in Speedville (Station 10), 
the fire crew will stay at Speedville (Station 10) while the EMS crew will remain at Theressa 
(Station 20). The goal of this divide is to distribute resources.   

 Current EMS personnel are not all dual certified. Efforts are being made to get staff dual 
certified. 

 
3. PUBLIC COMMENTS  

• Paul Still  
 

4. APPROVAL OF CONSENT AGENDA ITEMS: 
A. MEETING MINUTES FROM 6-4-24 
B. REQUEST FOR PROMULGATION LETTER & RESOLUTION ADOPTING 2024 

BRADFORD COUNTY COMPREHENSIVE EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT PLAN: 
A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS OF BRADFORD 
COUNTY, FLORIDA ADOPTING THE 2024 BRADFORD COUNTY EMERGENCY 
MANAGEMENT PLAN. 

 
It was MOVED by Vice Chair Riddick and SECONDED by Commissioner Andrews to approve the 
consent agenda.  
 
Motion Carries 3-0 
 
*Chair Spooner announced that Commissioner Dougherty dismissed himself from the meeting.  
 

5. STATE OF FLORIDA, DIVISION OF EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT (EM) 2023 
STATEWIDE MUTUAL AID AGREEMENT – EM Director Lt. Brad Witt.  

 
Chair Spooner recognized Lt. Witt who presented an agreement for board consideration to allow continued 
support and reimbursement from the state during emergencies. Lt. Witt informed the board that a resolution will 
be presented to them at a later meeting upon approval of the agreement.   
 
It was MOVED by Commissioner Andrews and SECONDED by Vice Chair Riddick to approve.  
 
Motion Carries 3-0 
 
 
 



July 2, 2024 
BoCC Meeting Minutes  
 

Page 5 of 7 
 
 
 

7. PROS AND CONS OF IMPLEMENTING AN EMPLOYEE EVALUATION SYSTEM – 
PRESENTATION BY JASON TAYLOR WITH THE KRIZNER GROUP.  

 
In order to assist the board in making a decision regarding employee performance evaluations (EPE), Chair 
Spooner acknowledged Mr. Taylor for his presentation of the benefits and drawbacks of the practice.  
 
Discussion:  

• Comments for and against EPE’s. 
• It was suggested that expectations for employees be communicated and documented, especially when 

problems occur; problems and expectations should not be communicated and documented for the first 
time during an annual review.  

• Training for supervisors on conducting evaluations fairly and accurately.  
 
Mr. Kornegay stated that his office will develop a presentation on employee performance evaluations for board 
action to take at a future meeting.  
 

8. CLERK REPORTS – DENNY THOMPSON  
• Comments on the significance of employee evaluations in determining how well the supervisor 

is performing.  
• Cautioned the board on lowering the millage rate by the full amount of the projected revenue 

from fire assessment.  
 

9. SHERIFF REPORTS – GORDON SMITH  
• Under the Obama Affordable Care Act, all non-federal inmates housed at the Bradford County 

Sheriff’s Office (BCSO) have healthcare insurance coverage, resulting in a savings of 
approximately $300,000 - $500,000 to the county on healthcare costs.  

• BCSO will develop an emergency call analysis and a live dashboard of real time CAD (computer 
aided dispatch) to make it available for the public. 

 
10. COUNTY MANAGER REPORTS – SCOTT KORNEGAY 

 
 Roadway Management Technologies (RMT)  

 
Mr. Kornegay recognized Public Works Director Jason Dodds who presented the board with reference letters 
from the City of Lynn Haven, FL and Dale James, Van Buren County Judge, regarding RMT.  
 
Discussion:  

• Mr. Dodds responded to the suggestion of measuring roads using UF systems by advising that the 
system only measures state infrastructure when they have the time.  

• Interest in exploring the vendor that FDOT utilizes for road quality data. 
• Per county attorney, RMT service costs can be paid with gas tax revenue.  
• RMT annual service cost is $50,000. 
• Interest expressed in exploring other programs for road quality data. Mr. Dodds shared that he has 

explored other vendors and found their prices to be higher than that of RMT.  



July 2, 2024 
BoCC Meeting Minutes  
 

Page 6 of 7 
 
 
 

• Interest expressed in placing the RMT proposal on the August agenda for board action.  
 
 Public Works Report  

 
In response to several questions from the board with respect to the public works division, Mr. Dodds provided 
the following comments  

• The road department is working towards putting down limerock on select deteriorated roads in 
preparation for chip sealing after the Fourth of July holiday.   

• The road department currently receives 3-5 inmates a day from Lawtey DOC to help with county 
right-of-way maintenance.  

• The road department has 12 employees that actively work on 330 miles of county roads and 
right-of-way.  

• In 2019, a quote for contract mowing across the county without liter in the right-of-way was 
received, and it came to $80,000 each cycle.  

• Interest expressed in hiring seasonal labors during the summer to mow county right-of-way that 
could be paid with general fund revenue.  
 

Discussion: 
• Remarks against four-wheelers destroying county roads.  

 
 Impact Fee Assessment  

 
Mr. Kornegay reported that the consultant Stantec will begin working on the impact fee methodology once the 
fire assessment is completed.  
 

11. COUNTY ATTORNEY REPORTS – ROB BRADLEY - no reports  
 

12. COMMISSIONER’S COMMENTS  
• Comments thanking the public for participation in the meeting.  
• Remarks honoring the approaching Independence Day holiday. 

 
13. CHAIR’S COMMENTS  

• Comments on the county manager and sheriff identifying areas for cooling stations.  
• Request made to have public works address the ditches along N.E. 17th Loop in Lawtey.  
• Acknowledged Commissioner Andrews on receiving her level 2 certification as a certified 

county commissioner during the recent FACT conference.  
• Announced activities during the Fourth of July celebration.  

 
Mr. Kornegay recognized Denise Vogelgesang, insurance manager with the Florida Association of Counties 
Trust (FACT), who was in the audience. He shared that Ms. Vogelgesang and her colleagues provide valuable 
resources and training to the county. 
 
ADJOURN: There being no further business, the meeting adjourned at 11:34 a.m.  
 



July 2, 2024 
BoCC Meeting Minutes  
 

Page 7 of 7 
 
 
 

 
 
        BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS 
        BRADFORD COUNTY, FLORIDA 
 
               
        CAROLYN SPOONER, CHAIR 
 
ATTEST: 
 
        
DENNY THOMPSON, CLERK TO THE BOARD 
       
 
MINUTES PREPARED BY:          
     RACHEL RHODEN, CHIEF DEPUTY CLERK 
 
 
 
Minutes approved by the BOCC during a scheduled meeting on:       



Page 1 of 1 
 

BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS OF BRADFORD COUNTY, FLORIDA 
 
 

AGENDA ITEM INFORMATION SHEET 
 
 
 
DATE:     August 6, 2024  
 
AGENDA ITEM:  SHIP Rehabilitation Change order No. 2 on File 2019-7-S  

Please consider approval of Change Order no.2 for SHIP 
Rehab file # 2019-7-S in the amount of $10,637.50 for 
drywall and paint in the living room, hallway, and 3 
bedrooms. 

 
DEPARTMENT:   Community Development/SHIP 
 
PURPOSE/DESCRIPTION:    Per the contract work-write-up they were to provide and 

install insulation to bring entire house up to R-38.  During the 
insulation install in was discovered that the ceiling had no 
barrier and the insulation fell through.  Ceilings Need to Be 
Replaced Due to Having No Barrier Between 
Decorative Ceiling Board And Attic. Insulation Would Not 
Be Able to Be Added Into Attic Resulting In No Way Of 
Keeping A/C & Heat Inside The Home. Later Resulting In 
Needing A New A/C Unit, Due To Over Working The 
Unit/ System. Therefore, please consider no.2 in the amount 
of 10,637.50 which includes the drywall and painting for all 
areas of the house that didn’t have a barrier.  

  
 
 
                                                  
ASSOCIATED COST(S):  $10,637.50 
 
BUDGET LINE (G/L #):  102-52-554-65980-00 
 
  



M & R CONSTRUCTION, INC. 
LIC. # CBC 1257701 
PO Box 146 
Starke, Fl. 32091 
Phone (352) 219-0339 

CHANGE ORDER 

CHANGE ORDER 2  
DATE:  7-2-24 

 
TO:   BRADFORD COUNTY SHIP 
         945 N. TEMPLE AVE. 
        STARKE, FL. 32091 
  
 
 

           SHIP TO: 
 

COMMENTS OR SPECIAL INSTRUCTIONS:   GLORIA COVINGTON 
                                                                
 

 

ORDER DATE P.O. NUMBER REQUISITIONER SHIPPED VIA F.O.B. POINT TERMS 

      

 
 

QUANTITY DESCRIPTION UNIT PRICE TOTAL 

 Billy Fife Drywall Labor Cost $4,200.00. Material 
$2,800.00 $4,200.00/$2,800.00 $7,000.00 

 
J & A Painting Labor Cost $1,200.00. Material 
$300.00 $1,200.00/$300.00 $1,500.00 

 M & R Floor Protection   $750.00 

    

    

    

    

    

    

  Total  $9,250.00 
 15% OH & P $1,387.50 

  

  

TOTAL CO 1 $10,637.50 
 

 



 

 



Page 1 of 1 
 

BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS OF BRADFORD COUNTY, FLORIDA 
 
 

AGENDA ITEM INFORMATION SHEET 
 
 
 
DATE:     August 6, 2024  
 
AGENDA ITEM:  SHIP-Deviate from LHAP on SHIP Rehab file 2019-7-S 

Please consider approving a deviation from the SHIP LHAP 
on SHIP Rehab File # 2019-7-S. 

 
DEPARTMENT:   Community Development/SHIP 
 
PURPOSE/DESCRIPTION:     At this time because of the recent increase in change orders 

the contractor was not able to deduct any costs from this 
contract. Because of the recent increase in construction cost 
and supplies, as well as the recent increase for supply and 
demand of all construction materials and the change orders.  
Please consider the approval of exceeding the maximum 
allowed per Rehab project of $35,000 on file # 2019-7-S.  
Therefore, I am asking the Board to please consider 
approving a deviation from the SHIP LHAP on SHIP Rehab 
File # 2019-7-S. 

 
ASSOCIATED COST(S):  $52,979.24 
 
BUDGET LINE (G/L #):  102-52-554-65980-00 
 
  



Page 1 of 1 
 

BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS OF BRADFORD COUNTY, FLORIDA 
 
 

AGENDA ITEM INFORMATION SHEET 
 
 
 
DATE:     August 6, 2024  
 
AGENDA ITEM:  SHIP Rehabilitation Loan Approval 

Please consider approval of a SHIP Rehabilitation loan in an 
amount not to exceed $35,000 for SHIP File # 2020-6-S 

 
DEPARTMENT:   Community Development/SHIP 
 
PURPOSE/DESCRIPTION:    The SHIP Home Repair Loan program allows income 

qualified applicants to apply for funds in an amount not to 
exceed $35,000.00. 

 
 Upon BOCC approval of SHIP Home Repair Loans  

application – File 2020-6-S, the next steps in executing these 
projects include: 1) Title Search, 2) Initial inspection 3) A bid 
advertisement for home repairs; 4) Award of bid to a 
contractor; and 5) Enter into an agreement with a contractor 
to perform home repairs. All steps will come before the BOCC 
for approval.  

 
 
                                                  
ASSOCIATED COST(S):  $35,000  
 
BUDGET LINE (G/L #):  102-52-554-65980-00 
 
  



BRADFORD COUNTY COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
S.H.I.P. PROGRAM 

925-E NORTH TEMPLE AVENUE 
STARKE, FL  32091 

 
Based on the 2024 income limits for the Bradford County Metropolitan Statistical Area 
(MSA), the family or individual(s) named below is/are eligible to receive S.H.I.P. 
Program funds under the provisions of Chapter 420, Part V, Florida Statutes.   
 
 

Home Repair Loans 
Five Year Deferred Payment Loan in an Amount not to Exceed $35,000 

 
Diane Rhea  2020-6-S      
5380 Short St.       
Hampton, FL 32044       
Loan amount =$35,000     Loan Amount =$35,000 
      

 
 
 

 
Purchase Assistance Loans 

Deferred Payment Loan in an Amount Not to exceed $30,000 
 

None at this time 
    
 
 
 
 
 

Demo/Replacement Loans 
Deferred Payment Loan in an amount not to exceed $84,500 

 
 

None at this time 
 
 
 
 
 
Loans Approved at County Commission meeting. 
Date:  August 6, 2024  
 
 
Carolyn Spooner, Chairwomen 



Page 1 of 1 
 

BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS OF BRADFORD COUNTY, FLORIDA 
 
 

AGENDA ITEM INFORMATION SHEET 
 
 
 
DATE:     August 6, 2024     
    
AGENDA ITEM A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF COUNTY 

COMMISSIONERS OF BRADFORD COUNTY, 
FLORIDA AUTHORIZING EXECUTION OF AN 
AMENDMENT TO THE TRAFFIC SIGNAL 
MAINTENANCE AND COMPENSATION 
AGREEMENT WITH THE STATE OF FLORIDA, 
DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION; PROVIDING 
FOR THE DESIGNATION OF A SIGNATORY FOR 
SAID AGREEMENT; AND PROVIDING AN 
EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 
DEPARTMENT:    County Manager 
 
PURPOSE: Amendment to the Florida Department of Transportation 

Traffic Signal Maintenance and Compensation Agreement 
 
  
  



RESOLUTION 2024 - ____ 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS OF BRADFORD 
COUNTY, FLORIDA AUTHORIZING EXECUTION OF AN AMENDMENT TO THE 
TRAFFIC SIGNAL MAINTENANCE AND COMPENSATION AGREEMENT WITH THE 
STATE OF FLORIDA, DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION; PROVIDING FOR THE 
DESIGNATION OF A SIGNATORY FOR SAID AGREEMENT; AND PROVIDING AN 
EFFECTIVE DATE. 

  

WHEREAS, the State of Florida, Department of Transportation (FDOT) provides 

compensation to Florida Counties for their provision of maintenance and support for the operation 

of traffic signals on the State Highway System; and  

 WHEREAS, the Board of County Commissioners of Bradford County, Florida has regularly 

entered into agreements with FDOT for maintenance of and compensation for certain traffic signals 

in Bradford County, Florida; and  

 WHEREAS, FDOT has provided Bradford County with an amendment to the existing 

agreement for maintenance of and compensation for certain traffic signals; and  

 WHEREAS, the Board of County Commissioners of Bradford County, Florida finds that 

entry into said agreement amendment with FDOT for maintenance of and compensation for certain 

traffic signals is in the best interest of Bradford County and its citizens. 

 NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Board of County Commissioners of 

Bradford County, Florida as follows: 

Section 1.  Adoption and Incorporation of Recitals. 

 The Board of County Commissioners of Bradford County, Florida adopts the above-

outlined recitals and incorporates them herein as part and parcel of this resolution. 



Section 2.  Purpose and Authority for Resolution. 

This resolution is adopted for the purpose of authorizing execution of an Amendment to the 

Traffic Signal Maintenance and Compensation Agreement with the State of Florida, Department of 

Transportation and is adopted pursuant to the authority granted by Chapter 125, Florida Statutes. 

Section 3.  Authorization for Execution of Agreement Amendment. 

 The Board of County Commissioners of Bradford County, Florida authorizes execution of 

the Amendment to the Traffic Signal Maintenance and Compensation Agreement with the State of Florida, 

Department of Transportation, which is attached hereto as Exhibit 1 and incorporated herein by 

reference. 

Section 4.  Designation of Signatory for Closing Statements/Documents. 

 The Chairman of the Board of County Commissioners of Bradford County, Florida is 

designated as the signatory for agreement attached hereto as Exhibit 1. 

Section 5.  Effective Date of Resolution. 

 This resolution shall be effective immediately upon adoption by the Board of County 

Commissioners of Bradford County, Florida. 

 

 

The Remainer of This Page Intentionally Left Blank. 

 



RESOLVED AND ADOPTED by the Board of County Commissioners of Bradford County, 

Florida, with a quorum present and voting this 6th day of August 2024. 

 

      BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS OF  
BRADFORD COUTNY, FLORIDA 
 

__________________________________________ 

      By: CAROLYN SPOONER, as its 
       Chairwoman 
ATTEST: 

 

______________________________________ 
By:  DENNY THOMPSON, as 
 Clerk to the Board 
 

APPROVED AS TO FORM AND LEGAL SUFFICIENCY: 

 
_________________________________________ 
By: ROB BRADLEY, as 
 County Attorney 
  



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

EXHIBIT 1 

Amendment to the Traffic Signal Maintenance and Compensation Agreement 

 

 



 STATE OF FLORIDA DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION 

AMENDMENT TO THE TRAFFIC SIGNAL MAINTENANCE  
AND COMPENSATION AGREEMENT 

750-010-24a 
TRAFFIC OPERATIONS 

 04/23 
Page 1 of 1 

 
 
 

CONTRACT NO. ARV17 
FINANCIAL PROJECT NO. 41351918809 

F.E.I.D. NO. F596000519035 
AMENDMENT NO.  

 
THIS AMENDMENT TO THE TRAFFIC SIGNAL AND MAINTENANCE AGREEMENT (“Amendment”) is made 

and entered into on this ______________ day of ______________ ________________, by and between the STATE OF 
FLORIDA, DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION (“Department”), an agency of the State of Florida, and Bradford County, 
(“Maintaining Agency”). 

 
RECITALS 
 
WHEREAS, the Department and the Maintaining Agency on _________________ entered into a Traffic Signal 

Maintenance and Compensation Agreement (“Agreement”). 
 

WHEREAS, the Parties have agreed to modify the Agreement on the terms and conditions set forth herein. 
 

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants in this Amendment, the Agreement is amended as 
follows:  
 

1. Exhibit A is amended, superseded and replaced in its entirety with the new Exhibit A that is attached to this 
Amendment. 
 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned parties have executed this Amendment on the day, month and year set forth 
above. 
 
 

 
 
 

Bradford County , Florida 
STATE OF FLORIDA  
DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION 

(Maintaining Agency)  
    
By:   By:  
 (Authorized Signature)   (Authorized Signature) 

Print/Type Name:        Print/Type Name:       

Title:        Title:       

   Legal Review:  
           

Carolyn Spooner

Chairwoman, Bradford County Board of County Commissioners

6th August 2024



BRADFORD COUNTY

Intersection
Location

Traffic
Signals

(TS)

Traffic Signal -
Interconnected

& monitored
(IMTS)

Intersection
Control
Beacon
(ICB)

Pedestrian
Flashing
Beacon
(PFB)

Emergency
Fire Dept.

Signal
(FDS)

Speed 
Activated
Warning 
Display

(SAWD)

Illuminated 
Street 
Name 
Signs
(ISNS)

Blank
Out 
Sign 
(BOS)

Traffic 
Warning
Beacon 
(TWB)

Probe 
Data 

Detection 
System
(PDDS)

Uninterruptible
Power 

Supplies
(UPS)

Connected  
Automated 

Vehicle 
Devices 
(CAVD)

Pedestrian 
Hybrid 
Beacon
(PHB)

Arterial 
Dynamic 
Message 

Sign
(ADMS)

Passive 
Pedestrian 
Detection

(PPD)

 Traffic 
Monitoring 

Camera
(TrMC)

In-Roadway 
Warning 

Lights
(IRWL)

Compensation
Amount (using
Unit Rates from

Exhibit B)

SR 100 at
SE 66th STREET

$403.00 $127 $2,722.00 $3,252

SR 18/SR 235/SR 231 at
CR 18

$393 $393

SR100 at
CR100A/SE144TH ST.

$393 $393

SR100 at
CR235/SW 132 AVE

$393 $393

SR100 at
CR18

$393 $393

SR100 at
SE109TH  ST.

$393 $393

SR100 at
Hope Baptist Church

$393 $393

SR100 at
CR100A

$393 $393

SR100 at
CR225

$393 $393

SR100 at
CR235

$393 $393

STATE OF FLORIDA DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION

TRAFFIC SIGNAL MAINTENANCE AND COMPENSATION AGREEMENT

EXHIBIT A
Reimbursement for Maintenance and Operation FY 2025

750-010-22
TRAFFIC OPERATIONS

04/23
Exhibit A Page 1 of 3



BRADFORD COUNTY

Intersection
Location

Traffic
Signals

(TS)

Traffic Signal -
Interconnected

& monitored
(IMTS)

Intersection
Control
Beacon
(ICB)

Pedestrian
Flashing
Beacon
(PFB)

Emergency
Fire Dept.

Signal
(FDS)

Speed 
Activated
Warning 
Display

(SAWD)

Illuminated 
Street 
Name 
Signs
(ISNS)

Blank
Out 
Sign 
(BOS)

Traffic 
Warning
Beacon 
(TWB)

Probe 
Data 

Detection 
System
(PDDS)

Uninterruptible
Power 

Supplies
(UPS)

Connected  
Automated 

Vehicle 
Devices 
(CAVD)

Pedestrian 
Hybrid 
Beacon
(PHB)

Arterial 
Dynamic 
Message 

Sign
(ADMS)

Passive 
Pedestrian 
Detection

(PPD)

 Traffic 
Monitoring 

Camera
(TrMC)

In-Roadway 
Warning 

Lights
(IRWL)

Compensation
Amount (using
Unit Rates from

Exhibit B)

SR100 at
CR 21B - ICW

$393 $393

SR100 at
CR100A/SE144TH ST. - ICW

$393 $393

SR100 at
CR 21B

$393 $393

SR16 at
CR225

$975 $975

SR200, (US301) at
SR 223 SOUTH OF STARKE

$4,024 $403.00 $127 $4,554

SR200, (US301) at
SR 223 NORTH OF STARKE

$4,024 $4,024

SR200, (US301) at
CR 227/SE 125 ST.

$4,024 $4,024

SR200, (US301) at
CR 18

$4,024 $4,024

Total Lump Sum Amount*                $25,569.00

* Amount paid shall be the Total Lump Sum (minus any retainage or forfeiture).

STATE OF FLORIDA DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION

TRAFFIC SIGNAL MAINTENANCE AND COMPENSATION AGREEMENT

EXHIBIT A
Reimbursement for Maintenance and Operation FY 2025

750-010-22
TRAFFIC OPERATIONS

04/23
Exhibit A Page 2 of 3



I certify that the above Traffic Signals and Devices will be maintained and operated in accordance with the requirements of the Traffic Signal Maintenance and Compensation Agreement. For satisfactory completion of all services detailed 
in this Agreement for this time period, the Department will pay the Maintaining Agency a Total Lump Sum (minus any retainage or forfeiture) of $25,569.00

                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                          
Maintaining Agency                                                                          Date                                                        District Traffic Operations Engineer                                               Date

STATE OF FLORIDA DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION

TRAFFIC SIGNAL MAINTENANCE AND COMPENSATION AGREEMENT

EXHIBIT A
Reimbursement for Maintenance and Operation FY 2025

750-010-22
TRAFFIC OPERATIONS

04/23
Exhibit A Page 3 of 3



Page 1 of 1 
 

BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS OF BRADFORD COUNTY, FLORIDA 
 
 

AGENDA ITEM INFORMATION SHEET 
 
 
 
DATE:      August 6, 2024  
    
AGENDA ITEM Consider approval of the proposed AvMed “Alternate 

3” Renewal Rates for 2024-2025 
 
DEPARTMENT:     County Manager 
 
  



LORI A. THOMPSON-AGENT 
GEORGE ROBERTS INSURANCE, INC. 

986 N. TEMPLE AVENUE 
STARKE, FLORIDA  32091 

CELL:904-838-9394 
 

Dear Commissioners: 

As your insurance agent, please be advised I have worked with AvMed to secure the best rate and 
coverage option for the county. I am proud to report that I was able to reduce an initial rate increase 
of 17.8% to 0.1%.  After several meetings with the county manager’s office and clerk’s office, I am 
pleased to recommend the plan attached hereto for fiscal-year (FY) 2024-2025. 

As you review the attached plan, you will see three columns which are represented as follows: 
column 1 – various service types; column 2 – current plan/fee schedule (FY 2023-2024) for the 
various types of service; and column 3 – recommended plan/fee schedule for FY 2024-2025 for the 
various types of services.  

Below is a monthly/yearly breakdown of our current plan costs versus the recommended plan 
costs.  

MONTHLY PREMIUM INCREASE BREAKDOWN 
Description  Monthly Per Person  # Employees  
Recommended FY 24-25 $293,831.73 $1,175.75 250 
Current FY 23-24 $293,501.94 $1,174.43 250 
INCREASE PER MONTH $329.72 $1.32  

 

ANNUAL PREMIUM INCREASE BREAKDOWN 
Description  Annual  Per Person  # Employees  
Recommended FY 24-25 $3,525,980.76 $14,109.00 250 
Current FY 23-24 $3,522,023.28 $14,093.16 250 
INCREASE PER YEAR $3,957.48 $15.84  

 

In order for the county to continue imaging services locally, AvMed increased the copay from $750 to 
$1500 for hospital and outpatient surgery admission. Per past practice, the copay costs will be 
reimbursed by the county (was $750; now $1500). As of July, the county has reimbursed 28 claims at 
the $750 copay cost, totaling $ 19,968. If we estimate paying out the same number of claims in FY 
24-25, the cost will double ($19,968 + $19,968 = $39,936).  

 

Annual Premium Increase  Estimated Hospital/Outpatient 
Admission Increase 

Total Estimated Increase Over 
Current Year Expenditures 

$3,957.48 $19,968 $23,925.48 
 

 



Again, I am pleased to share the recommended proposal from AvMed for your consideration of 
approval during your August 6th county commission meeting. In the event that I can answer any 
questions or concerns, please do not hesitate to contact me.  

 

Respectfully submitted,  

Lori Thompson  



Bradford County - October 1, 2024
FINAL Revised Renewal Proposal 

Current Alternate #3
PLAN NAME Achieve Group Spec Achieve Group Spec

PLAN ID Group Spec 7497 Rx 7644 Group Spec BRAD 2 Rx6219
In Network In Network

CALENDAR YEAR DEDUCTIBLE (CYD)
[Self] / Individual / Family $0 / $0 $0 / $0

OUT-OF-POCKET MAX
[Self] / Individual / Family $6,850 / $13,700 $7,000 / $14,000

OFFICE SERVICES
Primary Care Physician (PCP) $25 copay per visit $25 copay per visit

Specialist $50 copay per visit $50 copay per visit
Telehealth Virtual Visit No charge No charge

IMMEDIATE MEDICAL CARE**
Retail Clinic $25 copay per visit $25 copay per visit
Urgent Care $50 copay per visit $50 copay per visit

Emergency Room $100 copay per visit $100 copay per visit
Ambulance (Ground) $100 copay per one-way transport $100 copay per one-way transport
OUTPATIENT SERVICES
Outpatient Radiology

   Complex   (CT/PET scans, MRIs, etc.) $75 copay (independent facility) /                  $75 
Copay (Hospital - affiliated)

$75 copay (independent facility) /                                 
$75 Copay (Hospital - affiliated)

   Other   (X-ray, ultrasound, etc.) $50 copay (independent facility) /                  $50 
Copay (Hospital - affiliated)

$50 copay (independent facility) /                              
$50 Copay (Hospital - affiliated)

Outpatient Routine Lab $0 copay $0 copay

Outpatient Surgery - facility $750 copay (independent facility) /                  $750 
Copay (Hospital - affiliated)

$1,500 copay (independent facility) /                  
$1,500 Copay (Hospital - affiliated)

Outpatient Surgery - physician services no charge no charge
HOSPITAL

Inpatient
$750 copay/day per admission (day 1- 5); no 

charge Day 6 and after. 
$1,500 copay/day per admission (day 1- 3); no 

charge Day 4 and after. 
PRESCRIPTION DRUGS MP 7644 MP 6219

RX CALENDAR YEAR DEDUCTIBLE (CYD)
Individual / Family combined with medical combined with medical

RX OUT-OF-POCKET MAX
Individual / Family combined with medical combined with medical

RX TIERS: Cost-sharing per prescription (retail)
Tier 1: Value Generic $15 copay $3 copay

Tier 2: Generic $15 copay $9 copay
Tier 3: Preferred $30 copay $25 copay

Tier 4: Non-Preferred $50 copay $50 copay
Tier 5: Specialty (retail only) $75 copay 50% coinsurance

RX TIERS: Cost-sharing per prescription (mail order)
Tier 1: Value Generic $30 copay $7.50 copay

Tier 2: Generic $30 copay $22.50 copay
Tier 3: Preferred $60 copay $62.50 copay

Tier 4: Non-Preferred $100 copay $125 copay
Renewal Premium

Single $1,317.19 $1,175.75
Family $2,489.48 $2,222.17

Proposed Monthly Premium $329,178.78 $293,831.73
Current Monthly Premium $293,501.94 $293,501.94

Renewal Increase 12.2% 0.1%

• This is a partial list of benefits, limitations, and exclusions. Refer to group contractand SBC for a complete listing of benefits, limitations, and exclusio
• Specific qualifications are detailed in the attached "Underwriting Assumptions & Caveats" document.
***Renewal Plan Spreadsheet is for comparison purpose only.  Aways refer to the proposals for correct rates and benefits***















Page 1 of 1 
 

BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS OF BRADFORD COUNTY, FLORIDA 
 
 

AGENDA ITEM INFORMATION SHEET 
 
 
 
DATE:      August 6, 2024   
    
AGENDA ITEM Approval of RFQ 2024-001 for Continuing Contracts 

for Engineering and/or Survey and Mapping Services 
 
DEPARTMENT:     County Manager 
 
PURPOSE: At the March 5, 2024, the Board gave consensus to 

put out a Request for Qualifications for engineering 
services in order to acquire multiple continuing 
service contracts. 

  
 Proposed date to issue the request is August 19, 2024, 

with a qualifications due date of October 10, 2024, at 
4:00 PM. Recommendations for companies to enter 
negotiations would be presented to the Board at the 
October 17, 2024, regular meeting.  

 
  
  



RFQ 2024-001  Professional Service Contracts 
Page 1 of 20 
 

 

 

 

BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS OF BRADFORD COUNTY, FLORIDA 

RFQ 2024-001 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

REQUEST FOR QUALIFICATIONS 

FOR 

PROFESSIONAL SERVICE CONTRACTS 

 

ENGINEERING AND/OR SURVEY AND MAPPING SERVICES 

  



RFQ 2024-001  Professional Service Contracts 
Page 2 of 20 
 

 

 

 

RFQ 2024-001 

CONTINUING CONTRACTS 

FOR 

ENGINEERING AND/OR SURVEY AND MAPPING SERVICES 

 

REQUEST FOR QUALIFICATIONS 

 
QUALIFICATIONS ISSUE DATE:   August 19, 2024 

QUALIFICATIONS DUE DATE/TIME:  October 10, 2024 – 4:00 PM 

Sealed responses to this Request for Qualifications must be physically delivered to the Office of the 
Clerk of the Circuit Court before the stated time. Late responses will not be considered. Responses 
shall be submitted on the forms provided and must be manually signed. Responses shall be sealed in 
an envelope with the RFQ number, with the opening date and time clearly indicated. 

 
ISSUED BY:   Office of the County Manager 
    945 N Temple Avenue 
    Starke, Florida 32091 
    Telephone: 904-966-6327 
    Email: Scott_Kornegay@BradfordCountyFL.gov 
 

The Board of County Commissioners of Bradford County, Florida reserves the right to reject all 
responses submitted in response to this Request for Qualifications. 

It is the intent and purpose of the Board of County Commissioners of Bradford County, Florida 
that this Request for Qualifications promote competition. It shall be the responsibility of the entity’s 
responding to this RFQ to advise the County Manager’s office if any language, requirement, etc. Or 
any combination thereof inadvertently restricts or limits the requirements stated in this Request for 
Qualifications to a single source. Such notification must be submitted in writing and must be 
received by the County Manager’s office no later than ten (10) days prior to the Qualifications 
Opening Date referred to herein. 

This document and all attached materials including this Request for Qualifications shall become part 
of any purchase order, agreement, contract, work order, or other engagement resulting from this 
request for qualification process. 

mailto:Scott_Kornegay@BradfordCountyFL.gov


RFQ 2024-001  Professional Service Contracts 
Page 3 of 20 
 

 

 

 

 

AWARD PROCESS 

The following schedule is provided by the Board of County Commissioners of Bradford County, 
Florida for consideration of those interested in submitting a response to this Request for 
Qualifications: 

 

QUALIFICATIONS ISSUE DATE:      August 19, 2024 

QUALIFICATIONS DUE DATE/TIME:    October 10, 2024 – 4:00 PM 

 

BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS’ APPROVAL:   October 17, 2024 

(In the event that the Board of County Commissioners elects to conduct interviews or hear 
presentations from certain firms submitting a response, this date is subject to change.) 

 

WORK ORDER INITIATION:      UNKOWN 

 

The Board of County Commissioners of Bradford County, Florida reserves the right to 
change or alter the aforementioned dates at its sole and exclusive discretion as may become 
necessary. 

  



RFQ 2024-001  Professional Service Contracts 
Page 4 of 20 
 

 

 

 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

Section Title Page 
   
Section 1 Introduction 5 
   
Section 2 Typical Project Areas 6 
   
Section 3 Scope of Services 7 
   
Section 4 Qualifications and Responsive Submissions 8 
   
Section 5 Payment for Services 10 
   
Section 6 Agreement(s) with Selected Firms and Terms for Agreements 11 
   
Section 7 Delivery of Qualifications Responses 12 
   
Section 8 Content of Qualifications Responses 13 
   
Section 9 Restricted Communication 16 
   
Section 10 Evaluation Criteria and Selection Process 17 
   
Section 11 Negotiations 19 
   
Section 12 Appendices 20 
   
 Appendix A – Florida Statutes on Public Entity Crimes Form A1 
   
 Appendix B – Drug-Free Workplace Form B1 
   
 Appendix C – References Listing Form C1 
   
 Appendix D – Certification Regarding Debarment, Suspension,   

                         Ineligibility and Voluntary Exclusion Lower Tier   
                         Covered Transactions 

D1 

   
 Appendix E – Continuing Services Agreement - Sample E1 

 

  



RFQ 2024-001  Professional Service Contracts 
Page 5 of 20 
 

 

 

 

Section 1.    Introduction. 

The Board of County Commissioners of Bradford County, Florida, in conformance with the 

Consultants' Competitive Negotiations Act (CCNA), Section 287.055, Florida Statutes, as well as the 

Purchasing Procedures of Bradford County, Florida is requesting qualifications from licensed firms or 

individuals to provide continuing contracts for engineering and/or surveying and mapping services. 

  



RFQ 2024-001  Professional Service Contracts 
Page 6 of 20 
 

 

 

 

Section 2.    Typical Project Areas. 

 

The Board of County Commissioners of Bradford County, Florida typically engages firms or entities 

providing these services for projects such as those identified as follows: 

A. Design, construction, and management of new facilities and significant facility 

improvements, alterations or additions; 

B. Solid Waste Management planning, permitting, design, and engineer inspection; 

C. Stormwater facility planning, permitting, design and engineer inspection; 

D. General civil engineering for roadway planning and design, geotechnical engineering, 

drainage planning and design, parks planning and design, building planning and design, 

sidewalk planning and design, and site development planning and design; and 

E. Boundary, site, utility, topographic and design surveying; 

  



RFQ 2024-001  Professional Service Contracts 
Page 7 of 20 
 

 

 

 

Section 3.    Scope of Services 

Once selected pursuant to this Request for Qualifications process, qualified firms and/or entities 

will respond to Bradford County Task Orders to provide services for the categories listed below, as 

applicable: 

A. Mechanical, Electrical, Plumbing (MEP) Engineering Services; 

B. General, Civil Engineering Services; 

C. Stormwater Management and Ecological Engineering Services; 

D. Solid Waste Management and Landfill Planning, Permitting and Inspection Services; 

E. Traffic Engineering Services; 

F. Transportation Planning Services; 

G. Geotechnical Engineering and Construction Support Services; 

H. Surveying Services; 

I. Environmental, Health and Safety Engineering Services; 

J. Bridge and Structural Engineering to Include Inspection Services; 

K. Design for Florida Department of Transportation (FDOT) Projects; 

L. Project Coordination for FDOT Projects; and 

M. Construction, Engineering and Inspection Services for FDOT Projects 

  



RFQ 2024-001  Professional Service Contracts 
Page 8 of 20 
 

 

 

 

Section 4.   Qualifications and Responsive Submissions 

A. The Board of County Commissioners of Bradford County, Florida intends to award multiple 

continuing contracts to firms and/or entities deemed to be the most highly qualified to 

perform each required service. Firms and/or entities may be awarded continuing contracts in 

single or multiple categories as described in Section 3, “Scope of Services.” The Board of 

County Commissioners intends for the continuing service contracts to be for a period of 

two (2) years with the option for three (3), additional one (1) year extensions. Firms and/or 

entities must have provided consulting, engineering, or services that relate to any of the 

required categories listed in Section 3 above and herein within the State of Florida for at least 

five (5) years. 

B. Firms and/or entities should submit a single response which outlines the entire scope of the 

services they propose to offer to Bradford County. This single proposal should address the 

categories listed in Section 3 and should, at a minimum, address any/all services that the 

firms and/or entities propose to provide. It is not necessary to provide separate or individual 

responses for any or all of the categories outlined in Section 3, nor is it necessary to provide 

a separate or individual letter of intent for any or all of the categories outlined in Section 3.  

C. Firms and/or entities must be registered and licensed to practice in the State of Florida and 

identify and submit resumes for all personnel that will be working on project(s). 

D. Include the experience of each on projects similar to those listed under the scope of services 

Section 3 above and herein. 



RFQ 2024-001  Professional Service Contracts 
Page 9 of 20 
 

 

 

 

E. It is required that consultants assigned to all projects come from the resumes submitted in 

this RFQ. 

F. Changes to this pool of consultants must be approved in writing by the Board of County 

Commissioner's or their designee(s). 

G. A professional consultant licensed to practice in the relevant area in the State of Florida shall 

be responsible for and in charge of all work performed on each project. 

  



RFQ 2024-001  Professional Service Contracts 
Page 10 of 20 
 

 

 

 

Section 5    Payment for Services 

A. Generally speaking, invoices shall be submitted to Bradford County on a monthly basis in 

accordance with the agreement(s) governing the relationship between the Board of County 

Commissioners of Bradford County, Florida and the firms and/or entities selected pursuant 

to this Request for Qualifications process. 

B. Given the potentially unique circumstances of individual tasks, this requirement may be 

amended on a project-by-project basis, upon the mutual agreement of Bradford County and 

the selected firm and/or entity. 

  



RFQ 2024-001  Professional Service Contracts 
Page 11 of 20 
 

 

 

 

Section 6  Agreement(s) with Selected Firms and Terms for Agreements 

A. The Board of County Commissioners of Bradford County, Florida will negotiate agreements 

with the selected firms and/or entities following selection pursuant to this Request for 

Qualifications process. 

B. The term of all agreements shall begin on the date the agreements are approved and 

executed by the Board of County Commissioners of Bradford County, Florida and the 

selected firms and/or entities, otherwise known as complete execution. 

C. The Board of County Commissioners of Bradford County, Florida intends for said 

continuing service agreements to remain in place for an initial two (2) years with the option 

for three (3), additional one (1) year extensions. 

  



RFQ 2024-001  Professional Service Contracts 
Page 12 of 20 
 

 

 

 

Section 7.      Delivery of Qualifications Responses 

A. One (1) original, three (3) copies and one (1) digital copy of the Qualifications Responses 

shall be submitted in a sealed package, clearly marked on the outside of package with 

''RESPONSE TO REQUEST FOR QUALIFICATIONS - PROFESSIONAL 

ENGINEERING AND/OR SURVEYING - BRADFORD COUNTY, FLORIDA" 

addressed to Bradford County, Florida, and delivered at the reception desk at the Bradford 

County, Clerk's Office, Bradford County Courthouse, 945 N. Temple Avenue, Starke, 

Florida 32091. 

B. It is the sole responsibility of the proposer to ensure that proposals are received by the 

Bradford County Clerk's Office by the due date and time. Proposals received after the due 

date and/or time specified shall not be considered. 

  



RFQ 2024-001  Professional Service Contracts 
Page 13 of 20 
 

 

 

 

Section 8. Content of Qualifications Responses 

A. Letter addressed to the Board of County Commissioners of Bradford County, Florida setting 

forth the argument for the selection of the proposer as the highest qualified firm to provide 

services in one or more of the categories set out in Section 3 above and herein, a separate 

argument shall be presented for each area of practice for which a contract award is sought. 

The letter will be reviewed for content and writing style. The signature of the proposer must 

be attached and such signature is deemed a representation that the proposer is the author of 

the submittal. 

B. The statement of qualifications must include, in tabbed format, the following sections in this 

order: 

i. Title Page - The title page must include the title of the RFQ, the name and address 

of tl1e proposing firm, the name, title, phone number and email address of the 

contact person. Indicate the category as listed in Section 3 above and herein for 

which firm is licensed, qualified to provide services and is seeking a contract award. 

ii. Table of Contents 

iii. Tab 1 - Signed Letter from Proposer - A signed letter stating an understanding of 

work to be completed, the commitment to perform the work within the periods 

specified, a statement why the firm believes itself to be best qualified to perform the 

services. The signer must have the authority to bind the respondent to the submitted 

qualifications. This requirement may be satisfied by inclusion in the same letter as 



RFQ 2024-001  Professional Service Contracts 
Page 14 of 20 
 

 

 

 

required by Section 8, Subsection A such that only one of such letters is required to 

be submitted.  

iv.  Tab 2 - Organizational Chart - A chart showing full name, title of personnel and 

name of the firm providing tl1e personnel. Include the resume of each team member 

proposed. It is expected that the personnel proposed will be the personnel working 

on each project. Any substitution request must be made in writing and be approved 

by the Board of County Commissioners of Bradford County, Florida. 

v. Tab 3 - Professional Experience - Establish relevant experience of the firm by 

providing similar Project References (no more than 2 pages per Project Reference). 

Include Client phone/email contact information for verification purposes. 

References must include experience for any applicable categories listed in Section 3 

above and herein for which proposer seeks to be qualified. 

vi. Tab 4 - Understanding of Local Needs - Explain an understanding of the needs 

requested by this RFQ. Outline knowledge of the community and familiarity with 

local conditions. 

vii.   Tab 5 - Qualifications - Indicate those who will serve as principals-in-charge and 

project managers and their availability to work on projects. List other project 

personnel that will be assigned to projects. Describe their directly related experience 

and qualifications to effectively and efficiently meet project requirements. Identify 

the office location that will be assigned to a project and its distance from Bradford 

County, Florida. 



RFQ 2024-001  Professional Service Contracts 
Page 15 of 20 
 

 

 

 

viii.   Tab 6 - Work Priorities - Outline the ability of the firm to meet deadlines and budget 

constraints and ability to react to changing conditions. 

ix.   Tab 7 - Local Government References - Use the form provided for this purpose. 

Return it with the proposal. List four local government professionals with whom the 

firm has worked within the last three years. Provide telephone and email contact 

information. 

x. Tab 8 - Certification - Document the firm's status as Certified Minority-/Women- 

Owned Business, if any. Certification may be State, Federal, City, or local 

government. Please note: All firms must be licensed and permitted to practice in the 

State of Florida. 

xi. Tab 9 - Insurance Requirements - A statement will be included indicating the 

understanding of, and agreement to comply with, the Board of County 

Commissioners of Bradford County, Florida's insurance requirements as will be set 

forth in the continuing services agreement which will be negotiated between the 

successful firm and/or entity and Bradford County. 

xii.   Tab 10 – Addenda - A signed copy of any addenda to indicate the Firm 

acknowledges receipt and understanding of the addenda contents. 

xiii. Tab 11 - Any other information deemed relevant by the Firm. 

  



RFQ 2024-001  Professional Service Contracts 
Page 16 of 20 
 

 

 

 

Section 9. Restricted Communication 

A. Any communication by an interested firm and/or entity with the Board of County 

Commissioners of Bradford County, Florida shall be made by email only to Amanda 

Brown at amanda_brown@bradfordcountyfl.gov. 

B. The issuance of a written addendum is the only official method whereby 

interpretation, clarification, or additional information can be given. 

C. If any addenda are issued to this RFQ, the Board of County Commissioners of 

Bradford County, Florida will post any such addenda on its web site at 

www.bradfordcountyfl.gov. 

D. It shall be the responsibility of each firm and/or entity, prior to submitting 

qualifications, to view the Board of County Commissioners of Bradford County, 

Florida's web site to determine if addenda were issued and to make such addenda a 

part of the qualifications, to be included and signed in Tab 10 of the proposal. 

  



RFQ 2024-001  Professional Service Contracts 
Page 17 of 20 
 

 

 

 

Section 10. Evaluation Criteria and Selection Process 

A. Proposals will be evaluated internally by a committee designated by the Board of 

County Commissioners of Bradford County, Florida for this specific purpose. 

B. The evaluation of the proposals shall include consideration of the following criteria 

with the following prescribed values: 

Overall expertise, experience, and qualifications to perform 

professional work related to the identified categories. 

20 Points 

Experience within the last three years working with local 

governments. 

20 Points 

Understanding local needs and familiarity with local conditions. 20 Points 

Availability, location, and qualifications of key personnel to be 

assigned contract work 

15 Points 

Recognition of work priorities, flexibility to deal with change, ability 

to meet deadlines and budget constraints. 

10 Points 

Local Government References 10 Points 

Certification as to Minority Business Enterprises (MBE)/Women’s 

Business Enterprises (WBE) Ownership (Based solely on 

Certification of the responding firms and/or entities and not upon a 

consideration of Certified subconsultants.)  

5 Points 

Total Possible Number of Points 100 Points 

 

C. The Board of County Commissioners of Bradford County, Florida reserves the right 

to request consultant presentations from interested firms and/or entities. 



RFQ 2024-001  Professional Service Contracts 
Page 18 of 20 
 

 

 

 

D. The most qualified firms and/or entities in each area of licensure will be 

recommended to the Board of County Commissioners of Bradford County, Florida. 

E. Those firms and/or entities approved by the Board of County Commissioners of 

Bradford County, Florida will be asked to enter negotiations on an expedited basis. 

F. Upon successful negotiation, an agreement will be negotiated between Bradford 

County staff and the selected firm and/or entity and, ultimately, approved by the 

Board of County Commissioners of Bradford County, Florida. 

  



RFQ 2024-001  Professional Service Contracts 
Page 19 of 20 
 

 

 

 

Section 11. Negotiations 

Negotiations shall begin with the top-ranked firm(s) and/or entity(entities) after designation as such 

by the Board of County Commissioners of Bradford County, Florida. If a satisfactory contract and 

fee schedule cannot be negotiated with higher ranked consultant(s) negotiations will begin with the 

next highest ranked consultant(s). The intent is to develop several contracts with separate 

consultants in each area of licensure. 

  



RFQ 2024-001  Professional Service Contracts 
Page 20 of 20 
 

 

 

 

Section 12. List of Appendices 

A. The following documents are attached hereto as appendices and are incorporated 

herein by reference. Each of these documents must be properly completed, executed and 

submitted as a part of Qualifications Responses. 

B. The executed and below listed documents subsequently will be identified and incorporated 

in the agreement between the successful firm(s) and/or entity(entities) and the Board of 

County Commissioners of Bradford County, Florida. The actions of the Board of County 

Commissioners of Bradford County, Florida in selecting and awarding contracts, as well its 

reliance on expected high quality by performance of consultant during contract 

administration, are based in considerable part on the representations expresses therein. 

C. Appendices: 

1. Appendix A - Florida Statutes On Public Entity Crimes Form; 

2. Appendix B - Drug-Free Workplace Form; 

3. Appendix B - References Listing Form; 

4. Appendix D - Certification Regarding Debarment, Suspension, Ineligibility, and 

Voluntary Exclusion Lower Tier Covered Transactions; 

5. Appendix E – Sample Continuing Services Agreement – A version similar to this 

sample will be negotiated with the firms and/or entities that are selected to be 

engaged.  



SWORN STATEMENT PURSUANT TO SECTION 287.133(3)(a), 
FLORIDA STATUTES, ON PUBLIC ENTITY CRIMES 

THIS FORM MUST BE SIGNED AND SWORN TO IN THE PRESENCE OF A NOTARY PUBLIC 
OR OTHER OFFICIAL AUTHORIZED TO AND MINISTER OATHS. 

1. This sworn statement is submitted to_________________________________________________________
[print name of the public entity]

by____________________________________________________________________________________
[print individual’s name and title]

for____________________________________________________________________________________
[print name of entity submitting sworn statement]

whose business address is

______________________________________________________________________________________

______________________________________________________________________________________

and (if applicable) its Federal Employer Identification Number (FEIN) is ___________________________

(If the entity has no FEIN, include the Social Security Number of the individual signing this sworn

statement:_____________________________________________________________________________.)

2. I understand that a “public entity crime” as defined in Paragraph 287.133(1)(g), Florida Statutes, means a
violation of any state or federal law by a person with respect to and directly related to the transaction of
business with any public entity or with an agency or political subdivision of any other state or of the United
States, including, but not limited to, any bid or contract for goods or services to be provided to any public
entity or an agency or political subdivision of any other state or of the United States and involving antitrust,
fraud, theft, bribery, collusion, racketeering, conspiracy, or material misrepresentation.

3. I understand that “convicted” or  “conviction” as defined in Paragraph 287.133(1)(b), Florida Statutes,
means a finding of guilt or a conviction of a public entity crime, with or without an adjudication of guilt, in
any federal or state trial court of record relating to charges brought by indictment or information after July
1, 1989, as a result of a jury verdict,  nonjury trial, or entry of a plea of guilty or nolo contendere.

4. I understand that an “affiliate” as defined in Paragraph 287.133(1)(a), Florida Statutes, means:
1. A predecessor or successor of a person convicted of a public entity crime; or
2. An entity under the control of any natural person who is active in the management of the entity and who
has been convicted of a public entity crime.  The term “affiliate” includes those officers, directors,
executives, partners, shareholders, employees, members, and agents who are active in the management of
an affiliate.  The ownership by one person of shares constituting a controlling interest in another person, or
a pooling of equipment or income among persons when not for fair market value under an arm’s length
agreement, shall be a prima facie case that one person controls another person.  A person who knowingly
enters into a joint venture with a person who has been convicted of a public entity crime in Florida during
the preceding 36 months shall be considered an affiliate.

5. I understand that a “person” as defined in Paragraph 287.133(1)(e), Florida Statutes, means any natural
person or entity organized under the laws of any state or of the United States with the legal power to enter
into a binding contract and which bids or applies to bid on contracts for the provision of goods or services
let by a public entity, or which otherwise transacts or applies to transact business with a public entity.  The
term “person” includes those officers, directors, executives, partners, shareholders, employees, members,
and agents who are active in management of an entity.

Appendix A

RFQ 2024-001 
Page 1 of 2

Professional Service Contracts



6. Based on information and belief, the statement which I have marked below is true in relation to the entity
submitting this sworn statement.  [Indicate which statement applies]

_____ Neither the entity submitting this sworn statement, nor any of its officers, directors, executives,
partners, shareholders, employees, members, or agents who are active in the management of the entity, nor
any affiliate of the entity has been charged with and convicted of a public entity crime subsequent to July 1,
1989.

_____ The entity submitting this sworn statement, or one or more of its officers, directors, executives,
partners, shareholders, employees, members, or agents who are active in the management of the entity, or
an affiliate of the entity has been charged with and convicted of a public entity crime subsequent to July 1,
1989.

_____ The entity submitting this sworn statement, or one or more of its officers, directors, executives,
partners, shareholders, employees, members, or agents who are active in the management of the entity or an
affiliate of the entity has been charged with and convicted of a public entity crime subsequent to July 1,
1989.  However, there has been a subsequent proceeding before a Hearing Officer of the State of Florida,
Division of Administrative hearings and the Final Order entered by the Hearing Officer determined that it
was not in the public interest to place the entity submitting this sworn statement on the convicted vendor
list.  (attach a copy of the final order)

I UNDERSTAND THAT THE SUBMISSION OF THE FORM TO THE CONTRACTING OFFICER FOR THE  
PUBLIC ENTITY IDENTIFIED IN PARAGRAPH 1 (ONE) ABOVE IS FOR THAT PUBLIC ENTITY ONLY 
AND, THAT THIS FORM IS VALID THROUGH DECEMBER 31 OF THE CALENDAR YEAR IN WHICH IT 
IS FILED.  I ALSO UNDERSTAND THAT I AM REQUIRED TO INFORM THE PUBLIC ENTITY PRIOR TO 
ENTERING INTO A CONTRACT IN EXCESS OF THE THRESHOLD AMOUNT PROVIDED IN SECTION  
287.017, FLORIDA STATUTES FOR CATEGORY TWO OF ANY CHANGE IN THE  INFORMATION 
CONTAINED IN THIS FORM. 

___________________________________________ 
     [signature] 

Sworn to and subscribed before me this _________day of ________________________________, 20_________. 

Personally known________________________________ ___________________________________________ 

Or Produced identification__________________________ Notary Public – State of _______________________ 

______________________________________________ My commission expires_______________________ 
(Type of Identification) 

___________________________________________ 
(Printed,  typed or stamped  
commission name of notary public) 

Appendix A

RFQ 2024-001 
Page 2 of 2

Professional Service Contracts



DRUG-FREE WORKPLACE FORM 

The undersigned vendor, in accordance with Florida Statute 287.087, hereby certifies 

that  does: 
(Business Name) 

1. Publish a statement notifying employees that the unlawful manufacture, distribution,
dispensing, possession, or use of a controlled substance is prohibited in the workplace
and specifying the actions that will be taken against employees for violations of such
prohibition.

2. Inform employees about the dangers of drug abuse in the workplace, the business's
policy of maintaining a drug-free workplace, any available drug counseling,
rehabilitation, employee assistance programs and the penalties that may be imposed
upon employees for drug abuse violations.

3. Give each employee engaged in providing the commodities or contractual services that
are under bid a copy of the statement specified in Paragraph 1.

4. In the statement specified in Paragraph 1, notify the employees that, as a condition of
working on the commodities or contractual services that are under bid, the employee
will abide by the terms of the statement and will notify the employer of any convictions
of, or plea of guilty or nolo contend ere to, any violation of Chapter 1893 or of any
controlled substance law of the United States or any state, for any violation occurring in
the workplace, no later than five (5) days after such conviction.

5. Impose a sanction on, or require the satisfactory participation in, a drug
abuse assistance or rehabilitation program, if such is available in the
employee's community, by any employee who is so convicted.

6. Make a good faith effort to continue to maintain a drug-free workplace
through implementation of Paragraphs 1 through 5.

As the person authorized to sign this statement, I certify that this firm complies fully with the 
above requirements. 

Proposer's Signature: 

Date: 

Appendix B

RFQ 2024-001 
Page 1 of 1

Professional Service Contracts



REFERENCES LISTING FORM 

List a minimum of four (4) local government or private references for similar contracts, which you have completed 
within the past 15 years (Please Print/Type). 

Customer Name: _______________________________________________________________________________ 

Address: ______________________________________________________________________________________ 

Contact Name: _________________________________________________________________________________ 

Telephone: _________________________________   Fax: _______________________________________ 

Email Address: _________________________________________________________________________________ 

Contract Type: _________________________________________________________________________________ 

Completion Date: _______________________________________________________________________________ 

Contract                           DID   DID NOT                  Have reportable findings. 

Contact Name: _________________________________________________________________________________ 

Telephone: _________________________________   Fax: _______________________________________ 

Email Address: _________________________________________________________________________________ 

Contract Type: _________________________________________________________________________________ 

Completion Date: _______________________________________________________________________________ 

Contract                           DID   DID NOT                  Have reportable findings. 

Contact Name: _________________________________________________________________________________ 

Telephone: __________________________________  Fax: _______________________________________ 

Email Address: _________________________________________________________________________________ 

Contract Type: _________________________________________________________________________________ 

Completion Date: _______________________________________________________________________________ 

Contract                           DID     DID NOT                  Have reportable findings. 

Contact Name: _________________________________________________________________________________ 

Telephone: __________________________________  Fax: _______________________________________ 

Email Address: _________________________________________________________________________________ 

Contract Type: _________________________________________________________________________________ 

Completion Date: _______________________________________________________________________________ 

Contract                           DID    DID NOT                  Have reportable findings. 

My company has been in this type of business for ___________ years. There are ____________ employees in my company. 
___________ employees will be dedicated to this project.  

Appendix C

RFQ 2024-001 
Page 1 of 1

Professional Service Contracts



Certification Regarding 
Debarment, Suspension, Ineligibility, and  

Voluntary Exclusion Lower Tier Covered Transactions 

This certification is required by the regulations implementing Executive Order 12549, Debarment 
and Suspension, 13 CFR Part 145. The regulations were published as Part VII of the May 26, 1988, 
Federal Register (pages 19160-19211). Copies of the regulations may be obtained by contacting the 
person to which this proposal is submitted. 

(BEFORE COMPLETING CERTIFICATION, READ INSTRUCTIONS ON FOLLOWING PAGE) 

1. The prospective lower tier participant certifies, by submission of this proposal, that
neither it nor its principals are presently debarred, proposed for disbarment, declared
ineligible, or voluntarily excluded from participation in this transaction by any
Federal department or agency.

2. Where the prospective lower tier participant is unable to certify any of the statements
in this certification, such prospective participant shall attach an explanation to this
proposal.

Business Name: _________________________________________________________________ 

Date: _________________________  By: _______________________________________ 
Name and Title of Authorized Representative 

 ______________________________________ 
 Signature of Authorized Representative 

Appendix D

RFQ 2024-001 
Page 1 of 2

Professional Service Contracts



INSTRUCTIONS FOR CERTIFICATION 

1. By signing and submitting this proposal, the prospective lower tier participant is providing the
certification set out below.

2. The certification in this clause is a material representation of fact upon which reliance was placed when
this transaction was entered into. If it is later determined that the prospective lower tier participant
knowingly rendered an erroneous certification, in addition to other remedies available to the Federal
Government, the department or agency with which this transaction originated may pursue available
remedies, including suspension and/or debarment.

3. The prospective lower tier participant shall provide immediate written notice to the person to which this
proposal is submitted if at any time the prospective lower tier participant learns that its certification was
erroneous when submitted or has become erroneous by reason of changed circumstances.

4. The terms "covered transaction," "debarred," "suspended," "ineligible," "lower tier covered transaction,"
"participant," "person," "primary covered transaction," "principal," "proposal," and "voluntarily
excluded," as used in this clause, have the meanings set out in the Definitions and Coverage sections of
the rules implementing Executive Order 12549. You may contact the person to which this proposal is
submitted for assistance in obtaining a copy of those regulations (13CFR Part 145).

5. The prospective lower tier participant agrees by submitting this proposal that, should the proposed
covered transaction be entered into, it shall not knowingly enter into any lower tier covered transaction
with a person who is debarred, suspended, declared ineligible, or voluntarily excluded from participation
in this covered transaction, unless authorized by the department or agency with which this transaction
originated.

6. The prospective lower tier participant further agrees by submitting this proposal that it will include the
clause titled "Certification Regarding Debarment, Suspension, Ineligibility and Voluntary Exclusion-
Lower Tier Covered Transactions," without modification, in all lower tier covered transactions and in all
solicitations for lower tier covered transactions.

7. A participant in a covered transaction may rely upon a certification of a prospective participant in a lower
tier covered transaction that it is not debarred, suspended, ineligible, or voluntarily excluded from the
covered transaction, unless it knows that the certification is erroneous. A participant may decide the
method and frequency by which it determines the eligibility of its principals. Each participant may, but is
not required to, check the Non-procurement List.

8. Nothing contained in the foregoing shall be construed to require establishment of a system of records in
order to render in good faith the certification required by this clause. The knowledge and information of a
participant is not required to exceed that which is normally possessed by a prudent person in the ordinary
course of business dealings.

9. Except for transactions authorized under paragraph 5 of these instructions, if a participant in a covered
transaction knowingly enters into a lower tier covered transaction with a person who is suspended,
debarred, ineligible, or voluntarily excluded from participation in this transaction, in addition to other
remedies available to the Federal Government, the department or agency with which this transaction
originated may pursue available remedies, including suspension and/or debarment.

Appendix D

RFQ 2024-001 
Page 2 of 2

Professional Service Contracts



BOARD OF COLIN'lY COT,IN{ISSIONERS OF BR.dDF'OII.I) COL:N'I\', t.'I-OI{IDA

CONTINUING SERVICF]S AGREENII]NT
FOR THE PROVISION OF PROFESSIONAI, SF]RVICE,S

'I'HIS CONTINUING SERVICFIS AGREENIENT is madc and entered into this dat'
of 2019, by and between the BOARD Ol; (IOLINTY CONINIISSIONERS
OF Bfu\DFORD COUNTY, FLORIDA, a political subdivision of the State of Florida, whose
address is 945 N. Temple Avenue, Starke, Florida 32097 ar.d who is heteinafter refered to as

"COUNTY;" and , a

rvhosc address 1S

A.A

t.

tion and Inco ofaltl()n

-1hc parrics hcrcto sl.rccificllh adopr tht abore-rcfcrertced recitals rrtd incorporatc thcrr herein lts part

and parccl of this aqrccnrcnt.

ose .\uth for

This continuing sen'iccs agreement is entered into for the purposc of organizing and

outlining the relationship between COUN'IY and (IONSULTAN'I'with regard to the
provision of continuing, professional scrvices for Bradford County, lrlorida.

R

and who is hereinafter rcfcrred to as "(IONSLIL'I'I\N-|."

WI'I'NESStr'I'H:

ll. This agreement is cntered into pursuant to the authoritv granted by Chapter 125,

Florida Stanu, and in accordance with Chapter 287 , l;loida Stantet.

C. ( icncral Pror-isions.

CONSULTANT shall provide Sen'ices for COLTN1Y as tequircd bv COUN'IY
which may' include scn'iccs in all phascs of a project. I'hese scn'iccs mav includc
sen ing as COUN'I\"s professional cngineering sen'iccs representative for the projcct,
providing professional cngrneering consulation and advice, and by itself ot with
subconsultants futnishing customary civil, architcctural, structural, mechanical,
environmental, transportation, stormwater, irigatron, landscaping, and electdcal
engineering sen'ices, as mar- be appropriate. CONSUL'I''\NT shall pcrform anv and
all sen'iccs in a timell', cfFrcient and cost-effectivc manner and in a manncr that
comports with the highcst standatds of professional cngineering.

Page 1of28

IYI R()l)t'C]oRY t'lt()\rlsl( )NS

l.

Appendix E



u. COUNTY shall, ftom time to time at its sole discretion, authorizc CONSULTANT'
in writing to provide sen ices by issurng a Sen'iccs Authorization. A Senices
Authorization shall, by mutual agteement of the partics, sct forth, (1) the Scope of
Services, (2) the time for pcrformance, (3) method and amount of compensation, (4)
the provisions of Sections 1 and 2 of this continurng services agreement which atc
apphcablc, (5) the deliverables, if any (which are the items to be providcd to COUNTY
as a result of thc sen'ices, and (6) the sen ices, information and data that can bc
providcd by COUNTY to CONSLII-'l',.\N'l'.

111. COUNI\'does not guarantec, warrant, or represent that any number of projccts or
any particular tlpe of project will be assigned to CONSULTANT undet the terms of
this continuing services agreement. Furthermore, the purpose of this continuing
services agreement is not to authorize a specific project, but to set forth certain duties,
obligations, rights, and responsibilities that may be incorpotated by reference into any
services authorization that may be mutua\ agreed to by both parties. COUN'IY shall
have thc sole discredon to select the pmiect(s), if any, that may be giyen to
CONSUI-'IAN]',

1\ All references to drawings shall mcan both traditionally drafted as well as computer-
based. and all submissions of drarvings rvill includc paper, mvlar and compurer filc
\-ersl()ns As xPProPnatc

Tlte nnainder of tbis page intentional! leJi blank

Pa,gc 2 of 28

Appendix E



sli(.'fION l.
GENIiILAL SERVICI,]S PROYIDED I]Y CONSULI",\NT

1.1 Gcncral.

LTpon thc issuance of a Scrvices Authorization Agreemcnt, CONSULTANI' may be expected to
petform general services, including but not limrted to tJrc following:

1.2 Studv and Reoort Phase Sergices

r\ftet writtcn authorization to proceed from COUNTY to CONSULTAN'I', CONSUL f,\N'l shall:

1.2.1 Consult with COUNTY to clari$, and define COUNTY's tequirements for the
proiect, and to review available daa.

1.2.2 Prepare a report or feasibilin studv containing schemat-ic layouts, sketches, and
conceptual desrgn critcria with approptiate exhibits to indicate clearly the
considerations involved (including appllcable requirements of govemmental
authorities having jurisdiction as aforesaid) and the eiternativc solutions available to
COUNTY and setting forth CONSLILTANTs findings and tecommendations. This
Report rvrll be accompanied by CONSUI-TAN'I''s cost estimate fcrr the Proiect.

1.-3 l)rcliminarl' I)csign l)hase Sen iccs.

In coopcration with C()LIN'IY, and on the basis of thc accepted snrdt and rcport d()curnents,
determinc thc general scopc, extent and character of the projcct.

-Lfter rvrittcn authodzation to proceed rvith the preliminan dcsign phasc, C()NSULTANI' shall

1.3.1 NIake a pcrsonal examination of the proposcd prr>jcct site. ancl, as mav rcasonabll be

discoverablc, note sitc conditions and impccliments that pcrtain to or might ach'crsclv
affect the timclv, efficient, and economical c,rmpletion o[ anl phasc of the pr()icct, or
the projcct as a rvhole. C( )NSUL'1-\N'l shall prompth rcport anl adrcrse site

c.rndidons ro C()L \ l\.

1.3.2 Prepare pteliminary design documents consisting of final design criteria, preliminary
drawings, and oudine specifications.

1.3.3 Adwise COUN'IY if additional data or serviccs are necessa$' for preliminary desigrr,
and assist COLIN]Y in obtaining such data and Services.

1.3.4 Based on the information contained in the prcliminary design documents, submit a

revised total proiect cost estimate to COUNfi.

l .l I in;rl D< sisn Phasc St n ice :.

After writtcr.r authorization to proceed with tlre final design phase, CONSIr],'t r\N'-t shall:

Page 3 of 28

Appendix E



1.4.1 On the basis of the accepted preliminary design documcnts and the pro,ect cost
estimate, if applicable prepate for incorporation in the construcdon contract
documents Frnal &awings (drawings) to show the general scope, extent afld character
of the work to be furnished and performed by the project contractor(s), and
speciFrcations.

1.4.2 Preparc and fumish to COUNTY such documents and dcsign data as may be required
by COLIN'IY, so that COLINTY may apply for approvals of such governmental
authorities as have jurisdiction over design criteria applicable to t}le project.
CONSUI-'I'ANT shall also assist COUNTY in obtaining such apptovals by
submitting, participating and/or leading in negotiations with appropriate authotities,
and the services authodzation shall de6ne CONSULTAN'I' s role in this regard.

1.4.2 Prepare for reeiew and apptoval by COUN'IY, invitations for bid, bid forms (wherc
appropdate), supplementary conditions and assist in the preparation of other related
documents.

I .5 Biddrnp or Ncsotiadnp Phase Sen'ices.

r\fter written authorizat-ion to proceed with the biddtng or negotiating phase, CONSLILTAN'I' shall

1.5.1 Assist COUNTY in advertising for and obtaining bids or negotiating proposals for
each scparatc prime contact fot construction, materials, equipment, and services; and,
when authorized in the applicable sen ices authorization, attend pre-bid conferences.

1.5.2 -\ssist (-()L'\J'IY in preparing and distributing addendr rs appropriatc to interprct,
clarifv or expand the bidding docun.rcnts or in rcsponsc to s rittcn questions rcccivec]
during the bid phasc.

1.5.3 '\ssrst 
(-( )LiN'lI in dctcrmining clualtfications of thc primc c()ntract()r as rvcll as

subc()ntract()rs, suppliers and other pcrsons:rnd organizations proposed bt- thc prinrc
contract()t(s) frrr those portions of thc r",otk rvhcre dctcmination of such acccptabilitv
is recluircd bv the biddrng dr)cumcnts.

1.5.4 Consult with COUNTY conceming, and detemine the acceptabiJity of, substitute
materials and equipment proposed by the contactot(s) when substitution is allowed
by the bidding documents.

i.5.5 Assist COUNTY in evaluaung bids or proposals and rn assembling and awatding
conftacts for construcdon, matedals, cquipment and serviccs.

1.6 (lonstruction Phasc Sen-ices

During the Construction Phase, CONSULTANT shall, if requested by COLIN'IY and accepted by
CONSULTANT:

1.6.1 General. Consult with and advise COUNTY and act as its reprcsentadve as provided
in thc Consruction Con&act Documcnts.

l)agc ,1 of 213

Appendix E



1.6.2 Pre-Construction Meeting. Ptepare for and attend a pre-construction meeting
conducted by COUN'IY with representatives of the Contactor(s), subcontractor(s),
utility companies, etc. for each Project, as determined necessary by COUNTY.

1.6.3 Work in Progress. In connection with observations of the work of Contractor(s)
while it is in ptogress:

1.6.3.1 CONSULIANT shall make r-isits to the site as requested by COUN'IY
in order to observe as an exped,enced and qualified design professional
the ptogtess and quality of the various aspects of Conuactor(s)' work.
In addrtion, CONSUL'I'ANT may ptovide, if tequested by COUNTY
in a Services Authorization, thc services of Consuuction Manager
and/or Field Represcntative (and assistants as agecd) at the site to
assist CONSULT.AN1' and to provide more continuous obsen'ation
of such wotk.

1.6.4 Interpretadons and Clarifications. CONSUL-I ANT shall issue neccssary

interpretations and clarifications of the drawings and speciEcations and in connection
therewith prepare work directive changes and change orders as required. In addition,
CONSUI.'I'ANT shall assist COUN'IY to respond, in writing, to any request for
information EFD. All RFIs and responscs thereto shall tre submitted to COLIN'IY
and CONSULTAN'I' fot teview afld tesponse by COUNTY.

1.6.5 Substirutes. CONSULTANT shall evaluate and determinc the acceptability of
substitute materials and cquipment proposed by the contractor(s).

1.6.6 Inspcctions and Tests. CONSLILTANT shall have authority to receivc all
certilicates of inspections, testing and apptovals requtred by laws, rules, tegulations,
ordinances, codes, orders and terms of the drawings and specifrcations @ut only to
determine generally that their content complies rvith the requirements of, and the
results certified indicate compliance with, the drawings and spccifications) and, in
addition, CONSULIANT shall have authority, as COLINfY' s representadvc, to
act as initial interpretet of the rcquirements of the drawings and specifications.

7.6.7 Applications fot Payment. Based upon CONSULTAN'I''s being an expcrienced and
qualiEed design professional and on review of applications for payment and thc
accompanyiflg data and schedules, and recommend payments to thc contactor(s).

1.6.8 Track Progress if Contractor. If providing construction managcr and/or field
representative scn ices, CONSULTAN'I' shall track thc progress of the conractor(s)
and submit a wriften rcport to COUN-IY, at stages of the construction as dehned in
the serviccs authorization, documenting the progrcss of the conftactor rcladve to the
original approved schedule.

Nfinimrze Claims. CONSULTAN'I shall endeavor to minimize the potcntial areas for
contractor claims by rnitiaong timel,i', thorough, and complete communication among
COLTN]Y and the dcsign and construction contract principals; othcr local, statc, or
fedcral parties (whcn drected by COLIN'I!; or private entities that may also be
involved.

1.6.9

Page 5 of 2tl

Appendix E



1.6.10 l,tmitation of Responsibilities. CONSUL-I',\N'I shall not be rcsponsible for the acts
or omissions of any contactot, or of any subcontractor or supplier, or any of the
contractot(s)' or subcontactor's or supplier's agents or cmployees or any other
persons (except CONSUL'I.,\N'l"s own subconsultants, employees and agents) at the
site or otherwise fumishing ot performing any of the contactor(s)' work.

1.6.1 l Subcontractors and Subconsultants. In pcrforming thc scn'ices and to see them to a
timcly, efficient, and cost effective completion, CONSUL'I'.,\N'I' shall have the right
to emplov othcr Frrms, consultants, conftactors, subconEactors, and so forth
(subconsultants). While COUN'tY shall make no
any particular subconsultaflt for any specific

pttry inlentionalfi /eJ/ blank.

CONSULTANT hne
to or accepting a

not guarantee of wartant

l)agc 6 of 28

Appendix E



2.1 Gencral

COLINTY may, at its sole discretion, pror-ide CONSL'1,'l'r\NTwith a scn'ices authorization to fumish
ot obtain (from others) additional services of the following qpes which arc not considered normal or
customary general services, as described above. Thesc addit-ional serviccs may include, but are not
limited to, the following:

2.1.1 Prepatation of applicznons and supporting documents (in addition to those fumished
undet genetal sen'ices) fot prirate or govemmental grants, loans or advances in
connection with the project; preparadon for review of environmental assessments and
impact statements; review and eyaluation of the effect on the design requirements of
the project of any statements and documents prepared by others; and assistance in
obtaining approvals of authorities having jurisdiction over the anticipated
environmenal impact of the project.

2.1.2 Scn-ices resulting from significant changcs in the previouslr approred extertt of thc
project or its dcsign including, but not lirnitcd t(), chxnges in sizc, cor.r.rple xin,
(-()L N'lY's scl.rcdulc, or charactcr of construcdon ()r mcthod of financins; and
revising prcviously acccptcd studics, tepotts, dcsign docurnents or constnrction
c()ntract documcnts whcn such revisirxrs are due to causcs bcvr>nd CONSL'I,'1 ,\N'l's
control.

2.1 .3 Providing measured drarvings, re ndedngs or modcls for COL'N'l\''s or
(IONSULTANT's usc.

2.1.4 Preparing documents for altemate bids rcquested by COUNfi fot the conractor(s)'
work c/hich is not exceeded, or documenb for out-of-scquence work.

2.1.5 Investigations invoh,ing detailed consideration of operations, maintcnance and
ovethead expenses; value engineering during the course of design; cash flow and
economic evaluations not envisioncd in a preliminary consulting rcport; rate schedules

and appraisals; assistance in obtaining financing for the project; processes available for
licensing and assisting COUN'IY in obtarning process licensing; detailed quantity
surveys of material, equipment and labor; and audits or inventories required in
connection with construcdon performed by COLTNIY.

2.1.6 lrurnishing scn'ices of independent professional associatcs and consultants for othcr
than general serviccs (which include, but arc not limited to, customarl civil, strucrural,
mechanical, environmental, architectural, transportation, stormwater, rrigatron,
landscaping, and electrical engineering); and for providing data or serviccs bcyond
those described as gcneral services, hcrcin.

2-1-7 Services resulting from the award of more than one prime conuact for construcdon,
materials, equipment or services for the proiect, and services resulting from the

Page 7 of 28

SECI'IoN 2.

ADI)I'I'IONA]. ST,R\TICI,]S OII (]ONSU],'I',\N'I'

Appendix E



arranging for performance by petsons (other than the prime conftactors) of services

for COUNTY and administering COUNTY s contracts for such services.

2.1.8 Services during out-of-town ttavel tequired of CONSLII-'IAN'l', other than visits to
the site ot COUNfi''s office which are necessary for thc perfotmance of general
services.

2.1.9 rVhere applicable, and with approval of COUNTY, preparation of operating and
maintenance manuals; protracted or extensive assistance in the utilization of any
equipment or svstem (such as rnitial start up, testing, adiusting and balancing); and
trairing personnel for operation and maintenance.

2.1.10 Preparing to sewe (or serving) as a consultant or witness for COUNTY in any
litigation, arbittation or othet legal or administrative prcceeding invoh.'ing the Project
(except for assistance in consultations included as pan of general services).

f .1.1 1 Scn'iccs ilt cortncction tith chrnge ordcrs to reflect changcs rcquestcd bv C()L N'1'\'.
and making rclisiorts to clral'ings and spccitications occtsionccl thctcbr'.

2.1.12 Preparng fcrr (l( ) t 'N'l \', on rcqucst, a set of repr<.,ducible rccord prints of signed ar.rd

sealed drarvings shorving thosc changes madc during thc construction proccss. Such
prints shall bc bascd on the marked up prints, drarvings aud othcr data furnished bv
the contractor(s) to OONSULT-\NT and which (-( )NSL'1.'f .\NT considered
sigruhcant (rccord drarl ir.rgs). If COL'NI\- requcsts thc original record drarvings so

prcpared bl CONSl.'1,1.\N'f, CONSULT-\NT mav halc thcr:.r clclivcrcd to a printcr
that rvill not unreasonabh delar- dre deliver of thc rccortl dral ings.

2.1.13 -\dditional or extended scn'ice during construction n.radc bc ncccssan'bv, (1) ri.otk
damaged through rncans ber-ond contol of CONSL'I-'I.\N'1, (2) a signiFrcant amount
of defective ot ncglccted work of the contactor(s) not rcsulting from the inadequate
pcrformancc of CONSIr].'IANT under dre terms of thc xgrccmcnt, (3) prolongation
of conffact time of any pdms Conffactor bi'more than thirtv (3t)) davs, (.1) acceleratior.r
o[ thc progress schcdulc involving sen'ices bclrxrd normal working hours, and (5)

dcfault bv the primc c()ntractor(s).

2.1.14 Services after completion of the construction phasc, such as inspections during anv
guarantee pertod and reporting obsewed discrepancies under guarantees called for in
any constmction conract for the project.

2.1.15 Assistance in the preparation of ordinances

2.1.16 Assistance in the prcparatior.r of agreements betwccn (l()t'N-lY and others (including,
but flot Limited to, ()thcr units of govcmmcnt, dcvclopcrs, districts, and authontics).

2.1.i 7 Special studics, rcports, investigations or analyses

2.1.18 Services in connection with any partial utilization of any part of the project b1'

COLrN-lY prior to substantial completion.

Page 8 of 28

Appendix E



2.1.19 F)valuating an unreasonable or extensive number of claims submitted by the
contractot(s) ot others in connection with the work, such unreasonableness and
exte nsiveness to be at COUNTYs request and determination.

2.1.20 The filing of a writtcn st2tus report vith (IOUNTY conccming, 1) a dcscription of thc
scrvices petformcd and completed to a datc ccrain, 2) the results of such serviccs and
work (i.e. their relation to the total project work, thc pcrcentage of project services
thcn completed), and 3) any other observations or comments that CONSUL"IANT
believcs or should reasonably believc will affect the successful completion of the
project, or that should otherwise bc brought to COUNfY's attendon. Thc frequencv
of such reports shall bc set forth in each scrvices authorization.

2.1.21 Additional services in connection with the ptoject not otherwise de6ned in thc gencral
services, ot as dcscribed elsewhete herein, and including but not limited to start-up
services that shall be deEned in the appropriate services authodzation.

The nnainfur oJ tbts page intentionalj leJi blank.

Page 9 of 2tl

Appendix E



3.1 Reouirements for l)roiects.

COUN'ry shall provide criteria and information as may be needed by CONSULTANT to ascertain

and meet COUN'IY's tcquirements for projects in a timely manner, including design objectives and
constraints; space, capacity and performance requirements; flexibility and expandabiliq' matterc; and
any budgcary limitations; and furrush copies of all design and construcdon standards which
COUNTY will require to be included in the &awing and specifications.

COUN-IY shall provide CONSULI'AN'I with access to COUNTYs tecotds to allow
CONSLTLTANT to identifi all available information pertiflent to the ptoject (including previous
reports and any other data relative to design or construction of the project). COLfN'IY shall makc
reasonable efforts to identify such pertinent information for CONSULTANT. CONSLILI',\N'I G

ultimately responsiblc for satisfring itself as to eccuracF of any data provided, and, furthermore,
CONSLIL'I)\N'l' is responsible for bringing to COLINTYs attention, for COUNfi's resolution. any

material inconsistencies or errors in such data which come to CONSULTAN'I''s attention. If
COUN'IY require s CONSUI-TANT's assistance in resolving any error or inconsistency, such Services
may be provided by mutual agreement of the parties, and shall be reimbursed by COUN'IY.

3.3 r\ccess to ProDerh'.

(-()L'N'l Y shall arrrngc firl rcccss to ar.trl urake provisions fot CO\SL'LI-\\'l to cntcr uport ptrblic
and prilrtc pr()pcltv rs rccluirctl fot ( l()NSL-l. l'r\N-f to perform irs srnic.'s.

3.4 E xamination.

COUNTY shall examine all studies, rcports, sketches, drawings, specifications, proposals and other
documents presented by CONSULTANT, and tender, in wdting, decisions pertaining thereto within
a teasoneble time.

1.5 ,\norovals and Pennits.

C()t'\'rf ' shall obtain approvals and pcrmits, with the acdve ass.is

CONSLTLTANT' (and as budgeted in the applicable services authodzation),
authorities having jurisdiction ovet the project, and such approvals and conse
be necessary for successful completion of the project.

-1.6 ()thcr l)roti'ssiotral Scn iccs.

COUNTY shall provide such (accounting, indcpcndent cost estimating, and insurancc counseling)
services as may be rcquired for the Projcct, to asceftain that tlre construction contractor(s) are

complying with anv law, rule, regulation, ordinance, code, or order applicable to thet fumishing and
performing the Projcct work.

tance and adr-ice of
from all govcmmental
nts from others as may

l)age 10 of 28

SI']C'IIO\ 3.

I{I.]SPONSIBILI'IIES OF B,-D '\DFORD COL]NTY

3.2 Information Pettinent to Proiects.

Appendix E



3.7 Coun ect Ma

COUNTY reserves tlle right to appoint a COUN'IY project manager for anv senices authorization.
COUNTY proiect managet may be COLINTY engineer/utilities engineer or COUNTYs designee.
The project manager for COLTNTY, and shall issue and all written authorizations to CONSUIJANT
that the project may tequire, or that may otherwise be deFrned or referred to in this condnuing
services agreement. COLTNTY project managcr shall also, l) act as COLINTY's agent with respect
to the services tendered hereundet; 2) tansmit instructions to and receive infotmation from
CONSLILTANT; 3) communicate COUN'IY's policies and decisions to CONSLILTANT rcgarding
the Sen'ices;4) determine, initially, whether CONSULTAN1 is frrlfilling its duties, responsibilities,
and obligauons hereunder; and 5) determinc, rnitially, the mcrits of any allegation by CONSLII-TANT
respecting COUNTYs nonperfotmance of any proiect obligation. lll determinations made by
COUNfY proiect manager, as oudined above, shall bc Frnal and binding upon CONSULL\NT in
regard to further administrative teview, but shall not be binding upon CONSLTLTANT in regard to
general appearances before or appeals to the Board of County* Commissionets, or appearances before
or appeals to a court of competent iudsdiction.

3.8 Noticc and Extension of T('tnt _

COUNTY shall give prompt written notice to CONSLTI,TANT whenever COUNTY obsen'cs ot
otherwise becomes aware of any development that affects the scoPe ot timing of CONSUL'I'I\NT's
Services, or any defect in the work of the Contactot(s). If CONSLTLTIN'I has been dclavcd in
completing its Services through no fault ot negligencc of its own, and, as a result, will bc unable to

@satisfactotilyundertheprovisionsofanyservicesautlrodzation'then,
in COLTN'IY's sole discretion, and upon the submission to COUNTY of evidence of thc causes of
the delay, CONSULfnN'I shall be gtanted an extension of its proiect schcdule equal to the period
CONSLILI'ANT was actually and necessedly delayed.

1.9 ( -otrrtn 's Consrucuort \lana!,emcrtt.

COUNTY may prcvide construcdon manager(s) and field representative(s) to monitor construction
activities. When COUNfi provides construcdon manager(s) and 6eld representative(s), his duties,
responsibilities and limitations of authority shall be as set forth in thc construcdon conffact
documents, if applicable and the following will apply:

3.9.1 The construction manager will provide instructions to the field representativc(s) on
procedures to be foliowed, and will schedule inspections of construction. 'I'he field
teptesentative(s) shall be responsible fot propet execution of tl.re construction
manager's instructions.

3.9.2 COUNTY's construction manager(s) and ficld representative(s) shall havc ptior
construction experience, or shall be trained by COUNTY to assure that the forcgorng
have suffrcient undetstanding of their duties and personal iob safetv ptecautions on
the subiect proicct. CONSUI-InNT, has no rcsponsibilin for training of COUNTYs
reptesentativc(s), or for general dutics of a representadve on thc subiect project, or
for general job safety prccaut.ions on the subject project.

l'age 11 of 2tt

Appendix E



3.10 AdditionalSetviccs.

COUNTY shall fumish, ot direct CONSLII,TANT to provide, necessary additional services as

stipulated in Section 2 of this condnuing services agreement, or other seri.ices as required, or as

mutually agreed pursuant to a services authorization.

3.11 Incidcntal Costs.

COL1NTY shall bear all costs incident to compliance with the requirements of this Section.

leJt blank

l)age 12 of 2tl

Appendix E



The initial term of this continuing services agreement shall be a period of two (2) calendar years,
beginning on the date that the agreement is fullv executed by both COLTNTY and CONSUL'IAN'I.

sI-.c'l t()N -1.

TFllrNl(S) Oli .\(;ltEIlNIl iNT

4.1 Initial Term of Agrecment.

.+.1 l.-xtcnsion l crms of -\r,rccmcnt.

Following said initial term, this continuing services agteement
successive, one (1) year "extension" pcriods, subject to the
CONSULTANT, unless otherwise amended or terminated as

consent
renew for three (3)

of COUNTY and
and herein.

Tbe @l blank.

Page 13 of 28

Appendix E



5.1.1 COUNTY will pay CONSULTANT for the services as detailed in each of
CONSL'ILTANTs narrative month.ly invoices, and in accordaflce with the schedule of
fces and teimbursable expenses as provided in each sen-ices authorization. The
invoices shall be in a format approved by the proiect nurnager.

5.1.2 CONSLTLIANT fi.rlly acknowledges and agtees that if at any time it performs services
on a project contemplated by the parties, such services which have not bcen, a) fiJly
negotiated, reduced to writing, and formally executed by both COLINTY and
CONSULTANT; b) or reduced to writing by COUNTY and signed by COUNTY;
then CONSULTAN'I' shall perform such sen'iccs without liability to COUN'IY, and
at CONSULTANT's own risk.

5.1..i l'ot othe t thatr lump surn c(nrtracts, COLIN'l \ shall onlr bc obligrtccl n) l)r\ ti)t thosc
scn iccs that C()NSL'1,'1.\N'l can demonstratt. urc reasonable, pror':rlrlc, tncl rvithin
thc scol-rc of scn-iccs of lnr scn-iccs auth oriz;ttiorr.

5.2 Compensation.

\\'ithin the Scn iccs .\uthorization rss()ciitcd t ith each Proicct. (-( )L-NTY and tl.re
(-ONSUL I -\N'l nra\' agrce on, but n()t bc limitcd to, one of the nrcthods of comperrsltion outlinccl
in Subsectious 5.2.2, or a method of c()nrl)cr.tsation establishc,.l *ithir.t the Sen-iccs ,\rrthorizruort or
as rc<luired bv thc projcct Iiunding ;\gcncy. ll.cimbursable expcnscs shall be as definecl in Sul>sccticrn

5.3.

5.2.1 N{cthods of Compensation.

5.2.1.1 Lump Sum: Fot Services rendeted, COUNTY shall pav C()NSUI,TANT a

lump-sum fee, including or excluding reimbursable expcnses as mutually
agreed upon and set forth in the Services r\uthodzation. CONSULI'ANT will
invoice COLIN'IY monthly, based upon CONSULTAN'I"s estimate of the
portion of the total Scrvices actuallv completed at the time of billing.

Percent of Construction Cost: When Pcrcent of Construction Cost is used to
establish compcnsation for the design and contract administration sen-ices, the
actual construction costs on which compcnsation rs determrned shall cxclude
legal fees, adrninisttative costs, engineering fees, land nghts, acquisition cosrs,
watcr costs and interest expensc incured during the construction period.
CONSULTANT will invoicc COUNTY monthly, based upon the
CONSLTANT's estimate of the portion of the total Scn'ices actuallv
completed at thc time of billing.

Page 14 of 28

SI.-CTION 5.

PAYNII,]NTS TO CONSU],'I T\N-I'

5.1 General.

5.2.1.2

Appendix E



5.2.1.3 Hourly Plus l)irect Cost. Compensation will be for personal time and expcnse
direcdy attributable to an assigned task by COLINIY. The Irngineer will
tender to COUN'IY for performed services, an itemized bill once each month
for sen'ices ad dc6ned in the Service Authoization

"Reimbursable };,xpenses" shall mcan the actual, necessary and reasonable expenses incurred direcdy
ot rndirecdy in connecdon with thc Project for; ftansportation and subsistcncc incidental thereto for
travel outside Bradford County; obtaining bids or proposals fiom contractor(s); toll telephonc calls
and telegrams; fumishing and maintaining field officc facilities when not included in construction
contract/funding; reproduction of repotts, drawings and specifications, and similar project-rclated
items.

5.4.1 ,\ll scn'iccs p^ynrcnt sl.rall bc madc br' (l()L NTY to (-()NSL'LTANT srthin thirn
(.30) calendar davs of (lOL'NT\''s inr'oice receipt thcrcof (palment periotl), utrlcss.
u'ithin thc palmcnt pcriod, COL'N t)'. (l) notihcs CONSL'l.I'ANT of an obicction
to the parrncrtt an.rount, and (2) cithe r proi ides CONSUL l .\N'l rvith a de tcrnrinrrion
of tl.rc proper pllnrcnt, ot (3) rcqucsts firrther infon.nation from CO\SL l,l .\N'l scr

that a propcr pavrncnt can be dcrivccl and agreed upon bv thc partics.

5.5 Records.

CONSULTAN'I' also agtees 19 mxintqin, and to causc each subconsultant to maintain, complcte and
accurate books and records @ooks) in accordance with sound accounting principals and standards,

and relating to all Sewices and the ptoiect, and the related costs and expenditures to COLIN'IY that
have been contracted for and paid dudng the life ofany Specified Authorizatron.

5.6 Late l)avment.

If COUNTY fails to make any payment due to CONSULTANf' for Sen'ices and expcnses rvithin
forty-Eve (45) days after receipt of CONSULTANT's invoicc, or within thlti' (30) davs of rcccipt of
project funds released to COUNIY from the proiect funding agency; therefore, the amounts due

CONSULTANT shall include a charge at the ratc of one percent (17o) per month simple interest ftom
the thitieth (30th) day, and, in addition CONSUI-TI\NT may, after giving seven (7) calendar days

pdor written notice to COUNT\', suspcnd sen-ices under *ris continuing sen'ices agreemcnt until
CONSUL1ANT has been paid, in full, amounts duc it for Services and expenses. Anr portion of an
invoice that is objected to or questioned by COUNIY in accordance with Subsection 5.4 shall not be
considered due for the purposes of this Subsection.

5.7 Ovcttime.

Overtime will be paid by COLrN'IY only if authorized in advance by COUNTY for work to be

performed to meet a particular deadline fot rvhich thcre is insufficient time to accomplish the task
during normal hours, t}rough no fault of CONSUL I',,\NT.

Page 15 of 28

5.3 ReimbursableExoenses.

5.+ l)avrncnts bv Orvncr.

Appendix E



5.8 C<r and Fee A ustlne rlt

5.8.1 General. CONSULTAN-I'or COUNTY may at any time notiSr the othcr of rcquested
changcs to the scope of services as set foth in a serviccs authorization. 'l'he notification
shall statc the scope modiFtcation and an adjustment of the cost estimatc and fee
specified in the subicct scn'ices auth oizatjon to rcflcct such modification. The cost and
fee adjustment due to modification in the scope of scnices mav be calculated utilizing
the same method of compensation applicablc to the services authorization prior to the
scope modification. CONSULTANT and COLIN-IY understand that, unless t}le cost
and fec adjustment is within a previously approved budget, any change to the scope of
services must be approved or authorized by the Board of County Commissioners of
Bradfotd County, Florida. If the cost and fee ediustment is withrn a prcviously
approved budget for changes to the scopc of scn'ices for the overall project, the change
may be approved by C()UNT\'.

5.8.2 Scopc ltcduction. (l( )t'\ l Y shall har-e the solc right t() rcducc (or elin.rinate, or s-holc
or in part) the scopc of ant proicct at any tin.rc and for anv rcasc,n, up()n written nodce
to (.()NSL LTANI' spccifi'ing the nature and c\tent of thc rcduction. In such crcnt
(-()NSL'l-1,\Nl shall bc fullv compensated f<x the sen-iccs alrcaclr pcrformed,
including pnvment as dcfined elsew'here herein ,rf all projcct-specific fi'c ar.r.rounts duc
rnd pavable prior to thc cffcctive date statcd in (-()LrN'l\''s notification of the
rcductiort and for a maximum of fire (5) dals' dcm,,bilizadon costs. ( -( )\SL-l -'f-\NT
shall llso lrc compcnsarcd fot the sen-ices remaining to l>c donc lncl not reduced or
clin rinatcd on the pr()icct.

5.8.3 Scopc Suspension. COL'NI'Y ma\', at anv rime and for anv rcason, dlect
(.()NSL'I,TANT to suspend work (rn whole or in part) under this continuing scn-iccs
lLrcement. Such dircction shall bc in rvritng, and shall specifi' the pcriod during rvhicl.r
Scn'ices shall be stopped. (.()NSLILf :\N l shall rcsumc its sen'iccs upon the datc
spccified, or upon suclr othcr datc as (l()t'\'t)' shall be addecl t<, thc applicablc
scn iccs audroliadon tcrm: prolided, horvcvcr. that an\- \ ork stoppagc not approved
or causcd bl the actions or inactions of C()L N I Y shall not give rise to anl claim
against COUNTY bv C()NSL'LTIN1. (-()L'N'IY agrces t() cornperrsate
(l()NSL'I-TANT for its rcasonable and provaltlc costs attributablc to any delav
approved ot caused bv drc actions or inactiolrs of ()()LINT r-'.

5.9 Sales l'ax.

Llnder present Florida law, COUNTY is exempt ftom sales taxes imposed upon profcssional sen'ices
when COUNTY putchases such services direcdy. COLiN'IY agrecs to pay actual taxes (exclusive of
any multiplier) imposcd upon CONSULTANT, for COUN'IY proiects, for CONSLII,TANT's
purchase of subconsultant services, or materials, except for qualified sales for resales. (l()LrN'1Y and
CONSULTANI' agree that this Subscction may be modified by Services Authorization, in the event
of future changes to Florida law that affect thc parties, tcrms or condidons of this continuing scn ices
agreement.

l)agc 16 of 2t3

Appendix E



5.10 l)avmcntWithhelcl.

When COUNTY has reasonable gound belief, or information to belj.eve that, (1) CONSLII.'l',.\NT
will be unable to perform thc Services under any Services Authorization within the related project
term; or (2) a meritorious claim exists against CONSLII,TANT or COUN'IY arising out of
CONSULIANTs negligence or CONSLII-'I'ANTs brcach of any provision of this continuing
services agteement or any services authorization; then COUNTY may withhold a payment otherwise
due and payable to CONSULTANT'; provided, however, that COLINTY shall not unreasonably
withhold other services authorization paymcnts that ma)' not otherwise be in dispute.

5.11 Tcrmination.

Upon thc termination of this continuing services agreement, or any selices authorization issued under
this agteement, CONSUL'[,,\NT shall prepate a 6nal and complete payment statement for all services
and teimbutsable expenses incurred since the posting of the last payment stetement, and through the
date of termination. The 6nal payment statement shall be subiect to all of the ptovisions described in
herein.

5.12 liinal I)a],ment.

The acceptance by CONSULTANI', its succcssors, or assigns, of anv 6nal pavmeflt due upon the
termination of this continuing services agreemenr or any services authorization, shall constitutc a full
and complete release of COUNTY ftom any and all claims ot demands regarding further
compensation for authorized Services rcndered pdot to such final pa;..ment that CONSUI-'I'ANT, its
successors, ot assigns have ot may have against COUN-IY under the provisions of this continuing
services agreement, unlcss othetwise prcviously and propedy hled pursuant to the pror.isions of this
continuing sen'ices agreement, or in a court of competcnt jurisdiction. This subsccdon does not affect
any other portion of this continurng sen'iccs agreement that cxtcnds obligations of thc partics bevond
EnaI payment.

The nnainder oJ'thit page intentionally lef blank.

Page 17 of 28

Appendix E



st,tCIION 6.

PROIIr(:'l (-OST FlSl lNI.\'l ES

6.1 (l<>nsultant's Estimatc of l)roiect (-<xrstrucdon (lost.

Any estimated proiect construction cost ptovrded to coUN'IY by CoNSLTLTANT under this
continuing services agreement or any sen'iccs authorization issued under this continuing services
agteement shall bc deemed to mean the total cost to COLTNTY of those portions of the entirc project
designed and specified b1' CONSLILTAN'I', but will not includc CONSL'lLl AN?s compensation and
expenses, the cost of land rights ofwav, or compensadon for or &mages to properties, unless the
applicablc services authorizadon so specifies; not will it include COLINT\"s legal, accounting.
insurance-counseling, or auditing sen'iccs, or interest and financing charges incurred in connection
with the project, or the cost of other seryices to be provided by others to COUNTY.

6.2 Consultant's Estimate of Probable Cost.

Since CONSULTANT has no conftol ovcr the cost of labor, materials, equipment or scrvices
furnished by otlrers, or over t-he conractor(s)' metlrods of determining prices, or over compctidve
bidding or market conditions, CONSUUI'ANTs opinions of total proiect cost and construction cost
estimate pror-ided fot hereinabove are to be made on the basis of CONSULTANTs expericnce and
qualiEcations, and represeot CONSULTANTs best judgment as an expedenced and qualified
professional which is familiar with the construction industry; but CONSULI'AN'I cannot and does
not guarantee that proposals, bids or actual toal project or construction costs vill not vary from
opinions of ptobable cost prepated by CONSULTANT.

Tbe nnainder oJ tb* page inhnrionalj @i blank.

Page 18 of 28

Appendix E



SEC'I l( )N 7.
-I ERNIIN,\l'ION Oli .\GRF.l rl\ll iNT

Tlers continuing scrvices agreement may be terminated by eitJrcr party by deLvering a thirty (30) day
written notice to the othcr parry. In the event of thc terminadon of this continuing sen'ices agreement,
any liability ofonc party to the other arising out of any Sen-ices rendcred, or any act or event occurring
prior to the termination, shall not bc deemed to bc terminated or released. CONSULTAN-I shall be

paid for Services completed prior to receipt of the termination noticc and for teasonablc termination
settlement costs relating to commiftncnts which had become firm prior to the termination; howevcr,
payment to CONSLIL'IAN'I' rvill excludc any and all anticipatcd supplemcntal costs, administrativc
expenses, overhcad and profit on uncompleted sen'iccs.

'f 
be nnainder oj this page intentiona//y /li b/mk.

Pagc l9 r>f 28

Appendix E



SE,C'fION 8.

SL'SPI TNSION Ol' .\GRIIENIFlN.l'

COUNTY has the dght to suspend CONSULTANT's Sen ices pursuant to any services authodzation.
Howevet, if COUNTY suspends CONSULTANT's services pursuant to any services authorization,
COUN'IY will add to the period of sen ice for such services authodzation a period not less than the
duration of such suspension and compensate CONSULTANT for its reasonable and provable costs,
profits (as agreed to bv COUNT\), and losses (including overhead costs, rcimbursable and
subconsultant expenses incurred) associated with demobilization for such suspended sewice.

k! blank.

l

Page 20 of 28

Appendix E



SIJC'I'ION 9.

NO]]CF]S TO PARfI}JS

All notices denominated as such by this r\greement, or the Bradford Countv Code of Otdinances, or
Florida or federal law, required to be given to CONSULTAN'I'hereunder shall be in wdting, and shall
be given by hand-delivery or United States mail, posage paid, addressed to:

and

All notices required to bc given to COLTN'IY shall be in writing.
ot United States mail, postage prepaid, to COLIN'IY and Countl

Board of County Commissioners of Bradford
Attention: County Manager
945 N. Temple Avenue
Starke, Flodda 32091

Either parq' may change its address,
party givcn in accotdance with t}le this

0l rhis page iflte tiznal! leJi blank.

bc hand-dchveryb.v

at:

nodce to thc othcr

Pz'ge 21 of 28

Appendix E



CONIrl.l(.'t ()li IN'l l:ltlrST

CONSULTAN'I reprcscnts and warrants unto COLIN'IY that no offrcet, employee, or agent of
COUNTY has any intercst, either directly or indrecdy, in the business of CONSULTANI to bc
conducted hercunder. CONSL1LTANT further repte sents and waffants to COLIN'IY that it has not
emploved or retained anr companv or petson, othcr than a bona fide employee wotking solel,v for
CONSULTANT, to solicit or secure this continuing senices agreement, and that it has not paid, or
agrced to pay, or given or offered anv fee, commission, percentage, gift, loan, or anvthing ofvalue to
any person, companl', corporation, individual, or frrm, other than
for CONSULTANT, in considerat-ion for or contingent upon, or

Pcrsonnel rvotking solelv
from the awatd or making

of this continuing sen'ice s alirccmeflt. Furtl.rer, (l()N acknowlcdges that it has not
agreed, as an expressed or implied condition fot obtaining this agreement, to
cmploy or tetain the scrviccs of anv petson, companv, individual or with carrying
out this continuing services agreement. It is absolutely by CONSULTANT
that, for the breach or violation of this section, CO have to this
continuing sen ices agrccmcnt without liabiLity from any
amounts owed, or to otherwise recover, the paid bv

L

oJ'this page inhntionalll kft bknk"

l'age 22 of 28

Appendix E



s l.t( t.l to\ 1 I

INDEIt{NIlrl(11\'l lON AND INSL'R,\NCE

1 1 .1 Indcmnificatit>n.

CONSUI-'Ii\NT agrees to indemnify and hold harmless COL:NfY, its rcprcscntadves,
employees, and elected and appointed officials, from liabilities, damages, losses and costs, including,
but not limited to, rcasonable aftomcy's fees, to thc extent causcd bv the negligence, rccklessness, or
intentional rvrongful misconduct of CONSL.II-T',\N'I' and pcrsons employed or utiJized by
CONSULTANT in the performancc of any professional scrvices rendered under this continuing
services agteement or any services authorizations issued pursuaflt to this continuing sewices
agreement. For purposes of compliancc with Florida law, CONSUL'I)\NT acknowlcdgcs thzt this
provision shall be deemed a part of the project specifications or the bid documents.

11.2 Insurancc.

11.2.1 ( icncral l'rovisions.

(,()NStll,TANT shall purchase, maintain, and kcep in fu1l forcc, cffcct, and good
standing, such insurar.tcc that is further describccl [>clou-, and an\ ( )tl']cr it.tsutance

ncccssan to fulh protcct it from claims of the naturc that are dctaile cl l>elorv. that mav
arise out of, or result from, CONSULTAN'I's opcrations, performancc. or scn-iccs,
or all of these things. or anr of drese thi.ngs in combinadon ({i( )\SL L I -\\1''s
()pcrations), rvhether (-( ))JSL'I -TAN't,s ()perati()ns are bv CO\SL'I.1.\\'1 , anr of
its agcnts ot subcor.rsultants, or anyone firr rvhosc act or acts it mal bc liable.
(l( )NSLI L'I',\N'I's insurancc carricr shall bc liccnscd to do busincss in rllc statc of
likrricla and shall havc an r\.NI. Best Rating of ",\" or better. Thc insurancc rccluircd
bv this subsection shall be rvtitten for n()t lcss than the limits of liabilrtv specified
bckru,, or required bv larv, s hich evet is greatcr, ancl shall includc contrrctual liabilin
insurance as applicablc to C()\SL'I.'l -\\'l's ol>ligation under this -\grccmcnt.

CONSULTANT shall provide eridence of both General (Public and Propeq)
I-iability and Professional @esign Errors and Omissions) Liabfitv Insurance in the
form of a certificate of insurance issued on behalf of COLTNIY by companies
acceptable to COLINTY at the follouiing mirimum limits and coveragcs with
deductible amounts acceptablc to COLINT\':

Compreherrsive Gencral I-iability Insurance:
(COLINTY is to be named as an additional insured)

s r,000,000.00

I)rofcssi<xral Liability I nsurancc:
(l)csign Firrors and f)mission)

$ 1,000,000.00

I l.l.f .\dditirlnal Insurancc Ilcquircments.

CONSULTANT shall not comrnence anv wotk in connection p'ith an .\grecment until
all ofthc following trpes ofinsurance have bcen obtained and such insurance has been
approved by COUNT\', nor shall CONSUI-'1'ANT allow any subconsultant to

l)age 23 of 28

Appendix E



commcncc work on a subcontJact until all similar insurance re<luircd of the

subconsultant has been so obtarned and approved. Policies othcr than Workers'
Compensation shall be issucd only by companies authorizcd by subsistrng ccrtificates
of authodty issued to the companies by l)cpartmcnt of Insurance of Florida which
maintain a Best Ratrng of "A" or better and a Irinancial Size Category of "VII" ot better
according to the A.M. Best Company. Policies for Workers' Compensation mav bc
issued by companies authorized as a group sclf-insurer by Scction '140.57, Florida
Statutes.

11.2.2.1 Loss Deductible Clause: COUN-IY shall be exempt from, and in no way
liable for, anv sums of money, which may tepresent a deductible in any

insutance policy. 'Ihe payment of such deductible shall be the sole

responsibiliq' of CONSULTAN'I' and or subconsultant providing such
insurance.

t1.2.2.2 \{'orkcrs' (-ompcnsation Insurlncc: C()NSL'1,'1 ,\NT shall obtain during drc
life of dls -\grce mcnt, Workcrs' Oompcnsation lnsurance with lr,mpkl-cr's
Liab in' Iimits of S500,000/$5([,(XX)/$500,(XX) f<>r all CC)NSL l-'I.\NT's
emplovces conncctcd with thc rvork of this project and, in thc crcnt anl rvork
is sublet, (l()NSUI-1'.{,Nl shall requirc the subconsultant similarlr- to
providc \\,'orkers' Cc,mpcnsation lnsurancc for all of the lattcr's cmpkrlccs
unless such employees are covcrcd by the protcction affordcd br'
CONSL'l.l'.\\-f. Such insurance shall cornpll fulh rvrth thc ljlorida
Workers' Compcnsation Lau,'. In casc anv class <>f cmplolccs cngaged in
hazatdous rvork under this contact f()r C()L N'lY is n()t protcctcd undcr thc
V'orkers' Compcnsation statutc, (l()NSL'1,-l r\N'I' shall proridc, and causc
each subconsultant to providc adequatc insurancc, satisfacton to (-()L'N l\',
for thc protection of CONSL'1,'1 .\N'l's cmpkrvccs n()t othenvise prott:ctcd.
1he policv shall includc an appropriate rvaivcr of subrogation pror-ision in
favor of COL NT\'.

11.2.2.3 CONSULTANT's Public Iiability and Propertv Damage Insurance: During
the life of *ris Agteement CONSUI.'I','\N1' shall maintarn CON{I{ERCIAL
AUTOMOBII-E COVER-.\G}i,, this poligv should name COUNTY as an

additional insuted, and shall protcct CONSLTLTANT from claims for
&mage for petsonal iniurv, including accidental death, as well as claims fot
propcrty damagcs which may arisc from opcrations under this Agreement
whethet such opetations be by CONSULI'AN'I' or by anyone ditecdy or
indirecdy employed by CONSLIL'I'I\N'l', and the amounts of such insumnce
shall be the minimum limits as follows:

11.2.3 Automobile Bodilv Iniurv Iiabiliw and ])roDertv Damasc Iiabiliw

The policy and coverages shall tnclude:

$1,000,000 Combined single limit pcr occuffencc (cach person, each accident)
All coveted automobiles will be covered via symbol 1;

Pagc 24 of 28

Appendix E



[-iability covcragc wi]l include hired and non owned automobilc liabrlity; aod
Include lTaivet of Subrogation in favor of COUNTY.

I 1.2.4 Comotehensive Gencral I -iabilin (Occurrence l;orm):

This policy should namc COLINTY as an additional insured and should indicate that
the insurance of CONSULTANT is priman and not conributorl' over the insurance
of COUNfi. The policl, and co\-etage shall include:

$2,000,000 CI-N I'll{r\1.,\GGRI-IGA'1'l r;

$1,000,000 PR()l)trc t's-cotIPLI,)'l'tit)
$1,000,000 Pt ilt ()CCt'lUrFtNCE;

$ 1,000,000 PERSON.,\L,.\ND
Include Waivcr of Subrogation in favor of

The

l\GGRIIGATE;

; and

!

ldi blunk.

Page 25 of 28

Appendix E



12.1 Non-F.xclusitc,\j:rccrncnt.

This continuing services agteement is non-exclusive, and may be terminated at COUNTY' s

convenience with the proper notice having been given to CONSUL'Ii\N'I' pursuant to the
requirements of this agrcement. It is understood and acknowledged that the rights granted herein to
CONSULTANT are non-exclusive, and COLIN'IY shall have the right, at any timc, to enter into
sirnilar agreements with othcr engineers, architects, landscape architects, planners, consultants,
CONSULTANTs, subconsultants, and so forth, to have them perfotm such professional sen-iccs as

COUNTY may desire.

12.2 Ownershio of l)ocumenrs.

L'pon pro)ect complction and pavmeflt of all fccs due (l( )NSL L'1 .\N'1 . (-( )NSLll -'l -\NT shall dclivcr
to (lOL'NTY and (-()L'N'l Y shall havc the urLin-Lited rights, for the bencfit of the COUN'I)-, in all

original drarvings, dcsigns, spccifications, notcs and other CONSL'L-I'-\\'l s'ork produced in thc

performance of this continr,ing scn'iccs agrcemcnt {)r in contemplation thcrcof and all record and

scaled dras.ings produccd aftcr completion of thc rvrxk, includrng the right to usc sarnc in furthcrancc
r>f anl othet COL:N-l'\' rvork. ,\ll rvork preprrcd bv (I()NSULTAN'l' purstrant to this continuing
scn'ices agrccmcnt shall be instrumcnts of scnicc fot thc proicct. 'lhev lre not intefldcd ()r

reprcscntcd to be suitablc firr rcusc bv COL'N'la' or anr- others for anv othcr proicct. l{cusc f<rt

another ptoject \\'ith()Lrt \\'titten r-edfication or adoption bl CONSL'I.'L\N l frrr a specific purposc
r" ill be at COt'\'l Y risk. -\ny such vcrificatirxr or adaptation, if rccluire d bl COL'NTY of
(.( )NSL'LI -\Nl', sill cntitle CONSL LT'AN-| to turther compensation at ratcs to be agreed br'
(-()L'\-n- and C( )NSL'I. 1 .\N'1'. The original set and one additirxral c,ryr' <,f sealed plans and

specihcations shall bc dclivered to and bccomc the pr()pertv of C()UN ll' uprxr compledon of thc

ri'ork bv CONSL'l-Tr\N l. Iiurther, in addition t<, thc l.rard copies dcscril>cd, an clectronic copv rvill
bc sent by email to thc pr(),cct managcr.

12.3 Local. State ancl lrcderal (Jblieaxons.

12.3.1 Discriminadon.

CONSULTANT, for itself, its dclegates, successor-in-intcrcst, and its assigns, and as

a part of thc consideration hereof, does heteby covenant and agree that, 1) rn the
fumishing of senices to COLTN'IY hereunder, no pcrson shall be excluded from
participation in, deny the benefits of, or otherwise subjected to discrimination in regard
to this agteement on the grounds of such persons' race, color, cteed, nation origin,
disability, rnarital status or scx; and 2) CONSUL f',q.N'l' shall comply with all existing
requirements concerning discrimination irnposed bv an)' and ali applicable local, state,
and fedcral des, tegulations, or guidcl.ine s, and as such des, regulations, or guidelines
mav bc from time to time amcndcd. In the event of a brcach of any of the
nondiscrimination covcnants described in dris subscction, COUN'IY shall have the
right to tcrminate this continuing sen'ices agrcement, with cause, as described above.

Page 26 of 28

sE(;lt()N 12.

\IISCELI -AN I,]OL-S PITOYISIONS

Appendix E



ll..+

12.3.2 Compliance with Laws and Regulations

CONSUI-I,r\NT and its employccs shall prompdy observe, comply with, and execute
the provision of any and all present and futurc federal, state, and local laws, rules,
regulations, requirements, ordinanccs, and orders which may pcrtain or apply to the
Sewices that mav be rendered hereto, or to the wages paid bl C{)NSULTANT to its
employecs. CONSL1LTANT shall also require, bv contract, that all subconsultants
shall complr rvith the provisions of this subsection.

12.2.3 Licenses.

CONSUL1',,\NT shall, during thc life of this continuing services agreement, procure
and keep in full fotce, effect, and good standing all necessary licenses, registrations,
certificates, permits, and other authorizadons as are required by local, state, and federal
law, in ordet for CONSULTANT to render its services or wotk as described hetein.
CONSUI-'I'ANT shall also rcquire all subconsultants to comply by contract with the
provisions of this subsection.

12.2.4 Compltancc with New Regulations.

CONSUI-TANT agrees that at such time as tlle local, statc, or fcderal agencies modi!,
their grant proccdures in ordct for COUNTY or CONSLILI'I\N'I' to quali$ for local,
state, or fcdcral funding fot the Services to the rendered by CONSLTLTANT, then
CONSUI-'I'ANT shall conscnt to and make such modifications or amendments in a

timely manner. If CONSULTT\N'I is unable to comply with applicable local state, or
federal laws and regulations goveming the glant of such funds for seryices to bc
rendered hcrein, then COUNTY shall have the right, by written notice to
CONSUL'f ANT, to temrinatc this continuing sen'ices agreement for con!-eniencc.
F'urthermore, if CONSULTANT's compliance with such laws, tegulations, rulcs, or
procedures causes a matedal change to a term or condition of this continuing sewices
agreement, or to afly services authorization, then COLINTY agrees, upon sufficient
ptoof of material changes as may be presented to it by CONSUL'IANT, to amend all
related COUNTY/CONSLILI AN l' contractual obligations, and to revise such
proiect budgets accordinglv.

lutir> and Exclusir- II

As a condition precedent to the filing ofanv suit r>r other legal proceeding, thc parties shall endeavor
to resolve claims, disputes or othet mattets in <luestion by mediation. N{ediation shall be initiated by
any patty by serving a writtcn rcquest for samc on thc other party. 'Ihc parties shall, by mutual
agreemeflt, select a mediator within fifteen (15) davs of the date of the tequest for mediation. if the
parties cannot agree on thc selection of a mediator, then COLINTY shall select the mediator who, if
sclected solelv b1, COLrN'IY, shall be a mediator ccrtificd bv the Florida Suprcmc Coun. No suit or
other legal proceeding shall be 6led until the mediator declares an impassc, rvhich declaration, in anv
event, shall be issued by thc mediator not latcr than si,rtr (60) davs aftcr the initial mediation
confetence. The sole and cxclusivc venue for any mcdiation shall bc in Bradf<rrd Counn', Florida. .1nt
legal proceeding of any nature brought b1 either parh against the other t() cnforce anv right or

Page 27 of 28

Appendix E



obligation under this continuing sen'iccs agrcement or anv scnices authorization issued under this
condnuing sen'ices agreement, or arisiflg out of anv matter pertaining to this continuing senices
agtecment or the work to bc pcrfcrrmcd hereunder, shall be submittcd for trial, without a juq-, before
the Circuit Court of the Judicial Circuit, rn and for Bradford Counq', Florida.'l'he parties consent and
submit to the jurisdiction of such court pursuant hereto. COL NTY and CONSULTANT exprcssivel,v
waive all rights to trial by jury regarding any legal procecding of any naturc brought b,v eithet party
against thc other to enforce any right or obligation under this continuing scrviccs agrecment, or arising
out ofany matter pertaining to this contract or the work to be pcrformed hereunder. As notcd herein,
the sole and exclusive venue for any lit.igation or othet legal proceeding between the parties shall be
the Circuit Court of the Judrcial Circuit in and for Bradford County, Florida.

12.1 Screrabilin of .\qrccmcnt l)rovisions

If any provision ot portion of this continuing services agreement is held to be invalid, unenforceable,
unconstitutional, the remainder of this continuing services agleement or portions thereof shall be
deemed severable, shall not be affected, and sha tcmain in frrll force and effect.

'[ his documcnt constirutes thc cntircn of the continuing scniccs agrcement bcrwccn COL]N lY and
(l()NSL'Ll-\NT as it pcrtains t() thc subicct matter containcd hcrcin and this continuing sen-ices

agrccmcnt thetefore supetscdcs all prior rvritten or oral agrccmcnts. rrndcrstandings, or
tcptescntador.ts t ith rcgard to thc sul>jcct matter contained hercin.

)io lrnendment, changc or lltcration to this continuing sen'iccs alarccmcnt sl.rall be made othcr tl]an
in u riting and signed bl both (.()L'N'l\' and CONSL L'I -\N'I'.

'l his continuing sen'iccs agrccmcnt shall becoue effectivc irnmecliltclv upon execution of this
c()ntinuinll scn-iccs agreement bl both (l()t'N'lY and CONSL'I.1.\N'1.

Page 28 of 28

12.5 lfndretv of Aore emcnt.

12.1 .\mendments or .\lteradons t,, .\greement.

I l.lt l .ffecuve Date of Agrcemcnt.

The nnainder oJ this page intentionally /eJi blank.

Appendix E



Page 1 of 1 
 

BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS OF BRADFORD COUNTY, FLORIDA 
 
 

AGENDA ITEM INFORMATION SHEET 
 
 
 
DATE:     August 6, 2024  
    
AGENDA ITEM  
 
A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS OF BRADFORD 
COUNTY, FLORIDA, RELATING TO THE ANNUAL PROVISION AND FUNDING OF 
FIRE PROTECTION SERVICES AND FACILITIES WITHIN THE COUNTY; PROVIDING 
FOR ESTBLISHMENT OF THE BRADFORD COUNTY FIRE PROTECTION MUNICIPAL 
SERVICE BENEFIT UNIT AND THE IMPOSITION OF FIRE PROTECTION 
ASSESSMENTS THEREIN; ESTIMATING THE TOTAL AMOUNT TO BE FUNDED 
THROUGH THE FIRE PROTECTION ASSESSMENTS FOR FISCAL YEAR 2024-25; 
ESTABLISHING THE METHOD OF ASSESSING REAL PROPERTY SPECIALLY 
BENEFITED BY THE COUNTY'S PROVISION OF FIRE PROTECTION SERVICES AND 
FACILITIES; DESIGNATING THE COUNTY MANAGER OR DESIGNEE THEREOF AS 
ASSESSMENT COORDINATOR; DIRECTING THE ASSESSMENT COORDINATOR TO 
PREPARE A PRELIMINARY FIRE PROTECTION ASSESSMENT ROLL; ESTABLISHING A 
PUBLIC HEARING TO CONSIDER IMPOSITION OF THE FIRE PROTECTION 
ASSESSMENTS FOR FISCAL YEAR 2024-25; DIRECTING THE PROVISION OF NOTICE 
IN CONNECTION THEREWITH; AND PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 
 
DEPARTMENT:    County Manager 
 
PURPOSE:  
 
This Resolution describes the methodology and how the rate is calculated for each property class: 
Residential (per dwelling unit); non-residential (per square foot of buildings); and vacant (per parcel). 
Not considering exempt property, this would bring an estimated $1,979,187 in revenue. 
 
The proposed assessment rates in the resolution are: Residential $167/dwelling unit; Non-
Residential $0.11/square foot; Vacant $46.50/parcel 
 
Exemptions included in this resolution are: Agricultural property unless it has a residence, where 
only the dwelling unit would be assessed as required by state law; Institutional (Churches and Non-
profit organizations) and Government-owned property, 100% Disabled Veterans, and Low-Income 
persons/families (based on federal poverty guidelines and application for exemption required). 
  
   



1 

RESOLUTION NO. 2024-_____ 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS OF 
BRADFORD COUNTY, FLORIDA, RELATING TO THE ANNUAL 
PROVISION AND FUNDING OF FIRE PROTECTION SERVICES AND 
FACILITIES WITHIN THE COUNTY; PROVIDING FOR ESTABLISHMENT 
OF THE BRADFORD COUNTY FIRE PROTECTION MUNICIPAL SERVICE 
BENEFIT UNIT AND THE IMPOSITION OF FIRE PROTECTION 
ASSESSMENTS THEREIN; ESTIMATING THE TOTAL AMOUNT TO BE 
FUNDED THROUGH THE FIRE PROTECTION ASSESSMENTS FOR FISCAL 
YEAR 2024-25; ESTABLISHING THE METHOD OF ASSESSING REAL 
PROPERTY SPECIALLY BENEFITED BY THE COUNTY'S PROVISION OF 
FIRE PROTECTION SERVICES AND FACILITIES; DESIGNATING THE 
COUNTY MANAGER OR DESIGNEE THEREOF AS ASSESSMENT 
COORDINATOR; DIRECTING THE ASSESSMENT COORDINATOR TO 
PREPARE A PRELIMINARY FIRE PROTECTION ASSESSMENT ROLL; 
ESTABLISHING A PUBLIC HEARING TO CONSIDER IMPOSITION OF THE 
FIRE PROTECTION ASSESSMENTS FOR FISCAL YEAR 2024-25; 
DIRECTING THE PROVISION OF NOTICE IN CONNECTION THEREWITH; 
AND PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 
BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS OF 

BRADFORD COUNTY, FLORIDA, AS FOLLOWS: 
  

ARTICLE I 
INTRODUCTION 

 
SECTION 1.01. AUTHORITY.  This Resolution of Bradford County, Florida is 

adopted pursuant to Article VIII, Section 1 of the Florida Constitution, Chapter 125, Florida 
Statutes, Section 197.3632, Florida Statutes, and other applicable provisions of law, AND County 
Ordinance No. 2024-07. 

 
SECTION 1.02. DEFINITIONS.  This Resolution shall be referred to as the "Initial 

Assessment Resolution" for fire protection services and facilities.  As used herein, the following 
terms shall have the following meanings, unless the context hereof otherwise requires. 

 
"Assessed Property" or "Assessed Parcels" means all Tax Parcels included in the Fire 

Protection Assessment Roll and subject to the Fire Protection Assessments contemplated 
hereunder.  

 
"Assessment Coordinator" means the County Manager or such person's designee. 
 



2 

"Assessment Report" means the "FY 2025 Fire Protection Service Non-Ad Valorem 
Assessment Study" prepared by consulting firm Stantec, including as the context requires any 
drafts thereof or supplements thereto. 

 
"Assessment Unit" means the unit of measurement used to apportion the costs of 

providing, and the relative benefit conveyed by, fire protection services and facilities among 
Assessed Property within each Property Use Category.    

 
"Board" means the Board of County Commissioners of Bradford County, Florida 
 
"Building" means any structure, whether temporary or permanent, built for support, 

shelter or enclosure of persons, chattel, or property of any kind, including mobile homes. This 
term shall include the use of land in which lots or spaces are offered for use, rent or lease for the 
placement of mobile homes or the like. 

 
"Certificate of Occupancy" means the written certification issued by the County or other 

local government entity that a Building is ready for occupancy for its intended use. 
 
"County" means Bradford County, a political subdivision of the State of Florida. 
 
"County Manager" means the chief executive officer of the County.  
 
"Demand Percentages" means the percentage of demand for fire protection services and 

facilities attributable to each Property Use Category determined by analyzing the historical 
demand for fire protection services as reflected in the Incident Reports and as described in Section 
3.03 hereof. 

 
"Developed Property" means Tax Parcels that are developed entirely or in part with 

Buildings. 
 
"DOR Codes" means the property usage codes established in Rule 12D-8.008, Florida 

Administrative Code, assigned to Tax Parcels by the Property Appraiser or Assessment 
Coordinator after field verification.  The DOR Codes to be utilized in calculating the Fire 
Protection Assessments are set forth in the Assessment Report. 

 
"Dwelling Unit" means (1) a Building, or portion thereof, which is lawfully used for 

residential purposes, consisting of one or more rooms arranged, designed, used, or intended to 
be used as living quarters for one family only, or (2) the use of land in which lots or spaces are 
offered for rent or lease for the placement of mobile homes for residential purposes.  Dwelling 
Units comprise the Assessment Unit for Residential Parcels. 

 



3 

"Final Assessment Resolution" means the resolution described in Section 2.03 hereof 
which shall confirm, modify or repeal this Initial Assessment Resolution and which shall be the 
final proceeding for the imposition of Fire Protection Assessments for Fiscal Year 2024-25. 

 
"Fire Protection Assessment" or "Assessment" means a special assessment, sometimes 

characterized as a non-ad valorem assessment, imposed hereunder to fund the Fire Protection 
Cost. 

 
"Fire Protection Assessment Roll" or "Assessment Roll" means the assessment roll 

created pursuant to Section 2.02 hereof that includes a list of the Tax Parcels subject to Fire 
Protection Assessments, the name of the owner of each Tax Parcel as shown on the Tax Roll, and 
the amount of the Fire Protection Assessment imposed against each Tax Parcel. 

 
"Fire Protection Cost" means the estimated cost incurred by the County each fiscal year 

in providing fire protection services and facilities.  
 
"Fiscal Year" means the period commencing on October 1 of each year and continuing 

through the next succeeding September 30, or such other period as may be prescribed by law as 
the fiscal year for the County. 

 
"Fiscal Year 2024-25" means the Fiscal Year commencing October 1, 2024. 
 
"Government Property" means Tax Parcels owned by the United States of America, the 

State of Florida, a sovereign state or nation, a county, a special district, a municipal corporation, 
or any of their respective agencies or political subdivisions. 

 
"Incident Report" means an individual report prepared by the Bradford County Fire 

Department and filed with the Florida State Fire Marshal. 
 
"Initial Assessment Resolution" means this Resolution which initiates the process for 

approving the rates of the Fire Protection Assessment for Fiscal Year 2024-25. 
 
"Institutional Property" means a Tax Parcel assigned a DOR Code indicative of 

institutional use for which the Property Appraiser has determined that such use qualifies the Tax 
Parcel for exemption from the payment of ad valorem taxes under Chapter 196, Florida Statutes; 
provided, however, the term "Institutional Property" shall not include parsonages, day care 
facilities or other Buildings which, although owned by a church or religious entity, are used for 
purposes other than as a house of worship. 

 
"MSBU" means the Bradford County Fire Protection Municipal Service Benefit Unit 

described hereunder.  
 
"Multi-Family Property" means those Tax Parcels assigned a DOR Code indicative of 



4 

multi-family use. 
 
"Non-Residential Parcels" means Tax Parcels other than Residential Parcels or Vacant 

Parcels.   
 

"Property Appraiser" means the Bradford County Property Appraiser. 
 
"Property Use Categories" means the categories used to describe the primary use 

attributed to individual Tax Parcels, comprised of Residential Parcels and Non-Residential 
Parcels.  

 
"Residential Parcels" means Tax Parcels comprised of Single Family Residential Property, 

Multi-Family Property and any other parcels assigned a DOR Code indicative of residential use.   
 
"Single Family Residential Property" means Tax Parcels assigned a DOR Code indicative 

of single family residential use including mobile home parcels and condominium parcels. 
 
"Tax Collector" means the Bradford County Tax Collector. 
 
"Tax Parcel" means a parcel of property to which the Property Appraiser has assigned a 

distinct ad valorem property tax identification number. 
 

"Tax Roll" means the real property ad valorem tax roll database maintained by the 
Property Appraiser for the purpose of the levy and collection of ad valorem taxes. 

 
"Uniform Assessment Collection Act" means Sections 197.3632 and 197.3635, Florida 

Statutes, or any successor statutes authorizing the collection of non-ad valorem assessments on 
the same bill as ad valorem taxes, and any applicable regulations promulgated thereunder.  

 
"Vacant Parcels" means Tax Parcels which contain no Buildings. 
 
SECTION 1.03. INTERPRETATION.  Unless the context indicates otherwise, 

words importing the singular number include the plural number, and vice versa; the terms 
"hereof," "hereby," "herein," "hereto," "hereunder" and similar terms refer to this Resolution; and 
the term "hereafter" means after, and the term "heretofore" means before, the effective date of this 
Resolution.  Words of any gender include the correlative words of the other gender, unless the 
sense indicates otherwise. 

 
SECTION 1.04. FINDINGS.  It is hereby ascertained, determined and declared as 

follows: 
 
(A) The County is authorized by Article VIII, Section 1 of the State Constitution, 

Chapter 125, Florida Statutes, the Uniform Assessment Collection Act, and other applicable 



5 

provisions of law to provide for the imposition and collection of special assessments, sometimes 
referred to as non-ad valorem assessments, to fund in whole or in part the provision of essential 
public services such as fire protection services. 

 
(B) The County is proposing the establishment of the MSBU hereunder, in accordance 

with section 125.01(1)(q), Florida Statutes, in order to provide for the funding and delivery of fire 
protection services and facilities to Tax Parcels located therein. 

    
(C) The County engaged consulting firm Stantec to develop a methodology for 

apportioning the Assessments among the Tax Parcels comprising the MSBU to fund a portion of 
the costs incurred by the County in providing fire protection services and facilities each year. 

 
(D) The Board has considered the Assessment Report and multiple presentations by 

Stantec regarding the Fire Protection Assessments which summarized the special benefits 
conveyed by fire protection services and an apportionment methodology based upon historic 
calls for service. The apportionment methodology and rate classification system based upon 
historic calls for service is reasonable and equitable and is also manageable and capable of being 
fairly implemented from year to year without wasteful or extraordinary consumption of County 
resources. The Assessment Report is hereby approved and incorporated herein by reference. 
 

(E) Fire protection services and facilities possess a logical relationship to the use and 
enjoyment of Developed Property and provide a special benefit to property that is improved by 
the existence or construction of a Building by: (1) protecting the value of the improvements and 
structures through the provision of available fire protection services; (2) protecting the life and 
safety of intended occupants in the use and enjoyment of dwellings, improvements and structures 
within Developed Property; (3) lowering the cost of fire insurance by the presence of a 
comprehensive fire protection program; (4) increasing the use, enjoyment, marketability and 
value of property; and (5) better service to landowners and tenants. 

 
(F) It is fair and reasonable to use the DOR Codes for apportioning the Fire Protection 

Cost because: (1) the Tax Roll employing the use of such codes is the most comprehensive, 
accurate, and reliable information readily available to determine the property use and Building 
size for Developed Property, and (2) the Tax Roll is prepared and maintained by the Property 
Appraiser during the course of his or her constitutional duties at no extra cost to the County or 
its citizenry, thereby resulting in cost-efficient administration of the annual Fire Protection 
Assessments. 

 
(G) The Incident Reports are a reliable data source available to determine the potential 

demand for fire services from Assessed Property and to determine the benefit to Assessed 
Property resulting from fire protection services. There are sufficient Incident Reports 
documenting the historical demand for fire services from the Property Use Categories by an 
examination of such Incident Reports. Therefore, the use of Demand Percentages determined by 
an examination of Incident Reports is a fair and reasonable method to apportion the Fire 



6 

Protection Cost costs among the Property Use Categories.   
 
(H) Apportioning the Fire Protection Cost among Residential Parcels on a per 

Dwelling Unit basis avoids cost inefficiency and unnecessary administration and is a fair and 
reasonable method of apportionment based upon historical call data.   

 
(I) The assessment of Non-Residential Parcels based upon the square footage of 

Buildings is fair and reasonable because the demand for fire protection services and availability 
and the resources expended in combating an actual fire event vary in property to the size of the 
Buildings comprising the Non-Residential Parcel.  It is fair, reasonable and equitable to allocate 
the assessment burden on Non-Residential Parcels containing such Buildings based upon the 
square footage of Buildings as reflected in the data maintained by the Property Appraiser or, in 
the event such information is not reflected or determined not to be accurately reflected on the Tax 
Roll, the square footage determined by the County. 

 
(J) The risk of loss and the demand for fire protection services and facilities presented 

by Non-Residential Parcels is substantially related to Building size. Because the value and 
anticipated occupancy of Non-Residential Parcels is substantially related to Building size, it is 
fair, reasonable and equitable to allocate the assessment burden on Non-Residential Parcels 
containing such Buildings based upon the size of the Building as measured by square footage 
data maintained by the Property Appraiser or, in the event such information is not reflected or 
determined not to be accurately reflected on the Tax Roll, the square footage determined by the 
County. 

 
(K) The allocation of the assessment burden to improved Non-Residential Parcels by 

Building size is fair and reasonable for the purposes of apportionment because it is a fair and 
reasonable method of classifying benefited parcels and will apportion costs among benefited 
parcels that create similar demand for the availability of fire protection services. 

(L) Vacant Parcels are benefitted by the availability of fire protection services and by 
the containment of fire incidents originating on such parcels which otherwise could spread 
beyond the parcel boundary, with the potential to spread and endanger the value of structures, 
Buildings and occupants of nearby property, thereby limiting liability. 

(M) The County provides emergency medical services in addition to fire protection 
services.  While the County is authorized by section 125.271, Florida Statutes, to fund the costs of 
emergency medical services through the levy of special assessments, the Board intends to 
continue funding such services primarily through general fund or other non-assessment revenue 
sources.  

 
(N) Since emergency medical services will be funded separately, the Fire Protection 

Cost does not include funding for emergency medical services, and only service calls related to 
fire incidents at specific property or parcels were included in the cost apportionment to Property 



7 

Use Categories in the call data analysis.   Calls to non-specific property uses are omitted from the 
call history for purposes of allocating the Fire Protection Cost. 

 
(O) The apportionment of Fire Protection Assessments on the basis of historic calls for 

service is a fair and reasonable method for allocating potential demand for fire protection services 
and facilities and the special benefit conveyed thereby among Assessed Property. 

 
(P) The apportionment method approved and adopted hereunder bears a reasonable 

relationship to the cost of providing fire protection services and facilities. 
 
(Q) It is fair and reasonable to impose Fire Protection Assessments upon Assessed 

Property, apportioned in the manner set forth in Section 3.03 hereof, to fund the Fire Protection 
Cost.  

 
(R) Each parcel of Assessed Property will be benefitted by the provision of fire 

protection services, facilities and programs in an amount not less than the Fire Protection 
Assessment imposed against such parcel, computed in the manner set forth in this Initial 
Assessment Resolution. 

 
(S) The Fire Protection Assessment imposed pursuant to this Resolution is imposed 

solely by the Board, not the Property Appraiser or Tax Collector.  Any activity of the Property 
Appraiser or Tax Collector hereunder shall be construed as ministerial. 

 
ARTICLE II 

NOTICE AND PUBLIC HEARING 
 

SECTION 2.01. ESTIMATED FIRE PROTECTION COST. 
 
(A) The estimated Fire Protection Cost for Fiscal Year 2024-25 is $1,677,500 which shall 

be the basis for calculating the Fire Protection Assessments imposed hereunder.  The balance of 
any costs incurred by the County in providing fire protection services for such Fiscal Year shall 
be paid by other legally available revenues of the County.  

 
(B) The Fire Protection Assessment rates established in this Initial Assessment 

Resolution shall be applied by the Assessment Coordinator in the preparation of the preliminary 
Fire Protection Assessment Roll as provided in Section 2.02 of this Initial Assessment Resolution. 

 
 SECTION 2.02. FIRE PROTECTION ASSESSMENT ROLL.  The Assessment 
Coordinator is hereby directed to prepare, or cause to be prepared, a preliminary Fire Protection 
Assessment Roll for Fiscal Year 2024-25.  The Fire Protection Assessment Roll shall include all 
Assessed Property within the County. The Assessment Coordinator shall apportion the estimated 
Fire Protection Cost to be recovered through Fire Protection Assessments in the manner set forth 
in this Initial Assessment Resolution.  A copy of this Initial Assessment Resolution and the 



8 

preliminary Fire Protection Assessment Roll shall be maintained on file in the office of the County 
Manager and open to public inspection.  The foregoing shall not be construed to require that the 
preliminary Fire Protection Assessment Roll be in printed form if the amount of the Fire 
Protection Assessment for each parcel of property can be determined by the use of a computer 
terminal or internet access available to the public. 
 
 SECTION 2.03. PUBLIC HEARING.   
 

(A) There is hereby established a public hearing to be held at 6:30 p.m. on September 
5, 2024, in Commission Chambers, 945 North Temple Avenue Starke, Florida 32091, at which time 
the Board will receive and consider any comments on the Fire Protection Assessments from the 
public and affected property owners and consider adoption of the Final Assessment Resolution 
imposing Fire Protection Assessments for Fiscal Year 2024-25.  

 
(B) The Final Assessment Resolution shall:  
 
 (1) Confirm, modify or repeal this Initial Assessment Resolution with such 

amendments, if any, as may be deemed appropriate by the Board;  
 

  (2) Establish the amount or rate of the Assessment for each Property Use 
Category for Fiscal Year 2024-25; 
 
  (3) Establish the maximum amount or rate of the Assessment for each 
Property Use Category for subsequent Fiscal Years; 
 

(4) Approve the Assessment Roll, with such amendments as it deems just and 
right; and  
 

(5) Confirm the method of collecting the Assessments. 
 

(C) Assessments shall be imposed against property included on the Assessment Roll 
computed in accordance with this Initial Assessment Resolution and the Final Assessment 
Resolution.   
 

SECTION 2.04. NOTICE BY PUBLICATION.  The Board hereby authorizes and 
directs the Assessment Coordinator to publish notice of the public hearing authorized by Section 
2.03 hereof in the manner and time provided in the Uniform Assessment Collection Act. The 
notice shall be published no later than August 15, 2024, in substantially the form attached hereto 
as Appendix A with such changes as may be approved by the Assessment Coordinator; provided, 
however, that any such changes shall be consistent with the requirements of the Uniform 
Assessment Collection Act. 

 



9 

SECTION 2.05. NOTICE BY MAIL.  The Board hereby authorizes and directs the 
Assessment Coordinator to provide mailed notice of the public hearing authorized by Section 
2.03 hereof in the manner and time provided in the Uniform Assessment Collection Act. The 
notice shall be mailed no later than August 15, 2024, in substantially the form attached hereto as 
Appendix B with such changes as may be approved by the Assessment Coordinator; provided, 
however, that any such changes shall be consistent with the requirements of the Uniform 
Assessment Collection Act.   

 
ARTICLE III 

ASSESSMENTS 
 

SECTION 3.01. ASSESSMENT AREA.   The Fire Protection Assessments are to be 
imposed throughout the entire area of the MSBU, the boundaries of which include all of the 
unincorporated area of the County.  The assessment area and MSBU may include incorporated 
areas, subject to consent by ordinance of the affected municipality as required by section 
125.01(1)(q), Florida Statutes. 

 
SECTION 3.02. IMPOSITION OF ASSESSMENTS.  Fire Protection Assessments 

shall be imposed against real property located within the MSBU, the annual amount of which 
shall be computed for each Tax Parcel in accordance with this Article III. When imposed, the 
Assessment for each Fiscal Year shall constitute a lien against Assessed Property, equal in rank 
and dignity with the liens of all state, county, district, or municipal taxes and special assessments. 
Except as otherwise provided by law, such lien shall be superior in dignity to all other prior liens, 
mortgages, titles, and claims until paid. The lien shall be deemed perfected upon adoption of the 
Final Assessment Resolution.  

 
SECTION 3.03. APPORTIONMENT METHOD. 
 
(A) The Assessment Report, a copy of which is on file in the office of the County 

Manager, is hereby approved and incorporated herein by reference.  The apportionment method 
described therein based upon demand and historic calls for service is fair and reasonable and is 
hereby approved and adopted as the methodology for apportioning the costs, benefits and 
burdens associated with the provision of fire protection services and facilities by the County.  

 
(B) A Demand Percentage is determined for each Property Use Category by 

calculating the percentage of calls that went to each Property Use Category during the three-year 
sampling period undertaken by Stantec. 

 
(C) The Demand Percentage for each Property Use Category is applied to the Fire 

Protection Cost and the resulting product is the cost allocation of that portion of the Fire 
Protection Cost allocated to each individual Property Use Category. 

 
(D) Apportionment among Tax Parcels of that portion of the Fire Protection Assessed 



10 

Costs allocated to each Property Use Category shall be consistent with the following terms: 
 

(1) The Fire Protection Assessment for each Residential Parcel shall be 
computed by dividing that portion of the Fire Protection Cost allocated to Residential Parcels by 
the total number of Dwelling Units, and then multiplying the result by the total number of 
Dwelling Units located on the Residential Parcel. 

 
(2) The Fire Protection Assessment for Non-Residential Parcels shall be 

computed by dividing that portion of the Fire Protection Cost allocated to Non-Residential 
Parcels by the total square footage of all Buildings, and then multiplying the number of square 
feet of all Buildings on each parcel by the rate of Assessment for Non-Residential Parcels.   

 
(3) The following table describes the Property Use Categories, Demand 

Percentages, assessment allocation per category, Assessment Units and the estimated rate 
schedule for the Fire Protection Assessments for Fiscal Year 2024-25: 

 
Assessment Rates for Fiscal Year 2024-25 

Property Use 
Category 

Demand 
Percentage 
(% of calls) 

Assessment 
Allocation 

Allocated 
Units 

Assessment 
Unit 

Assessment 
per Unit 

Residential Parcels  73.8% $1,459,715 8,729 
Dwelling 

Unit $167.00 
Non-Residential 
Parcels 15.7% $311,683 2,797,000 Square Foot $0.11 
Vacant 10.5% $207,788.50 4,451 Per parcel $46.50 

 
(4) Except as provided in Section 3.10 hereof, for Fiscal Years commencing 

October 1, 2025 and thereafter, the assessment rates set forth above may be increased from year 
to the next by not more than 4% per year. 

 
(5) The rates set forth above include costs and expenses incurred in annual 

administration and collection of the Fire Protection Assessments.   
 

(6) The Fire Protection Assessment for Tax Parcels comprising mobile home 
parks, if any now or in the future, shall be determined by multiplying the number of lots or spaces 
are offered for rent or lease for the placement of mobile homes for residential purposes by the 
rate of Assessment for the residential use category 

(7) Section 166.223, Florida Statutes, provides that special assessments 
imposed against a Recreational Vehicle Park regulated under Chapter 513 shall not be based on 
the assertion that such park is comprised of residential units.  Accordingly, the Fire Protection 
Assessment for each Tax Parcel comprising a Recreational Vehicle Park regulated under Chapter 



11 

513, Florida Statutes, shall be computed as follows: (number of Recreational Vehicle spaces) x 
(500 square feet) x (rate of Assessment for the Non-Residential Use Category) 

(8) The Assessment Coordinator and consultants engaged to assist with the 
Fire Protection Assessment program have relied on information reported by the Florida 
Department of Health with respect to the classification of Tax Parcels as Mobile Home Parks or 
Recreational Vehicle Parks, as well as the number of Mobile Home spaces and Recreational 
Vehicle spaces found in each. 

(9) Such reliance is fair, reasonable and cost efficient in that it avoids the 
extraordinary expenses otherwise associated with County staff and consultants conducting on-
site cataloguing of the composition of each Mobile Home Park, Recreational Vehicle Park, and 
the individual spaces in each.  In recognition that the composition of such parcels may change 
over time, the Assessment Coordinator shall be authorized to revise the classification of space 
usage in such parks based on site visit or other confirmation.  

(10) The Fire Protection Assessments for Tax Parcels classified in two or more 
Property Use Categories shall be the sum of the Fire Protection Assessments computed for each 
Property Use Category. 
 

(F) In the event of conflict between the Assessment Report and the description of the 
apportionment methodology set forth in this Section, the provisions of the Assessment Report 
shall control.    

 
(G) It is hereby ascertained, determined, and declared that the method of determining 

the Fire Protection Assessments as set forth in this Initial Assessment Resolution is a fair and 
reasonable method of apportioning the Fire Protection Cost among Assessed Property. 

 
 SECTION 3.04. APPLICATION OF ASSESSMENT PROCEEDS.  Proceeds 
derived by the County from the Fire Protection Assessments shall be utilized for the provision of 
fire protection services, facilities and programs.  In the event there is any fund balance remaining 
at the end of the Fiscal Year, such balance shall be carried forward and used only to fund fire 
protection related services, facilities and programs.   

 
 SECTION 3.05. COLLECTION OF ASSESSMENTS.  Fire Protection Assessments 
for Fiscal Year 2024-25 and each Fiscal Year thereafter shall be collected pursuant to the tax bill 
collection method as authorized by the Uniform Assessment Collection Act, unless otherwise 
determined by the Board.   

 
 SECTION 3.06. EXCLUDED PARCELS; EXEMPTIONS. 
 
 (A) Certain Tax Parcels do not receive a special benefit from the provision of fire 
protection services and facilities or are infeasible or impractical to assess, and therefore shall not 
be subject to the Fire Protection Assessments contemplated hereunder.  Such excluded parcels 



12 

include the following as indicated by the property usage codes applied by the Property Appraiser 
or as otherwise determined by the Assessment Coordinator through visual inspection:  
 

 (1) Rights of way. 
 (2) Rivers/lakes. 
 (3) Wasteland/dump. 
   

 (B) The foregoing classifications of properties are reasonably determined to be 
inappropriate, infeasible or impracticable to assess, benefit marginally or create a lesser or 
nominal demand or burden on the costs associated with providing fire protection services and 
facilities, and do not merit the expenditure of public funds to impose or collect the Fire Protection 
Assessments.   
 

(C) Government Property provides facilities and uses to the community, local 
constituents and the public in general that serve a legitimate public purpose and provide a public 
benefit, and is therefore exempt from the Fire Protection Assessments contemplated hereunder; 
provided, however, that Government Property leased for private use shall not be exempt from 
the Fire Protection Assessments.   

 
(D) In accordance with Section 125.01(1)(r), Florida Statutes, the County may not levy 

special assessments for the provision of fire protection services on lands classified as agricultural 
lands under Section 193.461, Florida Statutes, with the exception of residential structures. The 
Assessment Coordinator shall ensure compliance with this requirement in preparing the 
Assessment Roll. 

 
(E)  Institutional Property provides facilities and uses to the ownership, occupants, 

membership as well as public in general that otherwise might be required to be provided by the 
County and such use thereof serves a legitimate public purpose and provides a public benefit. 
Therefore, it is fair and reasonable not to impose Fire Protection Assessments upon Tax Parcels 
comprising Institutional Property. 

(F) Tax Parcels which qualify for the ad valorem tax exemption provided for in Section 
196.081, Florida Statutes, for permanently and totally disabled veterans shall be exempt from the 
Fire Protection Assessments.  

 
(G) The County hereby approves an economic hardship exemption for the Fire 

Protection Assessments for owners of Tax Parcels whose household income is at or below federal 
poverty guidelines. The current guidelines in effect for 2024 are included in Appendix C.  Eligible 
property owners shall be required to submit an application for the hardship exemption to the 
City Manager's office, in the form attached hereto as Appendix D.  In the event a hardship 
exemption is granted prior to certification and delivery of the Assessment Roll to the Tax 
Collector, the County Manager is authorized to remove the Fire Protection Assessment for the 
exempted Tax Parcel from the Assessment Roll prior to certification.  For hardship exemptions 



13 

granted after certification and delivery of the Assessment Roll, the County Manager is authorized 
to facilitate a refund of the amount of the Fire Protection Assessment paid by the applicant, upon 
presentation by the applicant of proof of payment.  

(H) Using legally available funds other than the proceeds of the Fire Protection 
Assessments, the County shall fund or contribute an amount equal to the exemptions approved 
herein.  Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, the Board reserves the right and ability 
in the future to impose Fire Protection Assessments against Tax Parcels which receive an 
exemption hereunder to the extent permitted or required by law or otherwise in the event 
required or directed to do so by a court of competent jurisdiction. 

 
SECTION 3.07. EFFECT OF ASSESSMENT RESOLUTIONS.   The adoption of 

this Initial Assessment Resolution and the Final Assessment Resolution called for in Section 2.03 
hereof after notice and opportunity to be heard for affected property owners shall be the final 
adjudication of the issues presented (including, but not limited to determination, calculation and 
amount of the Assessments, the costs or components and any apportionment thereof used in 
determining the amount of the Assessments, the adoption of the Assessment Roll, the levy and 
lien of the Assessments and the collection method), unless proper steps are initiated in a court of 
competent jurisdiction secure relief within twenty (20) days from the date of the Board's adoption 
of the final assessment resolution.   

 
SECTION 3.08. REVISION TO ASSESSMENTS; PROCEDURAL 

IRREGULARITIES; AND CORRECTION OF ERRORS.    
 
(A) If any Assessment made under the provisions of this Resolution is either in whole 

or in part annulled, vacated, or set aside by the judgment of any court, or if the Board is satisfied 
that any such assessment is so irregular or defective that the same cannot be enforced or collected, 
or if the Board has omitted the inclusion of any property on the assessment roll which property 
should have been so included, the Board may take all necessary steps to impose a new assessment 
against any property similarly situated, following as nearly as may be practicable, the provisions 
of this Resolution, and in case such second assessment is annulled, the Board may levy and 
impose other assessments until a valid assessment is imposed. 

 
(B) Any informality or irregularity in the proceedings in connection with the levy of 

any Assessment under the provision of this Resolution or any resolution of the Board shall not 
affect the validity of same after approval thereof, and any assessment as finally approved shall 
be competent and sufficient evidence that such assessment was duly levied, that the assessment 
was duly made and adopted and that all proceedings related to such assessment were duly had, 
taken and performed as required by law and this Resolution; and, no variance from the directions 
hereunder or any other statutory provisions shall be held material unless it be clearly shown that 
the party objecting was materially injured thereby. 

 



14 

(C) No act, error or omission on the part of the Board, any County official, employee 
or agent, the Property Appraiser or Tax Collector, or their deputies or employees, shall operate 
to release or discharge any obligation for payment of any Assessments authorized or imposed by 
the Board hereunder.   

 
(D) The Assessment Coordinator shall have the authority, at any time, upon her or his 

own initiative or in response to a petition from the owner of any Tax Parcel subject to a Fire 
Protection Assessment, to reclassify Tax Parcels or correct or revise the number of Assessment 
Units attributed to Tax Parcels, based upon presentation of competent and substantial evidence 
(which may include Property Appraiser data, site inspection, aerial photographs, etc.), and 
correct any error in applying the apportionment method approved herein to any particular Tax 
Parcel not otherwise requiring the provision of notice pursuant to the Uniform Assessment 
Collection Act. Any such revision shall be considered valid ab initio and shall in no way affect 
the enforcement of the Fire Protection Assessment imposed hereunder. All requests from affected 
property owners for any such changes, modifications or corrections shall be referred to, and 
processed by, the Assessment Coordinator and not the Property Appraiser or Tax Collector.  Any 
such revision or correction which increases an Assessment or imposes an Assessment on omitted 
property shall first require notice to the affected owner at the address shown on the real property 
ad valorem tax roll maintained by Property Appraiser for the purpose of levying collection of ad 
valorem taxes, notifying the owner of the date, time and place that the Board will consider 
confirming the correction and offering the owner an opportunity to be heard.  The failure of the 
owner to receive such notice due to mistake or inadvertence shall not affect the validity of the 
Assessment Roll nor release or discharge any obligation for payment of a Fire Protection 
Assessment imposed by the County. 

 
(E) After the Assessment Roll has been delivered to the Tax Collector in accordance 

with the Uniform Assessment Collection Act, any changes, modifications, or corrections thereto 
shall be made in accordance with the procedures applicable to errors and insolvencies for ad 
valorem taxes. 

 
SECTION 3.09.  INTERIM ASSESSMENTS.  An interim Fire Protection Assessment may 

be imposed against all property for which a Certificate of Occupancy is issued after adoption of 
the Final Assessment Resolution. The amount of the interim Fire Protection Assessment shall be 
calculated upon a monthly rate, which shall be one-twelfth of the annual rate for such property 
computed in accordance with the Final Assessment Resolution for the Fiscal Year for which the 
interim Fire Protection Assessment is being imposed. Such monthly rate shall be imposed for 
each full calendar month remaining in the Fiscal Year. No Certificate of Occupancy shall be issued 
until full payment of the interim Fire Protection Assessment is received by the County. Issuance 
of the Certificate of Occupancy without the payment in full of the interim Fire Protection 
Assessment shall not relieve the Owner of such property of the obligation of full payment. Any 
interim Fire Protection Assessment not collected prior to the issuance of the Certificate of 
Occupancy may be collected pursuant to the Uniform Assessment Collection Act or by any other 
method authorized by law. Any interim Fire Protection Assessment shall be deemed due and 



15 

payable on the date the Certificate of Occupancy was issued and shall constitute a lien against 
such property as of that date. Said lien shall be equal in rank and dignity with the liens of all state, 
county, district or municipal taxes and special assessments, and superior in rank and dignity to 
all other liens, encumbrances, titles and claims in and to or against the real property involved and 
shall be deemed perfected upon the issuance of the Certificate of Occupancy. 
 
 SECTION 3.10.  ANNUAL ADMINISTRATION.   The Board may adopt a Final 
Assessment Resolution for each Fiscal Year after Fiscal Year 2024-25 which approves the 
Assessment Roll for such Fiscal Year and directs certification of the roll to the Tax Collector in 
accordance with the Uniform Assessment Collection Act. For Fire Protection Assessments 
imposed after Fiscal Year 2024-25, if (1) the proposed Assessment rate applied to any parcel of 
property exceeds the maximum annual Assessment rate approved by the Final Assessment 
Resolution, (ii) the proposed Assessment rate exceeds the maximum assessment rate described 
in the mailed notice provided pursuant to Section 2.05 hereof, (iii) an Assessment is imposed 
against property not previously subject thereto and the owner thereof has not provided written 
consent for the Assessment, or (iv) the method of apportionment is revised or modified resulting 
in an increased Assessment from that described in the notice provided pursuant to Section 2.05 
hereof, the Board shall provide notice to the owner of such property of the time, date and place 
of a public hearing to consider imposition of the Assessment against such property and adoption 
of the Final Assessment Resolution for such Fiscal Year.  Such notice shall substantially conform 
to the requirements set forth in Sections 2.04 and 2.05 hereof. The failure of the owner to receive 
such notice due to mistake or inadvertence shall not affect the validity of the Assessment Roll nor 
release or discharge any obligation for payment of a Fire Protection Assessment imposed by the 
County.  
 
 

[Remainder of Page Intentionally Left Blank] 
 
  



16 

ARTICLE IV 
GENERAL PROVISIONS 

 
SECTION 4.01. AUTHORIZATIONS.  The Chair and any member of the Board, 

the County Manager, the County Attorney and such other officials, employees or agents of the 
County as may be designated by the County Manager are authorized and empowered, 
collectively or individually, to take all action and steps and to execute all instruments, documents, 
and contracts on behalf of the County that are necessary or desirable in connection with the 
imposition and collection of the Fire Protection Assessments contemplated hereunder, and which 
are specifically authorized or are not inconsistent with the terms and provisions of this 
Resolution. 

 
SECTION 4.02. CONFLICTS.  All resolutions or parts of resolutions in conflict 

herewith are hereby repealed to the extent of such conflict. 
 
SECTION 4.03. SEVERABILITY.  If any provision of this Resolution or the 

application thereof to any person or circumstance is held invalid, such invalidity shall not affect 
other provisions or applications of this Resolution that can be given effect without the invalid 
provision or application, and to this end the provisions of this Resolution are declared to be 
severable. 
 
 

[Remainder of Page Intentionally Left Blank] 
  



17 

SECTION 4.04. EFFECTIVE DATE.  This Initial Assessment Resolution shall take 
effect immediately upon its passage and adoption. 

 
 RESOLVED AND ADOPTED by the Board of County Commissioners of Bradford 
County, Florida, with a quorum present and voting, this ______ day of ____________ 2024. 

 

BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS OF 
      BRADFORD COUNTY, FLORIDA 
 
 
      __________________________________________ 
      By:  CAROLYN SPOONER, as its Chair 

ATTEST: 
 
 
__________________________________________ 
By:  DENNY THOMPSON, as Clerk to the Board 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  



A-1 

APPENDIX A 
 

FORM OF NOTICE TO BE PUBLISHED 
 
To be published on or before __________, 2024. 

 
BRADFORD COUNTY, FLORIDA 

NOTICE OF HEARING 
TO IMPOSE AND PROVIDE FOR COLLECTION OF 

NON-AD VALOREM SPECIAL ASSESSMENTS 
TO FUND FIRE PROTECTION SERVICES AND FACILITIES 

 
[Insert map of MSBU] 

 
The Board of County Commissioners (the "Board") of Bradford County, Florida (the "County") is considering the levy 
of annual non-ad valorem special assessments to fund the costs incurred by the County each year in providing fire 
protection services and facilities.  The special assessments would be imposed with the "municipal service benefit unit" 
depicted on the enclosed map which generally includes all of the unincorporated area of the County, plus the 
incorporated area of [list cities which have opted in].  The City of Starke is not included in the proposed assessment 
program. The fire assessment, if adopted by the Board, would be imposed to fund fire services for the County's fiscal 
year which begins October 1, 2024 (Fiscal Year 2024-25"). 
 
Notice is hereby given that the Board will conduct a public hearing to consider adoption of an Final Assessment 
Resolution related to the provision and funding of fire protection services and facilities.  The Final Assessment 
Resolution will approve the fire assessment rates for Fiscal Year 2024-25 and collection of the assessments pursuant 
to the tax bill collection method for such fiscal year and each fiscal year thereafter.  The assessment is an annual 
assessment that will continue from year to year.  The hearing will be held at 6:30 p.m., or as soon thereafter as may 
be heard, on September 5, 2024 in the Commission Chambers, 945 North Temple Avenue Starke, Florida 32091. All 
affected property owners have a right to appear at the hearing and be heard with respect to the proposed fire 
assessment and to file written objections with the Board within twenty (20) days of this notice. 
 
The assessments will fund a portion of the costs incurred each year in providing fire protection services and facilities 
throughout the MSBU. The assessment for each parcel of property will be based upon a calls for service methodology 
wherein costs associated with fire protection services and facilities are allocated among different types of property 
according to historic fire incident reports and call data. For Fiscal Year 2024-25, the assessments will be imposed 
against residential property on a "per dwelling unit" basis at a proposed rate of $______ per dwelling unit, against non-
residential (commercial) property based on the square footage of all structures located on each parcel at a proposed 
rate of $___ per square foot, and against vacant, undeveloped parcels at the rate of $___ per parcel.  Properties owned 
by government entities, churches and non-profits would be exempt from the fire assessments.  Agricultural property 
will not be assessed unless the property contains a residential dwelling unit, in which case it will be assessed on a per 
dwelling unit basis at the rate specified above.  For future years following Fiscal Year 2024-25, the rate of assessment 
may be increased by up to 4% per year without further notice. 
 
The fire protection assessment will be collected on the County's behalf by the Bradford County Tax Collector pursuant 
to the tax bill collection method authorized by Section 197.3632, Florida Statutes, commencing in November, 2024, 
and include collection costs incurred by the County and have been adjusted as necessary to account for the statutory 
early payment discounts which apply when collecting the assessments annually on the same bill as property taxes. 
The fire assessments will be imposed solely by the County and not by the Tax Collector or Property Appraiser.  Any 
questions concerning the fire assessments should be directed to the County Manager's office at (904) 966-6327. 
 



A-2 

 
A more specific description of the fire protection services and facilities and the method of computing the assessment 
for each parcel of property are set forth in Resolution No. 2024-_____ (the "Initial Assessment Resolution") adopted 
by the Board on __________, 2024. Copies of the Initial Assessment Resolution and the preliminary Fire Protection 
Assessment Roll are available for inspection at the office of the County Manager, located at 945 North Temple Ave, 
Starke, FL 32091. 
 
If a person decides to appeal any decision made by Board with respect to any matter considered at such meeting or 
hearing, he or she will need a record of the proceedings, and that, for such purpose, he or she may need to ensure 
that a verbatim record of the proceedings is made, which record includes the testimony and evidence upon which the 
appeal is to be based.  In accordance with the American with Disabilities Act, persons needing a special 
accommodation of an interpreter to participate in these proceedings should contact the County Manager at (904) 966-
6327, at least 48 hours prior to the time of the hearing.



B-1 

APPENDIX B 
 

FORM OF NOTICE TO BE MAILED 
 

BRADFORD COUNTY, FLORIDA 
 

_______________, 2024 
 
[Property Owner Name - Col. B] 
[Address 1 - Col. C] 
[Address 2 - Col. D] 
[Address 3 - Col. E] 
[County - Col. F], [State - Col. G]  [Zip - Col. H] [Country - Col. I] 
 
 
Re: Tax Parcel Number [Col. A] 
  
Dear Bradford County Property Owner: 
 
 The Board of County Commissioners (the "Board") of Bradford County, Florida (the "County") is considering the 
levy of annual non-ad valorem special assessments to fund the costs incurred by the County each year in providing 
fire protection services and facilities.  The special assessments would be imposed with the proposed "Bradford County 
Municipal Service Benefit Unit" which generally includes all of the unincorporated area of the County, plus the 
incorporated area of [list cities which have opted in].  The City of Starke is not included in the proposed assessment 
program. The fire assessment, if adopted by the Board, would be imposed to fund fire services for the County's fiscal 
year which begins October 1, 2024 (Fiscal Year 2024-25"). 
 
  Notice is hereby given that the Board will conduct a public hearing to consider adoption of an Final 
Assessment Resolution related to the provision and funding of fire protection services and facilities.  The Final 
Assessment Resolution will approve the fire assessment rates for Fiscal Year 2024-25.  The assessment is an annual 
assessment that will continue from year to year.  The hearing will be held at 6:30 p.m., or as soon thereafter as may 
be heard, on September 5, 2024 in the Commission Chambers, 945 North Temple Avenue Starke, Florida 32091. All 
affected property owners have a right to appear at the hearing and be heard with respect to the proposed fire 
assessment and to file written objections with the Board within twenty (20) days of this notice. 
 

The assessments will fund a portion of the costs incurred each year in providing fire protection services and 
facilities throughout the MSBU. The assessment for each parcel of property will be based upon a calls for service 
methodology wherein costs associated with fire protection services and facilities are allocated among different types 
of property according to historic fire incident reports and call data. For Fiscal Year 2024-25, the assessments will be 
imposed against residential property on a "per dwelling unit" basis at a proposed rate of $______ per dwelling unit, 
against non-residential (commercial) property based on the square footage of all structures located on each parcel at 
a proposed rate of $___ per square foot, and against vacant, undeveloped parcels at the rate of $___ per parcel.  
Properties owned by government entities, churches and non-profits would be exempt from the fire assessments.  
Agricultural property will not be assessed unless the property contains a residential dwelling unit, in which case it will 
be assessed on a per dwelling unit basis at the rate specified above.  
 

A more specific description of the fire protection services and facilities and the method of computing the 
assessment for each parcel of property are set forth in Resolution No. 2024-__ (the "Initial Assessment Resolution") 
adopted by the Board on ________, 2024. It is estimated that the County will collect approximately $_________ from 
the fire protection assessments for Fiscal Year 2024-25. Information concerning the amount of the fire protection 



B-2 

assessment proposed for the above-referenced parcel is included below.   
 

The proposed fire protection assessment is an annual assessment which will continue from year to year. The 
fire protection assessment will be collected on the County's behalf by the Bradford County Tax Collector pursuant to 
the tax bill collection method authorized by Section 197.3632, Florida Statutes, commencing in November, 2024, and 
will collection costs incurred by the County and have been adjusted to account for the statutory early payment discounts 
which apply when collecting the assessments annually on the same bill as property taxes. Florida law provides that 
failure to pay the assessment will cause a tax certificate to be issued against the assessed property which may result 
in a loss of title.  The fire assessments will be imposed solely by the County and not by the Tax Collector or Property 
Appraiser.  Any questions concerning the fire assessments should be directed to the County Manager's office at (904) 
966-6327. 

 
If a person decides to appeal any decision made by the Board with respect to any matter considered at such 

meeting or hearing, he or she will need a record of the proceedings, and that, for such purpose, he or she may need 
to ensure that a verbatim record of the proceedings is made, which record includes the testimony and evidence upon 
which the appeal is to be based.  In accordance with the American with Disabilities Act, persons needing a special 
accommodation of an interpreter to participate in these proceedings should contact the County Manager at (904) 966-
6327, at least 48 hours prior to the time of the hearing. 
 
 Copies of the Initial Assessment Resolution and the preliminary Fire Protection Assessment Roll are available 
for inspection at the office of the County Manager, located at 945 North Temple Ave, Starke, FL 32091. 
 

*****DO NOT SEND PAYMENT NOW - THIS IS NOT A BILL***** 
 
Parcel Number: [Col. A] 
[Parcel House No. - Col. J] [Parcel Street - Col. K] [Parcel Street 2 - Col. L] [Parcel Street 3 - Col. M], [Parcel Unit - 
Col. N], [Parcel City - Col. O] [Parcel Zip - Col. P], 
 
Assessment for this Parcel: 
 

Assessment Type Unit Type Rate per Unit Parcel Units FY 2024-25 Assessment 
Residential Per Dwelling Unit [Col. W] [Col. R] [Col. AB] 
Non-Residential Per Square Foot [Col. Z] [Col. U] [Col. AE] 
Vacant Per Parcel    

 
The total FY 2024-25 annual fire protection assessment for the above parcel is: $[Col. AG] 
 

For future years following Fiscal Year 2024-25, the rate of assessment may be increased by up to 4% per 
year without further notice. 
 

If there is a mistake in this notice, it will be corrected.  If you feel there is a mistake in this notice or if you have 
any questions, please contact the Fire Marshal’s office at (904) 966-6228. 



C-1 

APPENDIX C 
 

2024 FEDERAL POVERTY GUIDELINES 
 

2024 Poverty Guidelines: Effective January 17, 2024 

Persons in family/household Poverty Guideline 
1 $15,060 
2 $20,440 
3 $25,820 
4 $31,200 
5 $36,580 
6 $41,960 
7 $47,340 
8 $52,720 

For families/households with more than 8 persons, add $5,380 for each additional person 
*Source: https://aspe.hhs.gov/topics/poverty-economic-mobility/poverty-guidelines 

 

https://aspe.hhs.gov/topics/poverty-economic-mobility/poverty-guidelines


D-1 

APPENDIX D 
 

APPLICATION FOR THE HARDSHIP EXEMPTION 
 



 
 

FIRE ASSESSMENT FINANCIAL HARDSHIP EXEMPTION APPLICATION 
2025 

Income Certification Form 
Name of Property 
Owner/Applicant: 

 
Parcel Number  
Age & Date of Birth:  
Street Address of Property to 
Exempt 

 
City, State & Zip:  
Mailing Address:  
City, State & Zip:  
Date of Death:  
 
Co-Applicant:  
Age & Date of Birth:  
Street Address:  
City, State & Zip:  
Mailing Address:  
City, State & Zip:  
Relationship to Applicant:  
 
Telephone: (       )___________________ 
 
Marital Status:    Married   Separated   Single   Divorced   Widowed 
 
OTHER MEMBERS IN THE HOUSEHOLD 
Name Date of Birth Age Relationship to Applicant Document used for 

Verification 

     
     
     
     
     
Monthly Rent/Mortgage: $______________________ 



 
 
Applicant Employment Information: 
Current/Last  
Employer Name: 

Phone Number: 

Address: 
 

Supervisor: 

Position: Time Employed: 
Pay Rate: Pay Frequency: 
Annual Income: 
 
Co-Applicant Employment Information (Next of Kin) 
Current/Last  
Employer Name: 

Phone Number: 

Address: 
 

Supervisor: 

Position: Time Employed: 
Pay Rate: Pay Frequency: 
Annual Income: 
 
INCOME RECEIVED MONTHLY EXPENSES PAID MONTHLY 
Employment  $ Social 

Security 
$ Food $ Car Payment $ 

Unemployment 
Compensation 

$ SSI $ Rent/Mortgage $ Car Insurance $ 

Workmen’s 
Compensation 

$ SSD $ Childcare $ Gas 
(Automobile) 

$ 

Pensions (VA, 
Mil, Retirement) 

$ AFDC/TAN/
ESS 

$ Electric $ Loan(s) $ 

Short/Long Term 
Disability 

$ Food Stamps $ Water $ Medical $ 

Child 
Support/Alimony 

$ Business or 
Rental 
Income 

$ Phone/Cell  $ Real Estate & 
Mortgage 
Loans 

$ 

 
Are you a US Citizen? Yes____No___ or Legal Permanent Resident? Yes____No_____ 
 
TOTAL HOUSEHOLD ANNUAL INCOME: $ ______________________________ 
 
Assets and Asset Income 
(For ALL household members, Including Minors, List Checking & Savings 
Accounts, IRA, CD, Bonds, Stocks, Equity in Properties, Whole Life Insurance) 
Type of Asset Asset Value Interest Rate Annual Asset Income 
    
    
    
    
Total: $ 



 
 
 
 
I/We understand that Florida Statute 817 provides that willful false statements or 
misrepresentation concerning income; asset or liability information relating to financial 
condition is a misdemeanor of the first degree, punishable by fines and imprisonment 
provided under Statutes 775.082 or 775.83. I/we certify that the application information 
provided is true and complete to the best of my/our knowledge. I/we consent to the 
disclosure of information for the purpose of income verification related to making a 
determination of my/our eligibility for exemption from the Bradford County Fire 
Assessment. I/we agree to provide and documentation needed to assist in determining 
eligibility and are aware that all information and documents provided are a matter of 
public record. I/we further understand that if any misrepresentation or fraudulent 
statement is discovered after assistance has been provided the County will demand and 
pursue through all legal remedies available, repayment of the funds for the assistance that 
was provided.  
 
 
 
_____________________________________ ______________________________ 
Applicant Signature                            Date  Co-Applicant Signature           Date 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 
 
NO ADDITIONAL INCOME AFFIDAVIT 
 
 
I, ______________________________ am signing this AFFIDAVIT to certify that I or 
my children do not receive any other household income except for the household income 
reported on my application for assistance and eligibility worksheet. It is my 
understanding that our eligibility to receive an exemption from the Bradford County Fire 
Assessment depends on our household income and that all of the information that has 
been reported and recorded on the Income Certification Form is true, accurate, and 
correct. 
 
WARNING: Florida Statute 817 provides that willful false statements or 
misrepresentation concerning income and assets or liabilities relating to financial 
condition is a misdemeanor of the first degree and is punishable by fines and 
imprisonment provided under S 775.083 or 775.83. 
 
 
 
_________________________________________ 
Signature 
 
 
 
STATE OF FLORIDA 
COUNTY OF BRADFORD 
 
 
I HEREBY CERTIFY that on this day, before me, an officer duly authorized in the State 
aforesaid and in the County aforesaid to take acknowledgments, personally appeared  
_______________________________, who has produced _______________________ 
as identification and who acknowledged that he/she/they executed the foregoing for the 
purposes therein contained. WITNESS my hand and official seal in the County and State 
last aforesaid this _____ day of _______________, 20_____. 
 
 
NOTARY PUBLIC 
 
 
________________________________   Notary Stamp 
Signature 
 



Page 1 of 1 
 

BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS OF BRADFORD COUNTY, FLORIDA 
 
 

AGENDA ITEM INFORMATION SHEET 
 
 
 
DATE:      August 6, 2024   
    
AGENDA ITEM A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF COUNTY 

COMMISSIONERS OF BRADFORD COUNTY, 
FLORIDA OPPOSING THE PRO-ABORTION 
AMENDMENT TO FLORIDA CONSTITUTION. 

 
DEPARTMENT:     BoCC 
 
PURPOSE: A resolution to condemn the upcoming public vote 

of Amendment 4 that will be put to Florida voters in 
on the November ballot.  

  



RESOLUTION 2024 - _____ 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF COUNTY 
COMMISSIONERS OF BRADFORD COUNTY, FLORIDA 
OPPOSING THE PRO-ABORTION AMENDMENT TO 
FLORIDA CONSTITUTION. 

  
WHEREAS, a network of pro-abortion organizations including Planned Parenthood and the 

ACLU have spent millions and deceived thousands to garner the required number of petition 
signatures to place a pro-abortion constitutional amendment, titled “Amendment to Limit 
Government Interference with Abortion,” on the November 2024 statewide ballot; and 
 

WHEREAS, on April 1st the Florida Supreme Court approved the language of the proposed 
abortion amendment placing it on the 2024 ballot to be voted upon by Florida voters; and 

 
WHEREAS, this abortion amendment to enshrine abortion on demand in the Florida 

Constitution would bypass the legislative process, thus removing the constitutional delegated power 
of the legislature in their duty to enact laws criminalizing equally the murder of pre-born humans as 
already exist for post-born humans in Florida law, while preventing the executive branch of our state 
government from carrying out such laws as to safeguard the lives of pre-born humans in our state; 
and  
 

WHEREAS, this iniquitous amendment would remove the possibility of prosecuting and 
holding accountable those that seek to shed innocent blood; and 

 
WHEREAS, the wording of this proposed Pro-Abortion Amendment such as “age of 

viability” concerning pre-born humans and “health of the mother” is ambiguous and misleading as a 
means to intentionally codify abortion on demand from fertilization to the moment of birth as a 
constitutional right. 
  

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that the Bradford County Commission 
strongly condemns this misleading and Pro-Abortion Amendment, thereby encouraging all Bradford 
County voters to oppose it by voting no on Amendment 4. 
  



RESOLVED AND ADOPTED by the Board of County Commissioners of Bradford County, 

Florida, with a quorum present and voting this 6th day of August 2024. 

 

      BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS OF  
BRADFORD COUTNY, FLORIDA 
 

__________________________________________ 

      By: CAROLYN SPOONER, as its 
       Chairwoman 
ATTEST: 

 

______________________________________ 
By:  DENNY THOMPSON, as 
 Clerk to the Board 
 

APPROVED AS TO FORM AND LEGAL SUFFICIENCY: 

 
_________________________________________ 
By: ROB BRADLEY, as 
 County Attorney 
 



Page 1 of 1 

BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS OF BRADFORD COUNTY, FLORIDA 

AGENDA ITEM INFORMATION SHEET 

DATE:  

AGENDA ITEM 

DEPARTMENT: 

PURPOSE: 

August 6, 2024 

Contract Agreement with Roadway Management 
Technologies 

Public Works/Road Department 

Hardware and Software to proactively and 
consistently provide the level of roadway 
deterioration throughout the county.  
• Included in this packet are the contract for

signature, including costs in Attachment A of the
contract; Proposal for Bradford County;
Reference Letters; Piggyback memo and reference
material from Dunedin, Florida.

ASSOCIATED COST(S): $50,000 – Cost breakout on Attachment A (Page 17) 
of contract. 

BUDGET LINE (G/L #): Gas Tax 



ROADWAY MANAGEMENT TECHNOLOGIES 
PO BOX 678325 

Orlando, FL 32867 
(501) 551-0780 | ROADMANTECH.COM 

 
 

 

CONTRACT AGREEMENT 
 

This Contract Agreement (“Agreement”) is made and entered into on this 
12th day of July 2024, by and between Roadway Management Technologies, 
LLC, an Arkansas limited liability company (“RMT”), and Bradford County, a 
duly constituted political subdivision of the state of Florida (“Agency”). 
 
1. Subscription Period. This Agreement is effective from August 1, 2024 
(“Effective Date”) until 11pm CST, July 31, 2028 (such period, the “Initial Term”). 
This Agreement shall automatically renew for an additional period of one (1) 
year (each such additional period a “Renewal Term;” the Renewal Terms 
collectively along with the Initial Term, the “Term”), unless either party hereto 
provides notice of cancellation in writing to the other party at least thirty (30) 
days prior to the end of the then-current Term. Any prorated period identified 
in this agreement will be in addition to the subscription period identified 
above and detailed by year in Attachment B. If a prorated period is listed in 
Attachment B, the customer shall not be able to cancel this agreement until 
the first-year subscription period listed in Attachment B has been fulfilled.  
 
2. Usage 
 
    a. Use Rights. During the Term and subject to the terms of this 
Agreement, RMT hereby grants to Agency a non-exclusive, non-transferable, 
non-sublicensable license to permit Agency's Users (as defined below) to use 
hardware, support, and documentation provided by RMT (together referred 
to as “Licensed Materials”) as well as RMT’s online software and services 
(together referred to as “Software”) for operating purposes. Said use rights are 
non-transferable, except in the event of a voluntary transfer of substantially all 
assets by Agency to a transferee which executes RMT’s form of agreement 
agreeing to be bound by all of the terms and conditions of this Agreement. 
All rights in and to Software, intellectual property, and Licensed Materials 
owned by RMT not expressly granted herein are reserved to RMT. 
 

    b. License and Use Restrictions. Agency shall not, directly, indirectly, 
alone, or with another party, (i) copy, disassemble, reverse engineer,  
decompile or otherwise attempt to discover the source code, object code or 
underlying structure, ideas, know-how or algorithms relevant to the Licensed 
Material or Software; (ii) modify, create derivative works based upon, or 
translate the Licensed Material or Software; (iii) license, sell, rent, lease, 
transfer, grant any rights in or otherwise commercially exploit Licensed 
Material or Software in any form to any third party or otherwise use the 
Licensed Material or Software for the benefit of any third party; or (iv) remove 



 

2 
 

any proprietary notices or labels from the Licensed Materials or Software, nor 
shall Agency attempt to do any of the foregoing or cause or permit any third 
party to do or attempt to do any of the foregoing, except as expressly 
permitted hereunder. 
 
RMT shall own all right, title and interest in and to all intellectual property 
rights (including all derivatives or improvements thereof) in Licensed Material 
and Software and any suggestions, enhancement requests, feedback, 
recommendations, or other information provided by Agency or any of 
Agency's Users relating to the Licensed Material and Software. 
 
    c. Agency Responsibility. Agency is solely responsible for the content of 
communications transmitted by Agency using the Software, and shall 
defend, indemnify, and hold harmless RMT from and against all damages, 
losses, liabilities, settlements, expenses, and costs (including reasonable 
attorneys’ fees) in connection with any claim or action that arises from an 
alleged violation of this Section 2 or otherwise from Agency’s use of the 
Licensed Materials or Software. Agency is not permitted to resell the Licensed 
Materials or Software. Agency shall use the Licensed Materials and Software 
only for lawful purposes. To the extent deemed necessary by Agency, Agency 
shall implement security procedures necessary to limit access to the Licensed 
Materials and Software to Agency’s authorized users and shall maintain a 
procedure external to the Software for reconstruction of lost or altered files, 
data, or programs. 
 
    d. Data. Subject to applicable Florida Public Records Laws, all data 
collected by Licensed Material and Software is owned by RMT and is to be 
strictly held as confidential without the prior written consent of RMT. RMT 
may delete and destroy all copies of data once the Agreement is terminated 
with or without default. Agency has the option to receive a backup of data 
prior to deletion. RMT will provide this backup at cost plus a $1,000 fee, paid 
for by Agency. 
 
All right, title and interest in and to the Licensed Material, and all copyrights, 
patents, trademarks, service marks or other intellectual property or 
proprietary rights relating thereto, belong exclusively to RMT. Any 
modification to the Software performed by the Agency directly or indirectly 
extending the current capabilities shall be the property of RMT and all 
copyrights and other rights are hereby assigned to RMT. 
 
    e. System Administrator; User Access. Agency shall designate one or 
more system administrators (“System Administrators”). System 
Administrators shall be responsible for managing access to the Licensed 
Materials and Software by designated Agency personnel (“Users”), including 



 

3 
 

adding and subtracting Users, resetting passwords, as well as being a regular 
point of contact for RMT.  
The System Administrator shall ensure that multiple Users do not share a 
password or username. Agency acknowledges and agrees that it is prohibited 
from sharing passwords and/or usernames with unauthorized users. 
 
The System Administrator is the first point of contact for any administrative 
issues Users may experience within the system. If the System Administrator is 
unsuccessful in correcting the issue the System Administrator needs to 
contact RMT for assistance.  
 
    f. Security. Agency is solely responsible for maintaining the security of all 
usernames and passwords granted to it, for the security of its information 
systems used to access the System, and for its Users’ compliance with the 
terms of this Agreement. RMT will act as though any electronic 
communications it receives under Agency's usernames have been sent by 
Agency. Agency will immediately notify RMT if it becomes aware of any loss or 
theft or unauthorized use of any of Agency's passwords or usernames. RMT 
has the right at any time to terminate or suspend access to any User or to 
Agency if RMT believes in good faith that such termination or suspension is 
necessary to preserve the security, integrity, or accessibility of Software or 
RMT's network.  
 
3. Termination 
 
    a. General - If a party fails to perform or observe any material term or 
condition of this Agreement and the failure continues unremedied for 
fourteen (14) days after receipt of written notice (email or otherwise), (i) the 
other party may, in addition to any other remedies it may have, suspend or 
terminate this agreement, or (ii) where the failure is a nonpayment by Agency 
of any charge when due, RMT may, in addition to any other remedies it may 
have, at its option, terminate or suspend access to or usage of the Licensed 
Materials and Software with or without any notice. This Agreement may be 
terminated immediately upon written notice by either party if the other party 
becomes insolvent or involved in a liquidation or termination of business, files 
a bankruptcy petition, has an involuntary bankruptcy petition filed against it 
(if not dismissed within thirty days of filing), becomes adjudicated bankrupt, 
or becomes involved in an assignment for the benefit of its creditors. 
Additionally, either party may terminate this Agreement without cause by 
giving thirty (30) days written notice to the other party. Agency shall be 
responsible for payment of all charges under a terminated Agreement 
incurred as of the effective date of termination.  
 



 

4 
 

    b. Non-Appropriation - Agency reserves the right to terminate this 
Agreement without penalty if funds are not appropriated for this Agreement 
in the fiscal year budget. Agency agrees to use best efforts to obtain 
appropriation in the full amount required under this Agreement. 
 
    c. Survival – All provisions of this Agreement which by their nature should 
survive termination will survive termination, including, without limitation, 
accrued rights to payment, confidentiality obligations, warrant disclaimers 
and limitations of liability. 
 
4. Billing and Payment 
 
    a. Agency shall pay to RMT a subscription fee (“Subscription Fee”) for the 
Initial Term in the amount entered and agreed to pursuant to the Pricing 
Sheet (attached hereto as Attachment B). 
 
    b. The Subscription Fee for each Renewal Term shall be due to RMT on the 
first business day of each such Renewal Term annotated on the Pricing Sheet 
(attached hereto as Attachment B).  
 
    c. The Subscription Fee will not increase in price throughout the term of 
this Agreement unless there is an increase in the number of units, or the 
scope of services requested by Agency.  
 
    d. Products and services appearing on the Pricing Sheet (attached hereto 
as Attachment B), other than the Subscription Fee, will not increase in price 
by more than 25% upon renewal of this Agreement. 
 
    e. The amount of the Subscription Fee does not include any applicable 
taxes. Agency is responsible for any and all applicable taxes.  
 
    f. Any additional payment terms between parties shall be agreed to in 
writing and set forth in an invoice, billing agreement, or other written 
document. 
 
    g. Unpaid amounts and late payments are subject to a finance charge 
based on the Florida CFO rate (F.S. §55.03(1)) for any outstanding balance, or 
the maximum permitted by law, whichever is lower, plus all expenses of 
collection. At RMT’s discretion, this Agreement and access to and usage of 
the Licensed Materials and Software may be terminated if payments are not 
received within the terms, after serving a fourteen (14) day notice via email or 
fax. 
 



 

5 
 

    h. Initial invoice will be sent to Agency 60 days prior to installation. 
Payment is required in full prior to installation. If desired, Agency may request 
invoice at any time prior to the 60-day installation timeline to process 
payment sooner. 
 
    i. If Agency believes that RMT has billed Agency incorrectly, Agency must 
contact RMT no later than 60 days after the closing date on the first invoice or 
billing statement in which the error or problem appeared, in order to receive 
an adjustment or credit. 
 
    j. In the event RMT is required to dispatch service personnel to repair 
devices after initial install, and it is determined the required repair is due to 
Agency changing programmed information (SSID and password), Agency 
shall be subject to a $3,000 service fee to cover travel expenses, parts, and 
labor required to complete the repairs. 
 
5. Services 
 

a. Passive Road Surveying 
 

i. RMT will provide proprietary sensors that will be mounted 
underneath agency-owned vehicles. 

1. Vehicles will be pre-determined collectively by RMT and 
Agency.  

2. RMT will perform initial installation and train Agency 
Mechanic on installation of sensors - each sensor can be 
easily installed in approximately 30 minutes once installer is 
sufficiently trained. 

A. If Agency has no Mechanic on staff, RMT will send 
their field installer or work with a local shop for 
replacement installation in the event any sensors are 
damaged. This service will be quoted and priced 
separately, if needed. 

 
ii. RMT will need access to an existing internet signal but will not 

and cannot obtain any information regarding data sent through 
internet signal. 

1. Agency shall make its own arrangements to ensure Wi-Fi 
connectivity in parking locations at its own expense. 

2. At Agency’s request, RMT will install routers, signal 
extenders, or access points to ensure WiFi connectivity in 
parking lots where vehicles will be parked each night. This 
service will be quoted and priced separately, if needed. If 
RMT performs the installation Agency is financially 



 

6 
 

responsible for routers, signal extenders, or access points 
once installed. 

A. Installation of internet hardware will be done under 
supervision of Agency Administration. 

 
iii. While vehicles are used in day-to-day operation, sensors will read 

vibrations in the road to determine road quality. 
iv. When vehicles are parked in a WiFi-connected parking spot, data 

from sensors will be sent to RMT servers, where data will be 
automatically evaluated by RMT’s proprietary algorithm. 

v. Information regarding road quality (as compared to other roads 
in Agency) will be overlayed on a map interface available through 
RMT’s website login portal. 

1. Information may be filtered to show the worst/best roads in 
Agency. 

2. Street view images of network roads can be viewed via 
map. 

A. Camera images are updated each time a vehicle 
travels a road (in increments of 30 days).  

 
6. Agency Responsibilities 
 

a. Onboarding  
 

i. A successful onboarding experience requires effective 
communication. As such, Agency shall identify a primary and 
alternate point of contact to RMT. That point of contact will be 
RMT’s touchpoint for communicating all onboarding 
requirements and milestones. Attachment C contains a list of 
items by priority which are required for onboarding new 
customers. Installation dates will be agreed upon once Agency 
has provided all information contained in Attachment C. 

 
ii. Agency will be responsible for attending an Initial Onboarding 

Kickoff meeting where Attachment C will be reviewed in detail. 
Weekly sync meetings will be required to assist with training, 
ensure milestones are met, and schedule equipment installation. 
Once installation is complete, RMT and the customer will agree 
on a cadence of meetings to ensure successful implementation 
of RMT’s platform across the customer’s staff. Milestones for each 
meeting are described below. 

1. Initial Onboarding Kickoff Meeting: 
A. Introduction and exchange of contact information. 
B. RMT will outline the onboarding process. 



 

7 
 

C. Agency will be provided templates to populate their 
Agency specific data with a suspense date (Users list, 
vehicle information, WiFi info, etc.). 

D. Vehicle installation dates will be discussed (primary 
and alternate). 

2. Weekly Meetings Throughout Onboarding (topics not all 
inclusive and dependent on onboard status): 

A. Confirm vehicle installation dates. 
B. Confirm WiFi information (see paragraph 6.b.). 
C. Confirm successful User access through log in data. 
D. Review RMT platform and discuss any issues Agency 

may have. 
E. Confirm all hardware has been installed and working 

properly. 
F. Introduce RMT’s Customer Service/Maintenance 

Account Executive who will handle all future 
interactions for the life of the contract. 
 

b. WiFi 
 

i. Agency shall provide RMT with internet service details, to include 
username and password. This information is preloaded into the 
RoadRunner hardware that will be installed on Agency vehicles. 
Please note, our systems do not support WPA3. 

 
ii. Agency shall ensure WiFi signal is strong enough to reach area 

where RoadRunner enabled vehicles are parked to ensure 
successful upload of data each evening.  

1. If RoadRunner enabled vehicles are parked in multiple 
areas each area must have the same internet service 
details. Different internet service details (username and 
password) will adversely affect the RoadRunner system 
from uploading properly. 

 
iii. Agency shall notify RMT prior to any changes made to internet 

service (new service provider, password changes, router 
upgrades, etc.). Changes of this nature will disable the 
RoadRunner systems’ ability to connect to the WiFi and upload 
data. 

1. In the event these changes occur, RMT will need to 
reprogram each RoadRunner system and a service charge 
will be applied to Agency account during next billing cycle. 

 



 

8 
 

Note: Installation will not occur until payment, WiFi information, and fleet 
lists are received. 
 

c. Sell, Auction, Junked Vehicle with RMT Hardware/Devices 
 

i. Agency shall remove all RMT hardware/devices (RoadRunner, 
Fleet Management Devices, etc.) from Agency vehicles prior to 
selling, auctioning, wrecked/junked, etc., and return those 
items to RMT. 

1. In the event RMT hardware/devices are not returned 
Agency will be charged the following per device: 

A. RoadRunner system: $1,500 per device 
B. Fleet Management system: $1,000 per device 

 
d. iPads / Field Tablets 

 
i. Agencies can purchase iPads outright in their initial customer 

agreement or anytime thereafter. If an iPad is damaged or lost 
Agency is responsible for full replacement costs. 

1. Agency’s primary or alternate point of contact shall 
inform RMT of the damaged item, to include the IMEI 
and serial #, so RMT can facilitate a replacement order. 
Agency shall return damaged item to RMT via mail post 
notification. RMT will have replacement item shipped to 
Agency. 

 
7. Representations, Warranties and Disclaimer 
 
    a. General. Each party represents and warrants that it has the right and 
authority to enter into this Agreement, and that by entering into this 
Agreement, it will not violate, conflict with or cause a material default 
under any other contract, agreement, indenture, decree, judgment, 
undertaking, conveyance, lien or encumbrance to which it is a party or by 
which it or any of its property is or may become subject or bound.  
 
    b. Compliance with the Laws. Each party represents and warrants that 
no additional consent, approval, or authorization of or designation, 
declaration or filing with any governmental authority is required in 
connection with the valid execution, delivery, and performance of this 
Agreement. Each party shall, at its own expense, comply with all laws, 
regulations and other legal requirements that apply to it and this 



 

9 
 

Agreement, including copyright, privacy, and communications decency 
laws. 
 
    c. Acceptable Use. Agency is solely responsible for the content of any 
postings, data, or transmissions using the Software, or any other use of the 
Software by Agency or by any person or entity Agency permits to access 
the Software. Agency represents, covenants and warrants that it will not, 
directly or indirectly: 
 

(i) use the Licensed Materials or Software in a manner that: (a) is 
prohibited by any law or regulation, or to facilitate the violation of any law 
or regulation; or (b) will disrupt a third parties’ similar use of Licensed 
Materials or Software; 
 

(ii) violate or tamper with the security of any RMT computer 
equipment or program. 
 
Although RMT has no obligation to monitor Agency’s use of the Licensed 
Materials or Software, if RMT has reasonable grounds to believe that 
Agency is utilizing the Licensed Materials or Software for any such illegal 
or disruptive purpose, RMT may suspend access to or usage of the 
Licensed Materials or Software immediately with or without notice to 
Agency. RMT may terminate the Agreement as contemplated in Section 3 
if Agency in fact fails to adhere to the foregoing acceptable use standards. 
 
DISCLAIMER. THE WARRANTIES SET FORTH IN SECTION 7 ARE THE ONLY 
WARRANTIES MADE BY RMT. RMT DOES NOT WARRANT THAT USE OF 
THE LICENSED MATERIALS AND SOFTWARE WILL BE UNINTERRUPTED 
OR ERROR-FREE; NOT DOES IT MAKE ANY WARRANTY AS TO THE 
RESULTS THAT MAY BE OBTAINED FROM USE OF THE LICENSED 
MATERIALS OR SOFTWARE. EXCEPT AS EXPRESSLY SET FORTH HEREIN, 
THE LICENSED MATERIALS AND SOFTWARE ARE PROVIDED “AS IS,” AND 
TO THE MAXIMUM EXTENT PERMITTED BY LAW, RMT MAKES NO OTHER 
WARRANTIES OF ANY KIND, EXPRESS OR IMPLIED, WITH RESPECT TO 
THE LICENSED MATERIALS, SOFTWARE AND ANY RELATED SERVICE OR 
SOFTWARE. RMT HEREBY EXPRESSLY DISCLAIMS ALL WARRANTIES, 
EXPRESS OR IMPLIED, INCLUDING BUT NOT LIMITED TO, ANY IMPLIED 
WARRANTY OF MERCHANTABILITY, FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR 
PURPOSE, AND NON-INFRINGEMENT OR IMPLIED WARRANTIES ARISING 
FROM A COURSE OF DEALING OR COURSE OF PERFORMANCE. NO ORAL 
OR WRITTEN INFORMATION GIVEN BY RMT, ITS EMPLOYEES, LICENSORS, 
VENDORS OR THE LIKE WILL CREATE A WARRANTY. 



 

10 
 

 
8. Limitation of Liability. Excluding the liability under the section entitled 
“NO INFRINGEMENT” below, UNDER NO CIRCUMSTANCES WILL RMT OR 
ANYONE ELSE INVOLVED IN ADMINISTERING, DISTRIBUTING OR 
PROVIDING THE LICENSED MATERIALS OR SOFTWARE BE LIABLE FOR 
ANY INDIRECT, EXEMPLARY, INCIDENTAL, SPECIAL OR CONSEQUENTIAL 
DAMAGES THAT RESULT FROM THE USE OF OR INABILITY TO USE THE 
LICENSED MATERIALS OR SOFTWARE, INCLUDING BUT NOT LIMITED TO 
LOSS OF REVENUE OR LOST PROFITS, OR DAMAGES THAT RESULT FROM 
MISTAKES, OMISSIONS, INTERRUPTIONS, DELETION OF FILES OR EMAIL, 
ERRORS, DEFECTS, VIRUSES, INACCURACY OR CORRUPTION OF DATA, 
DELAYS IN OPERATION OR TRANSMISSION, FAILURE OF PERFORMANCE, 
THEFT, DESTRUCTION, COST OF PROCUREMENT O SUBSTITUTE GOODS, 
SERVICES OR TECHNOLOGY, UNAUTHORIZED ACCESS TO RMT’S 
RECORDS, PROGRAMS OR SERVICES, OR ANY MATTER BEYOND RMT’S 
REASONABLE CONTROL, EVEN IF SUCH PARTY HAS BEEN ADVISED OF 
THE POSSIBILITY OF SUCH DAMAGES. IN THE EVENT OF ANY BREACH BY 
RMT OF THIS AGREEMENT, RMT’S LIABILITY TO AGENCY WILL NOT 
EXCEED THE AMOUNT PAID TO RMT BY AGENCY DURING THE TWELVE 
(12) MONTHS PRIOR TO THE ACT THAT GAVE RISE TO THE LIABILITY.  
 
9. Confidential Information 
 
    a. Definition. For purposes of this Agreement, “Confidential 
Information” shall mean information including, without limitation, all RMT 
data, computer programs, code, algorithms, names and expertise of 
employees and consultants, know-how, formulas, processes, ideas, 
inventions (whether patentable or not), schematics and other technical, 
business, financial and product development plans, forecasts, strategies 
and information marked “Confidential”, or if disclosed verbally, is identified 
as confidential at the time of disclosure. In addition to the foregoing, 
Confidential Information shall include third party software, if any, that may 
be provided to Agency under this Agreement, including any related 
source or object codes, technical data, data output of such software, 
documentation, or correspondence owned by the applicable licensor. 
Confidential Information excludes information that: (i) was or becomes 
publicly known through no fault of the receiving party; (ii) was rightfully 
known or becomes rightfully known to the receiving party without 
confidential or proprietary restriction from a source other than the 
disclosing party; (iii) is independently developed by the receiving party 
without the participation of individuals who have had access to the 
Confidential Information; (iv) is approved by the disclosing party for 



 

11 
 

disclosure without restriction in a written document which is signed by a 
duly authorized officer of such disclosing party; and (v) the receiving party 
is legally compelled to disclose; provided, however, that prior to any such 
compelled disclosure, the receiving party will (a) assert the privileged and 
confidential nature of the Confidential Information against the third party 
seeking disclosure and (b) cooperate fully with the disclosing party in 
protecting against any such disclosure and/or obtaining a protective order 
narrowing the scope of such disclosure and/or use of the Confidential 
Information. In the event that such protection against disclosure is not 
obtained, the receiving party will be entitled to disclose the Confidential 
Information, but only as, and to the extent, necessary to legally comply 
with such compelled disclosure.  Notwithstanding anything to the 
contrary contained herein, the parties acknowledge that Florida’s Public 
Records Laws are applicable to the terms of this Agreement and the 
Parties hereto must fully comply with same.  
 
    b. Nondisclosure. During the term of this Agreement and for a period of 
five (5) years thereafter, each party agrees to maintain all Confidential 
Information in confidence to the same extent that it protects its own 
similar Confidential Information, but in no event using less than 
reasonable care, and to use such Confidential Information only as 
permitted under this Agreement. Each party agrees to only disclose the 
other party’s Confidential Information to its employees: (a) with a need to 
know to further permitted uses of such information; and (b) who are 
informed of the nondisclosure/non-use obligations imposed by Section 9. 
Both parties shall take steps that each determines appropriate to 
implement and enforce such non-disclosure/non-use obligations.  
Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, the parties 
acknowledge that the Florida’s Public Records Laws are applicable to the 
terms of this Agreement and the Parties hereto must fully comply with 
same.  
 
    c. Terms of Agreement Confidential. Each of the Parties agrees not to 
disclose to any third party the terms of this Agreement, including pricing, 
without the prior written consent of the other party hereto, except to 
advisors, investors, and others on a need-to-know basis under 
circumstances that reasonably ensure the confidentiality thereof, or to the 
extent required by law.  Notwithstanding anything to the contrary 
contained herein, the parties acknowledge that Florida’s Public Records 
Laws are applicable to the terms of this Agreement and the Parties hereto 
must fully comply with same.  
 



 

12 
 

    d. Injunctive Relief. In the event of an actual or threatened breach of 
the above confidentiality provisions, the non-breaching party will have no 
adequate remedy at law and will be entitled to immediate injunctive and 
other equitable relief, without bond and without the necessity of showing 
actual money damages.  
 
10. Accessibility/Performance. RMT shall use commercially reasonable 
efforts consistent with prevailing industry standards to maintain the 
Licensed Materials and Software in a manner which minimizes errors and 
interruptions with respect to the Licensed Materials and Software. The 
Licensed Materials and Software shall be available on a continuous basis 
(twenty-four hours per day, seven days per week) during the Term, except 
for: (i) scheduled maintenance, system back-up or other on-going 
maintenance as required and scheduled in advance by RMT, (ii) 
unscheduled emergency maintenance, either by RMT or by third-party 
providers, or (iii) for any unforeseen cause beyond RMT’s reasonable 
control, including but not limited to internet service provider or 
communication network failures, outages of third-party connections or 
utilities, denial of service attacks or similar attacks, or any Force Majeure 
Events as stated in Section 11. RMT shall use reasonable efforts to provide 
advance notice in writing or by email of any scheduled service disruptions. 
RMT will monitor performance indicators on the systems network 
infrastructure in order to gauge the overall performance of its hosting 
services and will take reasonable steps to address systems and network 
infrastructure as required to maintain satisfactory performance of the 
Software. RMT further reserves the right to monitor and reasonably restrict 
Agency’s ability to access or use the Licensed Materials and Software if 
Agency is using excessive computing resources which are impacting the 
performance of the Licensed Materials or Software for other subscribers. 
RMT agrees to notify Agency in cases where it restricts such use and use 
good faith efforts to determine an appropriate alternative or work-around 
solution. 
 
11. General Provisions & Force Majeure/Beyond Control 
 
    a. This Agreement, including any amendments and attachments hereto 
that are incorporated herein, constitutes the entire agreement between 
the parties and supersedes and cancels all previous written and oral 
agreements, communications and other understandings related to the 
subject matter of this Agreement and shall be binding on the parties 
when accepted by Agency. No amendment, modification, termination, or 
waiver of any provisions of this Agreement shall be binding upon any party 



 

13 
 

hereto unless in writing and signed in person or electronically by a person 
authorized by the relevant party(ies). No provision of any purchase order or 
other document issued by Agency, which purports to alter, vary, modify, or 
add to the provisions of this Agreement, shall be binding upon RMT or 
effective for any purpose, unless accepted by RMT in writing. It is further 
expressly understood and agreed that there being no expectations to the 
contrary between the parties, no usage of trade or other regular practice 
or method of dealing either within the computer software industry, RMT’s 
industry or between the parties shall be used to modify, interpret, 
supplement, or alter in any manner the express terms of this Agreement 
or any part thereof. 
 
    b. Nothing contained in this Agreement shall be construed as creating a 
joint venture, partnership, or employment relationship between the 
parties, nor shall either party have the right, power, or authority to bind the 
other or otherwise create any obligation or duty, express or implied, on 
behalf of the other. 
 
    c. The Licensed Materials shall not be exported or re-exported in 
violation of any export provisions of the United States or any other 
applicable jurisdiction.  
 
    d. This Agreement may not be assigned, sublicensed, or transferred, in 
whole or in part, by Agency without the prior written consent of RMT. Any 
attempted assignment, subletting or transfer not in compliance with the 
foregoing shall be void. RMT may transfer and assign any of its rights and 
obligations under this Agreement without consent. 
 
    e. If any provision or provisions of this Agreement shall be held to be 
invalid, illegal, or unenforceable, the validity, legality, and enforceability of 
the remaining provisions shall not in any way be affected or impaired 
thereby. 
 
    f. In any action or proceeding to enforce rights under this Agreement, 
the prevailing party will be entitled to recover costs and attorneys’ fees. 
 
    g. All notices provided under this Agreement shall be in writing and will 
be deemed to have been duly given (i) when received, if personally 
delivered, (ii) when receipt is electronically confirmed, if transmitted by 
facsimile or email, (iii) the day after it is sent, if sent for next day delivery by 
recognized overnight delivery service, and (iv) upon receipt, if sent by 
certified or registered mail, return receipt requested. 



 

14 
 

 
    h. This Agreement shall be governed by the laws of Bradford County, 
Florida without regard to its conflict of laws provisions. 
 
    i. No delay or failure of RMT or Agency in exercising any right herein and 
no partial or single exercise thereof shall be deemed of itself to constitute 
a waiver of such right or any other rights herein. Any waiver by RMT or 
Agency of any breach of any provision of this Agreement shall not operate 
or be construed as a waiver of any subsequent or other breach.  
 
    j. In the event that either party hereto is unable to perform any of its 
obligations under this Agreement or to enjoy any of its benefits because of 
natural disaster, terrorism, fire, explosion, power blackout, earthquake, 
flood, the elements, strike, embargo, labor disputes, acts of civil or military 
authority, war, acts of god, acts or omissions of carriers or suppliers, acts of 
regulatory or governmental agencies, actions or decrees of governmental 
bodies or communication line failure not the fault of the affected party or 
other causes beyond such party’s reasonable control (a “Force Majeure 
Event”) the party who has been so affected shall immediately give notice 
to the other party and shall do everything possible to resume 
performance. Upon receipt of such notice, all obligations under this 
Agreement shall be immediately suspended. If the period of 
nonperformance exceeds fourteen (14) days from the receipt of notice of 
the Force Majeure Event, the party whose ability to perform has not been 
so affected may by giving written notice immediately terminate this 
Agreement as provided in Section 3. 
 
    k. On RMT’s request, no more frequently than annually, Agency shall 
furnish RMT with a signed certification (i) verifying that the Licensed 
Material is being used pursuant to the terms of this Agreement and (ii) 
listing the locations where the Licensed Material is being used. 
 
    l. This Agreement may be executed in two or more counterparts, each of 
which shall be deemed to be an original, and each of which together shall 
constitute a single instrument. 
 
12. Public Records Compliance 
 
The inclusion of this statement and provisions below is not intended by 
the parties to imply that the Contractor has been delegated any 
governmental decision-making authority, governmental responsibility 
or  governmental function, or that the Contractor is acting on behalf of the 



 

15 
 

County as provided under Section 119.011(2), Florida Statutes, or that the 
statement or provisions are otherwise applicable to the Contractor. The 
County by contracting with RMT to provide certain Services does not 
intend for RMT to act on the County's behalf, or for RMT to otherwise meet 
the definitions of "Contractor" or "Agency" for the purposes of Florida 
Statutes Chapter 119. If however it is judicially determined that RMT is 
"acting on behalf of" the County pursuant to such statute in its capacity as 
a provider of information technology services under this Agreement, the 
Parties will immediately commence an evaluation of the feasibility of 
continued performance under the applicable orders. As stated below, the 
Contractor may contact the County's Custodian of Public Records with 
questions regarding the application of the Public Records Law; however, 
the Contractor is advised to seek independent legal counsel as to its legal 
obligations. The County cannot provide the Contractor/Service Provider 
advice regarding its legal rights or obligations. 

To the extent RMT is deemed to be a “Contractor” for the County 
pursuant to Section 119.0701(1)(a) of the Florida Statutes (2023), RMT 
agrees to: 

a. Keep and maintain public records required by the County to 
perform the Services specified herein. 

 
b. Upon request from the County’s custodian of public records, 

provide the County with a copy of the requested records or allow 
the records to be inspected or copies within a reasonable time at a 
cost that does not exceed the cost provided in Chapter 119 of the 
Florida Statutes or as otherwise provided by law. 
 

 
c. Ensure that public records that are exempt or confidential and 

exempt from public records disclosure requirements are not 
disclosed except as authorized by law for the duration of the 
Agreement term and following completion of the Agreement if 
RMT does not transfer the records to the County. 

 
d. Upon completion of the Agreement, transfer, at no cost, to the 

County all public records in possession of RMT or keep and 
maintain public records required by the County to perform the 
service. If RMT transfers all public records to the County upon 



 

16 
 

completion of the Agreement, RMT shall destroy any duplicate 
public records that are exempt or confidential and exempt from 
public records disclosure requirements. If RMT keeps and 
maintains public records upon completion of the Agreement, RMT 
shall meet all applicable requirements for retaining public records. 
All records stored electronically must be provided to the County 
upon request from the County’s custodian of public records, in a 
format that is compatible with the County’s information 
technology systems. 

If RMT does not comply with a public records request, the County shall 
enforce the Agreement, which may include immediate termination. 

Notwithstanding the foregoing, RMT agrees to maintain the contract 
documentation (which, for the avoidance of doubt shall include this 
Agreement, and any ordering documents, invoice or other document 
which RMT provides (or provides access) to You over the term of this 
Agreement), and provide copies upon reasonable request. 

13. Sovereign Immunity; Limitations of County’s Liability 

Notwithstanding any other provision set forth in the Agreement nothing 
shall be construed as a waiver of the County’s right to sovereign 
immunity under Section 768.28 of the Florida Statutes. Provided, further 
any indemnifications given by the County to RMT shall be limited to the 
amounts set forth in Section 768.28 of the Florida Statutes regarding the 
County’s liability in tort regardless of whether based in contract, statute, 
negligence, strict liability, products liability or otherwise. This Section 
shall survive termination of this Agreement. 
 
 
 
___________________________ SIGN: ________________________________ 
 
_Candler McCollum________________  NAME: _____________________________________ 
 
_Chief Executive Officer_____________  TITLE: ______________________________________ 
 
___________________________ DATE: _______________________________  7/12/2024

Carolyn Spooner

Chairwoman, Bradford County Board of County Commissioners

August 6, 2024



 

17 
 

ATTACHMENT A 
 

COST ELEMENT FOR ROADWAY DATA, WORK ORDER, INVENTORY MANAGEMENT 
SOFTWARE, AND EQUIPMENT DEVICE PACKAGE 

 
1. Annual Software Licenses Total……………………………………………………………………….……………….$50,000 .00 

1. Passive Road Survey Software License……………………………………………………….……………$50,000.00 
2. Annual Maintenance Fee…………………………………………………………….. Included with Software Licenses 
3. Hardware Installation Cost………………………………………………………….. Included with Software Licenses 
4. End User Remote Training- total of 24 hours………………………………. Included with Software Licenses 
5. Tech Support: 7am-6pm CST……………………………………………………….. Included with Software Licenses 

 
2. Cost of Equipment 

1. RoadRunner Road Survey Hardware……………………......................... Included with Software Licenses 
2. Road Imaging Hardware……………………………………………………………… Included with Software Licenses 

 
Optional Elected Integration Services: 
 

1. Additional Devices 
(A) *iPad 9th Gen 10.2 inch Tablet with unlimited data………………………*$525.00 per unit per year 
(B) Additional Add-Ons 

i. *Tablet Rugged Case…………...…………………………………………………………………….. *$50 per unit 
ii. *Tablet Vehicle Mount……………………………………………………………………………….. *$85 per unit 

 
2. Cost of Legacy System Data Migration (40 hrs)…….…...…….…………………… Included with Software Licenses 

1. *Additional Integration/Migration…………………………………………………………………... *$150.00 per hour 
 

3. Custom Development 
1. *Custom Development………………………………………..…………………………………….. *$10,000 per 40 hours 
2. *Custom Development: Major Features…………….…………………………………….. *$30,000 per 160 hours 
 

4. End User Remote Training (24 hrs) ……………………….…...…….…………………..Included with Software Licenses 
1. *Additional On-Site Training…………………………….………………… *$3,200.00 per 16 hour session 
 

NOTE: * = optional Add-On 
 
Total Annual Base Cost (Licenses, Maintenance, Fleet and Survey Hardware, Installation, Remote Training): $50,000.00 
 
Add-On Cost (tablets, accessories, additional integration, or training hours): Dependent on Agency Selections 
 
 
Roadway Management Technologies, LLC   July 12, 2024 
COMPANY      DATE 
 
 
                                                                       , Candler McCollum, Member/Chief Executive Officer 
AUTHORIZED SIGNATURE, NAME, TITLE 

 
 
 
 



 

18 
 

ATTACHMENT B 
 

Roadway Management Technologies, LLC 
PO Box 678325, Orlando, FL 32867 

                        
Date:  07/12/2024 

Pricing Sheet 
 

Bradford County, Florida                        
945 North Temple Ave 
Starke, FL 32091 
     

Service Price Qty Extended Price 
(Period) 

RMT Passive Road Surveying Software 
License 

$50,000.00 1 $50,000.00 

TOTAL   $50,000.00 

Refer to the previous pages for service details. Billing occurs at the beginning of each period. 
 
Hardware Installation Period: Dates will be determined once Agency has provided all information 
contained in Attachment C. 

 
                 Subscription Periods:   08/01/24 - 07/31/25 (midnight) Total: $50,000.00 
 
            08/01/25 - 07/31/26 (midnight) Total: $50,000.00 
 
               08/01/26 - 07/31/27 (midnight) Total: $50,000.00 
 

    08/01/27 - 07/31/28 (midnight) Total: $50,000.00 
 
 

 
___________________________ SIGN: ________________________________ 
 
_Candler McCollum________________  NAME: _____________________________________ 
 
_Chief Executive Officer_____________  TITLE: ______________________________________ 
 
___________________________ DATE: _______________________________ 
 
 
 

7/12/2024



 

19 
 

ATTACHMENT C 
 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

PREPARED FOR BRADFORD COUNTY, FL 

AARON@ROADMANTECH.COM 
 

mailto:NAME@ROADMANTECH.COM


 

 

THE IMPORTANCE OF PAVEMENT 

PRESERVATION 
 

 

SYNOPSIS 

Bradford County has provided RMT with information 

regarding their road network, this information includes life 

cycle expectancy, cost of a mill and over lay of a mile of 

road, and overall size of the network. With this data RMT 

builds an analysis that illustrates the overall health of the 

agency’s network and how the network is deteriorating in a 

linear model. The purpose of this is to show the opportunity 

cost to the agency of moving towards a preservation-based 

model. While some Departments are directing funds 

towards aggressive pavement preservation, they have 

historically lacked the resources and information necessary 

to target these preservation efforts effectively and 

efficiently by evaluating and comparing current, recent, and 

historical road quality information across their entire 

network. 

By investing in tools that provide real-time road quality 

information, these departments can ensure that it maximizes 

its investment in its roads. 

 

 

BACKGROUND 

To maximize the return on an investment in roads, it’s 

important to understand the pavement’s rate of 

deterioration throughout the road’s life cycle. Figure 1, 

below, used by the Federal Highway Administration 

illustrates the fact that the first 75% of a road’s lifespan 

accounts for the first 40% drop in its quality. Around this 

point in their life cycle, a road experiences accelerated 

degradation, where costly rehabilitation and reconstruction 

are required. 

By consistently monitoring and comparing pavement and 

concrete conditions and degradation rates over time, it 

becomes possible to make the most informed decisions for 

applying the right treatments on the right roads at the right 

time, restoring the most life to a road network year after 

year. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Figure 1. The goal of preservation is to keep 
good roads in good shape where maintenance 
costs are low, as opposed to neglecting them 
until the cost of repair skyrockets. 



 

 

Studies by the Federal Highway Administration have shown that adopting a preventative, preservation-based roadway maintenance 

strategy can increase budget efficiency by over 180%, while increasing the overall quality of your network annually. This means that 

taxpayers benefit from smoother, safer roads, and roads spend more time above the complaint line, as shown in Figure 2 below. 

 
 

 

 
Figure 2. Properly maintained roads have an average lifespan of over 40 years, spending most of their life cycle in Good or Excellent condition. 

 

 
Preventative-based roadway maintenance has proven to be a cost effective and sustainable approach to getting the most life out 

of roads and making taxpayer dollars go further. In addition to cost efficiency, a pavement preservation approach is known to 

produce fewer emissions, consume less energy, and provide faster application times than a conventional approach. 

 

Despite these obvious economic and social advantages, most departments find themselves struggling to transition to an effective 

preservation strategy. In most cases, this is due to the major barrier in the transition to an optimized approach - to create an 

effective preservation plan, a department must first figure out how to obtain objective information about the current quality of 

every road within its network on a consistent basis. 



 

 

 
There are several methods that are currently used to measure the current condition of a road network, some more efficient than 

others. Oftentimes, it’s beneficial to use a few of these services in tandem. These methods include manual visual inspections, 

ARAN/LIDAR surveys, image-based surveys, and RMT’s automated road surveys collected through passive crowdsourced methods. 

The majority of these methods give you a single snapshot in time, often providing you with a single score for each segment. This 

provides a starting point for agencies but does not solve the problem every agency faces when trying to build a 5-year paving plan. In 

order to build an effective 5-year preservation-based plan the agency needs to better understand how these roads are deteriorating 

and more importantly, how quickly. The only feasible way to track road degradation modeling is by tracking it daily. 

 
 

 
Visual Inspections - Visual inspections require 

an employee or vendor of the agency to drive 

each road in the network and note the 

quality. These surveys are subjective and 

often dangerous, and they should only be 

used to validate data collected through other 

means. Often times the inspector will select a 

100 ft. Segment that they feel is indicative of 

the entire segment of road to grade. This 

grade is then applied to the entirety of the 

segment. 

 

 
ARAN/LIDAR Surveys - ARAN and other LIDAR 

based surveys rely on lasers, photographs, 

and roughness measurements to provide 

road quality information. These surveys 

provide dense data, but they provide a one-

time snapshot of road data, and they’re cost-

prohibitive at scale. Additionally, this process 

usually takes months to process and analyze 

before the results are sent back to the 

agency. 

 
 
 

Image-Based Surveys - Image-based surveys 

involve an employee or vendor of the agency 

driving each road and collecting photos of 

roads. Image recognition is then used to 

decipher road distresses in these photos. 

These services are typically provided at a 

lower price point than ARAN/LIDAR methods, 

but they provide a one-time snapshot of 

road data. 

 
 
 
 
 

 
RMT Automated Surveys 

RMT RoadRunner Exclusive - 

Agency-owned fleet vehicles are 

equipped with RMT’s proprietary 

RoadRunner sensors. RMT utilizes 

sensor fusion to measure road 

roughness measurements, 

gyroscopic, and images are 

passively collected daily 

and used to provide easy- to-

interpret road quality 

information that updates as 

changes occur across the road 

network. This provides agencies 

with the most consistent output 

in data collection and safest 

method possible to evaluate their 

road health and build 

a preservation plan that can effectively 

amortize the most health out of their 

network. 



 

 

 

 
 

Figure 3. In order to make efficient preservation decisions, it’s critical that surveys are done across the entire road network on a consistent basis. 

 

 
Most Departments Eight-Year Plan fails to address nearly 75% 

percent of their network’s roads that are in poor condition. In 

order to get ahead, it’s critical that the preservation dollars 

allocated are directed towards the roads that will receive the 

greatest return on investment both now and in the future. 

 

By adopting technology that provides passive, objective road 

quality information across its entire network on a consistent 

basis, the Department will be positioned to develop an 

effective Asset Preservation Plan that can be modified, when 

necessary, by observing changing conditions and degradation 

rates across the network in real-time. 

 

RMT’s real-time pavement performance analytics application 

(called Road Runner) offers the only frictionless solution for 

pavement performance analytics, easing the transition to a 

preservation-based, proactive roadway maintenance program. 

 

Our objective data allows you to make 

informed, data-driven decisions and allocate 

resources to optimize your budget. 



 

 

 

 

 

 
ASSESSMENT OVERVIEW 

 

 
This report is presented to Bradford County, FL, by Roadway Management Technologies (“RMT”), headquartered in Little Rock, 

Arkansas. The focus of this assessment is the efficiency and effectiveness of the Department’s roadway maintenance planning, 

processes, spending and budget allocation and to provide tools and resources to the Department to help officials increase overall 

spending efficiency of taxpayer funds. 

 

This assessment was performed in FY24, and this report was presented to the Board of County Commissioners on 06/04/2024. 



 

 

DISCOVERY 
 

 

 
Information and data used in this assessment was derived from multiple sources, including discussions held with management and 

staff members as well as the Public Works Department’s own documentation. 

 

Assumptions Made for This Analysis: 

 
• Lane miles of asphalt - 600 miles 

• Mill & Overlay cost - $318,841 per mile 

• Average road life - 21 years 
 
 

 

RESULTS 
 
 

 
This report showcases several ways in which the Public Works Department can substantially increase the efficiency of its budget. In 

doing so, the county can build out an effective Asset Preservation Plan to make taxpayer dollars go further while increasing the 

overall quality of their road network. 

 

As detailed within this report, an investment in pavement management by the county would yield projected savings and 

increases in efficiency. In addition, the Public Works Department would receive the benefit of real-time pavement condition 

ratings collected passively by the county’s own vehicles, allowing the department to monitor road degradation rates over time. 

This will allow the department to optimize its Asset Preservation Plan and provide the county with the tools and information 

necessary to make informed roadway maintenance decisions. 

 

We have completed the below analysis for your agency which determined that if utilizing RMT led to an increase in efficiency of 

only 0.026%, it would cover the investment cost of RMT in the first year. Below you will find the details of how this was 

calculated. 



 

 

CALCULATIONS 
 

 

 

CALCULATING NETWORK VALUE 

What is your roadway asset value? For this analysis, we will use 

the mill & overlay cost of $318,841 per mile as the current asset 

value. With this, we can create a total value for your entire 

network (if the entire network was in perfect condition). 

 

600 miles X $318,841 = $191,304,600 

This gives us a total asset value of $191,304,600. 

 

 

CALCULATING ANNUAL RATE OF 

DEPRECIATION 

We must quantify the annual rate of depreciation, which can be 

done using a linear depreciation model based on the useful life of 

a road by pavement type. For this analysis, we are going to 

assume each road lasts 21 years. 

 

$191,304,600 / 21 years= $9,109,743 

annual depreciation 

 

 

CALCULATING OPPORTUNITY COST OF RMT 

The savings opportunity and RMT cost metric. For this analysis, 

the network has 600 miles and the annual cost of RMT is 

$50,000. 

Translate our $50,000 into an opportunity cost: 

What is your agency currently getting when 

$50,000 is applied directly to your network? 

 

Here is the equation to determine what our $50,000 RMT cost 

translates into “Mile years” additional value to the network. We 

are taking the cost of RMT and dividing it by the cost to mill & 

overlay 1 mile. 

 

$50,000 / $318,841 = 0.1568 miles of road which is what your 

agency can get for $50,000. 

CALCULATE THE “MILE YEARS” ADDED TO THE 

NETWORK 

*Mile Years* is a value that represents the remaining surface life 

in years for each mile of road in a network. As an example, if 

you were to pave 1 mile of asphalt road and expect that road to 

last 25 years then the “Mile Years” value for that mile of road 

would be 25. 

 

0.1568 miles of road X Useful life of 21 years = 3.2932 total Mile 

Years added to the network (If the agency did not invest in RMT) 

 

21 years per mile X 600 miles of road = 12,600 total Mile Years 

for the entire network 

 

Turning cost into a percentage of impact when 

invested directly into the network: 

 

= 3.2932 Mile Years / 12,600 Mile Years = 0.026% impact to the 

network. 

 

Through these calculations, we can conclude that if our system 

would allow your agency to manage your network at least 

0.026% better the first year, you cover the cost of investing in 

RMT. 



 

 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY ON 
THE BENEFITS 
OF A PROACTIVE 
PRESERVATION- BASED 
PAVEMENT 
MANAGEMENT 
PROGRAM 

 

1. Cost-Effectiveness: 

• Transitioning to a proactive pavement preservation 

approach is more cost-effective than a worst-first strategy. 

Preventive maintenance costs less than reconstructing failed 

pavements, resulting in significant cost savings. 

 

2. Extended Pavement Life: 

•  Proactive preservation extends pavement life by 

addressing minor wear and tear early, maintaining a 

higher overall condition of the pavement network. 

 

3. Improved Safety and Service: 

•  Regular maintenance improves safety and service 

for users, preventing hazardous conditions and 

ensuring a smoother driving experience. 

 

4. Sustainability Benefits: 

•  Preservation techniques are environmentally 

sustainable, using fewer resources and less energy, 

thus reducing the carbon footprint associated with 

pavement management. 

 

5. Flexibility in Management: 

• This approach allows for more flexible planning 

and resource allocation, enabling broader and more 

efficient coverage of the pavement network. 

 

6. Budget Optimization: 

• A proactive pavement preservation strategy optimizes 

budget use by focusing on preventive measures rather than 

costly reactive repairs, leading to more efficient financial 

resource allocation. 

7. Industry-Leading Techniques and Benefits: 

•  Crack Sealing and Filling: Prevents water intrusion, the 

leading cause of pavement deterioration. It is a cost-

effective way to extend the life of the pavement. 

• Chip Sealing: A surface treatment combining asphalt and 

fine aggregate. It provides an anti- glare surface during 

wet weather and increased skid resistance. 

• Microsurfacing and Slurry Seal: A surface treatment 

combining asphalt and fine aggregate. It provides an anti-

glare surface during wet weather and increased skid 

resistance. 

• Thin and Ultra-Thin Asphalt Overlays: Provide a new 

wearing surface, improve ride quality, and address minor 

rutting and surface irregularities. 

• Cold In-place Recycling (CIR): Reprocesses the existing 

asphalt layer in an environmentally friendly way, reducing 

the need for new materials and minimizing waste. 

• Rejuvenating Fog Seal: A treatment that restores flexibility 

to the asphalt pavement, reducing the rate of pavement 

aging. It seals minor cracks and surface voids, improving 

the pavement’s resistance to water and oxidation. 

 

8.  Enhancing FEMA Process Efficiency and 

Compliance: 

•  Comprehensive Damage Assessment: RMT’s advanced 

sensors can be used for immediate, accurate pre- and post-

disaster road condition analysis, enabling quick 

identification of changes and impacts due to natural 

disasters, including the effects of heavy cleanup machinery. 

•  Streamlined FEMA Reporting: RMT’s data platform 

simplifies the documentation process for FEMA reports, 

with detailed, real-time data supporting the rapid 

compilation of necessary information. 

• Effective Aid Justification: The precise 

and comprehensive data from RMT aids in constructing a 

strong case for the necessity of FEMA disaster recovery 

funding, highlighting specific areas and extents of damage. 

• Enhanced Restoration Efficiency: The efficiency and 

accuracy of RMT’s data contribute to a more effective and 

timely restoration of roadway infrastructure and public 

services, critical post- disaster. 



 

 

CONCLUSION 
 

 

In conclusion, adopting a proactive pavement preservation 

approach in pavement management, complemented by RMT’s 

real-time data and pavement management system, offers 

multifaceted benefits. It ensures cost-effectiveness by 

reducing the need for extensive last resort repairs, extends 

pavement life through early intervention, and enhances safety 

and service quality for road users. Additionally, this strategy 

promotes sustainability by utilizing fewer resources and 

energy. It allows for flexible management and budget 

optimization, ensuring a broader and more efficient network 

coverage. The integration of industry-leading techniques, 

coupled with the comprehensive data provided by RMT 

further bolsters the efficiency and effectiveness of pavement 

maintenance programs. This approach leads to better 

managed and maintained road networks, ultimately benefiting 

both agencies and road users. 

 

The agency receives the following services under 

the Passive Road Surveying package from RMT: 

 

• Provision of Proprietary Sensors: 

• Supply of specialized sensors by RMT, designed for 

mounting on agency-owned vehicles. 

 

• Sensor Installation and Training: 

• Initial installation of sensors by RMT on pre-

selected vehicles determined jointly by RMT and 

the Agency. 

 

• Road Quality Data Collection: 

• Continuous road quality data collection through sensors 

during regular vehicle operations. 

• Automated transmission of data to RMT servers when 

vehicles are parked in Wi-Fi-enabled locations. 

• Estimated number of vehicles outfitted with sensors is 

approximately 15 to 30, enabling broad coverage for 

real-time data collection. 

• Data Analysis and Access: 

• Analysis of road data using RMT’s proprietary 

algorithms. 

• Access to a map interface on RMT’s website, showing 

detailed road quality assessments based on ASTM 

standard D6433. 

• Functionalities include filtering options for best and worst 

roads, and access to updated street view images of 

network roads (refreshed every 30 days as vehicles 

travel). 

• Access to multiple reports and project management tools 

to monitor maintenance efforts in real-time and their net 

effect across the network. 

 

• Dedicated Account Management: 

• Provision of a dedicated Account Manager to serve as a 

single point of contact. 

• This ensures personalized service and streamlined 

communication for all aspects of the project. 

 

• Indefinite Hardware Warranty: 

• All hardware provided by RMT is warrantied 

indefinitely, ensuring long-term reliability and support. 

 

• Inclusive System Updates and Upgrades: 

• Any system updates or upgrades developed by RMT are 

included in the annual cost. 

• Clients benefit from continuous improvements 

and advancements in technology at no extra cost. 

 

This comprehensive package not only equips the agency with 

advanced real-time road surveying technology for 

approximately 15-30 vehicles but also provides extensive 

support and assurance with dedicated account management, an 

indefinite hard- ware warranty, and inclusive updates and 

upgrades. 



825 Ohio Avenue • Lynn Haven, FL 32444 
(850) 265-7520 

 

 

 

June 27, 2024 

 

Jason Dodds 

Public Works Director 

Bradford County Florida 

 

 

Mr. Dodds, 

 

I am writing this letter about Roadway Management Technologies. In January 2024 our 

Commission approved us to use this service to collect data on the quality of our roadways and 

have a better understanding of the quality of each road. Prior to this service, staff would ride the 

city and decide on which roads needed the priority for the annual paving project. There was no 

methodology to this, it was just a recommendation from whomever was riding in that area. To be 

proactive and utilize our funding to the best of our ability, we made the recommendation to 

utilize RMT to collect this data and be able to prioritize what roads would be paved as well as 

begin an asphalt preservation plan.  

 

We were also hit by Category 5 Hurricane Michael in 2018 which resulted in debris trucks 

damaging our roadways and a fight ensuing between the city and FEMA to ensure we were 

compensated properly for the damage because of this disaster. The RMT data has provided us the 

ability to properly score roads and have a database showing the status of our roads in case 

another disaster hits us that could potentially damage or lower the quality of our roadways.  

 

I strongly recommend RMT for your County as they have proven to be a valuable component of 

our Public Works planning process. 

 

Respectfully, 

 

 

 

Chris Lightfoot 

Public Works Director 

JESSE NELSON 
MAYOR 

 

VICKIE GAINER 
CITY MANAGER 

 

KEVIN OBOS 
CITY ATTORNEY 

 

 

 

COMMISSIONERS 

SAM PEEBLES 

PAT PERNO 

JAMIE WARRICK 

JUDY VANDERGRIFT 

 

 

 

 

 

 

clightfoot
Snapshot

clightfoot



1

Amanda Brown

From: Jason Dodds
Sent: Monday, July 1, 2024 6:53 AM
To: Scott Kornegay
Cc: Amanda Brown
Subject: FW: RMT

Good morning, FYI 
 
-----Original Message----- 
From: vbcjudge@artelco.com <vbcjudge@artelco.com> 
Sent: Thursday, June 27, 2024 4:08 PM 
To: Jason Dodds <jason_dodds@bradfordcountyfl.gov> 
Cc: vbcjudge <vbcjudge@artelco.com>; emily@roadmantech.com; jason@roadmantech.com 
Subject: RMT 
 
[You don't often get email from vbcjudge@artelco.com. Learn why this is important at 
https://aka.ms/LearnAboutSenderIdentification ] 
 
Jason, 
 
It is an honor for me to get to recommend RMT for use by your organization!  Here are some wins of mine using RMT: 
 
I had a hole in a bridge that absolutely NOONE reported.  Not one soul.  The hole was just that... a hole.  Standing on the 
bridge you could look down and see running water in the river.  I went to the bridge to investigate because the RMT 
data showed me that something was going on there.  I had a red spot in an otherwise green road.  I was shocked when I 
discovered the hole.  It ended up being a simple fix, but could have progressed into something MUCH worse. 
 
I have been maximizing grants by submitting RMT data with the proposal.  I just received a half-million dollar grant 
through the Governor's Office for road repair work.  What set my request apart from all the other requests?  RMT data. 
 
I have received enough grants by using RMT data to pay for the service for twenty-thirty years into the future. 
 
Another one of my favorite functions is the note taking aspect.  Whether I enter a note, (call in complaint, culvert 
installation request, etc.) my secretary enters one, or the road shop enters one, the data is in one place, never to be lost.  
I hold my people accountable by spot checking to ensure that they are actually taking care of the notes. 
 
I have also bargained down contractors using RMT data.  When I let a bid on a road, I run the specs through RMT and 
compare to the amount of product the vendors are trying to charge me for.  I have seen bids with 50% more product 
than actually needed.  Contractors may be competitors, but they all know how to work the system.  They always act like 
it was just a big "oops" when they are called out on it.  I have saved 20% of the entire project cost just by using RMT. 
 
The service never stops after the sale with RMT.  They are always available and always growing the system. 
 
It sounds as if I am paid to endorse RMT, LOL, but I truly believe in the product and their service.  My work days start and 
end with RMT.  It is a crucial part of the business and saves much more than it will ever cost. 
 
My personal cell is 501-253-5262 should you have any further questions. 
 



2

There is more to RMT than what I've listed, but these are the my favorite parts :-) 
 
Thank you for the opportunity to share about RMT with you. 
 
Dale James, Van Buren County Judge 
 
This email is intended for the addressee(s) indicated above only. It may contain information that is privileged, 
confidential, or otherwise protected from disclosure. Any dissemination, review, use of the email, or its contents by 
persons other than the addressee is strictly prohibited. If you have received this email in error, please delete it 
immediately. 



1 

 

 
ROADWAY MANAGEMENT TECHNOLOGIES 

PO Box 678325 

Orlando, FL 32867 

 

July 9, 2024 

 

ATTN: Bradford County, Florida  

945 North Temple Ave  

Starke, FL 32091 

904-966-6280 

 

Dear Bradford County, Florida, 

 

I'm pleased to announce that Roadway Management Technologies, LLC ("RMT") has 

been awarded RFP 24-1260, effective April 30th, 2024, to conduct a pavement 

condition survey and implement a pavement management system for the City of 

Dunedin, Florida. Section 22 of Page 5 in the RFP explicitly requires the 

contractor to extend pricing and terms to all State of Florida government 

agencies, facilitating potential future purchases under the same terms. 

Under the terms of the awarded RFP, the City of Dunedin's contract is priced 

at $150 per lane mile, resulting in an annual contract value of $35,178 for a 

network size of 234.52 lane miles. Additionally, for Bradford County, RMT has 

offered competitive pricing of $83.33 per lane mile, covering a network size 

of 600 lane miles, with an annual contract value of $50,000. This competitive 

pricing structure enables Bradford County to take advantage of the piggyback 

clause within RFP 24-1260. 

 

 

 

 

Sincerely, 

Candler McCollum 

CEO 

501.626.1313 

candler@roadmantech.com 

 

mailto:candler@roadmantech.com


 
 

CITY OF DUNEDIN 

 

REQUEST FOR PROPOSAL 

SPECIFICATIONS AND INSTRUCTIONS 

 

CONSULTANT SERVICES FOR THE 

IMPLEMENTATION OF A PAVEMENT MANAGEMENT 

SYSTEM 

RFP 24-1260 

 

PROPOSALS ACCEPTED UNTIL 

2:00pm TUESDAY, APRIL 2, 2024 

 
AT 

 

CITY OF DUNEDIN 

CITY HALL 

ATTN. PURCHAING AGENT 

737 LOUDEN AVE. SUITE 212 

DUNEDIN, FL 34698 

PHONE: 727-298-3077 

 



 

 2 

 
TABLE OF CONTENTS 

 

SECTION  TITLE PAGE 

 
A          Invitation to Propose 3  

 

B  General Requirements 4 

 

C  Specific Requirements 17 

 

D  Response Format 23 

 

EXHIBITS 

 

I.  Reference Information Form   

II. Immigration Status Affidavit  

III. City RFP Contract  



 

 3 

CITY OF DUNEDIN  

CONSULTANT SERVICES FOR THE IMPLEMENTATION OF A PAVEMENT 

MANAGEMENT SYSTEM 

RFP 24-1260 

 

REQUEST FOR PROPOSAL (RFP) PROCEDURES 

 
The City of Dunedin, Florida will accept proposals from firms (the “Consultant”) qualified to 

provide services required for the implementation of a pavement management system.  The 

City maintains approximately 127 lane miles of roadway.  The selected Consultant will 

conduct a pavement condition survey to assess the condition of the existing roadways within 

the Public Right-of-way, update or extract data from AgileAssets software, perform an 

optimization analysis survey of the pavement condition data to determine segment specific 

requirements and budgetary allocations. Furthermore, the Consultant will recommend a 

vendor hosted web-based pavement management software system.  The Consultant will input 

the pavement condition survey information into the selected software system.  The system 

will allow the City of Dunedin to integrate and maintain an inventory, analyze condition data, 

track construction history, and conduct multi-year analyses to guide sound, defensible 

decisions about investment of available resources for pavement maintenance and 

rehabilitation. 

    

Proposals shall be based on the attached Scope of Services.  The RFP may be picked up 

at the address below.  You may also email your request to cankney@dunedinfl.net or you 

may download the RFP from www.demandstar.com.  

     

Sealed Proposals:  Responses to this Request for Proposal (please submit one unbound 

original and one disc/usb copy) shall be submitted in a sealed envelope, clearly identified 

as: 

 RFP 24-1260  

 “CONSULTANT SERVICES FOR THE IMPLEMENTATION OF A 

PAVEMENT MANAGEMENT SYSTEM” 

2:00PM TUESDAY, APRIL 2, 2024 

DO NOT OPEN IN MAILROOM 

 

Responses shall be mailed or delivered to: City of Dunedin 

Dunedin City Hall 

 Attn. Purchasing Agent 

 737 Louden Ave Suite 212 

 Dunedin, FL 34698 

 

Proposals are due no later than the date and time noted above.  Any proposal received 

after that date and time will not be accepted.  Any individual requiring special assistance 

must notify the Purchasing Office in writing 48 hours in advance so that arrangements 

can be made.  No proposal shall be withdrawn for a period of ninety (90) calendar days, 

from the opening date, without the consent of the City of Dunedin, Florida. 

 

______________________________________ 

Charles H. Ankney, CPPO 

Purchasing Agent  

mailto:cankney@dunedinfl.net
http://www.demandstar.com/


 

 4 

SECTION B 

GENERAL CONDITIONS 

 
Consultants are required to submit their proposals upon the conditions expressed in these 

instructions.  Consultants are warned that the provisions of the RFP Documents will become 

a part of a Purchase Order the same as if every detail were stated therein. 

 

1.    CONSULTANT’S ABILITY  

It is the intent of the City to award the Contract for this work to a Consultant whose 

experience, skill, and financial resources are fully equal to the task of prosecuting the 

work in a rapid and satisfactory manner.  Upon request by the City, any Consultant shall 

be prepared to submit an attested statement of his/her ability, financial status, and history. 

 

2. PROPOSAL GUARANTEE 

Decision on the acceptance or rejection of the various proposals will be made as soon as 

practicable after proposals are received, but the right is reserved by the City to defer 

action on awarding a contract for ninety (90) calendar days. 

 

3. PROHIBITED INTERESTS 

No Member of or Delegate to Congress, or Resident Commissioner or City Employee 

shall be admitted any share or to any benefit that may arise from this contract, but this 

provision shall not be construed to extend to this contract if made with a corporation for 

its general benefit.  No official, employee, architect, attorney, engineer, or inspector 

authorized for the City to exercise any legislative, executive, supervisory, or other similar 

functions in connection with the construction of the project, shall become directly or 

indirectly interested personally in this contract or in any part thereof, any material supply 

contract, subcontract, insurance contract, or any other contract pertaining to the project. 

 

4.  COLLUSION 

The City reserves the right to disqualify proposals, upon evidence of collusion with intent 

to defraud or other illegal practices upon the part of the Consultant.  More than one (1) 

proposal from an individual, partnership, corporation, association, firm, or other legal 

entity under the same or different names will not be considered.  Reasonable grounds for 

believing that a Consultant is interested in more than one (1) proposal for the same work 

will be cause for rejection of all proposals in which such Consultants are believed to be 

interested.  Any or all proposals will be rejected if there is any reason to believe that 

collusion exists among the Consultants. 

 

5. CONSULTANT'S OBLIGATION OF EXAMINATION 

All of the conditions, which are known to affect the performance of the work, have been 

shown on the Plans and/or described in the RFP Documents. Upon request, all additional 

information pertaining to existing conditions in the possession of the City will be shown 

to the Consultants.  However, this information is furnished as a service and the 

correctness of such information is not guaranteed as to accuracy and completeness. 

 

Consultants are required to examine the RFP Documents, the site of the project, and any 

other information that may be on file in the offices of the City.  No plea of ignorance of 

conditions that may exist, or of conditions or difficulties that may be encountered under 

this contract, as a result of a failure to make the necessary examinations and 



 

 5 

investigations, will be accepted as an excuse for any failure or omission on the part of the 

Consultant to fulfill in every detail all the requirements of the RFP Documents, or will be 

accepted as a basis for any claims whatsoever for extra compensation. 

 

6. BASIS UPON WHICH PROPOSALS ARE SOLICITED AND AWARDED 

Proposals are solicited on the basis of the evaluation criteria set forth in the RFP 

documents.   

 

The proposal for materials, equipment and work means in place and complete according 

to the requirements of the RFP Document.  The City shall not be liable for any services, 

sales tax, or any other tax whatsoever that may be levied by the Federal Government, the 

State Government, or any other private, public, or political agency.   

 

The contract will be awarded to the Consultant that submits a responsive and responsible 

proposal that best meets the needs of the City as determined by City Staff and City 

Commission using the Evaluation Criteria.  The City's decision will be final.  The City 

reserves the right to informally negotiate certain points of the final contract with a 

qualified Consultant.  

 

7.  CONTRACT INFORMATION 

The City’s standard RFP (Exhibit II) contract shall be used as the basis of contracting for 

this work.  The Contract shall consist of the Invitation to Propose, General Provisions, 

Bid Forms, Specifications and any required Addendums, Bonds, Insurance Certification, 

Change Orders, and any other exhibits identified in the specification package, and shall 

be referred to collectively as the Proposal Documents.  In addition, the Consultant’s 

proposal shall be included as part of the contract documents.  The provisions of each and 

all shall become a part of the Contract when awarded by the City of Dunedin, unless 

specifically objected to by the Consultant in his/her proposal.  Failure of the Consultant 

to accept this condition shall result in the cancellation of any award.  The laws of the 

State of Florida shall govern any contract(s) resulting from this RFP and venue shall lie 

in Pinellas County, Florida.   

 

8. LAWS TO BE OBSERVED 

The act of submitting a proposal in response to this RFP shall constitute an agreement by 

the Consultant that he/she has made himself/herself familiar with, and shall at all times 

observe and comply with, Federal, State, and Local laws, ordinances, codes, and 

regulations that may in any manner affect those engaged, or employed, in the work or 

which may in any manner affect the materials, equipment, or workmanship used in or 

upon the work.  No plea of misunderstanding will be considered on account of ignorance 

thereto.   

 

9. TIME OF COMPLETION 

After approval by City Commission, a Purchase Order, with the work date agreed upon 

by the Consultant, will be executed and work shall continue progressively until final 

completion in accordance with the agreed upon schedule.   

 

10. ASSIGNMENT OF CONTRACT 

The act of submitting a proposal in response to this RFP shall constitute an agreement that 

no assignment of said contract shall be made without the written consent of the City.   

 



 

 6 

 

11. CANCELLATION OF CONTRACT 

The City of Dunedin reserves the right to cancel this contract without cause by giving ninety 

(90) days prior notice to the Consultant in writing of the intention to cancel, or with cause if 

at any time the Consultant fails to fulfill or abide by any of the terms or conditions specified.   

  

Failure of the Consultant to comply with any of the provisions of this contract shall be 

considered a material breach of contract and shall be cause for immediate termination of the 

contract at the discretion of the City of Dunedin. 

 

In addition to all other legal remedies available to the City of Dunedin, the City of Dunedin 

reserves the right to cancel and obtain from another source, any services which have not 

been delivered within the period of time stated in the Consultant’s proposal, or if no such 

time is stated, within a reasonable period of time from the date of order as determined by the 

City of Dunedin.    

 

Termination or cancellation of the contract will not relieve the Consultant of any obligations 

for any deliverables entered into prior to the termination of the contract.  

 

Termination or cancellation of the contract will not relieve the Consultant of any obligations 

or liabilities resulting from any acts committed by the Consultant prior to the termination of 

the contract.  

 

The Consultant may cancel the contract with ninety (90) calendar days written notice to the 

City’s Purchasing Agent.  Failure to provide proper notice to the City may result in the 

Consultant being barred from future business with the City.  

 

12. PREPARATION OF PROPOSALS 

The Consultant’s proposal shall be submitted as required by the RFP documents in 

accordance with these instructions.  The proposals must be complete in every detail.  All 

unit item costs must be stated in figures, the total cost for each unit item quantity 

calculated and stated in figures, the lump sum stated in figures, and the grand total for all 

items proposed computed and stated in figures if required by the Response Format. 

 

The City reserves the right to correct any apparent error resulting from erroneous 

multiplication or addition before awarding a contract. 

 

The Consultant shall sign the Response Form (Letter of Understanding) and give his/her 

address. 

 

A Partnership Consultant must give the names and addresses of all partners and the 

Response Form must be signed by at least one person who shall designate themselves as 

a partner.  When a firm submits a response, all of its members must sign the Response 

Form, or if they choose, any member having binding authority to do so may sign the 

proposal and describe themselves as doing business under a firm name. 

 

A Corporation must name the state in which its articles are held.  The Response Form 

must be signed in the name of, and under the seal of, the corporation, by a duly 

authorized officer or agent of the corporation and their address must be given.  Such 

officer or agent must present legal evidence that they have lawful authority to sign said 



 

 7 

proposal and that the signature is binding upon the corporation and that the corporation 

has a legal existence.  In the event that any corporation, organized and doing business 

under the laws of any foreign state, is a successful Respondent, such corporation shall 

present evidence before a Purchase Order for said work is executed, that it is authorized 

to do business in the State of Florida. 

 

13. REJECTION OF PROPOSALS 

The City reserves the right to reject any proposal containing any omission, addition, 

extension, erasure, alteration, or irregularity of any kind.  The City reserves the right to 

reject any or all responses and to waive any irregularity, variance or informality whether 

technical or substantial in nature, and to accept or reject any item or combination of 

items, in keeping with the best interests of the City. 

 

The judgment of the City shall be final in determining the capability, experience, and ability 

of the Consultant to successfully and properly prosecute the proposed work. Failure to 

convince the City of such capacities shall result in the rejection of the response. 

 

14. INQUIRIES AND ADDENDA 

Each Consultant shall examine the RFP documents.  Any inquiries, suggestions, or 

requests concerning interpretation, clarification, or additional information pertaining to 

this RFP shall be made through the City of Dunedin’s Purchasing Agent, Chuck Ankney, 

at cankney@dunedinfl.net or at Dunedin City Hall 737 Louden Ave. Suite 212 Dunedin, 

FL 34698.  Inquiries must be submitted no less than ten (10) calendar days before the 

proposal due date.  The City shall not be responsible for oral interpretations given by any 

City employee, representative, or others.  The issuance of a written addendum is the only 

official method whereby interpretation, clarification, or additional information can be 

given.  If any addenda are issued to this RFP, the City will attempt to notify all 

prospective Consultants who have requested a copy of the RFP.  However, it shall be the 

responsibility of each Consultant, prior to submitting a response, to contact the City of 

Dunedin’s Purchasing office (727-298-3077) to determine if addenda were issued and to 

make such addenda a part of the response. 

 

15. INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS 

At the time the Consultant delivers the above contract agreement and bonds to the owner, 

the Consultant shall also deliver to the Owner such Certificate(s) of proof of the required 

insurance coverage as may be set forth in the General Provisions Section of the Contract 

Documents.   

 

If the Consultant engages a Subcontractor to perform any portion of the work, the 

Consultant may at his/her option, extend his/her insurance coverage to the Subcontractor, 

however, verification of the extended coverage must be so stated on the Certificate(s) 

furnished to the City by the Consultant. 

 

Should the Consultant require any Subcontractor to furnish their own proof of the proper 

and required insurance coverage, the Certificate(s) must be presented to the Owner for 

approval prior to any work being accomplished by the Subcontractor.  Compliance with the 

provisions of this paragraph is the sole responsibility of the Consultant.  If the Owner has 

not received certificates of insurance for any Subcontractors at the time of commencement 

of the work, the Owner will presume the Consultant has extended his/her insurance 

mailto:cankney@dunedinfl.net


 

 8 

coverage to the Subcontractor and verification of such extended coverage shall be stated on 

the Certificate(s) of Insurance provided to the Owner. 

 

A.  General  

 

Before starting and until acceptance of the work by the City, the Consultant shall procure 

and maintain insurance of the types and the limits specified in paragraphs (1) through (5) 

below. 

 

The Consultant shall require each of his/her subcontractors to procure and maintain, until 

completion of that subcontractor's work, insurance of types and to the limits specified in 

paragraphs (1) through (5) below. It shall be the responsibility of the Consultant to ensure 

that all subcontractors comply with all of the insurance requirements contained herein 

relating to such subcontractors. 

 

B.  Coverage and Limits: 

 

1.    Insurance 

 

The Consultant and subcontractors shall provide the following described insurance, 

except for coverage specifically waived by the City, on policies and with insurers 

acceptable to the City. 

 

These insurance requirements shall not limit the liability of the Consultant.  The City 

does not represent those types or amounts of insurance to be sufficient or adequate to 

protect the Consultant's interests or liabilities, but are merely minimums. 

 

Except for workers' compensation, the Consultant's and subcontractor’s insurance 

policies shall be endorsed to name the City as an additional insured to the extent of the 

City's interests arising from this contract or agreement.   

 

The Consultant and subcontractors waive their rights of recovery against the City, to the 

extent permitted by their insurance policies. 

 

The workers’ compensation policy is to be endorsed with a waiver of subrogation. The 

insurance company, in its endorsement, agrees to waive all rights of subrogation against 

the City, its officers, officials, employees and volunteers for losses paid under the terms 

of this policy which arises from the work performed by the named insured for the City. 

 

The Consultant's and subcontractor's deductibles/self-insured retention shall be disclosed 

and may be disapproved by the City.  They shall be reduced or eliminated at the option of 

the City.  The Consultant is responsible for the amount of any deductible or self-insured 

retention. 

 

2. Minimum Limits for Liability Coverage 

  

The Consultant shall purchase and maintain coverage on forms no more restrictive than 

the latest editions of the Commercial General Liability and Business Auto policies of the 

Insurance Services Office. 

 



 

 9 

Minimum limits of $1,000,000 per occurrence and a $2,000,000 policy aggregate for all 

liability must be provided, with excess or umbrella insurance making up the difference, if 

any, between the policy limits of underlying policies (including employers liability 

required in the Workers' Compensation Coverage section) and the total amount of 

coverage required.   

 

3. Commercial General Liability 

 

The occurrence form of Commercial General Liability must be provided. 

 

Coverage A shall include premises, operations, products and completed operations, 

independent contractors, contractual liability covering this agreement or contract, and 

broad form property damage coverage.   

 

Coverage B shall include personal injury. Coverage C, medical payments, is not required.   

 

4. Products/ Completed Operations Coverage (Not Required for this Project) 

 

The Consultant is required to continue to purchase products and completed operations 

coverage, at least to satisfy this contract or agreement, for a minimum of three-years 

beyond the City acceptance of renovation or construction projects. 

 

5. Business Auto Liability 

 

Business Auto Liability coverage is to include bodily injury and property damage arising 

out of operation, maintenance or use of any auto, including owned, non-owned, and hired 

automobiles and employee non-ownership use. 

 

6. Workers Compensation Coverage 

 

The Consultant and subcontractor shall purchase and maintain workers' compensation 

insurance for all workers' compensation obligations imposed by state law and employer’s 

liability limits of at least $1,000,000 each accident and $1,000,000 each 

employee/$1,000,000 policy limit for disease. 

 

The Consultant shall also purchase any other coverage required by law for its employees. 

 

C.  Additional Insurance: 

 

The City requires the following additional provisions or types of insurance to afford 

added protection against loss which could affect the work being performed. 

 

1.    Builders Risk (not required for this project) 

 

Builders Risk Insurance is to be purchased to cover the property for all risks of loss, 

subject to a waiver of coinsurance, including coverage of risks indicated in the 

Installation Floater and Motor Cargo Insurance described hereafter, if such coverage is 

not separately provided.   

 



 

 10 

The Builders Risk Insurance is to be endorsed to cover the interests of all parties, 

including the City and all Consultants and subcontractors as their interests may appear.  

The insurance is to be endorsed to grant permission to occupy. 

 

2.    Installation Floater Insurance (not required for this project) 

 

Installation Floater Insurance is to be provided to cover damage or destruction to 

equipment being installed or otherwise being handled or stored by the Consultant.  The 

amount of coverage should be adequate to provide full replacement value of the 

equipment being installed, otherwise being handled or stored on or off premises.  All 

risks coverage is preferred.   

 

3.    Motor Truck Cargo Insurance (not required for this project) 

 

If the Installation Floater Insurance does not provide transportation coverage, separate 

Motor Truck Cargo or Transportation Insurance is to be provided for materials or 

equipment transported in the Consultant's vehicles from place of receipt to building sites 

or other storage sites.  All risks coverage is preferred.  

 

D.  Hold Harmless: 

 

The Consultant shall hold the City, its employees, agents and elected officials harmless 

against all claims for bodily injury, sickness, disease, death or personal injury or damage 

to property or loss of use resulting therefrom arising out of performance of the contract 

including the acts of the subcontractors, unless such claims are a result of the City's own 

negligence. 

 

1.    Consideration for Hold Harmless/Payment on Behalf 

 

The Consultant agrees to accept, and acknowledge as an adequate amount of 

remuneration, the consideration of $10 for agreeing to the Hold Harmless, Payment on 

Behalf of City, Insurance and Certificates of Insurance provisions in this agreement or 

contract.      

 

The City requires the following additional provisions or types of insurance to afford 

added protection against loss which could affect the work being performed. 

 

2.    Payment on Behalf Of City 

 

The Consultant agrees to pay on behalf of the City, and to pay the cost of the City's legal 

defense, as may be selected by the City, for all claims described in the Hold Harmless 

paragraph.  Such payment on behalf of the City shall be in addition to any and all other 

legal remedies available to the City and shall not be considered to be the City's exclusive 

remedy. 

 

E.  Certificates of Insurance 

 

Required insurance shall be documented in Certificates of Insurance.  New Certificates of 

Insurance shall be provided to the City by the insurance company and the Consultant at 

least 15 calendar days prior to coverage renewals.   



 

 11 

 

If requested by the City, the Consultant or subcontractors shall furnish complete copies of 

the Consultant's or subcontractor’s insurance policies, forms and endorsements.  For 

Commercial General Liability coverage the Consultant shall, at the option of the City, 

provide an indication of the amount of claims payments or reserves chargeable to the 

aggregate amount of liability coverage. 

 

Receipt of certificates or other documentation of insurance or policies or copies of 

policies by the City, or by any of its representatives, which indicate less coverage than 

required does not constitute a waiver of the Consultant's obligation to fulfill the insurance 

requirements herein. 

 

F.  Insurance of the Consultant Primary 

 

Insurance required of the Consultant or subcontractors or any other insurance of the 

Consultant or subcontractors shall be considered primary, and insurance of the City shall 

be considered excess, as may be applicable to claims which arise out of the Hold 

Harmless, Payment on Behalf of City, Insurance, Additional Insurance and Certificates of 

Insurance provisions of this agreement or contract.  

 

G. Loss Control and Safety 

 

Precaution shall be exercised at all times by the Consultant and subcontractors for the 

protection of all persons, including employees, and property.  The Consultant and 

subcontractors shall be expected to comply with all laws, regulations or ordinances 

related to safety and health, shall make special effort to detect hazardous conditions and 

shall take prompt action where loss control/safety measures should be reasonably 

expected.  The City may order work to be stopped if conditions exist that present 

immediate danger to persons or property. The Consultant acknowledges that such 

stoppage will not shift responsibility for any damages from the Consultant to the City's 

Workers' Compensation Coverage. 

 

16. EXCEPTIONS 

Consultants are cautioned that if they wish to take exception to any of the terms or 

conditions of this Request for Proposal, such exception must be filed with the proposal.  

Failure to file exception to these provisions with the proposal may lead the City of Dunedin 

to rule that items not noted as exceptions are non-negotiable.   

 

17. COSTS INCURRED BY CONSULTANTS 

All expenses involved with the preparation and submission of proposals to the City, or any 

work performed in connection therewith, shall be borne solely by the Consultant.  No 

payment will be made for any responses received, nor for any other effort required of, or 

made by, the Consultant prior to contract commencement.   

 

18. DISPUTE AND COMPLAINT 

All complaints or grievances should be first submitted in writing to the Purchasing Agent 

who will take prompt remedial action.  The Purchasing Agent shall investigate the 

validity of the complaint and present the findings in writing to the Consultant.  If the 

Consultant is dissatisfied with the Purchasing Agent's remedies, he/she may then make a 

written appeal to the City Manager who will investigate and respond in writing.  This 



 

 12 

policy does not preclude consideration of legal questions in connection with any 

decisions made by the City. 

 

19. LOBBYING 

Lobbying of Evaluation Committee members, City of Dunedin employees, or elected 

officials regarding Request for Proposals (RFP’s), Request for Qualifications (RFQ’s) or 

Bids, by the Consultant/Bidder or any member of the Consultant’s/Bidder’s staff, an 

agent of the Consultant/Bidder, or any people employed by any legal entity affiliated with 

an organization that is responding to the RFP, RFQ or Bid is strictly prohibited upon 

advertisement and shall be prohibited until a written recommendation of award is made.  

For purposes of this provision, lobbying activities shall include, but not be limited to, 

influencing or attempting to influence action or non-action in connection with any RFP, 

RFQ or Bid through direct or indirect oral or written communication, or an attempt to 

obtain goodwill of persons and/or entities specified in this provision.  Such actions may 

cause any RFP, RFQ or Bid response to be rejected. 

 

20. INSPECTION/EXAMINATION OF PROPOSALS 

Proposals will not be available for public inspection until such time as there is a notice of 

decision or intended decision of award or within thirty (30) calendar days of the opening 

date, whichever is earlier (Reference Florida Statutes Chapter 119.071 (1)(b), unless 

authorized by the Purchasing Agent.  Additionally, items specifically designated as “trade 

secrets” in compliance with Fla. Stat. Chapter 812.081 are exempt from Florida’s Public 

Records Law (Fla. Stat. Chapter 815.045)   

 

21. REQUIREMENT TO COMPLY WITH PUBLIC RECORDS LAWS 

The Consultant is required to comply with Section 119.0701, Florida Statutes. The 

Consultant shall keep and maintain public records required by the City to perform the 

service. 

 

Upon request from the City's custodian of public records, the Consultant shall provide the 

City with a copy of the requested records or allow the records to be inspected or copied 

within a reasonable time at a cost that does not exceed the cost provided Chapter 119, 

Florida Statutes or as otherwise provided by law. 

 

The Consultant shall ensure that the records that are exempt or confidential and exempt 

from public records disclosure requirements are not disclosed except as authorized by law 

for the duration of the contract term and following completion of the contract if the 

Consultant does not transfer the records to the City. 

 

Upon completion of the contract, the Consultant shall transfer, at no cost, to the City all 

public records in possession of the Consultant or keep and maintain public records 

required by the City to perform the service. If the Consultant transfers all public records 

to the City upon completion of the contract, the Consultant shall destroy any duplicate 

public records that are exempt or confidential and exempt from public records disclosure 

requirements. If the Consultant keeps and maintains public records upon completion of 

the contract, the Consultant shall meet all applicable requirements for retaining public 

records. All records stored electronically must be provided to the City, upon request from 

the City's custodian of public records, in a format that is compatible with the information 

technology systems of the City. 

 



 

 13 

IF THE CONSULTANT HAS QUESTIONS REGARDING THE 

APPLICATION OF CHAPTER 119, FLORIDA STATUTES, TO THE 

CONSULTANT'S DUTY TO PROVIDE PUBLIC RECORDS 

RELATING TO THIS CONTRACT, CONTACT THE CUSTODIAN 

OF PUBLIC RECORDS (REBECCA SCHLICHTER) AT: 

 

• (727) 298-3034; 

• VIA EMAIL AT RSCHLICHTER@DUNEDINFL.NET; OR 

• AT DUNEDIN CITY HALL 737 LOUDEN AVE SUITE 202, 

DUNEDIN, FL 34698. 
 

22. PUBLIC ENTITY CRIMES 

A person or affiliate who has been placed on the convicted vendor list following a 

conviction for a public entity crime may not submit a bid on a contract to provide any 

goods or services to a public entity, may not submit a bid on a contract with a public 

entity for the construction or repair of a public building or public work, may not submit 

bids on leases of real property to a public entity, may not be awarded or perform work as 

a Consultant, supplier, subcontractor, or Consultant under a contract with any public 

entity, and may not transact business with any public entity in excess of the threshold 

amount provided in Florida Statutes 287.017 for CATEGORY TWO for a period of 36 

months from the date of being placed on the convicted vendor list 

 

23. DISCRIMINATION 

An entity or affiliate who has been placed on the discriminatory vendor list may not 

submit a bid on a contract to provide goods or services to a public entity, may not submit 

a bid on a contract with a public entity for the construction or repair of a public building 

or public work, may not submit bids on leases of real property to a public entity, may not 

award or perform work as a contractor, supplier, subcontractor, or Contractor under 

contract with any public entity, and may not transact business with any public entity. 

 

24. WITHDRAWAL OF PROPOSAL 

A Consultant may withdraw their proposal without prejudice to themselves no later than 

the day and hour set in the "Request for Proposal" by communicating his/her purpose in 

writing to the City at the address given in the "Request for Proposal".  When received, it 

will be returned unopened.  No proposal may be withdrawn after the time and date set for 

proposal submission. 

 

25. REFERENCES 

The Consultant shall provide three references from companies or government entities at 

which they have provided this service.  Please use the Reference Information Form 

(Exhibit I) to provide this information.  These references will enable the City to judge the 

Consultant’s responsibility, experience, skill, and business standing.  The City reserves 

the right to reject any proposal when, in its opinion, the Consultant has insufficient 

experience, responsibility, skill, or business standing to perform the proposed work in 

strict compliance with the specifications, or when the information provided is insufficient 

for making a judgment. 

 

 

mailto:RSCHLICHTER@DUNEDINFL.NET


 

 14 

26. PAYMENT TERMS 

The City’s payment terms are net 30.  Consultants are encouraged to offer additional 

discounts for faster payment.  All invoices for payment shall be sent to the City’s Finance 

Department at:  

City of Dunedin 

Attn. Accounts Payable 

737 Louden Ave. Suite 212 

Dunedin, FL 34698 

 

The City prefers to make payment electronically via ACH.   

 

27. PROVISION FOR OTHER AGENCIES 

Unless otherwise stipulated by the bidder on the response form, the bidder agrees to make 

available to all State of Florida government agencies, departments and municipalities the 

bid prices submitted in accordance with said bid terms and conditions therein, should any 

said government entity desire to buy under this proposal. 

 

28. PROTECTION OF RESIDENT WORKERS 

The City of Dunedin supports the Federal Immigration and Nationality Act (INA) which 

includes provisions addressing employment eligibility, employment verification and non-

discrimination.  The Vendor is held responsible to establish appropriate procedures and 

controls so no service under this contract will be performed by any worker who is not 

legally eligible to perform such services.  

 

The City of Dunedin shall have the right to immediately terminate an agreement if the 

City determines that the Vendor has failed to perform satisfactorily with respect to its 

employment practices in support of INA. 

 

Vendors shall be required to confirm the employment eligibility of all employees through 

participation in E-Verify or an employment eligibility program approved by the Social 

Security Administration, and will require same requirement to confirm employment 

eligibility of all subcontractors.  Respondents shall return an executed copy of the 

“Immigration Status Affidavit” (Exhibit III) form, included with these RFP documents, 

with their response.  

 

29. NON-APPROPRIATION  

In the event the City, in its sole discretion, determines that sufficient budgeted funds are 

not available to appropriate for payments due to Contractor under this Agreement, the 

City shall notify Contractor of such occurrence and this Agreement shall terminate on the 

last day of the current fiscal period without any penalty or expense to the City. 
 

30. FORCE MAJEURE  

Neither party shall be liable for its non-performance or delayed performance if caused by 

Force Majeure. Force Majeure shall be defined as a fire, flood, act of God, war, terrorism, 

riot, national emergency, sabotage, civil disturbance, strike, labor dispute, pandemic, 

epidemic, governmental act, law, ordinance, rule, order or regulation, or events which are 

not the fault or are beyond the control of the party, provided that the Parties stipulate that 

Force Majeure shall not include the novel coronavirus COVID-19 pandemic or any 

variant thereof. For the avoidance of doubt, Force Majeure shall not include (1) financial 



 

 15 

distress or the inability of either party to make a profit or avoid a financial loss; (2) 

changes in market prices or conditions; or (3) a party’s financial inability to perform its 

obligations hereunder. The obligations of the party affected by the event of Force 

Majeure (the “Affected Party”) shall be suspended, to the extent that those obligations are 

affected by the event of Force Majeure, from the date the Affected Party first gives notice 

in respect of that event of Force Majeure until cessation of that event of Force Majeure 

(or the consequences thereof). The Affected Party shall use commercially reasonable 

efforts to resume, with the shortest possible delay, compliance with obligations under this 

Agreement. Upon the cessation of the event of Force Majeure, the Affected Party shall 

promptly give notice to the other party of such cessation. If an event of Force Majeure 

shall continue for more than 30 consecutive calendar days, then the other party shall have 

the right to terminate this Agreement without penalty. 

 

31. FOREIGN COMPANIES OF CONCERN 

If the Total Agreement Price exceeds $100,000, pursuant to section 286.101, Florida 

Statutes, Contractor shall disclose any current or prior interest of, any contract with, or 

any grant or gift received from a Foreign Country of Concern, as defined below, if such 

interest, contract, or grant or gift has a value of $50,000 or more and such interest existed 

at any time or such contract or grant or gift was received or in force at any time during 

the previous five (5) years.  For purposes of this section, “Foreign Country of Concern” 

means the People’s Republic of China, the Russian Federation, the Islamic Republic of 

Iran, the Democratic People’s Republic of Korea, the Republic of Cuba, the Venezuelan 

regime of Nicolas Maduro, or the Syrian Arab Republic, including any agency of or any 

other entity under significant control of such foreign country of concern. Contractor’s 

disclosure shall include the name and mailing address of the disclosing entity, the amount 

of the contract or grant or gift or the value of the interest disclosed, the applicable foreign 

country of concern and, if applicable, the date of termination of the contract or interest, 

the date of receipt of the grant or gift, and the name of the agent or controlled entity that 

is the source or interest holder.  Contractor represents that within one (1) year before 

proposing any contract to the City, Contractor provided a copy of such disclosure to the 

Florida Department of Financial Services. 

                  

32. SCRUTINIZED COMPANIES  

By executing this Agreement and each and every renewal hereof (if renewal is separately 

provided for herein), pursuant to section 287.135, Florida Statutes, Contractor certifies, 

represents, and warrants that: (a) it is not on the Scrutinized Companies that Boycott 

Israel List, and (b) it is not engaged in a Boycott of Israel, and that all such certifications 

were true at the time it submitted its bid or proposal for this Agreement, as of the 

Effective Date of this Agreement, and as of the effective date of any renewal of this 

Agreement. Notwithstanding anything contained in this Agreement to the contrary, the 

City may terminate this Agreement immediately if: (1) Contractor is found to have 

submitted a false certification regarding (a) or (b) above in accordance with section 

287.135, Florida Statutes, or (2) Contractor has been placed on the Scrutinized 

Companies that Boycott Israel List or is or has been engaged in a Boycott of Israel. Such 

termination shall be in addition to any and all remedies available to the City at law or in 

equity. The term “Boycott of Israel” used in this section is defined as in, and the 

Scrutinized Companies that Boycott Israel List is the list maintained pursuant to, Section 

287.135, Florida Statutes. 

 

 



 

 16 

33. PROHIBITION IN GOVERNMENT CONTRACTING 

Consultant is hereby notified that section 287.05701, Florida Statutes, states in pertinent 

part: “Prohibition against considering social, political, or ideological interests in 

government contracting. 

(1) As used in this section, the term “awarding body” means:  

(a)   For state contracts, an agency or the department. 

(b) For local government contracts, the governing body of a county, a 

municipality, a special district, or any other political subdivision of the state.  

(2)(a) An awarding body may not request documentation of or consider a 

vendor’s social, political, or ideological interests when determining if the 

vendor is a responsible vendor.  

(b) An awarding body may not give preference to a vendor based on the vendor’s 

social, political, or ideological interests.” 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 



 

 17 

 

SECTION C 

SPECIFIC REQUIREMENTS 

 
1. PURPOSE OF PROPOSAL 

 

The City of Dunedin is a Florida municipality located on the Gulf of Mexico just north of 

Clearwater, FL in Pinellas County.  The City has a population of approximately 37,000 

residents in a ten square mile area.  Dunedin is a Florida Green Building Coalition 

certified Green City at the Platinum Level based on sustainability and environmental 

performance.   

 

The City of Dunedin wishes to receive detailed Technical Proposals for a Pavement 

Management Survey and Pavement Management Software System (PMS) and related 

Consulting Services as outlined in this Request for Proposal (RFP). 

 

The City of Dunedin maintains approximately 127 lane miles of roadway. The proposed 

solution will be a vendor hosted web-based pavement management software system. The 

system will allow the City of Dunedin to integrate and maintain an inventory, analyze 

condition data, track construction history, and conduct multi-year analyses to guide 

sound, defensible decisions about investment of available resources for pavement 

maintenance and rehabilitation. 

 

 

2. SCOPE OF SERVICES 

 

The Services shall include, but not be limited to the following:  

 

The Scope of Work for this Project shall consist of the seven (7) tasks as defined below. 

 

2.1 Street Inventory File update/import 

 

The City's current road network resides in the AgileAssets Pavement Analyst 

database, while the inventory for the Pavement Management System (PMS) is based 

on the City's GIS centerline database.  A new GIS inventory has been developed since 

the last condition survey, potentially incorporating new segments.  The initial step in 

the PMS involves updating or extracting data from AgileAssets, ensuring accurate 

representation of new GIS and ID numbers in the web-based software offered. 

 

2.2 Pavement Condition Survey 

 

Perform a complete pavement condition survey of the entire network and populate the 

PMS database.  All surveys shall utilize an automated pavement condition and asset 

inventory data collection method for each segment, aligning with the Long-Term 

Pavement Performance Program (LTPP) methodology recommended by the Federal 

Highway Administration. Distresses to be collected for asphalt pavements include 

fatigue cracking, transverse cracking, block cracking, patch deterioration/potholes, 

surface defects, and rutting/roughness. Note: Brick pavement roads and asphalt 

parking lots are not covered under this proposal. 



 

 18 

 

2.3 Data Analysis 

 

Perform an optimization analysis survey of the pavement condition data to determine 

segment-specific requirements and budgetary allocations, alongside network-wide 

budget optimization.  Conduct a multi-constraint optimization analysis across at least 

four funding levels over a 10-Year Period (City-provided funding amounts). 

Additionally, provide updated treatment unit cost data. 

 

2.4 Software Implementation 

 

The City is looking for pavement management software to increase cost-efficiencies 

and decision-making capabilities. The system selected shall have the following 

capabilities: 

 

2.4.1 Web-based software, inclusive of free data hosting for the initial contract 

year. 

  

2.4.2 Be highly configurable to allow refinement in the future and expansion to 

other asset types.  As such, must have the capability of being configured to 

be tightly integrated a broader infrastructure asset management system 

utilizing the same software. 

 

2.4.3 Store all pavement condition data and convert that data to user-defined 

condition indices. 

 

2.4.4 Have a flexible table structure that will allow for adding additional 

attributes to existing tables and creating new tables for additional types of 

data without requiring additional software development. 

 

2.4.5 Must allow for unlimited number and types of pavement distresses.  The 

software must allow for user-defined condition data including at least 

three levels of severities and at least six levels of extents. 

 

2.4.6 Must allow for unlimited types of pavement repairs. 

 

2.4.7 Must allow for deterioration of individual distress indices as well as 

general condition indices within the system.  The system must allow the 

user to define an unlimited number of performance models by pavement 

type or repair treatments by deteriorating any condition indices over time. 

 

2.4.8 Must have unlimited flexibility in creating decision trees, pavement repair 

strategies and performance models. These are to be based on user-defined 

decision and performance variables available in the database. 

 

2.4.9 Must calculate benefit of any given repair based on a standard benefit 

definition utilizing of the area between the "current" performance model 

and the "potential" repair-specific performance curve.  The system must 

provide the ability to allow users to modify the defined standard benefit of 



 

 19 

a potential repair with any user-specific variables that may be contained 

within the database such as risk, traffic, safety, importance, etc. 

 

2.4.10 Have the capability to analyze various "what if” scenarios to determine 

future funding needs and alternative repair scenarios. Users must be able 

to apply unlimited constraints to any analysis.  When running optimization 

scenarios, user-defined constraints will include but should not be limited 

to: 

• Budgets 

• Budgets by repair type (preservation, rehabilitation, reconstruction) 

• Budget by maintenance or areas within the City 

• Condition indices 

• Maximum percentage of pavements below a specified condition 

threshold 

• Other levels of service as user-defined 

 

2.4.11 Provide unique multi-year work plans that identify the type of repair and 

associated costs for all pavement segments for each year of the analysis 

period for any funding or performance scenario. 

 

2.4.12 Allow for the running of scenarios utilizing an optimized solution that 

selects projects and groups of projects which provide the maximum 

benefit solution for the defined constraints. 

 

2.4.13 The optimization scenario functionality must have goal setting capabilities 

to determine the specific optimized projects that would need to be 

completed yearly to meet any user-defined goal or set of goals. 

 

2.4.14 Allow for analysis to consider any planned utility projects so as to ensure 

that streets are not selected for repairs if utility work is planned as 

identified in the City's CIP on those streets. 

 

2.4.15 Allow for the yearly automated updating of the individual pavement 

condition indices based on construction history data.  Repair exclusion 

years, condition improvement rules, age counters and treatment counters 

to be used in the optimization scenarios shall be user-defined. 

 

2.4.16 Allow for the linking and storing of electronic documents and images 

including photos, construction documents, testing results, etc. related to 

each specific pavement management section. 

 

2.4.17 Provide standard report capabilities including configurable graphs, charts 

and GIS mapping and the ability to develop customized reports within the 

application. 

 

2.4.18 Must be able to access data through various methods: Feature rest service, 

SQL-based connection, Exportable to Excel (xlsx) 

 



 

 20 

2.4.19 Provide forward and downward facing images accompanied by an ID 

spreadsheet.  

 

2.4.20 Ability for a visual map driven dashboard displaying current and projected 

road network conditions by year as well cost view within the dashboard. 

 

2.4.21 Provide user the ability to toggle feature for displaying road conditions. 

 

2.4.22 Provide user the ability for a public facing dashboard and an internal 

dashboard presenting detailed data.  

 

2.5 Software Testing 

 

Consultant shall test the configuration to ensure that all configuration requirements 

are properly functioning. 

 

2.6 Staff Training 

 

Consultant shall provide three (3) days of on-site training, for up to three (3) City 

staff members. Training will take place at a City Facility.  

 

2.7 Software as a Service (SaaS) 

  

2.7.1 Annual software maintenance and technical support shall be provided for a 

minimum of one year plus four (4) additional consecutive years for a total 

of five (5) years. 

 

2.7.2 Three concurrent user licenses are required by the City. 

 

3. SCHEDULE 

 

The anticipated RFP schedule is as follows: 

 

RFP Advertised   March 1, 2024 

Responses due   April 2, 2024 

Response Evaluation Period  April 3, 2024 – April 19, 2024  

Commission Approval   May 7, 2024 

Purchase Order Issued   May 13, 2024   

Consultant Completes Work  Per Agreed Upon Schedule 

 

The Consultant shall submit a proposed schedule of work with their response.  The scheduled 

shall begin with the receipt of the purchase order.  The City suggests the following 

milestones: 

 

• Street Inventory File update/import 

• Pavement Condition Survey 

• Data Analysis 

• System Implementation 

• Software Testing 



 

 21 

• Staff Training 

• Software as a Service (SaaS) 

 

4. CITY SUPPORT SERVICES 

 

The City will assign a Project Manager who will be responsible for management and 

coordination of the project.  The Consultant will designate an individual who will be 

responsible for the successful completion of this project and will have authority to speak 

on behalf of the firm.  During the course of the project, the firm and City Project 

Manager may have regular meetings to discuss technical issues and progress, if needed.  

Progress meetings will be scheduled on an as needed basis.  Written progress reports 

detailing the work completed to date, milestones met, upcoming deliverables, open 

issues, anticipated problems and recommended solutions will be sent to the City monthly. 

  

5. PROJECT BUDGET 

   

The City has budgeted $125,000 for this project. 

 

6. EVALUATION OF PROPOSALS  

 

 6.1 Negotiations may be conducted with the Consultant whose proposal has been 

judged to best meet the needs of the City and the Project. The lowest cost 

proposal will not necessarily be selected.    

 

 6.2 The City reserves the right to request any additional information needed for 

clarification from any Consultant for evaluation purposes. 

 

 6.3 Proposals will be evaluated by an Evaluation Committee.  Each member will 

score each proposal by the criteria described in Item 6.6 below.   

 

6.4 The Respondents will be ranked based on the evaluation scores.  The Evaluation 

Committee reserves the right to create a “Short List” of several firms or to 

negotiate with the highest ranked firm.  The Evaluation Committee may request 

interviews and/or additional information from the firms on the Short List.  

 

6.5 If the City creates a Short List and interviews Consultants on the Short List, the 

Evaluation Committee will re-rank the Short-Listed firms after the presentations.  

The Committee will consider the initial submittal, any request for additional 

information and the interviews/presentations.  The Committee will use the same 

evaluation criteria.  Consultants will be ranked (#1, #2, etc.) by each evaluator.  

The Consultant receiving the lowest total evaluation score (sum of each 

evaluator’s ranking) will be the highest ranked Consultant. 

 

6.6 Proposals will be evaluated on the basis of the following criteria. 

   

• Cost                                                                              (20%) 

• Project Team experience with similar projects (20%) 

• Consultant experience in Pavement Management (20%) 

• Proposed Software Solution   (20%) 



 

 22 

• Proposed Project Plan   (10%) 

• Schedule    (5%) 

• References     (5%) 

 

Total    (100%) 

 

 



 

 23 

SECTION D 

RESPONSE FORMAT 
 

The Consultant’s response shall be in the same tabbed sequence as the criteria listed 

below so that they can be easily identified and compared to other responses.   

Proposals shall be submitted on 8.5” x 11” paper, printed double sided, numbered, 

typewritten, with headings, sections and sub-sections identified appropriately.  The City 

of Dunedin may reject any proposal that does not meet the following criteria: 

 

1. TITLE PAGE (One Page) 

 

Show the RFP subject, name of firm, mailing address, telephone number, name of contact 

person, email address and date. 

 

2. TABLE OF CONTENTS  

 

3. LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING (One page) 

 

State your understanding of work to be accomplished and make a commitment to perform 

all work within the required time frames. Also, state the name of the person that will be 

authorized to make representations for the Consultant, their title, address and phone, fax 

number(s) and email address. State that the person signing the letter has been authorized 

to bind the Consultant and provide documentation proof.   

 

4. CONSULTANT'S QUALIFICATIONS AND EXPERIENCE 

 

This section requires that the Consultant identify at least (3) three similar projects 

completed during the past three (3) years.  The Consultant shall also identify each 

reference by including the name, title and phone number of key customer contact 

personnel involved with the project. Local references are preferred.  This would allow 

City Staff to visit the site if desired.  Reference Information (Exhibit I) should be 

included in this area.  

 

The Consultant shall identify the background, experience and qualifications of the 

responsible project professional. 

 

NOTE: Projects used as examples of similar work shall be clearly noted if the work was 

done by individuals while employed by other firms.  The only projects which you may 

claim without attribution are those projects actually produced by your firm.  Improper or 

misleading credit for projects, in our view, is an adverse reflection on a firm's integrity 

and may be grounds for rejection of those projects from your experience record. 

 

This section should include a narrative description of current and previous experience 

that would qualify the Consultant to complete the work described in this RFP.   

 

Resumes of the key members of the Consultant’s team should be included in this area.  

This should include the Project Manager.  Detail the availability of personnel for 

immediate placement. 



 

 24 

Discuss sub-consultant usage if anticipated.  Indicate the percentage of work 

estimated to be performed by the sub vs. the prime. Also, indicate if the prime 

consultant has previously worked with the proposed sub and give a brief example of 

the previous relationship(s) 

 

5. PROJECT APPROACH   

 

Consultants shall provide a work plan that clearly and concisely defines the approach 

taken. The approach section shall provide a detailed description of how your company 

anticipates accomplishing the project relative to methodology, tools, personnel, phasing, 

etc. The work plan shall demonstrate to the City that your firm understands the tasks 

involved to produce each of the required deliverables, and shall identify what is required 

of the City to prepare for the firm's solution, if chosen. 

 

• The work plan shall include: major project milestones, activities, tasks, data 

collection methodology and deliverables; customization approach; data 

conversion/data migration approach; "go live" approach; assumptions or 

constraints on which the work plan is predicated. 

 

• Provide a description of the software application being proposed in terms of 

software name, capabilities, functionality, and features. 

 

• Describe the application hosting environment. 

 

• Describe the approach for ongoing system security in terms of anti-virus and 

Internet vulnerability management.  Focus on the methods and a schedule for 

security updates and patch distribution. 

 

• Describe the approach with respect to data backups and archives. 

 

• Describe GIS capabilities or describe the process required to integrate the data in 

the PMS to a geographic data in ArcGIS.b.  Approach to assigning personnel 

(man-loading) to a project of this size, duration, and how such relates to the 

proposed scope of services. 

 

• Approach to cost control. 

 

• Provide an individual labeled (by item number) response to each requirement of 

Item 2.4. The response shall confirm that the required feature can be 

accomplished within the proposed software or the response shall acknowledge 

that the requirement cannot be completed within the proposed software. Provide 

additional information related to each requirement as necessary. 

 

6. COST QUOTE       

 

Include a cost breakdown for each item related to the required services.  This shall 

include but not be limited to: pavement evaluation, annual software subscription costs, 

maintenance, and technical support.   

 



 

 25 

Include a proposed payment plan based on the completion of various milestones or based 

on some other method. 

 

7. SCHEDULE 

       

Include a projected schedule for the various phases of the project as detailed in Item 3 – 

“Schedule” above. 

 

8. ADDITIONAL INFORMATION  

 

The Consultant may include any pertinent additional information in this Section. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 26 

 

EXHIBIT I 

REFERENCE INFORMATION 

RFQ 24-1260 

 
Organization___________________________________________________ 

 

Contact Person________________________________________________________ 

 

Address______________________________________________________________ 

 

City_________________________________ State __________Zip ______________ 

 

Phone Number (       )___________________Email: ___________________________ 

 

Date Contract Awarded__________________________________________________ 

 

 

 

Organization___________________________________________________ 

 

Contact Person________________________________________________________ 

 

Address______________________________________________________________ 

 

City _______________________________State  __________Zip  _______________ 

 

Phone Number (       )___________________Email: ___________________________ 

 

Date Contract Awarded__________________________________________________ 

 

 

 

Organization___________________________________________________ 

 

Contact Person________________________________________________________ 

 

Address______________________________________________________________ 

 

City _________________________________State __________Zip ______________ 

 

Phone Number (       )___________________Email: ___________________________ 

 

Date Contract Awarded__________________________________________________ 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 27 

 
City of Dunedin 

Purchasing Section 

P.O. Box 1348 

Dunedin, Fl. 34697-1348 

 

EXHIBIT II 

IMMIGRATION STATUS AFFIDAVIT  
Contractor agrees that it shall confirm the employment eligibility of all employees through participation in 

E-Verify or an employment eligibility program approved by the Social Security Administration and will 

require same requirement to confirm employment eligibility of all subcontractors.  Contractor 

acknowledges and certifies that any person assigned to perform services hereunder meets the employment 

eligibility program requirements of the State of Florida and the United States of America.   

 

I certify that the company shown below is in compliance and that I am authorized to sign on its behalf. 

 

RFP/Bid # and Name __________________________________________________________________

  

 

_________________________________  __________________________________________________ 

(Company)     (Address) 

 

I, __________________________________ (Print Name), the ______________________________ (Title) 

 

of _______________________________________ (Company Name) swear or affirm that all the 

information on this affidavit and submitted with this bid or proposal is true, and that I am authorized to 

complete this affidavit on behalf of the firm. 

 

______________________________________________ ______________________________ 

(Signature)      (Date) 

 

The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me this _________________, 20___ by  

 

__________________________ who personally known to me or who has produced _____________   

 

(type of identification) as identification and who executed the foregoing Affidavit of Contractor. 

 

(SEAL)     STATE OF FLORIDA 

    COUNTY OF PINELLAS 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

________________________________ 

Notary Public, State of Florida  

My Commission Expires: 
 

 

*Contractor - Submit with Bid or Proposal Documents  

 

 
 



RFP #24-1260 
Page 1 of 10 
 

CITY OF DUNEDIN CONTRACT 
 
THIS CITY OF DUNEDIN CONTRACT  (“Agreement”), entered into this __________ day of 
______________________, 2024 (“Effective Date”), is made by and between the CITY OF DUNEDIN, 
FLORIDA, a municipal corporation in the State of Florida(“City”), 
and____________________________________________________________________, a 
___________________________________________ [Corporation/Limited Liability Company], 
authorized to do business in the State of Florida, with its principal address at 
_____________________________________________________ (“Contractor”)(collectively the 
“Parties”).  
 

WITNESSETH: 
 

WHEREAS, the City has previously determined that it has a need for Consultant Services for the 
Implementation of a Pavement Management System; and  

 
WHEREAS, the City, after soliciting competitive proposals for such services pursuant to City of 

Dunedin Request for Proposal No. 24-1260 (hereinafter the “Request for Proposal” or “RFP”), the City has 
awarded this Agreement to Contractor for a total amount not to exceed  $___________________ (“Total 
Agreement Price”); and  

 
WHEREAS, Contractor has represented that it is able to satisfactorily provide the services 

according to the terms and conditions of the Request for Proposal, which are incorporated herein by 
reference, and the terms and conditions contained herein; and  

 
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual promises and agreements set forth herein, and 

for other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and adequacy of which is hereby acknowledged, 
the Parties agree as follows:  

 
 1. Recitals. The above recitals are true and correct and are hereby incorporated by reference. 
 
 2. Services to be Performed. Contractor hereby agrees to provide the City with Consultant Services 
for the Implementation of a Pavement Management System, as requested and more specifically outlined 
in the Exhibits to this Agreement. Contractor shall provide services of high quality in all respects, and the 
workmanship must be in accordance with customary standards of the various trades and industries 
involved with the services. Contractor acknowledges that it has read the specifications of the services to 
be performed and fully understands them.  
 
 3. Documents Compromising Agreement. This Agreement includes this contract document and the 
following Exhibits, which are incorporated herein by reference:  
 

a.  City of Dunedin's Request for Proposal #24-1260 and all of its addenda and attachments 
issued on March 1, 2024 (Exhibit A);  

 
b.  Contractor's Certificate of Insurance required under Section B of the Request for Proposal 

(Exhibit B); and  
 



RFP #24-1260 
Page 2 of 10 
 

c.  Contractor's Proposal and all associated documents (Exhibit C).  
 

If there is a conflict between the terms of this contract document and the above-referenced Exhibits, then 
the conflict shall be resolved as follows: the terms of this contract document shall prevail over the Exhibits, 
and the terms of the Exhibits shall be given preference in their above-listed order.  
 
 4. Time of the Essence. Time is of the essence for all work performed under this Agreement. If 
Contractor fails to promptly complete work under this Agreement, the City may terminate this Agreement 
immediately, purchase substitute services elsewhere, and recover from Contractor any increased costs 
and damages thereby incurred by the City.  
 
 5. Term of Agreement. The Agreement shall commence and be effective on the Effective Date and 
shall remain in effect until the completion of all services as determined by the City in its sole and absolute 
discretion, unless terminated sooner as provided herein.       
 
 6. Non-exclusivity. The City specifically reserves the right to contract with other entities for the 
services described herein or for similar services if it deems, in its sole discretion, such action to be in the 
City’s best interest.  
 
 7. Amendment. This Agreement may not be amended or modified except in writing executed by the 
Parties.  
 
 8. Assignment. The terms and provisions of this Agreement shall be binding upon the Parties and their 
respective partners, successors, heirs, executors, administrators, assigns and legal representatives. 
Notwithstanding the forgoing, Contractor’s rights and obligations under this Agreement may not be 
transferred, assigned, sublet, mortgaged, pledged or otherwise disposed of or encumbered in any way 
without the City’s prior written consent. The City may assign its rights and obligations under this 
Agreement to any successor to the rights and functions of the City or to any governmental agency to the 
extent required by applicable laws or governmental regulations or to the extent the City deems necessary 
or advisable under the circumstances.  
 
 9. Termination without Cause. For and in exchange for an additional Ten dollars ($10) of 
consideration, if the City determines that it is in its best interest to do so, the City may terminate this 
Agreement without cause and without penalty or expense to the City, upon 30 days written notice to 
Contractor. Upon expiration of such time period, this Agreement shall be deemed terminated, all 
obligations under this Agreement shall cease, and a final invoice shall be submitted for all work performed 
up to and through the date of termination. 
 

10. Termination with Cause. The City may terminate this Agreement with at any time immediately 
upon written notice to Contractor if: (a) Contractor fails to fulfill or abide by any of the terms or conditions 
specified in this Agreement; (b) Contractor fails to perform in the manner called for in this Agreement; or 
(c) Contractor does not provide services in accordance with the requirements of the specifications in this 
Agreement. In its sole discretion, the City may allow Contractor an appropriately short period of time in 
which to cure a defect in performance or non-performance. In such case, the City’s written notice of 
termination to Contractor shall state the time period in which cure is permitted and other appropriate 
conditions, if applicable. If this Agreement is terminated by the City for cause, in addition to all other 



RFP #24-1260 
Page 3 of 10 
 

remedies, Contractor shall be liable for all expenses incurred by the City in reprocuring elsewhere the 
same or similar items or services offered by Contractor. 
 
 11. Compensation. In consideration of Contractor’s faithful performance under this Agreement, the 
City agrees to pay Contractor, based on the submission of invoices for work completed, up to an aggregate 
maximum of the Total Agreement Price. All invoices shall be submitted in accordance with the Local 
Government Prompt Payment Act, sections 218.70 through 218.79, Florida Statutes, as may be amended. 
All payments shall be due on the date established by the Local Government Prompt Payment Act. Payment 
due date for purchase of goods or services other than construction services is net 45 days from the date 
an invoice submitted in accordance with the Local Government Prompt Payment Act is received by the 
City. In the event of a disputed invoice, only that portion so contested will be withheld from payment and 
the undisputed portion shall be due and payable on the terms set forth herein. The City does not pay sales 
tax and will provide sales tax exemption information at the written request of Contractor, where 
necessary.  
 
 12. Non-appropriation. In the event the City, in its sole discretion, determines that sufficient budgeted 
funds are not available to appropriate for payments due to Contractor under this Agreement, the City 
shall notify Contractor of such occurrence and this Agreement shall terminate on the last day of the 
current fiscal period without any penalty or expense to the City. 
 
 13. Permits/Licenses; Compliance with Laws. Contractor must secure and maintain any and all permits 
and licenses required to complete the Agreement. Contractor shall be solely responsible for compliance 
with all federal, state, county, and local laws, rules and regulations, and lawful orders of public authorities 
including those set forth in this Agreement and that, in any manner, could bear on the work performed 
under this Agreement, including but not limited to all rules and regulations related to safety and 
compliance therewith. The City shall have no authority to direct, oversee, or instruct Contractor’s 
employees, subcontractors, or materialmen, or any other individuals performing the work under this 
Agreement. Omission of any applicable laws, ordinances, rules, regulations, standards or orders by the 
City in this Agreement shall be construed as an oversight and shall not relieve Contractor of its obligations 
to comply with such laws fully and completely. Upon request, Contractor shall furnish to the City 
certificates of compliance with all such laws, orders and regulations.  
 
 14. Minimum Insurance Requirements. Contractor shall maintain a policy or policies of insurance 
throughout the entire term of this Agreement. All insurance policies shall be from responsible companies 
duly authorized to do business in the State of Florida and have a minimum rating of "A-"as assigned by 
AM Best. The City shall be named as an additional insured on such policy(ies) and shall be given 30 days’ 
written notice of cancellation, non-renewal, or adverse change to any policies. Contractor shall provide a 
certificate of insurance in accordance with Insurance Requirements, Section B of the Request for Proposal, 
evidencing such coverage prior to issuance of a purchase order or commencement of any work under this 
Agreement. Contractor shall ensure that any subcontractors or persons hired by subcontractors maintain 
the same level of insurance coverage as Contractor.  
 

15. Indemnification.  
 
 15.1 The Parties recognize that Contractor is an independent contractor. Contractor agrees to assume 
liability for and indemnify, hold harmless, and defend the City, its governing body, officers, employees, 
agents, and attorneys of, from, and against all liability and expense, including reasonable attorneys’ fees, 



RFP #24-1260 
Page 4 of 10 
 

in connection with any and all claims, demands, damages, actions, causes of action, and suits in equity of 
whatever kind or nature, including claims for personal injury, property damage, equitable relief, or loss of 
use, arising out of the execution, performance, nonperformance, or enforcement of this Agreement, 
excluding only those claims caused by the sole negligence of the City. This includes claims made by the 
employees of Contractor against the City, and Contractor hereby waives its entitlement, if any, to 
immunity under section 440.11, Florida Statutes. Contractor’s liability hereunder shall include all 
attorneys’ fees and costs incurred by the City in the enforcement of this indemnification provision. 
Notwithstanding anything contained herein to the contrary, this indemnification provision shall not be 
construed as a waiver of any immunity from or limitation of liability to which the City is entitled to 
pursuant to the doctrine of sovereign immunity or section 768.28, Florida Statutes. The obligations 
contained in this provision shall survive termination of this Agreement, however terminated, and shall not 
be limited by the amount of any insurance required to be obtained or maintained under this Agreement.  
 

15.2 Control of Defense. Subject to the limitations set forth is this provision, Contractor shall assume 
control of the defense of any claim asserted by a third party against the City arising from or in any way 
related to this Agreement and, in connection with such defenses, shall appoint lead counsel, in each case 
at Contractor’s expense. Contractor shall have the right, at its option, to participate in the defense of any 
third-party claim, without relieving Contractor of any of its obligations hereunder. If Contractor assumes 
control of the defense of any third-party claim in accordance with this paragraph, Contractor shall obtain 
the prior written consent of the City before entering into any settlement of such claim. Notwithstanding 
anything to the contrary in this provision, Contractor shall not assume or maintain control of the defense 
of any third-party claim, but shall pay the fees of counsel retained by the City and all expenses including 
experts’ fees, if (i) an adverse determination with respect to the third-party claim would, in the good faith 
judgment of the City, be detrimental in any material respect of the City’s reputation; (ii) the third party 
claim seeks an injunction or equitable relief against the City; or (iii) Contractor has failed or is failing to 
prosecute or defend vigorously the third-party claim. Each party shall cooperate, and cause its agents to 
cooperate, in the defense or prosecution of any third-party claim and shall furnish or cause to be furnished 
such records and information, and attend such conferences, discovery proceedings, hearings, trials, or 
appeals, as may be reasonably requested in connection therewith.  
 

16. Attorneys’ Fees. In the event of legal action or other proceeding arising under this Agreement, the 
City shall be entitled to recover from Contractor all its reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs incurred by 
the City in the prosecution or defense of such action, or in any post-judgment or collection proceedings 
and whether incurred before suit, at the trial level or at the appellate level. This shall include any 
bankruptcy proceedings. The City also shall be entitled to recover any reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs 
incurred in litigating the entitlement to attorneys’ fees and costs, as well as in determining the amount of 
attorneys’ fees and costs due to the City. The reasonable costs to which the City will be entitled include 
costs that are taxable under any applicable statute, rule, or guideline, as well as costs of investigation, 
copying costs, electronic discovery costs, mailing and delivery charges, costs of conducting legal research, 
consultant and expert witness fees, travel expenses, court reporter fees and mediator fees, regardless of 
whether such costs are taxable under any applicable statue, rule or guideline. 
 
 17. Controlling Law and Venue. This Agreement shall be construed by and controlled under the laws 
of the State of Florida. The Parties consent to jurisdiction over them in the State of Florida and agree that 
venue for any state action arising under this Agreement shall lie solely in the courts located in Pinellas 
County, Florida, and for any federal action shall lie solely in the United States District Court, Middle District 



RFP #24-1260 
Page 5 of 10 
 

of Florida, Tampa Division. The Parties waive their right to trial by jury in any action, proceeding or claim 
arising out of or related to this Agreement.  
 
 18. E-Verify. Contractor shall comply with all applicable provisions of sections 448.09 and 448.095, 
Florida Statutes, as may be amended. The definitions in section 448.095(1), Florida Statutes, as may be 
amended, apply to this section of the Agreement. Contractor shall register with and use the U.S. 
Department of Homeland Security’s E-Verify system to verify the work authorization status of all 
employees of Contractor. Contractor may not enter into a contract with a subcontractor to perform work 
under this Agreement unless and until the subcontractor registers with and uses the E-Verify system. If 
Contractor enters into a contract with a subcontractor to perform work under this Agreement, Contractor 
must obtain a properly executed affidavit from the subcontractor stating that the subcontractor does not 
employ, contract with, or subcontract with an unauthorized alien. Contractor must maintain copies of all 
such affidavits for the duration of this Agreement. City may terminate this Agreement for cause if City 
determines that Contractor or Contractor’s subcontractor has not complied with any applicable provision 
of sections 448.09 or 448.095, Florida Statutes, as may be amended. City will terminate this Agreement 
for cause if City has a good faith belief that Contractor has knowingly violated subsection 448.09(1), 
Florida Statutes, as may be amended. If the City has a good faith belief that a subcontractor knowingly 
violated section 448.09(1), Florida Statutes, as may be amended, but City determines that Contractor 
otherwise complied with section 448.09(1), Florida Statutes, as may be amended, City will notify 
Contractor as such, and Contractor must immediately terminate Contractor’s contract with said 
subcontractor. If this Agreement is terminated under section 448.095(c), F.S.: (a) such termination is not 
a breach of this Agreement and may not be considered as such; (b) Contractor may not be awarded a 
public contract for at least 1 year after the date on which the Agreement is terminated; and (c) Contractor 
is liable for any additional costs incurred by the City as a result of the termination of the Agreement. 
 
 19. Severability. If any one or more provisions of this Agreement shall be held to be invalid, illegal, or 
unenforceable in any respect by a court of competent jurisdiction, the validity, legality, and enforceability 
of the remaining provisions hereof shall not in any way be affected or impaired thereby and this 
Agreement shall be treated as though the invalidated portion(s) had never been a part hereof.  
 
 20. Electronic Signatures. This Agreement may be executed by electronic signature technology and 
such electronic signature shall act as the Parties’ legal signatures on this Agreement and shall be treated 
in all respects as an original handwritten signature.  
 
 21. Authority. The Parties to this Agreement represent and warrant that they are authorized to enter 
into this Agreement without the consent and joinder of any other party and that the Parties executing this 
Agreement have full power and authority to bind their respective party to the terms hereof.  
 
 22. Piggybacking. Contractor agrees to make the prices and terms under this Agreement available to 
any other governmental entity, should any such governmental entity desire to purchase under the terms 
and conditions of this Agreement. For purposes of this section, “governmental entity” shall mean all State 
of Florida agencies, the legislative and judicial branches, political subdivisions, counties, school boards, 
community colleges, municipalities, transit authorities, special districts, or other public agencies or 
authorities.  
 
 23. Foreign Countries of Concern. If the Total Agreement Price exceeds $100,000, pursuant to section 
286.101, Florida Statutes, Contractor shall disclose any current or prior interest of, any contract with, or 



RFP #24-1260 
Page 6 of 10 
 

any grant or gift received from a Foreign Country of Concern, as defined below, if such interest, contract, 
or grant or gift has a value of $50,000 or more and such interest existed at any time or such contract or 
grant or gift was received or in force at any time during the previous five (5) years.  
 
 For purposes of this section, “Foreign Country of Concern” means the People’s Republic of China, the 
Russian Federation, the Islamic Republic of Iran, the Democratic People’s Republic of Korea, the Republic 
of Cuba, the Venezuelan regime of Nicolas Maduro, or the Syrian Arab Republic, including any agency of 
or any other entity under significant control of such foreign country of concern.  
 
 Contractor’s disclosure shall include the name and mailing address of the disclosing entity, the 
amount of the contract or grant or gift or the value of the interest disclosed, the applicable foreign country 
of concern and, if applicable, the date of termination of the contract or interest, the date of receipt of the 
grant or gift, and the name of the agent or controlled entity that is the source or interest holder. 
Contractor represents that within one (1) year before proposing any contract to the City, Contractor 
provided a copy of such disclosure to the Florida Department of Financial Services.  
 
 24. Public Records. Pursuant to section 119.0701, Florida Statutes, for any tasks performed by 
Contractor on behalf of the City, Contractor shall: (a) keep and maintain all public records, as that term is 
defined in chapter 119, Florida Statutes (“Public Records”), required by the City to perform the work 
contemplated by this Agreement; (b) upon request from the City’s custodian of public records, provide 
the City with a copy of the requested Public Records or allow the Public Records to be inspected or copied 
within a reasonable time at a cost that does not exceed the costs provided in chapter 119, Florida Statutes, 
or as otherwise provided by law; (c) ensure that Public Records that are exempt or confidential and 
exempt from Public Records disclosure requirements are not disclosed except as authorized by law for 
the duration of the term of this Agreement and following completion or termination of this Agreement, if 
Contractor does not transfer the records to the City in accordance with (d) below; and (d) upon completion 
or termination of this Agreement, (i) if the City, in its sole and absolute discretion, requests that all Public 
Records in possession of Contractor be transferred to the City, Contractor shall transfer, at no cost, to the 
City, all Public Records in possession of Contractor within 30 days of such request or (ii) if no such request 
is made by the City, Contractor shall keep and maintain the Public Records required by the City to perform 
the work contemplated by this Agreement. If Contractor transfers all Public Records to the City pursuant 
to (d)(i) above, Contractor shall destroy any duplicate Public Records that are exempt or confidential and 
exempt from Public Records disclosure requirements within 30 days of transferring the Public Records to 
the City and provide the City with written confirmation that such records have been destroyed within 30 
days of transferring the Public Records. If Contractor keeps and maintains Public Records pursuant to 
(d)(ii) above, Contractor shall meet all applicable requirements for retaining Public Records. All Public 
Records stored electronically must be provided to the City, upon request from the City’s custodian of 
public records, in a format that is compatible with the information technology of the City. If Contractor 
does not comply with a Public Records request, or does not comply with a Public Records request within 
a reasonable amount of time, the City may pursue any and all remedies available in law or equity including, 
but not limited to, specific performance. The provisions of this section only apply to those tasks in which 
Contractor is acting on behalf of the City.  
 

IF CONTRACTOR HAS QUESTIONS REGARDING THE APPLICATION OF CHAPTER 
119, FLORIDA STATUTES, TO CONTRACTOR’S DUTY TO PROVIDE PUBLIC RECORDS 



RFP #24-1260 
Page 7 of 10 
 

RELATING TO THIS CONTRACT, CONTACT THE CUSTODIAN OF PUBLIC RECORDS 
AT:  
 
Telephone number: (727)298-3039  
 
E-mail address: rschlichter@dunedinfl.net  
 
Mailing address: City Clerk’s Office, 737 Louden Ave Dunedin, FL 34698  
 

25. Notices. All notices required or made pursuant to this Agreement shall be made in writing and 
sent by certified U.S. mail, return receipt requested addressed to the following:  
 
If to the City:        If to Contractor:  
City of Dunedin_________________     _____________________________  
737 Louden Ave. Ste 140__________     _____________________________ 
_Dunedin, FL 34698______________     _____________________________ 
Attn: Director of Utilities__________     Attn:_________________________  
 
With required copy to: 
Bryant Miller Olive P.A. 
One Tampa City Center, Suite2700 
Tampa, Florida 33602 
 
Either party may change its above-noted address by giving written notice to the other party in 
accordance with the requirements of this section.  
 

26. Public Entity Crimes.  Pursuant to section 287.133(2)(a), Florida Statutes, as may be amended, a 
person or affiliate who has been placed on the convicted vendor list following a conviction for a public 
entity crime may not submit a bid, proposal, or reply on a contract to provide any goods or services to a 
public entity; may not submit a bid, proposal, or reply on a contract with a public entity for the 
construction or repair of a public building or public work; may not submit bids, proposals, or replies on 
leases of real property to a public entity; may not be awarded or perform work as a contractor, supplier, 
subcontractor, or consultant under a contract with any public entity; and may not transact business with 
any public entity in excess of the threshold amount provided in section 287.017, Florida Statutes, as may 
be amended, for CATEGORY TWO for a period of 36 months following the date of being placed on the 
convicted vendor list. By executing this Agreement and each and every renewal, Contractor certifies, 
represents, and warrants that, under the definitions of section 287.133, Florida Statutes, as may be 
amended: (a) neither Contractor nor Contractor’s affiliate(s) has (or have) been placed on the convicted 
vendor list and (b) neither Contractor nor Contractor’s affiliate(s) has (or have) been convicted of a public 
entity crime. 

 
27. Scrutinized Companies. By executing this Agreement and each and every renewal hereof (if 

renewal is separately provided for herein), pursuant to section 287.135, Florida Statutes, Contractor 
certifies, represents, and warrants that: (a) it is not on the Scrutinized Companies that Boycott Israel List, 
and (b) it is not engaged in a Boycott of Israel, and that all such certifications were true at the time it 

mailto:rschlichter@dunedinfl.net


RFP #24-1260 
Page 8 of 10 
 

submitted its bid or proposal for this Agreement, as of the Effective Date of this Agreement, and as of the 
effective date of any renewal of this Agreement. Notwithstanding anything contained in this Agreement 
to the contrary, the City may terminate this Agreement immediately for cause if: (1) Contractor is found 
to have submitted a false certification regarding (a) or (b) above in accordance with section 287.135, 
Florida Statutes, or (2) Contractor has been placed on the Scrutinized Companies that Boycott Israel List 
or is or has been engaged in a Boycott of Israel. Such termination shall be in addition to any and all 
remedies available to the City at law or in equity. The term “Boycott of Israel” used in this section is 
defined as in, and the Scrutinized Companies that Boycott Israel List is the list maintained pursuant to, 
Section 287.135, Florida Statutes. 
 
 28. Force Majeure. Neither party shall be liable for its non-performance or delayed performance if 
caused by Force Majeure. Force Majeure shall be defined as a fire, flood, act of God, war, terrorism, riot, 
national emergency, sabotage, civil disturbance, strike, labor dispute, pandemic, epidemic, governmental 
act, law, ordinance, rule, order or regulation, or events which are not the fault or are beyond the control 
of the party; provided however, the Parties stipulate Force Majeure shall not include COVID-19 or any 
variant thereof, or a pandemic related thereto. For the avoidance of doubt, Force Majeure shall not 
include: (1) financial distress or the inability of either party to make a profit or avoid a financial loss; (2) 
changes in market prices or conditions; or (3) a party’s financial inability to perform its obligations 
hereunder. The obligations of the party affected by the event of Force Majeure (the “Affected Party”) shall 
be suspended, to the extent that those obligations are affected by the event of Force Majeure, from the 
date the Affected Party first gives notice in respect of that event of Force Majeure until cessation of that 
event of Force Majeure (or the consequences thereof). The Affected Party shall use commercially 
reasonable efforts to resume, with the shortest possible delay, compliance with obligations under this 
Agreement. Upon the cessation of the event of Force Majeure, the Affected Party shall promptly give 
notice to the other party of such cessation. If an event of Force Majeure shall continue for more than 30 
consecutive calendar days, then the other party shall have the right to terminate this Agreement without 
penalty. 
 
 29. Contractor Responsible for Subcontractors. If Contractor's assignee or subcontractor fails to 
perform in accordance with the terms of its assignment or subcontract, Contractor shall complete or pay 
to have completed the work which the assignee or subcontractor failed to complete at no additional cost 
to the City. Additionally, in the event of any breach or noncompliance by any of Contractor’s assignee(s) 
or subcontractor(s), Contractor shall be directly and wholly responsible for any such breach or 
noncompliance and shall bear all attributable costs. 
 
 30. Waiver. No waiver of any default or failure to perform by the City shall be valid unless set forth in 
writing by the City and shall not constitute a waiver of any other default or failure to perform under this 
Agreement, or of any rights or remedies to which the City may be entitled to on account of any such 
default or failure to perform. 
 
 31. Headings and Sections. The headings and section references in this Agreement are inserted only 
for the purpose of convenience and shall not be construed to expand or limit the provisions contained in 
such sections. 
 
 32. No Third-Party Beneficiaries. This Agreement is entered into solely for the benefit of the Parties 
and shall not be construed as a benefit to any third parties, including but not limited to the general public, 
constituents or citizens of the City, nor shall it be construed as enforceable by any third party. 



RFP #24-1260 
Page 9 of 10 
 

  
 33. Entire Agreement. This Agreement sets forth the entire agreement between the Parties as to the 
subject matter hereof and supersedes all previous written or oral negotiations, agreements, and/or 
understandings. There are no understandings, representations, warranties, or agreements with respect 
to the subject matter hereof unless set forth explicitly in this Agreement. 
 
  

[The remainder of this page is intentionally blank. Signature page(s) follow(s).] 
  



RFP #24-1260 
Page 10 of 10 
 

 IN WITNESS WHEREOF the Parties hereto have executed this Agreement as of the Effective Date.  
 
 
CITY OF DUNEDIN, FLORIDA     CONTRACTOR  
 
ATTEST: ______________________________   __________________________________ 

City Clerk      Contractor Company Name  
 

 
By: __________________________________  By: ________________________________  

Mayor        Signature  
 

 
REVIEWED AND APPROVED AS TO FORM:   ___________________________________ 
        Print or Type Name & Title  
 
By: ___________________________________ 
          City Attorney       (Corporate Seal)  
 

      
  

 
ATTEST: ____________________________ 
        Company Witness Signature 
 
 
___________________________________ 
               Print or Type Name & Title 

 



 

1 
 

City of Dunedin, FL - RFP 24-1260 
Consultant Services for the Implementation  
of a Pavement Management System 

  

City of Dunedin, FL 

RFP 24-1260 
Consultant Services for the Implementation of a  
Pavement Management System 
April 2, 2024 



 

2 
 

City of Dunedin, FL - RFP 24-1260 
Consultant Services for the Implementation  
of a Pavement Management System 

 
                                    Table of Contents  

  

1.  Letter of Understanding ............................................................................................................................................ 3 
2.  Consultant’s Qualifications and Experience ............................................................................................................. 4 

a.  Consultant Profile Overview ............................................................................................................................ 4 

b.  Key Project Member Resumes......................................................................................................................... 4 

c.  Project Manager Success Plan ......................................................................................................................... 6 

d.  References........................................................................................................................................................ 7 

3.  Project Approach ...................................................................................................................................................... 8 

a.  Methodology .................................................................................................................................................... 8 

b.  Data Processing and Analysis ........................................................................................................................ 10 

c.  Data Integration and Analysis ........................................................................................................................ 14 

d.  Scalability and Futureproofing ...................................................................................................................... 14  

e.  Internet Security ............................................................................................................................................. 15 

f.  Cost Control ................................................................................................................................................... 15 

g.  Software Implementation (Items 2.4) ............................................................................................................ 16 

4.  Cost Quote .............................................................................................................................................................. 19 

5.  Schedule ................................................................................................................................................................. 19 

 

 
 

  



 

3 
 

City of Dunedin, FL - RFP 24-1260 
Consultant Services for the Implementation  
of a Pavement Management System 

1.  Letter of Understanding 
 
April 2, 2024 

 
City of Dunedin 
Charles H. Ankney, CPPO 
Purchasing Agent 
737 Louden Ave Suite 212 
Dunedin, FL 34698 
 
Dear Mr. Ankney, 
 
On behalf of Roadway Management Technologies (RMT), thank you for the opportunity to present our proposal 
to the City of Dunedin. We have great respect for agencies seeking pavement management systems to improve 
their road network and increase their budget efficiency. We have read the entirety of the RFP and are confident 
that RMT can provide the services the City of Dunedin is seeking and agree to all terms within the RFP 
provided. Please accept this Letter of Understanding and the requested information contained in this document.  
 
Legal Name: Roadway Management Technologies, LLC  

   
Address: 425 W Capitol Ave, Suite 1202, Little Rock, AR 72201   

  
Authorized personnel to make representations and submit RFP:  
Candler McCollum, Chief Executive Officer and Jamie Weathers, Chief Operating Officer 

 
Telephone No: Candler 501.626.1313 and Jamie 501.551.0780  

  
Email: candler@roadmantech.com and jamie@roadmantech.com  

  
Again, thank you for the chance to present our proposal to the City of Dunedin.  

  
Respectfully,  

 
 
 

Candler McCollum, CEO  
Roadway Management Technologies, LLC. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

mailto:candler@roadmantech.com
mailto:jamie@roadmantech.com


 

4 
 

City of Dunedin, FL - RFP 24-1260 
Consultant Services for the Implementation  
of a Pavement Management System 

2.  Consultant’s Qualifications and Experience 
 

a. Consultant Profile Overview 
 
RMT, headquartered in Little Rock, Arkansas, is dedicated to transforming pavement management by providing 
real-time, accurate, and insightful data to essential decision-makers across various levels of government. With 
additional offices located in Atlanta, Georgia, and Tampa, Florida, our dynamic team extends across six states, 
embodying our commitment to reach and efficiency. Proudly serving clients in 15 states, RMT is at the 
forefront of enhancing infrastructure decision-making nationwide. 
 
RMT has developed a unique crowdsourced platform that provides agencies with Real-Time Pavement 
Performance Analytics (RPPA). We begin by mounting proprietary hardware sensors, known as RoadRunners, 
on agency-owned fleet vehicles. While these vehicles are used in their daily routine, RoadRunners passively 
collect comprehensive road quality data along the driven routes. RMT’s technology transforms existing fleets 
into SMART (Signal Monitoring Assets in Real-Time) fleets capable of passively collecting data without 
requiring any outside effort from normal daily operations. 
Equipped with big data, passively collected in the field by our RoadRunner hardware, RMT’s cloud-based 
software platform uses machine learning and artificial intelligence to provide key insights to decision makers. 
With a user-friendly map-based platform, RMT’s clients have access to actionable insights including real-time 
pavement conditions, rates of degradation, and a suite of tools for predictive modeling and quantitative analysis 
such as repair projects, preservation project prioritization, return on investment calculations, and budget 
analysis. Additionally, RMT's platform integrates Average Annual Daily Traffic (AADT) data to evaluate the 
impact of traffic volume on road quality. 
 
In both 2019 and 2020, RMT’s revolutionary technology was endorsed by the Arkansas Economic 
Development Commission (AEDC) by receiving two tranches of the coveted Technology Development 
Program Investment (TDP). RMT is honored to have received the American Public Works Association Top 
Technology award consecutively in 2021, 2022, and 2023. 
 
Roadway Management Technologies is committed to providing the services listed in this proposal with a highly 
qualified and experienced team with: 

 
• Over 60 years of combined pavement management and preservation experience 
• Over 45 years of experience in custom software development 
• More than a decade of experience in machine learning and AI modeling and electrical engineering 

experience. 
RMT stands as the pioneer in offering the world's only fully automated solution, encompassing the entire process 
from data collection to analysis. Our innovative approach to road data collection and analysis began in 2019 and has 
compelled the industry to embrace new methodologies. Leveraging technological advancements such as 
crowdsourcing, machine learning, and AI, RMT consistently conducts similar projects for numerous municipalities 
across the United States on an ongoing basis, avoiding the limitations of one-time surveys that quickly become 
outdated. 
 
As a provider of Real-Time Pavement Performance Analytics and pavement management services, our committed 
team of experts look forward to an interview opportunity to answer any questions you may have. 
 
 b. Key Project Member Resumes 

 
CANDLER MCCOLLUM  
Founder & CEO 
 
Candler McCollum is the CEO and co-founder of RMT. Candler’s experience in crowdsource technology 
coupled with his passion for problem solving led him to develop a revolutionary artificial intelligence and 
machine learning platform dedicated to road preservation and budget efficiency. H 



 

5 
 

City of Dunedin, FL - RFP 24-1260 
Consultant Services for the Implementation  
of a Pavement Management System 

is role during this project is to provide oversight and direction of execution. He will be available to provide 
briefings as required and ensure customer satisfaction through routine engagement with the City of Dunedin 
and RMT staff. Additionally, Candler will work with the key personnel at the City of Dunedin to define and 
prioritize new feature development within the RMT platform based on customer feedback. This partnership 
ensures that RMT is always addressing the real issues that the end users are facing and allows RMT to 
continue to focus development efforts on impactful solutions for the City of Dunedin.  
 
JAMIE WEATHERS  
COO 
 
Jamie Weathers is the Chief Operating Officer at RMT. He is a dynamic operations, logistics, and 
transportation professional who comes with over two and a half decades of experience gained while serving in 
the United States Marine Corps and private sector. His previous position with the Marine Corps, before 
retiring, was the Section Head of Amphibious Programs at the Pentagon in Washington, DC. His most recent 
position as the Director of Operations at Material Resources, Inc. provides him with a unique and qualified 
background in pavement preservation and maintenance. Working as a contractor focused on pavement 
preservation provided him with first-hand knowledge of the process and directly see the benefits.  
 
Jamie will be the main point of contact for contract-related matters. He will oversee the day-to-day execution 
of RMT’s staff to ensure all facets of the contract are met and exceeded. He will promote cross collaboration 
between departments, ensuring timelines are met, customer inquiries are answered timely, and overall 
customer satisfaction is provided.  
 
WILL BATES  
CTO, Principal Engineer  
 
Will Bates is the Chief Technology Officer and co-founder of RMT. With a passion for computers, Will 
graduated with honors from Auburn University, receiving a Bachelor of Electrical Engineering, Computer 
Engineering, and Computer Sciences. He went on to obtain a Master of Electrical and Computer Engineering 
from the Georgia Institute of Technology, with a focus on machine learning and high-performance parallel 
computing.  
 
Will went on to have a successful career as a Software Engineer before co-founding RMT. His everyday 
responsibilities as CTO include the development of state-of-the- art algorithms and firmware & hardware for 
the automated camera systems, hardware design of all vehicle sensor systems, management of the software 
engineering team, and website application architecture. He is also responsible for leading technology strategies 
and research on methods and technologies.  
 
Will’s role during this project will be providing direction to the Technology Department to ensure interfacing 
and functionality of RMT’s platform continues to meet the needs of the City of Dunedin. He will drive and 
oversee enhancement development and updates, dashboard functionality, data processing, and reporting 
accuracy.  
 
MINJI SUH 
Dedicated Software Engineer  
 
Minji Suh is a versatile professional experienced in software engineering and instructional design. With 
expertise in web application development and course modification, Minji delivers efficient solutions and 
engaging user experiences. Collaborative and results oriented, Minji drives continuous improvement and 
innovation in software development. Minji will directly supporting he City of Dunedin’s account ensuring any 
software related questions or concerns are addressed while providing the backend support to ensure RMT’s 
platform is running smoothly and always evolving to better support the City of Dunedin.  
 
 
 
 



 

6 
 

City of Dunedin, FL - RFP 24-1260 
Consultant Services for the Implementation  
of a Pavement Management System 

KYLE FULLERTON 
Installation Specialist 
 
Kyle is a skilled vehicle installation specialist known for his expertise in equipping a wide range of vehicles 
with advanced systems and technology. With a strong background in electronics and automotive mechanics, 
Kyle excels at installing, testing, and maintaining RMT’s RoadRunner systems. He has a keen eye for detail 
and a commitment to precision, ensuring that every installation meets the required specifications. Kyle's 
troubleshooting and repair skills are top-notch, allowing him to quickly diagnose and resolve any issues that 
arise. His dedication to safety and adherence to industry standards make him a trusted professional in the field. 
Whether working on personal cars, commercial fleets, or emergency vehicles, Kyle delivers high-quality 
installations and exceptional customer service. 
 
DEREK HILL  
Project Manager 
 
As a detail-oriented individual, Derek approaches all tasks with a high level of focus. That, combined with a 
strong technical skill set has given him the ability to learn new concepts quickly. He’s a self-motivated worker 
willing to put in the necessary time to accomplish what needs to be done. His architectural background 
provides him with a unique ability to translate customer conversations into product development ideas to 
streamline user interfacing and experience within RMT’s platform.  
 
Derek will spearhead the onboarding process for the City of Dunedin. He will have full access to the RMT 
team and their resources. His role will encompass a thorough introduction to the RMT system, ensuring that all 
parties are well-informed and comfortable with the technology and processes from the outset. 
 
The onboarding will include detailed presentations, documentation, and FAQs to address any preliminary 
questions or concerns that the agencies might have. 
 

c. Project Manager Success Plan 
 

Weekly Meetings and Training Sessions: 
To maintain open lines of communication and facilitate a smooth adoption process, Derek will organize 
weekly meetings with the City of Dunedin. These meetings will serve as a platform to discuss progress, resolve 
any issues, and provide updates on upcoming steps and requirements. 
 
Training sessions will be tailored to the specific needs of the City, ensuring that staff are fully equipped to 
utilize the RMT system effectively. These sessions will cover both the operational and technical aspects of the 
system. 
 
Providing Necessary Information and Support: 
Derek will act as the primary source of information and support the City of Dunedin throughout the project. He 
will ensure that all parties have access to the resources and guidance needed to navigate the onboarding 
process efficiently. He will be responsible for addressing any queries or challenges that arise, offering 
solutions and advice to keep the project on track. 
 
Coordination of Vehicle Installations: 
Collaborating closely with RMT’s installation team, Derek will oversee the scheduling and execution of 
vehicle installations, ensuring they are carried out with minimal disruption to the City's daily operations. He 
will work to accommodate the operational schedules for the City, aiming for the most convenient and least 
intrusive installation process possible. 
 
Executive Support from Jamie Weathers: 
The involvement of Jamie Weathers, RMT’s COO, underscores the project's importance to RMT and provides 
an additional layer of support and assurance. Jamie will be available to assist with high-level decisions, 
resource allocation, and strategic guidance, ensuring the project's success. 
 



 

7 
 

City of Dunedin, FL - RFP 24-1260 
Consultant Services for the Implementation  
of a Pavement Management System 

Under Derek Hill’s leadership, with the backing of Jamie, RMT is committed to a seamless integration process 
for the City of Dunedin, emphasizing effective communication, personalized support, and minimal operational 
disruption. This structured approach is designed to ensure the successful deployment of RMT’s system, 
aligning with the project's goals and timelines. 
 

d. References 
 
Below is a compilation of references from five existing multi-year customers. RMT has built a reputation for 
customer success by crafting tailored solutions for government agencies, streamlining complex data sets and 
processes into user-friendly solutions comprehensible to all levels of personnel. Our Software as a Service (SAAS) 
model has proven to be both valuable and cost-effective for agencies of all sizes. 

 
• Van Buren County, Arkansas was one of our first customers dating back to December 2019. They have 

been using our Real-Time Pavement Performance Analytics data to monitor their road quality for routine 
maintenance and creation of preservation projects. The county has been successful in using RMT’s data to 
qualify and receive federal grant funds.  

 
• Cabot, Arkansas has been a customer since January 2020. They utilize our Real-Time Pavement 

performance Analytics data to monitor their road quality for routine maintenance and creation of 
preservation projects as well. As a small city they employ a small staff and take full advantage of RMT’s 
web-based platform to quickly analyze their road network to stay ahead of potential problem areas. 

 
• Washington County, Arkansas joined the RMT team in July 2021. They use our full suite of systems: Real-

Time Pavement Performance Analytics, Work Order Management system, and Fleet Management system. 
As one of the larger counties in the state, they perform in-house preservation and rely on the data our 
RoadRunner systems collect to identify trouble areas in their road network, monitor deterioration, create 
preservation projects, and budget scenarios. Through the Work Order Management system, they can 
dispatch crews to address problem areas and track their fleet during the process. 

 
• Frankfort, Kentucky and RMT have had a relationship since July 2022. They use our Real-Time Pavement 

Performance Analytics data to monitor their road network and our Fleet Management system to track their 
fleet of vehicles. Like most municipalities, Frankfort struggled with one-time surveys, their timeliness, and 
lack of data interface across multiple systems. RMT’s single platform streamlined this inefficiency while 
providing updates to their network daily. 

 
• Huntington, West Virginia released an RFP similar to the City of Dunedin, and in October 2023 RMT was 

awarded the contract and immediately got to work for Huntington. Their Public Works Director and his staff 
did not have time to continually conduct windshield reviews of their road network, and realized when they 
did, it was subjective by human nature and easily scrutinized by constituents. Through RMT’s Real-Time 
Pavement Performance Analytics data, Huntington now has a holistic view of their road network, updated 
daily, with the ability to provide objective data. 

 
Through our partnerships with engineering firms and pavement preservation contractors, RMT has been able to 
customize our platform's capabilities and functionality to meet the unique needs of our clients in budgeting, planning, 
and developing paving projects. Over the past two months alone, RMT has successfully onboarded five new customers, 
providing ongoing pavement management analysis programs to inform and drive their pavement preservation efforts. 
 
We are confident that given the opportunity for an interview, the City of Dunedin will recognize the value of our 
system, and we believe that the offering it provides will exceed expectations. Please feel free to contact any of the 
customers below to validate our data’s accuracy and platform’s capability. Also, visit our website at  
ttps://www.roadman.tech and watch video testimonies from Van Buren County’s Judge and Cabot’s Mayor (scroll 
about 2/3 down the landing page). 
 

 



 

8 
 

City of Dunedin, FL - RFP 24-1260 
Consultant Services for the Implementation  
of a Pavement Management System 

ORGANIZATION CONTACT PHONE/EMAIL DATE AWARDED 

Van Buren County 
1414 Highway 65  
Clinton, AR 72031  

Dale James  
County Judge  

501-745-2443  
vbcjudge@artelco.com  

December 2019 

City of Cabot 
101 N 2nd Street 
Cabot, AR 72023 

Ken Kincade  
Mayor  

501-843-3566  
kenkincade@cabotar.gov  

July 2020 

Washington County  
280 N. College Ave 
Fayetteville, AR 72701 

Jeff Crowder  
Road Dept. Director  

479-444-1610 
jcrowder@washingtoncountyar.gov  

July 2021 

City of Frankfort  
315 W 2nd Street 
Frankfort, KY 40601 

Ray Richardson 
Engineering Technician 

502-352-2091 
rtrichardson@frankfort.ky.gov 

July 2022 

City of Huntington 
800 5th Avenue 
Huntington, WV 25701 

Mark Bates 
Dir. of Public Works 

304-696-5540 ext. 2011 
batesm@huntingtonwv.gov 

October 2023 

 
3.  Project Approach 
 

a.  Methodology 
 

RMT recognizes the critical need for accurate, real-time pavement condition data to inform maintenance and 
preservation decisions. Our solution utilizes proprietary hardware sensors, known as RoadRunners, mounted on 
agency-owned fleet vehicles. These sensors passively collect comprehensive road quality data, transforming existing 
fleets of vehicles into SMART (Signal Monitoring Assets in Real-Time) fleets capable of gathering data without 
requiring additional effort or disrupting daily operations. 
 
The RoadRunner system consists of a main enclosure with motherboard mounted under the vehicle, a GPS antenna 
mounted on the windshield, and two sensors that are mounted on each side of the front axle / lower control arm. 
These state-of-the-art sensors collect data at a rate of 52,000 data points per second. Both the motherboard and 
sensors are enclosed in an IP68 rated enclosure with aircraft grade plugs to ensure reliability and sustainability. All 
parts used in RMT’s RoadRunner systems conform to, or exceed, industry standards in strength, quality, and 
workmanship. 
 
In addition to RMT’s RoadRunner’s vibrational and gyroscopic data collection, RMT also equips selected agency 
fleet vehicles with camera systems that capture surface images of pavement condition every 75ft as the vehicles 
travel throughout the network. Once images are collected, they are uploaded to the cloud where our proprietary 
machine learning and AI process the images to ensure appropriate lighting and field of view before qualifying an 
image and ingesting it into the platform. These images are stored in increments of 30 days as they are collected 
providing each agency’s staff with a current view and a historical view of the road’s condition.  
 
When equipped vehicles in each agency travel each other's roads, they will be collecting additional data points for 
each other without any needed interaction. Our crowd-sourced data collection platform leverages existing fleet 
vehicles to gather data daily, reducing the time, cost, and labor typically associated with traditional pavement survey 
methods. This process is supplemented by our advanced AI and machine learning algorithms that process and 
analyze the data, providing real-time insights into pavement conditions, rates of degradation, and actionable 
intelligence for maintenance planning. 
 
 
 

mailto:vbcjudge@artelco.com
mailto:kenkincade@cabotar.gov
mailto:jcrowder@washingtoncountyar.gov
mailto:rtrichardson@frankfort.ky.gov
mailto:batesm@huntingtonwv.gov


 

9 
 

City of Dunedin, FL - RFP 24-1260 
Consultant Services for the Implementation  
of a Pavement Management System 

High-Frequency Data Collection:  
Unlike traditional methods that might collect data annually or bi-annually, or more recent modern methods of video 
evaluations which require manual calibration and intentional trips down the road, RMT’s RoadRunner's passive 
collection capability allows for more frequent and accurate data updates 365 days a year. This continuous data 
collection approach ensures that the City of Dunedin has access to the most current pavement condition information, 
facilitating timely and informed decision-making. Figure 1. below: 
 

**Figure 1: Demo account example, does not reflect real data 
 

 
 
RoadRunner Hardware Deployment:  
RMT will send out our team to install our proprietary RoadRunner hardware on selected fleet vehicles for each 
agency. The hardware is designed and manufactured specifically for monitoring and reporting pavement surface 
condition data in real-time. All data collected by the RMT system is collected passively and requires no interaction 
from the driver. All hardware and software systems provided to the agencies will be new and complete units ready 
for operation and are warrantied indefinitely. 
 
As these selected vehicles travel throughout the network the road data and images are collected and stored on the 
hardware. Capturing data on all lanes in both ascending and descending directions. Providing a holistic view of the 
network due to lanes often deteriorating at different rates, allowing for end users to make data driven decisions 
based on the entirety of the segment not just 100ft segment or average.  
 
Once the vehicles park at the end of the day the data is uploaded to the cloud and processed. The processed data is 
displayed on RMT’s interactive web-based software platform, along with other valuable preservation planning and 
execution tools, for the agencies to analyze and make informed decisions. This method ensures comprehensive 
coverage of the 127 miles of city-owned roadways, without disrupting traffic or requiring dedicated survey vehicles. 
See Figures 2 and 3 below: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

10 
 

City of Dunedin, FL - RFP 24-1260 
Consultant Services for the Implementation  
of a Pavement Management System 

**Figure 2: Demo account example, does not reflect real data 
 

 
 

**Figure 3: Demo account example, does not reflect real data 
 

 
 
b.  Data Processing and Analysis 
 

AI-Powered Data Analysis:  
Upon data collection, RMT utilizes proprietary AI algorithms to analyze the imagery, vibrations, and gyroscopic 
data to extract accurate pavement condition ratings. This process includes identifying and categorizing pavement 
distress types such as cracking, rutting, and potholing, which are critical for assessing overall pavement health. Our 
methods of scoring are Pavement Condition Index (PCI) based on ASTM standard D6433 with additional IRI 
Scoring. See Figure 4 below: 
 
 



 

11 
 

City of Dunedin, FL - RFP 24-1260 
Consultant Services for the Implementation  
of a Pavement Management System 

**Figure 4: Demo account example, does not reflect real data 
 

 
  
We acknowledge the legitimacy of your concerns regarding the variability among lanes, particularly in the context 
of multi-lane roadways. To address this, our methodology has been meticulously designed to include the assessment 
of each lane in both ascending and descending directions, thereby ensuring a comprehensive evaluation of the 
network. This systematic approach not only facilitates a detailed scoring of the entire network but also incorporates 
considerations for material costs associated with potential maintenance and repair strategies. By integrating these 
cost factors into our assessment, we can provide a thorough analysis that not only captures the unique characteristics 
and conditions of each lane but also offers insights into the financial implications of preserving and enhancing the 
roadway infrastructure. This holistic evaluation strategy ensures that our analysis delivers a profound understanding 
of the roadway's overall condition, coupled with actionable intelligence on optimizing maintenance expenditures for 
the utmost efficiency and sustainability. See Figure 5 below: 
 

**Figure 5: Demo account example, does not reflect real data 
 

 
 



 

12 
 

City of Dunedin, FL - RFP 24-1260 
Consultant Services for the Implementation  
of a Pavement Management System 

Unlimited Users:  
RMT operates on a model that eliminates per-user fees, enabling agencies to extend system access to an unlimited 
number of employees without concern for escalating costs. This approach ensures that agencies can tailor systems to 
their specific needs, assigning roles and access rights in alignment with each employee's responsibilities and the 
requirements of their position. This flexibility facilitates efficient data reference and utilization across various 
counties and municipalities. Furthermore, RMT's dedicated team is committed to supporting agencies through the 
onboarding process, offering comprehensive training to ensure users are proficient in leveraging the platform to 
achieve their objectives effectively. 
 
Configurable:  
The software offers full customization to align with an agency's specific repair strategies, financial planning, and 
managerial objectives. Our operations team is committed to closely collaborating with each agency, ensuring a deep 
understanding of these critical parameters and providing comprehensive training on their integration into the system. 
This adaptive approach ensures that the Pavement Management Program dynamically responds to the introduction 
of innovative methods, updates in budget allocations, and shifts in management priorities over time, resulting in a 
system that progressively evolves to meet the unique needs of each agency. See Figures 6, 7, and 8 below: 
 

**Figure 6: Demo account example, does not reflect real data 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

13 
 

City of Dunedin, FL - RFP 24-1260 
Consultant Services for the Implementation  
of a Pavement Management System 

**Figure 7: Demo account example, does not reflect real data 
 

 
 

**Figure 8: Demo account example, does not reflect real data 
 

 
 
Data Importing:  
RMT's specialized integration teams are dedicated to assisting agencies in transferring all relevant historical data 
collected up to the present, covering the 127 miles specified in the RFP. This process necessitates the ability to 
export historical data from the existing legacy system where it is currently stored. 
 
Data Exporting: 
Data stored in the RMT system can be seamlessly exported according to the needs of the agency, utilizing custom 
dashboards, .CSV files, or ESRI GIS shapefiles. Additionally, we offer the capability to automate the export 
process, enabling the generation of reports on a weekly, monthly, quarterly basis, or any other interval tailored to the 
specific metrics and requirements set forth by the agencies. 
 
 



 

14 
 

City of Dunedin, FL - RFP 24-1260 
Consultant Services for the Implementation  
of a Pavement Management System 

Network Segmentation / PCI Reporting: 
RMT’s system will segment data to the agency's preferred specifications based on the shapefile information in the 
GIS database. The system can also geofence objective data based on specific parameters such as districts to monitor 
performance in different areas of the network. In segmenting the network into geofenced areas, a hierarchical 
structure is employed, where a parent account encompasses the entire network, and subsidiary accounts contain data 
specific to the delineated districts. See Figure 9 below: 
 

**Figure 9: Demo account example, does not reflect real data 
 

 
 
Visualization:  
RMT's platform features a color-coded map that transitions from green to red, effectively illustrating the severity of 
distress across the network. Additionally, the system enables agencies to engage with the map directly, allowing 
them to access specific images from any location on the road that corroborate the identified distress. 
 
 c.  Data Integration and Accessibility 
 
GIS Integration:  
RMT's deliverables will be fully compatible with the City’s existing GIS-enabled databases. Our team will work 
closely with the City of Dunedin to ensure seamless integration, including providing GIS shapefile layers or 
geodatabases containing mapped pavement segments and condition ratings, complete with a user-friendly color-
coded system. 
 
Interactive Data Platform: Beyond static GIS data, RMT offers an interactive, web-based platform where City 
stakeholders can access, visualize, and interact with the collected pavement condition and ancillary data. This 
platform includes features such as dynamic filtering, trend analysis, and custom report generation, enhancing the 
utility of the data for planning, maintenance, and communication purposes. 
 
 d.  Scalability and Futureproofing 
 
Scalable Solution:  
RMT's approach is designed to be scalable, accommodating future expansions of the project scope or additional data 
collection efforts without significant increases in cost or complexity. This ensures that the City of Dunedin’s 
investment in our solution remains valuable long-term, supporting evolving planning and maintenance needs. 
 
Innovation and Continuous Improvement:  
As part of our commitment to providing state-of-the-art solutions, RMT continuously invests in R&D to enhance our 
technology and methodologies. This commitment means that the City of Dunedin will benefit from ongoing 
improvements and innovations in pavement condition assessment and asset management technologies. 
 



 

15 
 

City of Dunedin, FL - RFP 24-1260 
Consultant Services for the Implementation  
of a Pavement Management System 

e. System Security 
 
Anti-virus and Internet Vulnerability: 
RMT ensures that its software remains secure against evolving cyber threats by incorporating ongoing security for 
anti-virus and internet vulnerability management through the implementation of a robust security framework. This 
includes regular updates to antivirus software to protect against the latest threats and automated vulnerability scans 
to identify potential security weaknesses. RMT employs a systematic approach to patch management, ensuring 
timely deployment of security patches and updates to address identified vulnerabilities. The system is designed to 
distribute patches efficiently, minimizing disruption to operations while maintaining high levels of system security.  
 
Data Backup and Archives: 
RMT utilizes Amazon Web Services and provides daily backups and archiving of our services. This approach offers 
a secure and long-term approach to data retention. 
 
 f. Cost Control 
 
Software as a Service (SAAS):  
RMT operates on a SAAS model, which inherently differs from traditional project-based pricing structures. Under 
the SAAS model, the pricing is subscription-based, offering access to our software over the internet without 
requiring physical installation or maintenance by the client. This model allows for more predictable and lower 
upfront costs, with the flexibility to scale based on your usage and needs. The items below address how this impacts 
our pricing structure compared to what you might see from other companies. 
 
Fringe Benefits and Overhead:  
Traditional projects often include charges for fringe benefits and overhead to cover labor and operational costs. In 
our SAAS model, these costs are integrated into the subscription fee, eliminating the need for detailed breakdowns. 
Our model ensures that you're not directly charged for each aspect of labor and overhead, providing a more 
streamlined and cost-effective solution. 
 
Profit:  
Profit margins are built into the subscription price, providing transparency and predictability in costs. Unlike 
project-based pricing, where profit can vary based on the project scope and duration, our SAAS model offers a 
consistent pricing structure. 
 
Total Project Cost:  
The total cost under our SAAS model is the sum of your subscription fees over the period of use. This contrasts with 
project-based pricing, where the total cost includes the sum of labor, materials, overhead, profits, and any other 
project-specific expenses. Our model ensures that you have clear visibility into your expenses without the 
complexity of a multi-line-item breakdown. 
 
Our SAAS model is designed to offer simplicity, predictability, and value. We believe this model serves our clients' 
best interests by providing a high-quality service at a predictable and reasonable cost. 
 
Summary: 
RMT's comprehensive technical approach and methodology are designed to meet and exceed the requirements set 
forth by the City Dunedin’s Consultant Services for the Implementation of a Pavement Management System. Our 
advanced data collection hardware, AI-powered analysis, and commitment to quality assurance ensure that the City 
receives accurate, reliable, and actionable pavement condition data with the ability to manage it. Combined with our 
ancillary data collection capabilities and seamless data integration processes, RMT offers a future-proof and scalable 
solution that supports the City of Dunedin’s mission to maintain and improve roadway infrastructure efficiently and 
effectively. 
 
 
 
 
 



 

16 
 

City of Dunedin, FL - RFP 24-1260 
Consultant Services for the Implementation  
of a Pavement Management System 

g.  Software Implementation (2.4 Items) 
 
2.4.1 Web-based software, inclusive of free data hosting for the initial contract year. 
 
RMT's platform operates entirely on cloud technology, ensuring seamless access from any device authorized by the 
City and connected to the internet. This feature guarantees that all users can engage with the data instantaneously, 
regardless of their location. Moreover, it enables field teams to directly upload notes, photos, and annotations while 
on-site, facilitating immediate updates throughout the system and enhancing the efficiency of data management and 
communication. There are no data hosting fees associated with RMT’s Pavement Management System. 
 
2.4.2 Be highly configurable to allow refinement in the future and expansion to other asset types. As much, 
must have the capability of being configured to be tightly integrated a broader infrastructure asset 
management system utilizing the same software. 
 
The software is completely customizable based on the City’s repair methods, budget, and management 
goals. Our operations teams will work diligently to understand these parameters and train the City on how to 
input them into the system. This method allows the Pavement Management System to evolve in real-time as 
new methods are implemented, new budgets are released, and management’s goals/focus change over the 
years yielding a dynamic system that grows with the city. RMT’s full suite also expands into Asset & Work 
Order management that can be built out past just pavement management allowing the City the flexibility to 
expand in more features encompassing all assets. 
 
2.4.3 Store all pavement condition data and convert that data to user-defined condition indices. 
 
RMT collects comprehensive pavement condition data using various methods such as automated road 
condition assessment tools, and sensors. This data includes information on cracks, potholes, rutting, 
roughness, and any other relevant pavement distress parameters. Our algorithms convert the raw pavement 
condition data into user-defined condition indices. These indices reflect the overall condition of the 
pavement based on the specific needs and priorities of the users.  
 
2.4.4 Have a flexible table structure that will allow for adding additional attributes to existing tables 
and creating new tables for additional types of data without requiring additional software 
development. 
 
RMT uses a relational database which allows for flexible data structure columns. These columns can hold 
complex data objects that can be easily modified by adding new attribute fields. This approach provides 
flexibility while still allowing for data integrity and querying capabilities. By using this approach we will 
not require additional software development to accomplish the addition of new attributes to existing or new 
tables. 
 
2.4.5 Must allow for unlimited number and types of pavement distresses. The software must allow for 
user-defined condition data including at least three levels of severities and at least six levels of extents. 
 
RMT’s software can create a table or collection to store unlimited distress types. Each distress type can have 
attributes such as a unique identifier, name, and description. Thes table will allow for the addition of new 
distress types without requiring changes to the software code. The software is flexible and adaptable, 
allowing for unlimited types of pavement distresses and user-defined condition data with multiple levels of 
severities and extents. 
 
2.4.6 Must allow for unlimited types of pavement repairs. 
 
RMT's system comes equipped with a comprehensive set of industry-standard repair types and offers the 
flexibility to incorporate an unlimited variety of pavement repair techniques. As new methods are developed 
or City-specific techniques are introduced, the software can easily be updated to include these additions. 
This versatility makes it an effective tool for managing diverse maintenance strategies both now and in the 



 

17 
 

City of Dunedin, FL - RFP 24-1260 
Consultant Services for the Implementation  
of a Pavement Management System 

future. This flexibility ensures organizations are not constrained by the software when choosing the most 
suitable repair approach for any particular circumstance. Please reference Figures 6 and 8 above. 
 
2.4.7 Must allow for deterioration of individual distress indices as well as general condition indices 
within the system. The system must allow the user to define an unlimited number of performance 
models by pavement type or repair treatments by deteriorating any condition indices over time. 
 
RMT's software plays a vital role in predictive maintenance planning through its support for deterioration 
modeling and performance model creation. The system includes specialized tools that provide real-time 
visualization of deterioration models, demonstrating the impact of various treatments and repairs on the 
degradation curve. This feature allows organizations to predict pavement conditions and schedule 
maintenance activities proactively, before severe deterioration sets in. By doing so, they can optimize their 
maintenance budgets and extend the service life of their roads. 
 
2.4.8 Must have unlimited flexibility in creating decision trees, pavement repair strategies and 
performance models. These are to be based on user-defined decision and performance variables 
available in the database. 
 
Our platform possesses the capability to offer unlimited flexibility in developing decision trees, pavement 
repair strategies, and performance models. These elements would be constructed based on user-defined 
decision and performance variables within the database. This ensures that the system can adapt to a wide 
range of scenarios and user requirements, making it a versatile tool for pavement management and planning. 
 
2.4.9 Must calculate benefit of any given repair based on a standard benefit definition utilizing of the 
area between the "current" performance model and the "potential" repair-specific performance 
curve. The system must provide the ability to allow users to modify the defined standard benefit of a 
potential repair with any user-specific variables that may be contained within the database such as 
risk, traffic, safety, importance, etc. 
 
RMT's software features a repair benefit calculation tool that allows for customization based on unique 
variables, offering a refined method for assessing repair options. This enables organizations to take into 
account a broad spectrum of factors in their decision-making process, ensuring that the chosen repairs 
deliver optimal value. Please reference Figure 5 above. 
 
2.4.10 Have the capability to analyze various "what if” scenarios to determine future funding needs 
and alternative repair scenarios. Users must be able to apply unlimited constraints to any analysis. 
When running optimization scenarios, user-defined constraints will include but should not be limited 
to: Budgets, Budgets by repair type (preservation, rehabilitation, reconstruction), Budget by 
maintenance or areas within the City, Condition indices, Maximum percentage of pavements below a 
specified condition threshold, & Other levels of service as user-defined 
 
RMT's system is equipped to evaluate "what if" scenarios, facilitating proactive planning and resource 
allocation. With the capability to accommodate unlimited constraints, our platform enables organizations to 
comprehensively examine potential future scenarios. This ensures that they are well-prepared for various 
funding and operational circumstances. Please reference Figure 7 above. 
 
2.4.11 Provide unique multi-year work plans that identify the type of repair and associated costs for 
all pavement segments for each year of the analysis period for any funding or performance scenario. 
 
RMT's system provides tools for multi-year work planning, assisting organizations in formulating long-term 
maintenance and budgeting strategies. This feature is crucial for maintaining consistent pavement quality 
over time and maximizing the efficiency of resource utilization. 
 
2.4.12 Allow for the running of scenarios utilizing an optimized solution that selects projects and 
groups of projects which provide the maximum benefit solution for the defined constraints. 
 



 

18 
 

City of Dunedin, FL - RFP 24-1260 
Consultant Services for the Implementation  
of a Pavement Management System 

RMT's system features optimization functionality that enables the selection of projects with maximum 
benefit within defined constraints, even providing a net ROI dollar metric benefit. This addresses the 
challenge of limited resources effectively. By pinpointing the most impactful projects, the platform ensures 
that investments in pavement repair result in the highest possible return, based on the real-time conditions of 
the network and ongoing monitoring of project performance. 
 
2.4.13 The optimization scenario functionality must have goal setting capabilities to determine the 
specific optimized projects that would need to be completed yearly to meet any user-defined goal or 
set of goals. 
 
RMT's platform features goal-setting capabilities within its optimization scenarios, enabling organizations 
to align their pavement management activities with overarching objectives. This ensures that pavement 
maintenance efforts are effectively contributing to the attainment of the City's broader strategic goals. 
 
2.4.14 Allow for analysis to consider any planned utility projects so as to ensure that streets are not 
selected for repairs if utility work is planned as identified in the City's CIP on those streets. 
 
RMT's platform has the capability to consider any planned utility projects, ensuring that streets slated for 
utility work are not selected for repairs. By integrating various utility GIS files, the system aids in 
identifying future repair efforts based on user data inputs, allowing for informed decisions on whether to 
include or exclude roads during planning and project creation. 
 
2.4.15 Allow for the yearly automated updating of the individual pavement condition indices based on 
construction history data. Repair exclusion years, condition improvement rules, age counters and 
treatment counters to be used in the optimization scenarios shall be user-defined. 
 
RMT's system updates pavement condition indices automatically based on construction history, providing 
real-time data for informed decision-making. This ensures that maintenance plans are consistently based on 
the latest information, thereby enhancing the effectiveness of the pavement management strategies chosen 
by the user. 
 
2.4.16 Allow for the linking and storing of electronic documents and images including photos, 
construction documents, testing results, etc. related to each specific pavement management section. 
 
The RMT system includes a dedicated section for users to upload essential documents, notes, images, or 
files. By facilitating the linking and storage of electronic documents and images, this feature addresses the 
challenge of managing extensive data related to pavement management. It centralizes information, making it 
readily accessible for analysis and planning purposes. 
 
2.4.17 Provide standard report capabilities including configurable graphs, charts and GIS mapping 
and the ability to develop customized reports within the application. 
 
RMT's executive dashboard contains various reporting features (graphs, charts, etc.) and provides a 
comprehensive solution for analyzing and presenting real-time pavement condition data. This enhances an 
organization's ability to communicate effectively with stakeholders and make informed decisions. 
 
2.4.18 Must be able to access data through various methods: Feature rest service, SQL-based 
connection, Exportable to Excel (xlsx). 
 
RMT's pavement management system caters to the need for versatile data management and analysis by 
offering various data import/export and access methods. This ensures that users can handle pavement 
condition data in the most convenient and effective manner tailored to their specific requirements. Please 
reference Data Importing and Exporting on page 13. 
 
2.4.19 Provide forward and downward facing images accompanied by an ID spreadsheet. 



 

19 
 

City of Dunedin, FL - RFP 24-1260 
Consultant Services for the Implementation  
of a Pavement Management System 

RMT's platform enhances the visualization and tracking of pavement conditions by providing images 
alongside road IDs. This feature is crucial for conducting detailed condition assessments and accurately 
planning maintenance activities. Please reference Figures 2 and 3. 
 
2.4.20 Ability for a visual map driven dashboard displaying current and projected road network 
conditions by year as well cost view within the dashboard. 
 
RMT’s visual map-driven dashboard feature offers a dynamic solution for visualizing both current and 
projected road conditions and costs. This tool enhances strategic decision-making by providing a 
comprehensive overview of the road network's status, enabling effective resource allocation and facilitating 
long-term planning efforts. 
 
2.4.21 Provide user the ability to toggle feature for displaying road conditions. 
 
RMT's toggle feature for displaying road conditions directly caters to user needs for tailored data 
visualization. This functionality enables users to customize the system's output to meet diverse analytical 
needs, enhancing usability and ensuring that the system can deliver pertinent information across a broad 
spectrum of scenarios. 
 
2.4.22 Provide user the ability for a public facing dashboard and an internal dashboard presenting 
detailed data. 
 
By providing both public and internal dashboards, RMT offers a solution for the diverse needs of 
stakeholder communication and detailed internal analysis. This dual approach ensures that both the public 
and internal stakeholders have access to appropriate levels of information, fostering transparency while 
supporting detailed operational planning and decision-making. 
 
4.  Cost Quote 
 
RMT’s Real-Time Pavement Performance Analytics service is priced at $35,178 annually for a network 
spanning 127 centerline miles. Operating on a SAAS model, our pricing is based on the mileage of the 
City's road network. There are no extra charges for hardware, installation, or maintenance, and no additional 
onboarding or startup fees are applicable. The RMT system entails a four-year commitment with annual 
payments. Agencies have the flexibility to opt out within 30 days each year. This structure secures the cost 
per year, ensuring budget predictability and financial stability, while providing the flexibility to reassess the 
partnership annually without long-term risk. 
 

Cost Breakdown for Roadway Data and Equipment Device Package 
 

1. Annual Software Licenses Total………………..………………………….......... $35,178 
1. Passive Road Survey Software License…….………...………………….. $35,178 
2. Annual Maintenance Fee………………………...Included with Software Licenses 
3. Hardware Installation Cost………………………Included with Software Licenses 
4. End User Remote Training………………………Included with Software Licenses 
5. Tech Support: 7am-6pm CST……………………Included with Software Licenses 

 
2. Cost of Equipment 

1. RoadRunner Road Survey Hardware…………....Included with Software Licenses 
2. Road Imaging Hardware………………….……...Included with Software Licenses 

 
                                                                                                      Total Annual Base Cost: $35,178 
 

Note: During the negotiation phase, RMT and Dunedin stakeholders will engage in discussions to define the 
scope of work for additional software development, ensuring that the desired end state is accurately 
outlined. The cost for software development is structured in blocks of 100 hours, with each block priced at 
$10,000. 



 

20 
 

City of Dunedin, FL - RFP 24-1260 
Consultant Services for the Implementation  
of a Pavement Management System 

5.  Schedule 
 
Upon contract execution, RMT initiates an optimization analysis of the City’s fleet vehicles to pinpoint hose 
suitable for equipping with our RoadRunner systems. Subsequently, our installation team is dispatched to 
install the devices, relieving the client of any installation responsibilities, and ensuring adherence to project 
schedules. Utilizing this crowd-sourced approach, data collection seamlessly occurs in the background as 
vehicles traverse the City of Dunedin’s network. Installation requires 2-3 days, and once the vehicles 
commence driving, full data coverage is anticipated within 4-6 weeks. 
 
To ensure successful client interaction with the platform, RMT schedules weekly calls between the City and 
our Project Manager. These calls serve as status checks to address any system-related questions or training 
needs and to customize platform features to the client's specific requirements. This streamlined schedule and 
process enables RMT to deliver custom solutions and onboarding within weeks, in stark contrast to the 
years typically required by other providers. 
 
 

 
 

Action Item May June July August September October November December January February March April
Contract Award / Task Order Signed 

Project Initiation
Street Inventory and Legacy 
Data Import / Review
Hardware Install 
(RoadRunners and 

Pavement Condition Data 
Collection

All lane 
mile data 
collected

Staff Training

Data Processing / Analysis

Pavement Repair Analysis

Project Creation

Maint/Rehab Program 
Development
Contract Renewal

Install;  < 1 week

Pre-Onboarding

Training starts and 
continues until staff 
is comfortable.

Project scenarios/models can be run, adjusted, compared, and finalized to feed maint/rehab program 
development.

Using analyzed pavement data and project scenarios maint/rehab programs can be 
developed, adjusted based on budget, and executed over time based on deterioration 
rates.

Project Schedule Summary

After installation, RoadRunner and camera devices will upload data daily to the cloud-based server for processing and 
refinement.

This can happen 
immediately

Continuous once started; road data can be reviewed daily, roads re-analyzed, etc. to feed City's maint/rehab 
development plan all within the  platform.

Data continues to get collected daily and refined each trip a vehicle takes.
Once the first vehicle has 
hardware installed devices will 
start collecting data.



Page 1 of 1 

BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS OF BRADFORD COUNTY, FLORIDA 

AGENDA ITEM INFORMATION SHEET 

DATE:  August 6, 2024 

AGENDA ITEM Permission to Extend Lease and Purchase Equipment – 
Jason Dodds, Public Works Director 

A. Extend an expired lease on 644 john deere loader (serial
number 1DW644KZTKF696199) for 2 years at a cost of
$20,625.92 per year, with a buyout option of $133,929.56 at
the end of the 2-year lease agreement.

B. Return expired lease equipment - 644 john deere loader
(serial number 1DW644KZCKF696234).

C. Purchase a 2022 john deere 244l compact wheel loader for
a cost of $93,700.

DEPARTMENT: 

PURPOSE: 

ASSOCIATED COST(S): 

RECOMMENDED MOTION: 

Public Works 

The loader leases have expired, please consider extending one 
lease and returning the second loader. Consider staff 
recommendation to purchase a smaller and less expensive 
John Deere 2024 322P compact wheel loader with could be 
more useful for everyday operations. 

Two-year lease on 644 John Deere Loader - $20,625.93 
annually with buyout cost of $133,929.56 
John Deere 2024 322P Compact Wheel Loader - $169,800 
one-time purchase. 

Approve Item 8, A through C as a single item. 



Jason Dodds

From:
Sent:
To:
Subject:

Steve Carter < SCarter@BeardEquipment.com >

Wednesday, )une 12,2024 2:43 PM

Jason Dodds
FW: Bradford County 644s lnvoice

Jason, please review the payments below and let me know if you want to keep or return one or both. We need to decide
quickly as you know. lf you plan to return either or both of the 544's we need to get it or them on a Beard Yard

is safe.

644 with pin on bucket

1 year
Payment: $23,2O4.L7
Residual: $L39,752.31

1 year 644 with 4 N 1 Bucket

Payment: $25,022.32
Residual: $L43,778.61

2 year

2 Payments: $22,242.06
Residual: $136,820

Confidential with Personal lrf .

3"'r"i!r,, $20,62s.s3 \ /
Residual: $133,929.sy' U

IEXTERNAI EMAILI Please d

o not click links or attachments unless you recognize the sender and know the content is safe.

1



Q.or.lno==o

- 

EQUIPMENT CO.
il.rxxoeene

June 24.2024

Mr. Jason Dodds
Bradford Couty Road Depanment

Jason, thank you for the opportunity to provide the following quote for your consideration. Please let me know ifyou have

any questions or need additional information.

2024 John Deere 3,14P compact wheel loader

Enclosed climate control cab

Suspension seat

3'd Function valve
17.5-25 Michelin radial tires
Hydraulic Coupler
2.0 CUYD Construction Bucket
Pallet forks

Comprehensive Full Machine Warranty 2 years/2,000 hours with additional J year/2,000 hour Powertrain and
Hydraulic (PT&H) cov€rage

12 Months Fr€e Travel Tim€ and Mileage for Warrantable Repairs

Machine Sell Price s169.800.

Best regards,
SteYe Carter
Beard Equipment Company
Lake City, FL
904 769 9220

Mobils, AL
2480 E. l-65 Service Rd. N./ 36617

251456.1993

Pon8acole, FL
3195 W. Nine Mile Rd./ 32534

850476-0277

Prnam Clty, FL
4625 Highway 231 N.i 32402

850-7694844

Jacksonvills, FL

6870 Philips Highwayi 32216
904-296-5000

Laks City, FL
2578 SE Baya Dr./ 36055

386-752.9544

Palatkr, FL
356 N. Highwey l71 32177

386.3254268

Frrcport, FL
33 lndustrial Courl/ 32439

850.835-3337



@ JoHN DEERE
FINANCIAL

LEASE ACCOUNT INFORf,ATION

ORIGINAL INVOICE

Invoice D.a.

liYolc. NlbD.r
BRADFORD COUNTY
PO BOX B
STARXE FL 32OOI

DID YOU lo{Owl
Log dl to rry.DF ..ountdn ftr !.qlt! d
d{ldar$l acc6 b ror Jdin Ocia FtrandC

TOTAI AIOI,I{T OI.E

Du6 DaL

06t04,n02l

@7oaGt

13l3r,al32
?r3,rzi,2a

QUISTIONS?

@
C.IG

M/Dr^.root@r
t-tL-,1tt{732

taata latlrty Oaf.
l-aaaaat iaft..nca ur$aa

TFORTAiIT hIFORTATX)iI ABOT'T YOUR ACCOUI{T
Yoi, L.sa lnfufinadoll b nor avdlado 24, at [.lyJDFA.co6Lcdn. Makc p6ym6ot3 vba, yo.ra ac.ount lnfomadon and moa€!

Evqy dlrhonoard cltcck l! al6d will r6ult ln a faa of lm or in en emounl rct b .xc..d thc highGt flnoont p.rmilbd by stet. hw.

f *t*A ana ,Wt W U*rr, ,r,niflance p<nlir,/t \lilh Wut pat4nent n 8n enclosed envebpe f

3:to/2024
oolltt5!

@ P.O Ad Ga00
Jotl|doi, lA 5ol3l{6oa
USA

BRADfOID COT'I.TY
Accoq llrmb.. : 0:II407EB-0fi)JoHN DEERE

FiNANCIAL

TOTAL AIOI']'T OUE

Enclosed

DEERE CREDIT, i{C.
FO BOX ,4,150

CAROL STREAIi lL 60197- 'Ls{!

4313,2a1-32
$!ona21

Pl.d5e incldea(counr n{m5or and nrate (h..k p.yable ro

BRADFORD COUNTY
PO BOX B
STARXE FL 32091

$



@ Joxn Deene
FINANCIAL

LEASE ACCOUNT ITIFORI.ANON

ORIGINAL INVOICE

lnvolca Drta 6tuva2a
P,oe2d2

olTo€si|I.volc! Nurb€r
R.t arn . ,{umb.,
BRADFORD COT]NTY

PO BOX B
STARKE FL 32091

AccountNumb.r m0{n70853{00
t .r.I.turty D.L 5/3(y2024
s.rLl umb.(r) 2019 644K](I644K4WD IOA.DER IDW644KZTIG696I9920I9 6,|4KXI644K 4WD ITADER IDW644XZCKF6%2342019 4.0TAG4.0YD

BUCKET 253550.1

!,.!crlptlon
Purcllaa€ Prha
Propdty Tex

Atnouil Duo

$308,346.95

06,894.37

C[Ir'rlt Tot l ADolli Ih.
Drr. Dd.

lsl33,al.32
5EOnO24

{"r/--
fo,c bvyct*{-otr
LeoS<-.



Page 1 of 1 
 

BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS OF BRADFORD COUNTY, FLORIDA 
 
 

AGENDA ITEM INFORMATION SHEET 
 
 
 
DATE:     August 6, 2024   
    
AGENDA ITEM Interlocal Agreement Between Alachua County Board of 

County Commissioners and Bradford County Board of 
County Commissioners and Columbia County Board of 
County Commissioners and Dixie County Board of County 
Commissioners and Gilchrist County Board of County 
Commissioners and Union County Board of County 
Commissioners Regarding Local Workforce Development 
Area 26 

 
DEPARTMENT:    County Manager 
 
PURPOSE: Interlocal agreement between the six counties in the new 

workforce development area 26. (CareerSource) 
 
  
  



1 

INTERLOCAL AGREEMENT BETWEEN

THE ALACHUA COUNTY BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS 

AND 

THE BRADFORD COUNTY BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS

AND 

THE COLUMBIA COUNTY BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS  
 

AND 
 

THE DIXIE COUNTY BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS 
 

AND 
 

THE GILCHRIST COUNTY BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS 
 
    AND 
 

THE UNION COUNTY BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS 
 

REGARDING LOCAL WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT AREA 26 

THIS INTERLOCAL AGREEMENT ("Agreement") is made and entered into
pursuant to the authority of section 163.01, Florida Statutes, 29 USCS §3101 - §3361,
United States Public Law 113-128 the Workforce Innovation and Opportunities Act, and 
Chapter 445, Florida Statutes, by and between Alachua County, a charter county and a 
political subdivision of the State of Florida, and Bradford County, a political subdivision of 
the State of Florida, and Columbia County a charter county and a political subdivision of 
the State of Florida, and Dixie County a political subdivision of the State of Florida, and 
Gilchrist County a political subdivision of the State of Florida, and Union  County a political 
subdivision of the State of Florida, (hereinafter, Alachua County, Bradford County, 
Columbia County, Dixie County, Gilchrist County and Union County are collectively 
referred to herein as the "Parties" or individually as a "Party"). 

WHEREAS, the Governor of the State of Florida wishes the existing workforce 
development areas known as Region 9, consisting of Alachua County and Bradford 
County and Region 7, consisting of Columbia County, Dixie County, Gilchrist County and 
Union County to realign their boundaries to create a new workforce development area 
consisting of all six counties in accordance with the Workforce Innovation and Opportunity 
Act of 2014, United States Public Law 113 - 128 ("WIOA"); and 



2 

WHEREAS, the three-pillar Florida Workforce System Transformation 
Plan advances alignment and consolidation of local workforce development boards in 
Region 7 and Region 9; requires system-wide improvements for enhanced customer 
consistency and better leveraging of public funds; and guides regional planning to support 
workforce system alignment with education and economic development and optimize 
opportunities for regional economic growth; and

WHEREAS, the Parties are agreeable to the formation of a new workforce 
development area that will consolidate Region 7 and Region 9 workforce development 
areas into a new six-county Workforce Development Area ("WDA") to be designated as 
Workforce Development Area 26, otherwise known as CareerSource North Central 
Florida (“LWDA 26”); and 

WHEREAS, WIOA provides that where a workforce development area is comprised 
of more than one unit of local government, those governmental units may enter into an 
agreement that specifies the respective roles of the individual chief elected officials of 
each general-purpose unit of government; and 

WHEREAS, the Parties wish to enter into an interlocal agreement for the purpose 
of establishing a multi-jurisdictional arrangement to carry out the individual responsibilities 
of each Party under WIOA; and 

WHEREAS, section 163.01, Florida Statutes, provides for local governmental units 
to make the most efficient use of their powers by enabling them to cooperate with other 
localities on a basis of mutual advantage to provide services and facilities pursuant to 
forms of governmental organization that will accord best with geographic, economic, 
population, and other factors influencing the needs and development of local communities 
through an interlocal agreement; and

WHEREAS, it is the desire of the Parties to state the powers to be exercised under 
this Agreement and the method by which the Parties to this Agreement will accomplish 
the purpose under this Agreement and the manner in which the powers will be exercised; 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual promises and the conditions 
herein set forth, and pursuant to section 163.01, Florida Statutes, the Parties agree as 
follows:

1. Definitions. 

A. "Administrative Entity" means Alachua County, which is herein designated with 
the responsibilities and functions as referenced in Section 8 hereof, including 
those described in 20 CFR 679.250. 
 

B. "Agreement” means this Interlocal Agreement, including any amendments or 
supplements hereto executed and delivered in accordance with the terms 
hereof.



3 

C. "Attorney" means the chief legal officer of CSNCFL referenced in Section 12 
hereof.

D. "CSNCFL" and "CareerSource NCFL" means CareerSource North Central
Florida, which refers to the Council, LWDB 26, their career centers, and the 
Administrative Entity in accordance with the Brand Standards Manual dated 
August 2015 adopted and published by CareerSource Florida.

E. "CSNCFL Chief Executive Officer" means the Alachua County employee 
appointed pursuant to Alachua County Board of County Commissioners 
Employee Policy 4-02, Section 1.e., to assist LWDB 26 in carrying out the 
functions described in 29 USCS §3122(d) and to also assist the Council in 
carrying out its functions as set forth in this Agreement, and as more specifically 
referenced in Section 9 hereof. 

 
F. "CLEO" means the Chief Local Elected Officials designated in Section 5 hereof, 

who are also referred to in WIOA as the chief elected official.
 

G. "Council" means the CareerSource North Central Florida Workforce 
Development Council referenced in Section 5 hereof. 

H. "EOO" means the Equal Opportunity Officer referenced in Section 11 hereof. 
 

I. "Fiscal Agent” means Alachua County, which is herein designated with the 
responsibilities and functions as referenced in Section 10 hereof, including 
those described in 20 CFR 679.420(b).

J. "LWDB 26" means Local Workforce Development Board 26, which is the local 
workforce development board for LWDA 26, to be comprised of members 
appointed by the Council in accordance with Section 14 hereof. 
 

K. “NCFWDA" means the North Central Florida Workforce Development Area 
consisting of the geographic boundaries of Alachua County, Bradford County, 
Columbia County, Dixie County, Gilchrist County and Union County, whose 
boundaries are contained in the legal descriptions found in Chapter 7 Florida 
Statutes, and designated by the Governor of the State of Florida as a local area 
pursuant to 29 USCS §3121; also known as Local Workforce Development 
Area 26 or "LWDA 26".

 
L. “Program Year” means the 12-month period between July 1 and June 30 each 

year.

 



4 

M.“Fiscal Year” means the 12-month period between October 1 and September 
30 each year.

N. "State" means the State of Florida. 
 

O. Except as otherwise expressly provided herein, the definitions set forth in 29 
USCS §3102 are hereby adopted and incorporated by reference herein.

 
2. Purpose

The purpose of this Agreement is to establish the authorities and responsibilities 
between the Parties required for the implementation of programs and services 
in accordance with WIOA and such other workforce federal, state, and other 
nongovernmental grants and revenues which may be awarded to any entities 
created under this Agreement and to assure compliance with the rules and 
regulations applicable to such grants and awards. Except where discretionary 
funds are awarded and required to be spent within specified geographic 
boundaries or on specified target groups within the workforce area, the Parties 
agree that any and all services provided by CSNCFL shall be advertised within 
each of the six counties and shall be available to qualifying residents of all six 
counties on a first come, first served basis, unless otherwise approved by 
majority vote of LWDB 26 and by unanimous vote of the Council. 

3. Identification of the Parties to this Agreement.

Each Party to this Agreement is a county of the State and, as such, is a general-
purpose political subdivision of the State. The Parties are more particularly 
identified as follows:
 

Board of County Commissioners
Alachua County, Florida 
12 SE 1st Street 2nd Floor
Gainesville, FL 32601

Board of County Commissioners
Bradford County, Florida 
P.O. Drawer B 
Starke, FL 32091 

Board of County Commissioners
Columbia County
135 NE Hernando Avenue, Suite 203 
Lake City, FL 32056

Board of County Commissioners
Dixie County
 214 NE 351 Hwy.  
 PO Box 2600  
Cross City, FL 32628 
 

Board of County Commissioners
Gilchrist County 
209 SE 1st Street 
Trenton, FL 32693 

Board of County Commissioners
Union County
15 NE 1st Street 
Lake Butler, FL 32054 



5 

4. Geographical Area to be Served by this Agreement.

The geographical area to be served by this this Agreement is the entire 
geographical areas of Alachua County, Bradford County, Columbia County, Dixie 
County, Gilchrist County and Union County each of which are legally described 
in Chapter 7, Florida Statutes, which legal descriptions are incorporated herein 
by reference. 

 
5. Creation of a CSNCFL Council of Elected Officials

A. There is hereby created a CSNCFL Council of Elected Officials ("Council") for the 
purpose of collectively carrying out the Parties’ responsibilities under WIOA and 
such other workforce grants as may be awarded to CSNCFL. The Council shall 
have six members comprised of one County Commissioner appointed by the 
respective Boards of County Commissioners of each Party.  Each member of the 
Council may appoint another County Commissioner from that member’s Board of 
County Commissioners to serve as his or her alternate if the member is unable to 
attend a meeting. New appointments shall be made when necessary to fill 
vacancies. 

 
B. The Council shall make all policy decisions for the NCFWDA except those which 

must be made in partnership with LWDB 26, or which are reserved solely for LWDB 
26 pursuant to the authorizing legislation under which grants are made available 
and awarded to CSNCFL; except approval by the Council shall be required in 
instances that policies or decisions are related to the expenditure of grant funds 
for which the Parties to this Agreement are liable. 
 

C. In addition to any other powers granted to the Council by this Agreement, the 
Council shall have the following powers.

 
a. Adopt procedures and administrative rules to effectively carry out the Council's 

policies and decisions in a manner that does not conflict with applicable federal 
and State rules and policies; 

 
b. To make and enter into contracts or other instruments necessary or convenient 

to exercise its powers 
 

c. To enter into agreements with other governmental entities within or outside the 
boundaries of NCFWDA for joint performance, or performance by one unit on 
behalf of the other, any of either entity's authorized functions;

 
d. To acquire, by purchase, gift, devise or otherwise, and to dispose of, real or 

personal property, or any estate therein, subject to compliance with all 
applicable federal and State statutes and regulations; 



6 

e. To sue and be sued in its own name, and to retain special counsel;

f. To incur debts, liabilities, or obligations which do not constitute the debts, 
liabilities, or obligations of any of the Parties to the Agreement;

g. To lease, as lessor or lessee, to or from any person, firm, corporation, 
association or body, public or private, facilities or property of any nature for the 
use of CSNCFL or any of its contractors, to carry out any of the purposes 
authorized by this Agreement;

 
D. The following powers shall be exercised upon joint approval by both the Council 

and LWDB 26:

a. To approve Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) between the 
Administrative Entity and one-stop partners;
 

b. To apply for and accept grants, loans, and subsidies from any governmental 
entity for the purposes of workforce development, and to comply with all 
requirements and conditions imposed in connection therewith;
 

c. To approve the CSNCFL's budget;

d. To provide oversight and guidance to CSNCFL; 
 
e. To ensure that the Administrative Entity complies with all single audit 

requirements including 2 CRF 200 Part F and 218.39, Florida Statutes; 

f. To determine the manner in which funds shall be disbursed or paid, 
including the manner in which funds shall be disbursed or paid by CSNCFL;

g. To determine the manner in which any fee for service income, unrestricted 
income or surplus funds may be expended, provided that:

i. Surplus funds that constitute carry over moneys from one grant year 
to the next, shall be expended in accordance with USDOL or State 
statutes and regulations; 

ii. Surplus funds that constitute program income as defined by Federal 
or State regulations shall be expended in accordance with applicable 
statutes and regulations; 

iii. Any other surplus funds which do not have to be expended as per 
subparagraphs i, and ii. above, or do not have to be expended in the 
furtherance of programs, shall be expended in any manner that 
would further the public interest as it relates to workforce 
development, or may be used to repay the debts of the Council. The 
decision as to how the expenditures shall be made shall be done at 



7 

a public meeting of the Council by motion and majority vote of the 
Council;

h. To authorize the CSNCFL Chief Executive Officer to enter into and approve 
Incumbent Worker Training, individual employer OJT agreements, work 
experience (internships) including transitional work experience and 
community work experience agreements, National Dislocated Worker 
Emergency Grants for Temporary Worker worksite agreements, and 
customized training agreements or to delegate such responsibilities to a 
provider approved by the Council and LWDB 26 for the provision of such 
services in accordance with policies to be established by the Council, 
LWDB 26 or the CSNCFL Chief Executive Officer in accordance with the 
budget approved by the LWDB 26 and the Council,  as appropriate; 

i. To authorize the CSNCFL Chief Executive Officer to negotiate, enter into 
and execute contracts and issue purchase orders following approval of the 
Council and LWDB 26, as appropriate; 

j. To authorize the CSNCFL Chief Executive Officer to enter into contracts and 
make purchases in accordance with the procurement and purchasing 
guidelines approved as part of the CSNCFL Administrative Plan filed with 
the State or in accordance with Alachua County procurement policies and 
procedures as appropriate to the item to be purchased. Purchases shall 
include services, supplies, consultant agreements, materials, equipment 
and leased space; 

k. To authorize the CSNCFL Chief Executive Officer to draft rules, policies 
and procedures to be approved by the Council upon recommendation of 
LWDB 26; 

 
E. At the beginning of each Program Year, the Council shall vote to select a Chair and 

Vice Chair of the Council from among its members. The Chair and Vice Chair shall 
serve for the entire Program Year. No Party’s member may serve as Chair more often 
than once every three (3) Program Years. 

 
F. In the absence of the Chair of the Council, the Vice Chair of the Council shall act in 

his or her stead.
 

G. The Chair of the Council, or in the Chair's absence the Vice Chair of the Council, is 
authorized to sign such documents requiring the signature of the Chair of the Council; 
except where documents are required to be approved by the Council prior to 
execution, they shall first be presented and approved by the Council at a meeting 
held in accordance with Chapter 286, Florida Statutes, and §445.007(1), Florida 
Statutes. 
 

H. The Council shall support its programs and any costs incidental to the operation of its 
programs by grant funds appropriated to it under WIOA, other Workforce 
Development or Welfare Legislation, or other grants by or through other federal, State 
or local sources. Additionally, the Council is authorized to accept any other grants in 



8 

aid or assistance funds from the United States Governments or to accept 
appropriations from any of the Parties, or any other organization or person, including 
the acceptance of gifts, grants or bequests whether it be in the form of tangible or 
intangible property. No funds will be required from the treasuries of the Parties; it 
being the intent hereof that all funding of the workforce development initiatives and 
the Council be accomplished by grants and funds available pursuant to workforce 
development initiative programs, including but not necessarily limited to WIOA, other 
workforce development or welfare legislation and any other State and federal grants 
or other funding. Nothing set forth herein shall be deemed to prohibit a Party from 
voluntarily providing funding for said programs and the costs incidental to the 
operation of said programs, including but not limited to the costs of CSNCFL. The 
funding of workforce initiatives referenced above are meant to encompass 
administrative personnel costs and administrative non-personnel costs, and program 
personnel costs and program non-personnel costs. 

 
I. Council members may be reimbursed for travel and out of pocket expenses to the 

extent allowed by the authorizing legislation governing the funding stream from which 
reimbursement is sought. Reimbursement shall be in accordance with federal, State 
and local policies. 

6. Meetings of the Council. 

A. All meetings of the Council shall be subject to the Chapter 286, Florida Statutes, 
and §445.007(1), Florida Statutes.
 

B. The Chair shall preside over meetings of the Council. 

C. A quorum for the purposes of voting at any Council meeting shall consist of all six 
(6) members of the Council, except as provided below in Section 6.C.i and 6.C.ii. 

 

i An individual party’s Council seat shall be immediately and automatically 
suspended and made inactive for purposes of a quorum and voting for 
the following reasons:

1 Voluntary request by the party if they are unable to fulfill their 
commitment to attend and participate in Council meetings. 

2 Absent for 2 consecutive regularly scheduled and properly 
noticed meetings of the council.

a The seat will only be reactivated upon request of the 
suspended party with an explanation and plan to rectify 
the delinquency.

3 Any County that does not enter the ILA.  



9 

ii While one or more Council seats are inactive; a quorum shall consist of 
all active members of the council.

D. All items coming before the Council shall require an affirmative vote of all Council 
members. Each member of the Council shall have one vote.  

 
E. Matters coming before the Council may be approved by motion and shall not 

require a formal Resolution. 
 
F. The Council may schedule and meet jointly with LWDB 26. Each entity shall 

separately vote on matters solely within their purview including items requiring 
joint approval. Meetings of the Council and meetings of LWDB 26, whether held 
individually or jointly, shall not conflict with public meetings scheduled by any of 
the member counties’ publicly noticed meetings of their respective Boards of 
County Commissioners.   

 
7. Designation of the Grant Recipient, Subrecipient and Assignment of Liability and 

Title to Personal and Real Property 

A. The Chair of the Council is authorized to request subsequent designations of the
NCFWDA from the Governor of the State on behalf of the Parties. In accordance 
with 20 CFR 679.250, LWDB 26 must also approve the request. 
 

B. The Council shall be the grant recipient for grants awarded to the NCFWDA. 
 

 
C. Each party to this Agreement shall be liable for 1/6th of grant funds awarded to the 

Council or to CSNCFL. 
 

D. The allocation of liability set forth in Section 7.C. hereof shall be applicable only to 
grant funds awarded to NCFWDA on or after the Effective Date of this Agreement. 
The Parties acknowledge that prior to the Effective Date of this Agreement each 
Party was a member of one of two local workforce development areas. The Parties 
acknowledge and agree that nothing in this Agreement is intended to assume, 
assign, effect, eliminate or transfer any liability regarding grant funds awarded to 
either of those prior two local workforce development areas to the new NCFWDA; 
and each county shall remain liable for its share of liability, if any, for grant funds 
awarded to the prior local workforce development area to which it was a member.
 

a. It is the intent of the Parties to this Agreement that initiatives, strategies, 
and programs that will further the purposes of this Agreement, and which 
will be implemented as a result of this Agreement, be funded through 
formula and discretionary workforce and other grants awarded to the 
Council, LWDB 26 or to the Administrative Entity.



10 

E. The Council shall be responsible for deciding on a course of action or defense in 
the event of a misuse or other loss related to funds awarded to the Council, or the 
Administrative Entity.

 
F. To the extent that insurance is commercially available, CSNCFL shall purchase 

insurance to indemnify the Council and LWDB 26 (collectively, the "Insureds"), 
from all claims, damages, liability and losses that the Insureds may individually or 
collectively incur due to the operation of WIOA or other federal or state workforce 
development programs, including but not limited to claims or findings of: (i) misuse 
of grant funds, (ii) disallowed costs, (iii) mismanagement or (iv) other losses 
related to funds awarded to the Council and LWDB 26. To the extent that it is 
commercially available, said insurance shall waive rights to subrogate against the 
Council, LWDB 26, and the Council member counties. 

 
G. Title to supplies, equipment, property real and personal, including computers, 

technology and software, as well as administrative, fiscal and program records 
purchased with grant funds awarded to the Council, LWDB 26 or the Administrative 
Entity, shall vest with the Council. In the event of the termination of this Agreement, 
title to the items listed herein shall vest proportionately the same as the assumed 
liability of grant awards.  

 
8. The Administrative Entity for CSNCFL.

A. Alachua County will serve as the administrative entity for LWDB 26. The Council 
and LWDB 26 will enter into an agreement for administrative services to be 
provided to LWDB 26. As such, Alachua County will be a subrecipient of grant 
funds for these services. 
 

B. For the purposes of payroll and benefits, all W2 employees shall be “housed” as 
employees of Alachua County pursuant to Alachua County Board of County 
Commissioners Employee Policy 4-02 Section 1.e. The Administrative Entity will 
execute the duties and responsibilities associated with being administrative entity 
to a local workforce development board. 

 
C. The Administrative Entity shall implement the policies, decisions, actions and 

directives of the Council and LWDB 26 under the supervision and direction of the 
CSNCFL Chief Executive Officer. 

 
D. The purpose of the Administrative Entity shall be to assist the Council and LWDB 

26 in carrying out their respective functions under WIOA and this Agreement, and 
to operate and implement workforce and welfare programs, as well as related 
programs, in accordance with the policies and directions of the Council and LWDB 
26.  
 

E. The CSNCFL Chief Executive Officer, on behalf of CSNCFL, is authorized to 
accept gifts, grants, assistance funds and bequests to further the purposes of this 
Agreement. 



11 

 
F. The CSNCFL Chief Executive Officer, on behalf of CSNCFL, is authorized to make 

claims for federal or state aid payable to CSNCFL or several participants on 
account of the execution of this Agreement.

 
G. To the extent allowed by applicable Federal and State law, and to the extent 

allowed by the applicable grants awarded to the CSNCFL, Alachua County shall 
be entitled to payment for all actual eligible and allowable costs associated with 
providing Administrative Entity services pursuant to this Agreement.

 
H. The Administrative Entity, as a charter county and a political subdivision of the 

state of Florida, shall enjoy the sovereign immunity it possesses in its own right 
and also as set forth in Section 19.B. hereof. Nothing contained herein constitutes 
a waiver by Alachua County of sovereign immunity or the provisions or limits of 
liability set forth in §768.28, Florida Statutes.  

 
 

9. Chief Executive Officer 

A. The Chief Executive Officer shall be the chief executive officer of the Council and 
LWDB 26, and, as such, shall implement the policies, decisions, actions and 
directives of the Council and LWDB 26. 

a. The initial Chief Executive Officer shall be Phyllis Marty, who shall serve as 
the Chief Executive Officer from the Effective Date of this Agreement for a 
period of at least 2 years, to allow for an orderly transition to the new LWDA 
26. The LWDB shall evaluate the Chief Executive Officer annually and shall 
make a recommendation to the Council with respect to increases, 
retention, and termination. Based upon the evaluation the Council shall 
make the final decision regarding increases, retention and termination. 
 

B. The CSNCFL Chief Executive Officer shall be a W-2 employee of Alachua County
pursuant to Employee Policy 4-02, Section 1. e. The CSNCFL Chief Executive 
Officer shall serve at the pleasure of the Council and LWDB 26.  

 
C. The CSNCFL Chief Executive Officer‘s salary, including bonuses, if any, shall not 

exceed the Federal Executive Level Il Salary under 5 USCS §5313, and shall be 
determined by the Council upon recommendation of the LWDB 26. 

D. LWDB 26 shall develop an evaluation instrument to review the performance of the 
CSNCFL Chief Executive Officer. 

E. It shall be the responsibility of the CSNCFL Chief Executive Officer to develop an 
annual budget for all CSNCFL funds with the assistance of the Fiscal Agent. A 
planning budget based on the Program Year and the funding notification from the 
State will be presented for review in May or June. A true up of the budget shall be 
presented in December or January based on the actual funds awarded and final 



12 

carry forward figures for the approval of the Council and LWDB 26 at a joint 
meeting.

a. The budget developed shall invest the resources of the Council and 
CSNCFL so as to result in the attainment of the performance measures 
negotiated with Florida Commerce and CareerSource Florida. 
 

b. There shall be a budget for each discretionary grant. 
 

 
F. The CSNCFL Chief Executive Officer shall be responsible for drafting the agenda 

and supporting documentation for meetings of the Council and for meetings of 
LWDB 26. The agenda shall be based upon those matters required to come before 
the Council, LWDB 26, or the two governing boards acting together on matters 
under their joint purview as set forth in this Agreement. 

 
G. The CSNCFL Chief Executive Officer shall be responsible for the implementation 

of policies established and approved by the Council and LWDB 26. 
 
H. The CSNCFL Chief Executive Officer shall be responsible for the drafting of the 

Four-year Local Plan, and the Two-Year Local Plan Modification as well as the 
Regional Plan if the NCFWDA is part of a workforce development region, for 
consideration, revision and approval by the Council and LWDB 26, based upon:

 
 

a. The vision and the mission of LWDB 26; 
 

b. LWDB 26's strategies and goals for meeting the intent of the vision; 
 

c. LWDB 26's analysis of the local labor market in the workforce development 
area; 
 

d. LWDB 26’s analysis of the local economy; 
 

e. LWDB 26's analysis of available training providers able to deliver skills 
training to fill job vacancies; 
 

f. An operational plan for delivering services; 
 

g. A plan for coordinating and integrating service delivery with the legislative 
one-stop partners; and 
 

h. Such other criteria as may be required by the authorizing legislation or the 
State. 

 
 



13 

I. The CSNCFL Chief Executive Officer shall be responsible for implementing 
required grant oversight and monitoring in accordance with the direction and 
policies approved by the Council and LWDB 26. 

J. The CSNCFL Chief Executive Officer shall be responsible for updating the 
Administrative Plan to assure compliance with 2 CFR 200.320 et seq, and

 
K. The CSNSCFL Chief Executive Officer shall be authorized to enter into contracts 

and make purchases in accordance with the procurement and purchasing policies 
approved as part of the CSNCFL Administrative Plan filed with the State. 
Purchases shall include services, supplies, consultant agreements, materials, 
equipment and leased space; and 

 
L. Following appropriate procurement, and affirmative action at a publicly noticed 

meetings of the Council and LWDB 26 regarding expenditures necessary to meet 
the intent of the grants awarded to the Council, LWDB 26 or the Administrative 
Entity, the CSNCFL Chief Executive Officer shall be authorized to enter into 
contracts and subrecipient agreements on behalf of the Council, LWDB 26 and 
the Administrative Entity, except for such instances where the State requires the 
signatures of the Chairs of the Council, LWDB 26, or the Chairs of the  Boards of 
County Commissioners. 

 
M. The CSNCFL Chief Executive Officer shall be responsible for any other necessary 

and proper matters agreed upon by the Council.

N. In the event that a new CSNCFL Chief Executive Officer must be hired, LWDB 26 
shall establish a set of objective qualifications for the position of CSNCFL Chief 
Executive Officer that sets forth the requisite knowledge, skills, and abilities 
necessary to meet identified benchmarks and to assist in effectively carrying out 
the functions of the CSNCFL Chief Executive Officer. LWDB 26 shall provide the 
set of objective qualifications to the Administrative Entity, who shall utilize said 
qualifications in developing a process for the recruitment of candidates who shall 
be screened and then referred to the LWDB 26 Executive Committee to be 
interviewed and for the selection of an individual to be recommended to the 
Council for hire.  

O. To do all acts and things necessary or convenient for the conduct of its business 
in order to carry out the powers and duties provided in this Agreement; and

P. To the extent allowed by law and to the extent required to effectuate the purposes 
hereof, to exercise all privileged, immunities and exemptions accorded to the 
counties of the State under the provisions of the constitution and laws of the State.

10. Designation and Responsibilities of the Fiscal Agent. 

A. The Parties hereby designate Alachua County to serve as its Fiscal Agent. The 
Alachua County Budget and Fiscal Services and the Alachua County Clerk of 



14 

the Circuit Court, which serves as accountant, treasurer and auditor for 
Alachua County, shall perform and be responsible for all fiscal accountability 
and reporting requirements for CSNCFL. The Council and LWDB 26 will enter 
into an agreement for fiscal services to be provided to LWDB 26. As such, 
Alachua County will be a subrecipient of grant funds for these services.

B. The Fiscal Agent shall be responsible for all of the functions set forth in 20 CFR 
679.420(b), and shall oversee disbursements approved by the Council, LWDB 
26, or the CSNCFL Chief Executive Officer, as appropriate. 

 
C. The Fiscal Agent shall be responsible for the manner in which strict 

accountability of all funds shall be provided for and the manner in which reports 
of all receipts and disbursements shall be prepared and presented to each 
Party and submitting the audit in accordance with required timeframes to the 
Council and the grantor agencies, including the Federal Clearinghouse, the 
Florida Auditor General and Florida Commerce. 

D. The Fiscal Agent shall be responsible for preparing all State required financial 
reports and for overseeing the procurement and conduct of the annual 2 CFR 
Part F audit. 

11. Designation and Responsibilities of the Equal Opportunity Officer.  

A. The Parties designate the Alachua County Equal Opportunity Manager to 
serve as the EOO. The Council and LWDB 26 will enter into an agreement for 
these services.  However, with the approval of the Council, the Alachua County 
Manager may designate another Alachua County employee to serve as the 
EOO.

B. The EOO shall be a W-2 employee of Alachua County.
 

C. The EOO shall report directly to the Chair of the Council and the CSNCFL 
Chief Executive or her designee and shall serve as the EOO at the pleasure 
of the Council. Notwithstanding the Council's ability to remove the person 
designated to serve as the EOO from the position of EOO, the Council shall 
not have the authority to suspend or terminate the EOOs employment with 
Alachua County. All employment decisions regarding the EOO, , shall rest 
solely with the Alachua County Manager or her designee.

 
D. The EOO shall be responsible for coordinating all of the Council's, LWDB 26's 

and the Administrative Entity's obligations under 29 CFR Part 38 and may be 
assigned other duties and responsibilities by the Alachua County Manager that 
do not create a conflict or the appearance of a conflict with the responsibilities 
of an Equal Opportunity Officer. 

 
E. The EOO shall resolve all discrimination complaints and any necessary 

reporting related thereto. 



15 

12. Designation and Responsibilities of Legal Counsel.

A. The Council shall establish a process for the selection and appointment of an 
Attorney.

B. The Attorney shall be a procured service and shall serve at the pleasure of the 
Council.

C. The Attorney shall report directly to the Council.

D. The Attorney shall serve as chief legal counsel to the Council and shall also 
provide legal services to LWDB 26 and the Administrative Entity. If any conflicts 
arise, LWDB 26 and the Administrative Entity shall waive any and all conflicts 
and the Attorney shall be authorized to continue to represent the Council.

13. LWDB 26

A. LWDB 26 constitutes the NCFWDA's Local Workforce Development Board 
as described in 29 USCS §3122.
 

B. The Council may direct the Attorney and the Administrative Entity to 
incorporate LWDB 26 as a Florida not for profit corporation organized for the 
purposes set forth in this Agreement, and to prepare and file all necessary 
applications for the Internal Revenue Service to declare LWDB 26 to be a 
charitable organization pursuant to 26 USCS §501(c)(3) that is exempt from 
taxation under 26 USCS §501 (a). Thereafter, LWDB 26 may solicit and 
accept grants and donation from sources other than Federal funds available 
under WIOA. 
 

C. LWDB 26 shall have 19 member positions, and those 19 members shall be 
appointed as set forth below in Section 14 hereof. LWDB 26's membership 
shall be consistent with the requirements of WIOA or such other workforce 
development legislation that may replace WIOA Title l, Section 107(b)(2), and 
with State requirements as set forth in §445.007(1), Florida Statutes. 

a. The Council shall establish a formal nomination and appointment process 
to appoint members to LWDB 26. Said process, and all nominations and 
appointments made pursuant thereto, shall be in accordance with WIOA, 
§445.007(1), Florida Statutes, and such criteria as may be received from 
the Governor of the State.

b. The Council shall make an effort in the appointment of members LWDB 
26 to reflect the composition of the population within the geographic area 
of the NCFWDA. 



16 

c. A majority of the members of LWDB 26 shall be representative of 
businesses in the local area.

i. The Alachua County Commissioner representative to the 
Council shall appoint 6 of the private sector members of LWDB 
26.

ii. The Bradford County Commissioner representative to the 
Council shall appoint 1 of the private sector members of LWDB 
26. 

iii. The Columbia County Commissioner representative to the 
Council shall appoint 1 of the private sector members of LWDB 
26.

iv. The Dixie County Commissioner representative to the Council 
shall appoint 1 of the private sector members of LWDB 26.

v. The Gilchrist County Commissioner representative to the 
Council shall appoint 1 of the private sector members of LWDB 
26. 

vi. The Union County Commissioner representative to the Council 
shall appoint 1 of the private sector members of LWDB 26.

d. The Alachua County Commissioner representative to the Council 
shall appoint 2 organized labor/workforce representatives of LWDB 
26. 

e. The Columbia County Commissioner representative to the Council 
shall appoint the 1 CBO/Labor/Workforce representative of LWDB 
26. 

f. The Bradford County Commissioner representative to the Council 
shall appoint the Adult Education & Literacy education 
representative of LWDB 26. 

g. The Alachua County Commissioner representative to the Council 
shall appoint the post-secondary education representative of LWDB 
26. 

h. The Alachua County Commissioner representative to the Council 
shall appoint the private education representative of LWDB 26.

i. The Alachua County Commissioner representative to the Council 
shall appoint the Vocational Rehabilitation, representative of LWDB 
26.  



17 

j. The Alachua County Commissioner representative to the Council 
shall appoint the economic development representative of LWDB 26. 

D. In the instance a vacancy cannot be filled by the appointments defined above, 
eligible candidates will be reviewed from any county and voted upon by the 
Council.

E. All LWDB 26 vacancies shall be filled in accordance with the process and in
the same manner in which they were initially filled.

F. Members shall be appointed for fixed and staggered terms. A term shall be a 
period of two (2) years. No member will serve more than eight (8) consecutive 
years.

G. All members of LWDB 26 shall serve at the pleasure of the Council, which 
may remove members from LWDB 26 at any time, with cause or without 
cause. 

H. The Council shall establish By-Laws for LWDB 26 and no subsequent 
amendment thereto shall be effective unless approved by the Council.

14. Agreement between the Council and LWDB 26. 

The Council is authorized and directed to enter into an agreement with LWDB 26 
for the purpose of describing the respective roles and responsibilities of each 
entity in accordance with State and Federal requirements. 

A. This Agreement does not release LWDB 7 from the financial liability 
associated with any determinations by FloridaCommerce, USDOL and/or 
any authorized funding agency conducting audits, of ultimate disallowance. 
LWDB 26 will not be liable for assuming any disallowance prior to the date 
of designation of LWDB 9 as the fiscal agent, nor will LWDB 26 be liable for 
any subsequently discovered disallowance that was incurred as a result of 
LWDB 7's activities prior to the date of LWDB 26's designation. 

15. Notice.

A. All notices under this Agreement shall be deemed sufficient and properly given 
if in writing delivered: (i) in person, (ii) by certified mail, postage prepaid with 
return receipt requested to the following addresses; provided, if notice is sent 
by mail, the notice shall be deemed delivered on the third day following such 
mailing which is not a Saturday, Sunday or a day on which the United States 
mail is not delivered, (iii) by email to the following email addresses, or (iv) to 
the following addresses by a commercial overnight courier that guarantees 
next day delivery and provides a receipt:

If to Alachua County: If to Bradford County:  



18 

B. Any Party may designate an additional address or email address to which 
subsequent notices shall be sent by sending notice thereof to the addresses 
listed above. 
 

16. Term and Termination. 

A. Term. This Agreement shall become effective ("Effective Date") only upon the 
occurrence of all of the following: (1) the Governor consolidates and 
redesignate local workforce development areas 7 and 9 into a new, single, six 
county local workforce development area that include all of Alachua, Bradford, 
Columbia, Dixie, Gilchrist and Union counties; (2) the Agreement is approved 
and executed by all Parties; and (3) the Agreement is filed with the Clerk of the 
Circuit Court of Alachua County, Florida as required by §163.01(11), Florida 
Statutes. Upon the Effective Date, the following shall automatically occur:  the 
Second Amended and Restated Interlocal Agreement by and between Alachua 
County and Bradford County recorded on June 29, 2021 in the Official Records 
of Alachua County at OR Book 4905 Page 1983 shall automatically terminate; 
and  the First Amendment to the Interlocal Agreement between Columbia, 
Dixie, Gilchrist and Union County Creating the Consortium as Called for by the 
Workforce Innovation and Opportunity Act, resolved April 11, 2022 shall 
automatically terminate. Unless terminated earlier pursuant to Section 17.B, 

County Manager
12 SE 1st Street, Second Floor
Gainesville, Florida 32601
MLieberman@alachuacounty.us

County Manager
945 N. Temple Avenue 
Starke, Florida 32091

@bradfordcountyfl.gov

If to Columbia County:
County Manager
135 NE Hernando Avenue, Suite 203. 
Lake City, FL 32055. 
bccadmin@columbiacountyfla.com

If to Dixie County:
County Manager
56 NE 210 Ave 
PO Box 2600
Cross City, FL 32628
duane.cannon@dixie.fl.gov

If to Gilchrist County: 
County Manager
209 SE 1st Street, 
Trenton, Florida 32693 
cbourassa@gilchrist.fl.us

If to Union County: 
County Coordinator
15 NE 1st Street
Lake Butler, FL 32054
countycoord@unioncounty-fl.gov

If to CareerSource NCFL or LWDB 26 
Chief Executive Officer 
1112 North Main Street
Gainesville, FL 32601
pMarty@alachuacounty.us> 



19 

hereof, this Agreement shall expire on the twentieth anniversary of the Effective 
Date.

B. Termination. This Agreement may be terminated upon the agreement of all 
Parties. In addition, each Party reserves the right to withdraw from this 
Agreement, with or without cause, by providing 180 calendar days written 
notice to the other Parties in accordance with the Notice provisions set forth in 
Section 16 hereof. Prior to providing such notice of withdrawal, the Parties 
agree to each give due consideration to the consequence arising as the result 
of such withdrawal, including the effect upon all Parties, the potential loss of 
programs and program funding, and the possibility of agreed to amendments, 
or delegation of authority to the other Parties. In the event one or more Parties 
exercises its right to withdraw from this Agreement, this Agreement will 
continue for the remaining Parties.  

17. Amendments and Waivers.

A. This Agreement may only be amended in writing, signed by all Parties, each
amendment of this Agreement shall be filed with the Clerk of the Circuit 
Court in Alachua County, Florida. No waiver of any provision of this 
Agreement shall be deemed or shall constitute a waiver of any other 
provision of this Agreement, whether or not similar.
 

B. The Council may make non-material amendments to this Agreement 
without further approved by the Parties.

 
C. Material modifications, amendments, or alterations to this Agreement shall 

only be effective if contained in a written document executed with the same 
formality herewith. 

 
D. It is understood and agreed that this document incorporates and includes 

all prior. negotiations, correspondence, conversations, agreements, or 
understandings applicable to the matters contained herein and the Parties 
agree that there are no commitments, agreements, or understandings 
concerning the subject matter of this Agreement that are not contained in 
this document. Accordingly, it is agreed that no deviation from the terms 
hereof shall be predicated upon any prior representation or agreements 
whether oral or written.

18. Sovereign Immunity. 

A. Parties. The Parties intend to avail themselves of the benefits of §768.28 
and §163.01(9)(c), Florida Statutes, and of other statutes and the 
common law governing sovereign immunity to the fullest extent possible. 
In accordance with §163.01(5)(o),Florida Statutes, therefore, the Parties 
are not jointly liable for the torts of LWDB 26, or the officers or employees 
of CSNCFL, or any other tort attributable to LWDB 26 or CSNCF; and only 
LWDB 26 or CSNCF, respectively, shall be liable for torts attributable to it 
or for torts of its officers or employees, and then, as to CSNCFL, only to 



20 

the extent of the waiver of sovereign immunity or limitation of liability 
specified in §768.28, Florida Statutes.

B. Administrative Entity. Pursuant to §163.01(9)(c), Florida Statutes, the 
Administrative Entity shall have all of the privileged and immunities from 
liability and exemptions from laws, ordinances, rules and common law 
which apply to the counties of the State of Florida. Pursuant to §163.01 
(9)(c), Florida Statutes, the Administrative Entity's officers, agents and 
employees shall have all of the privileged and immunities from liability and 
exemptions from laws, ordinances, rules and common law which apply to 
the officers, agents and employees of the counties of the State. 

 
C. Nothing in this Agreement is intended to inure to the benefit of any third-

party for the purpose of allowing any claim which would otherwise be 
barred under the doctrine of sovereign immunity or by operation of law. 

 

19. Binding Effect.

This Agreement shall be binding upon the Parties, their respective successors and 
assigns and shall inure to the benefit of the Parties, their respective successors 
and assigns.

20. Entire Agreement. 

This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement among the Parties pertaining to 
the subject matter hereof, and supersedes (except as expressly provided herein) 
all prior and contemporaneous agreements, understanding, negotiations and 
discussion of the Parties, whether oral or written, and there are no warranties, 
representations or other agreement between the Parties in connection with the 
subject matter hereof, except as specifically set forth herein. 

21. Interpretation.

The provisions of this Agreement have been carefully and fully negotiated between 
the Parties, each of which has had equal bargaining power. The terms of this 
Agreement are to be construed in accordance with their fair meaning and intent, 
and are not to be construed for or against either Party because such Party or its 
attorney drafted this Agreement.

22. Applicable Law: Venue. 

This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws 
of the State. Sole and exclusive venue for all actions arising from this Agreement 
shall be in the Alachua County, Florida. 

23. Waiver of Jury Trial.



21 

Each Party waives its rights to demand trial by jury. 

24. Severability.

In the event any provision of this Agreement shall be held invalid or unenforceable 
by a court of competent jurisdiction, such holding shall not invalidate or render 
unenforceable any other provision hereof and the remainder of this Agreement 
shall remain in full force and effect. 

[This space was intentionally left blank]



22

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties hereto have made and executed this 
Agreement on the respective dates under each signature;

APPROVED, with a quorum present and voting this the ____day of ______, 2024



 
DULY APPROVED by the Board of County Commissioners in regular session, 
this              day of                         , A.D., 2024. 
 
 
                                                                                                                        BRADFORD COUNTY 
 
 
 
                                                                                                                        _______________________________________ 
 

By: ____________________________________ 
 

Title: Chair, Board of County 
Commissioners 

 
                                                                                                                        Date: _________________________________ 
 
 
ATTEST:                                                                                                        APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
__________________________                                                                   ____________________________________ 
                                                                                                                         
By:______________________, Clerk                          
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



DULY APPROVED by the Board of County Commissioners in regular session, 
this              day of                         , A.D., 2024. 
 
 
                                                                                                                        COLUMBIA COUNTY 
 
 
 
                                                                                                                        _______________________________________ 
 

By: ____________________________________ 
 

Title: Chair, Board of County 
Commissioners 

 
                                                                                                                        Date: _________________________________ 
 
 
ATTEST:                                                                                                        APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
__________________________                                                                   ____________________________________ 
                                                                                                                         
By:______________________, Clerk                          
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



DULY APPROVED by the Board of County Commissioners in regular session, 
this              day of                         , A.D., 2024. 
 
 
                                                                                                                        DIXIE COUNTY 
 
 
 
                                                                                                                        _______________________________________ 
 

By: ____________________________________ 
 

Title: Chair, Board of County 
Commissioners 

 
                                                                                                                        Date: _________________________________ 
 
 
ATTEST:                                                                                                        APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
__________________________                                                                   ____________________________________ 
                                                                                                                         
By:______________________, Clerk                          
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



DULY APPROVED by the Board of County Commissioners in regular session, 
this              day of                         , A.D., 2024. 
 
 
                                                                                                                        GILCHRIST COUNTY 
 
 
 
                                                                                                                        _______________________________________ 
 

By: ____________________________________ 
 

Title: Chair, Board of County 
Commissioners 

 
                                                                                                                        Date: _________________________________ 
 
 
ATTEST:                                                                                                        APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
__________________________                                                                   ____________________________________ 
                                                                                                                         
By:______________________, Clerk                          
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



DULY APPROVED by the Board of County Commissioners in regular session, 
this              day of                         , A.D., 2024. 
 
 
                                                                                                                        UNION COUNTY 
 
 
 
                                                                                                                        _______________________________________ 
 

By: ____________________________________ 
 

Title: Chair, Board of County 
Commissioners 

 
                                                                                                                        Date: _________________________________ 
 
 
ATTEST:                                                                                                        APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
__________________________                                                                   ____________________________________ 
                                                                                                                         
By:______________________, Clerk                          
 







Page 1 of 1 
 

BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS OF BRADFORD COUNTY, FLORIDA 
 
 

AGENDA ITEM INFORMATION SHEET 
 
 
 
DATE:      August 6, 2024  
    
AGENDA ITEM Consider funding $8,000 of an estimated $10,000 for 

aquatic plant shredding for the overgrowth in Lake 
Sampson where water flows from the lake into the 
Sampson River Canal. BSWCD has approved to fund 
$2,000 toward the cost.  

 
DEPARTMENT:     BSWCD 
 
PURPOSE: The Bradford Soil and Water Conservation District 

made a presentation at the June 20th BoCC meeting 
requesting the county fund the removal of aquatic 
plants at the point where water flows out of Lake 
Sampson into the Sampson River Canal. BSWCD 
voted at its July 16, 2024, meeting to fund $2,000 
toward the removal as well as assisting the County 
with the no-cost permit application to Florida Fish 
and Wildlife Commission. 

 
ASSOCIATED COST(S):  Estimated $8,000  



Page 1 of 1 
 

BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS OF BRADFORD COUNTY, FLORIDA 
 
 

AGENDA ITEM INFORMATION SHEET 
 
 
 
DATE:     August 6, 2024    
    
AGENDA ITEM Opioid Abatement Funding Allocation – Use of Unspent 

Funds ($87,271.84) 
 
DEPARTMENT:    BoCC 
 
PURPOSE: Discuss possible uses for the unspent Opioid Abatement 

funding allocated to the Community Resource Paramedicine 
program that remain unspent from the state’s last fiscal year. 
There are currently $87,271.84 of unspent funds available.  

 
  



August 6


	8-6-24 Agenda.pdf
	AIIS S240502A Timber Ranch LLC 08-06-2024.pdf
	AIIS Z 24-04 Timber Ranch LLC 08-06-2024.pdf
	AIIS Z 24-04 Timber Ranch FL., LLC 08-06-2024
	AIIS Z 24-04 Timber Ranch LLC 08-06-2024

	AIIS S2400502B Timber Ranch LLC 08-06-2024.pdf
	AIIs Z 24-05 Timber Ranch LLC 08-06-2024.pdf
	AIIS Z 24-05 Timber Ranch FL., LLC 08-06-2024
	AIIs Z 24-05 Timber Ranch LLC 08-06-2024

	6-20-24 Minutes Full Packet.pdf
	AIIS - Meeting Minutes
	6-20-2024 BoCC Reg. Meeting Minutes

	7-2-24 Minutes Full Packet.pdf
	AIIS - Meeting Minutes
	07-02-2024 BoCC Reg. Meeting Minutes

	SHIP Change Order Full Packet.pdf
	AGENDA ITEM INFO SHEET  8 4  Rehab CO
	Covington CO 2
	CHANGE ORDER
	TO:   BRADFORD COUNTY SHIP
	         945 N. TEMPLE AVE.
	           SHIP TO:
	COMMENTS OR SPECIAL INSTRUCTIONS:   GLORIA COVINGTON

	M & R CONSTRUCTION, INC.


	AIIS -  LHAP Deviation 8 4 24 Full Packet.pdf
	SHIP Loan Approval Full Packet.pdf
	AGENDA ITEM INFO SHEET  8 24 Rehab
	board of cc approval 8 24
	Purchase Assistance Loans
	Deferred Payment Loan in an Amount Not to exceed $30,000


	Traffic Signal Maint Full Packet.pdf
	AIIS - Traffic Signal Maintenance
	Resolution Traffic Signal Maintenance 24
	Bradford County Amendment FY25
	Bradford County Exhibit A FY25

	AvMed Full Packet.pdf
	AIIS - AvMed
	BRADFORD COUNTY BOCC LETTER TO COMMISSIONERSInsurance Proposal Coversheet_
	Bradford FINAL REVISED Renewal Plan Spreadsheet with Alt #3
	Achieve Alt plan

	Alt 3 Plan

	RFQ Engineering Full Packet.pdf
	AIIS - Copy
	RFQ Engineering DRAFT
	Appendix A - Public Entity Crimes Form_Fillable
	Appendix B - Drug-Free Workplace Form_Fillable
	Appendix C - References Listing Form _Fillable
	Appendix D - Certification_Fillable
	Appendix E - Continuing Services Agreement - Sample

	Fire Assessment Initial Resolution Full Packet.pdf
	AIIS - Fire Initial Resolution
	Initial Assessment Resolution (02736364-3)
	Fire Assessment Financial Hardship Exemption Application

	Amendment 4 Resolution Full Packet.pdf
	AIIS - Amendment 4 Resolution
	2024 Resolution Opposing Amendment 4

	RMT Contract Full Packet.pdf
	AIIS - RMT Contract
	RMT Contract - Bradford County FL - RPPA - 7.12.24 v5 FOR AGENDA
	PO Box 678325, Orlando, FL 32867
	Date:  07/12/2024
	Bradford County, Florida
	945 North Temple Ave


	RMT NOA Bradford County FL 6.4.24
	REF 1 Lynn Haven - Bradford County Reference Letter
	REF 2 Van Buren AR - RMT Reference
	RMT - Bradford County Piggy Back Memo 7.9.2024
	RFP 24-1260 Consultant Service for the Implementation of a Pavement Management System
	RFP 24-1260 Consultant Services for the Implementation of a Pavement Management System
	Exhibit III - City RFP Contract

	RMT - Dunedin RFP 3.31.24 Final v3 (1)
	Table of Contents
	1.  Letter of Understanding

	CANDLER MCCOLLUM


	PW Lease Ending Full Packet New.pdf
	AIIS - Copy
	PW Lease Ending Full Packet.pdf

	Career Source ILA Full Packet.pdf
	AIIS - Copy
	Career Source ILA

	AIIS Aquatic Plants.pdf
	AIIS - Opioid Abatement.pdf
	CRP Update.pdf

	This sworn statement is submitted to: 
	by: 
	for: 
	whose business address is 1: 
	whose business address is 2: 
	and if applicable its Federal Employer Identification Number FEIN is: 
	statement: 
	Neither the entity submitting this sworn statement nor any of its officers directors executives: 
	The entity submitting this sworn statement or one or more of its officers directors executives: 
	The entity submitting this sworn statement or one or more of its officers directors executives_2: 
	Customer Name: 
	Address: 
	Contact Name: 
	Telephone: 
	Fax: 
	Email Address: 
	Contract Type: 
	Contact Name_2: 
	Telephone_2: 
	Fax_2: 
	Email Address_2: 
	Contract Type_2: 
	Contact Name_3: 
	Telephone_3: 
	Fax_3: 
	Email Address_3: 
	Contract Type_3: 
	Contact Name_4: 
	Telephone_4: 
	Fax_4: 
	Email Address_4: 
	Contract Type_4: 
	Date3_af_date: 
	Date4_af_date: 
	Date5_af_date: 
	Date6_af_date: 
	Check Box7: Off
	Check Box8: Off
	Check Box9: Off
	Check Box10: Off
	Check Box11: Off
	Check Box12: Off
	Check Box13: Off
	Check Box14: Off
	Text15: 
	Text16: 
	Text17: 
	Business Name: 
	Name and Title: 
	Date of Signature: 


